
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 26 October 2021 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Anna Poole (Tel. 0116 305 2583) 

Email: anna.poole@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs D. Taylor CC 

Mrs. C. M. Radford CC 
Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 

 

Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 
2021.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 16) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Strategic Plan 2022-26.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 17 - 68) 

5.  
  

Draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire 
County Council Collaborating with our 
Communities - Our Communities Approach 
2022-26  

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 69 - 90) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 
6.  

  
National Bus Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 91 - 234) 

7.  
  

Leicestershire Domestic Abuse Reduction 
Strategy 2022-24.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 235 - 
242) 

8.  
  

0-19 Healthy Child Programme - Procurement 
of New Service Model.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 243 - 
298) 

9.  
  

Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - 
Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in 
Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to 
Provide Enhanced Substance Misuse Services 
in line with the Public Health England Universal 
and Inpatient Detoxification Grants.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 299 - 
302) 

10.  
  

Response to the Oadby and Wigston Borough 
Council New Local Plan Issues and Options 
Consultation.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 303 - 
382) 

11.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

12.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

13.  
  

Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 

 
 

 

 The public are likely to be excluded during the following item of 
business in accordance with Section 100(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972:- 
 
Commissioning and Procurement of Home Care Service Post-
November 2021 - Proposed Interim Arrangements. 
 

 
 

 

14.  
  

Commissioning and Procurement of Home 
Care Service Post-November 2021 - Proposed 
Interim Arrangements.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 383 - 
416) 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Friday, 17 
September 2021.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mrs D. Taylor CC 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
 

Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
 

 
Apologies 
 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
 
In attendance 
 
Mr. O. O’Shea CC and Mrs B. Seaton CC (via Microsoft Teams) and Mr. M. T. Mullaney 
CC 
 

40. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on  20 July were taken as read, confirmed and signed.  
 

41. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

42. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. He declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
agenda item 7 (Ashby Canal Maintenance Funding) as a local property owner and 
undertook to leave the meeting whilst that item was considered. 
 
Mrs P. Posnett CC declared a personal interest which may lead to bias in agenda item 5 
(Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern Section – Housing Infrastructure Fund 
Grant) and undertook to leave the meeting whilst that item was considered. 
 
Mr R. J. Shepherd CC, Mrs D. Taylor CC and Mrs C. M. Radford CC each declared a 
personal interest in item 11 (Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Emerging New 
Local Plan 2021 – 2037 Consultation) as members of Charnwood Borough Council.  
 
Mr. O. O’Shea CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 12 (Response to Hinckley 
and Bosworth Borough Council’s Draft Local Plan) as a member of Hinckley and 
Bosworth Borough Council.  
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

43. Medium Term Financial Strategy - Latest Position.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources concerning the 
revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position as at the end of July 2021 
and sought approval to changes to the previously agreed 2021-2025 capital programme 
and an approach to updating the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022-2026. A copy 
of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 4’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Members noted the comments of the Scrutiny Commission, a copy of which is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
Mr Breckon CC said that the Council’s difficult financial position would continue in the 
medium term and the Council would need to maximise efficiencies and contain adult 
social care expenditure in order to produce a balanced budget. He added that the Council 
would continue to push Government to introduce fair funding and he welcomed the recent 
publication of the think-tank Onward’s publication of a fair funding research paper, 
developed by the County Council’s Director of Corporate Resources, which set out how 
Government funding could be distributed more fairly. He also thanked all Leicestershire 
MPs for their support on the matter. 
 
Mrs Taylor CC said that despite the challenges with the funding of Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities and High Needs block provision, the Children and Family Services 
budget for 2021/22 was underspent for the first time in several years and she thanked 
officers within the Department for their hard work.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission be noted; 
 

b) That the latest position regarding the 2021/22 revenue budget and capital 
programme as at the end of July 2021, period 4, be noted; 
 

c) That the revised capital programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 as set out in Appendix C 
to the report be approved; 
 

d) That the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with the Cabinet 
Lead Member for Corporate Resources, be authorised to agree the use of funding 
from the portfolio risk allocation to specific projects within the Environment and 
Transport Capital programme; 
 

e) That the approach outlined in the report to updating the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy be noted. 
 

(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To inform members of the intended approach to the development of plans to address the 
latest financial position. 
 
To agree the revised capital programme for 2021-25 which has required amendment as a 
result of the latest forecast financial position and known pressures on a number of 
schemes and to the delegation to the Director of Corporate Resources following 

4



 
 

 

consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for Corporate Resources, of the authorisation 
of the use of the portfolio risk contingency (£10.6m) for Environment and Transport 
schemes in order to address issues arising with major schemes without delay. 
 

44. Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant.  
 
(Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC, having declared a personal interest leading to bias, left the 
meeting during consideration of this item) 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive, Director of Corporate Resources 
and Director of Law and Governance concerning the latest position regarding the 
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant offered by Homes England in respect of the 
southern leg of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda item 5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
It was noted that due to there being no further substantial information to that already 
having been considered by the Cabinet in previous reports on the matter, the 
supplementary report referenced in the original Cabinet report was subsequently not 
required. Financial implications arising from the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 
Southern Section were fully outlined in the report considered by the Cabinet on the 20 
July.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the County Council welcomes the decision of Melton Borough Council’s 
Cabinet to approve a Draft Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) for consultation, noting that the Borough Council’s Cabinet on 21 
September will be recommending that a final SPD is adopted and welcomes 
ongoing officer discussions, but notes that the Borough Council has yet to 
determine formally matters relating to i) the completion of a legal agreement 
underwriting the cost of provision by the County Council in respect of infrastructure 
arising on the completion of the MMDR(S) at the capped sum of £1.75million to 
mitigate the financial risk to the County Council; and ii) masterplans for the South 
and North Sustainable Neighbourhoods; 
 

b) That the negotiations with Homes England be noted and that the Directors of Law 
and Governance and Environment and Transport be requested to continue the 
dialogue in regard to the provisions of the Forward Funding Agreement (GDA) and 
additional funding required as a result of cost increases; 
 

c) That the progress to date with resolving the terms of the GDA be noted and that 
subject to   

 
i. completion of a legal agreement referred to in (a) above or an alternative 

means of mitigating the risk to the County Council at the same figure 
recently suggested by the Borough Council; 
 

ii. a successful outcome to the negotiations with Homes England referred to in 
(b) above;   

 
iii. resolution of the outstanding points in the GDA to the satisfaction of the 

County Council’s statutory officers; and 
 

5



 
 

 

iv. The decision of Melton Borough Council following consultation on the SPD 
and written assurances from the Borough Council about its decisions on a 
legal agreement at the capped sum of £1.75million and on the two 
masterplans 

 
 the Housing Infrastructure Grant be accepted; 
 

d) That the Director of Law and Governance and Director of Corporate Resources be 
authorised to give the warranties and representations required and the Director of 
Law and Governance be authorised to complete and execute the GDA. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To agree a position to be adopted by the County Council. 
 
(Mrs. P. Posnett returned to the meeting) 
 

45. Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual Performance Report 2020-21.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources concerning the 
performance of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund for the 2020-21 financial year. A 
copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 6’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted the comments of the Scrutiny Commission, a copy of which is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
Mr Breckon CC said the Fund had performed well in challenging circumstances and the 
income raised had been used to support crucial frontline services.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission be noted; 
 

b) That the performance of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund for the period April 
2020 to March 2021 as set out in the Annual Report, be noted. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
In accordance with the Cabinet’s decision in September 2017, the report fulfils the 
requirement to report annually on the performance of the CAIF to both the Cabinet and 
the Scrutiny Commission, to demonstrate that the Fund is being managed professionally 
and prudently. 
 

46. Ashby Canal Maintenance Funding.  
 
(Mr. N. J. Rushton CC, having declared a personal interest leading to bias, left the 
meeting during consideration of this item) 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport seeking 
agreement for the County Council to provide funding to the Ashby Canal Association for 

6



 
 

 

maintenance of a section of the Ashby Canal which was due to be transferred to the 
Association. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 7’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the allocation of £1.1m for funding the maintenance of the section of the 
Ashby Canal to be transferred to the Ashby Canal Association (ACA) in line with 
option b(ii) as set out in the report be approved, subject to Parliamentary approval 
of the proposed transfer of a section of the Transport and Works Act Order 2005 
and associated land; 
 

b) That the Director of Environment and Transport, in consultation with the Director of 
Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources, be authorised to 
agree payment terms and enter into a funding agreement with the ACA to cover all 
future maintenance costs for the transferred section of canal referred to at (a) 
above. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
It is usual when a canal is transferred for there to be a maintenance undertaking or 
financial dowry payment from the transferer (the County Council in this instance) to the 
transferee (the ACA in this instance). 
 
In taking on responsibility for the transferred section of the Ashby Canal, the ACA will 
take on all ongoing and future liabilities for the upkeep, maintenance and future 
development of the section to be transferred.   
 
(Mr. N. J. Rushton CC returned to the meeting) 
 

47. Interim Coalville Transport Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
the outcome of engagement on the draft Interim Coalville Transport Strategy and sought 
approval for the adoption of the interim Strategy. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 
item 8’, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Mr. O’Shea CC said the Interim Strategy provided a framework by which the County 
Council could deliver its transport aspirations, including the development of highway, 
passenger transport, and active travel schemes. He added that the Strategy would also 
provide the Authority with evidence to help secure developer contributions and 
Government funding to improve the Town’s network as part of the A511 Growth Corridor 
Scheme.  
  
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the responses to the engagement on the draft Interim Coalville Transport 
Strategy (ICTS), as set out in paragraphs 57 to 60 and summarised in Appendix A 
of the report, be noted; 
 

b) That the ICTS, attached as Appendix B to the report, be approved. 
 

7



 
 

 

REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Significant traffic congestion in Coalville has affected the lives of its residents, the 
efficiency of its businesses and its ability to grow. Having a transport strategy for Coalville 
remains vital to addressing the town’s existing traffic problems, supporting its continued 
growth and achieving wider objectives, including in respect of the environment. 
 
The ICTS will ensure that the County Council, as the local Highway Authority (LHA), is 
using the most up-to-date evidence and information when seeking developer 
contributions, providing highways advice to North West Leicestershire District Council 
(NWLDC) and supporting the District Council with any highway related planning appeals. 
 
The ICTS will help to provide a transparent framework for determining decisions on 
transport priorities, ensuring co-ordination of investment and support NWLDC’s Local 
Plan. Any delay in adopting the ICTS could potentially impact on securing developer 
contributions towards highway infrastructure in NWLDC to support the local growth 
agenda. 
 

48. Leicester City Council Draft Local Transport Plan 4 and Work Place Parking Levy 
Consultations.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
the consultation on Leicester City Council’s draft Local Transport Plan (LTP4) and 
Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) and set out a proposed response for submission to 
Leicester City Council as the views of the County Council. A copy of the report and 
supplementary report, marked ‘Agenda item 9’, are filed with these minutes.  
 
Members noted comments from Mr. Max Hunt CC, a copy of which is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
The Director said that following receipt of further information from Leicester City Council 
with regards to its proposed WPL scheme, a revised County Council consultation 
response had been produced and was set out in the supplementary report.  
 
Mr O’Shea CC said that there were concerns with regards to the displacement of parking 
into the County’s villages close to the Leicester City border should a parking levy be 
introduced, and this had been recognised in the Council’s response.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments in response to Leicester City Council’s consultation on its draft Local 
Transport Plan 4 as set out in paragraphs 23 to 36 of the original Cabinet report and 
those relating to the Workplace Parking Levy, as set out in paragraphs 14 to 17 of the 
supplementary report, be submitted to Leicester City Council in response to their 
consultation as the views of the County Council. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The draft Leicester LTP4 and WPL will inform the next stage of local transport plan 
making in the City up to 2036. As the City of Leicester is important to residents of 
Leicestershire, e.g. for access to jobs and services, so then too is the need for good 
transport connectivity to and through the City. Proposals within the City’s boundaries 
have the potential to interact with and affect county highways, transport networks and 

8



 
 

 

local communities. The content of the Leicester City draft LTP4 and WPL are thus 
important to the County Council. 
 
The responses set out key comments for consideration by Leicester City Council in 
preparing its new LTP4 and WPL proposals. These comments seek to ensure alignment 
with key strategic documents (including the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth 
Plan (SGP), the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities document and 
the County Council’s Strategic Plan) and ensure that Leicester City Council’s draft LTP4 
and WPL do not have a negative effect on County highways or residents. 
 

49. Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in 
Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to Provide the Publishment of Legal Traffic 
Orders.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules which enabled the Council to continue to place advertising 
relating to Road Traffic Orders. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 10’, is filed 
with these minutes. 

 
The Leader said that the County Council should write to the Department for Transport 
expressing its objection to the requirement to publish traffic orders in the regional press 
when the Council could use its existing website and social media channels instead, 
saving the Authority a considerable amount of money which could be spent supporting 
key services.   

 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the 

Contract Procedure Rules to enable the appointment of Reach Publishing Plc, to 
continue with the publication of Road Traffic Orders in local press for a six-month 
period ending on the 31 March 2022, be noted; 
 

b) That the County Council write to the Department for Transport expressing its 
objection to the requirement, as the local Highway Authority, to publish 
advertisements in the regional press for each road traffic order it makes which 
costs the Authority in the region of £1m per annum, when other mediums with a 
larger readership such as the County Council’s website and social media accounts 
could be utilised at a considerably reduced cost. 
 

REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)) provides that exceptions to 
the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where it is satisfied that an 
exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases the Chief Executive (after 
consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save where this is not practicable) may 
direct that an exception be made subject to it being reported to the Cabinet. 
 
The direct appointment was required in order for the Authority to continue to meet its 
statutory duty to publicise Road Traffic Orders in local newspapers, until such time when 
a procurement exercise can be undertaken. 
 

9



 
 

 

50. Response to Charnwood Borough Council's Emerging new Local Plan: the Pre-
submission Charnwood Local Plan (2021 to 2037) Consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the content of 
Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Local Plan and sought approval for comments to be 
submitted to the Borough Council as the views of the County Council. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Leader said that it was vital that housing growth was accompanied by the 
appropriate infrastructure and it was therefore imperative that the Council worked closely 
with Charnwood Borough Council to achieve this.  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the comments set out in the Appendix to the report be forwarded to 

Charnwood Borough Council (Charnwood BC) as the views of the County Council 
on the Draft Charnwood BC Local Plan 2021 to 2037; 
 

b) That Charnwood BC be advised that the County Council considers that 
partnership working arrangements between the Borough Council, the County 
Council and other partners, notably National Highways, need to be formalised at 
the earliest opportunity; 
 

c) That it be noted that 
 

i. the initial cost of the further work required to identify the transport mitigation 
strategies to support the Draft Charnwood BC Local Plan at Examination in Public, 
estimated at £150,000 to £200,000, will be shared between the County Council, 
Charnwood BC and other partners as appropriate; 
 

ii. given the distribution strategy proposed by Charnwood BC, it is likely that much of 
the transport mitigation will be achieved via Section 106 (developer) funding 
arising from multiple developments, securing which will require continued close 
working between the County and Borough Councils. 
 

REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Adoption of the new Local Plan will replace the existing Charnwood Core Strategy 2011 
to 2028 (adopted 2015) and the Saved Policies of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 
1991 to 2006 (adopted 2004). The new Local Plan will provide Charnwood BC with a 
plan-led development strategy to 2037. Given the location of the district of Charnwood 
close to the City of Leicester and close functional connectivity to communities living and 
working in Blaby, North West Leicestershire, Melton and Hinckley and Bosworth, the 
content of the emerging Local Plan is particularly important to this area and the wider 
Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 
 
The response sets out key comments for consideration by Charnwood BC in progressing 
its new Local Plan. It seeks to ensure alignment with the strategic outcomes of the 
County Council’s Strategic Plan, the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan 
(SGP), and to influence the content of the Local Plan in the interests of local 
communities, including to ensure that the Local Plan provides as robust as possible 
policy platform for securing the provision of the infrastructure and services required to 
support its successful delivery. 

10



 
 

 

 
The highways and transport issues arising from accommodating further growth in the 
Borough of Charnwood impact on both local road networks (County and City) and the 
strategic road network. Addressing the issues requires a formalised partnership approach 
to the development of the required transport mitigation strategies. 
 
In the current financial climate, the financial risk to the County Council needs to be 
minimised. Therefore a joint commitment to developing a funding strategy for how 
infrastructure will be funded in the Charnwood BC Local Plan will be essential. It is vital 
that S106 contributions are secured to support mitigation strategies and to facilitate 
growth. 
 

51. Response to Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council's draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) 
consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the content of Hinckley 
and Bosworth Borough Council’s Draft Local Plan and sought approval for comments to 
be submitted to the Borough Council as the views of the County Council. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Leader said that it was crucial Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council worked with 
the County Council to develop its Local Plan in order for the delivery of sustainable 
development.  
 
Mr Bedford CC said that the County as a whole needed sustainable growth which was 
accompanied by the right infrastructure and this was only possible if comprehensive local 
plans were produced and followed. He added that whilst the Council was committed to 
working with the Borough Council to develop its Local Plan, its concerns with regards to 
transportation mitigation measures would need to be addressed by the Borough Council 
before the Plan could be progressed. He thanked parish councils within his division for 
their hard work in producing their own local neighbourhood development plans. 
 
Mr O’Shea CC said he was concerned that the Borough Council did not have a five year 
housing supply which had led to the approval of ad hoc developments which lacked the 
necessary infrastructure. He urged the Borough Council to consider the County Council’s 
comments and work together for the benefit of the local community.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) The comments set out in the Appendix to the report be forwarded to Hinckley and 

Bosworth Borough Council as the views of the County Council on the Draft 
Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan 2020 to 2039; 
 

b) That Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council be advised that the County Council 
 

I. considers that partnership working arrangements between the Borough Council, 
the County Council and other partners, notably National Highways, need to be 
formalised as a matter of urgency; 
 

II. will need to secure substantial funds from the Borough Council and other partners 
in order to meet the (as yet unidentified) cost of the work to identify transport 
mitigation measures and strategy required to support delivery of the Draft Hinckley 
and Bosworth Local Plan; 

11



 
 

 

 
III. accordingly, requests the Borough Council to delay progressing to Regulation 19 

stage of the Local Plan in order for the Draft to be fully informed by transport 
evidence. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council’s new Local Plan will set out the Borough’s 
development strategy to 2039. Given its location close to Leicester and close functional 
connectivity to communities living and working in Blaby, Charnwood and North West 
Leicestershire, the content of the emerging Local Plan is particularly important to this 
area and the wider Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 
 
The County Council wishes to see alignment of the Borough’s Draft Local Plan with other 
key strategies (for example, the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan) and 
for it to provide a robust policy platform to secure the infrastructure and services to 
support its delivery and protect local communities. 
 
It is a matter of some concern that the Borough Council has not published any transport 
assessment as part of the evidence base for this consultation. The highways and 
transport issues arising from accommodating further growth in the Borough are expected 
to have significant impacts on local road networks (in Leicestershire, Leicester, and 
Warwickshire) and the strategic road network. 
 
As the Highway Authority the County Council would expect to see, at the point of a Local 
Plan’s submission, a clear understanding of the likely nature, scope, scale (cost) and 
deliverability of the transport measures required. Transport modelling takes time and a 
formal partnership approach is needed to develop transport mitigation strategies. To 
date, transport work has been concerned only with base inputs and potential impacts of 
development options.  
In the current financial climate, the financial risk to the County Council needs to be 
minimised. Therefore a joint commitment to developing a funding strategy for how 
infrastructure will be funded in the Hinckley and Bosworth BC Local Plan will be essential. 
 

52. Public Engagement Principles.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which sought approval of a 
Consultation and Engagement Principles document which had been developed as part of 
the Council’s approach to public engagement. The report also sought approval for the 
Council to become a signatory to the Consultation Charter. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda item 13’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mrs Posnett CC said the County Council was committed to high standards of public 
involvement as part of its decision making. She added that it was particularly important 
that the Council’s approach to consultation and engagement was inclusive and its digital 
first approach was complemented by other methods in order for all communities to 
participate.  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the Council’s Consultation and Engagement Principles be approved;   

 
b) That the Council becomes a signatory to the Consultation Charter. 

12



 
 

 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Consultation and Engagement Principles update the Council’s approach to involving 
members of the public in decision making, reflecting key lessons from the pandemic and 
broader changes in the way that local authorities nationally are involving residents.  
 
By becoming a signatory to the Consultation Institute’s Charter it will provide validation of 
the Council’s high standards of consultation from the UK’s national body for best practice 
and case law in this field. 
 

53. Leicestershire School Term-Time Patterns from Autumn 2022 to Summer 2027.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the outcome of consultation on the preferred Leicestershire school term-time 
pattern to apply from autumn 2022 to summer 2027 for schools controlled by the Local 
Authority and sought approval of a preferred pattern. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda item 14’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the outcome of the public consultation on the proposed term-time options be 
noted; 
 

b) That the current Leicestershire term-time pattern that includes an earlier autumn 
and summer holiday and longer autumn term (Proposal 1) be approved. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Education Act 2002 places a statutory obligation on the County Council to determine 
the number of school days that schools under its control must be open. The County 
Council is required to determine a pattern that ensures at least 380 sessions (190 days) 
during a school year.  
 
The consultation responses overwhelmingly supported the retention of the existing 
Leicestershire term-time pattern and no imperative to change this has emerged. 
 

54. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board Partnership Annual Report 
2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the Annual Report 2020-21 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Board Partnership. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 15’, is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
Mrs Taylor CC said that the Annual Report highlighted the hard work undertaken by 
partners, particularly during what had been a difficult period as a result of the pandemic. 
She welcomed the introduction of a rotating Chair of the Partnership Board which had 
enabled the Independent Advisor to step away from that role and focus on scrutinising 
the work of the Partnership. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

13



 
 

 

That the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report for 
2020/21 be noted. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Leicestershire County Council is one of the Statutory Partners who have a share an 
equal statutory duty with the local Clinical Commissioning Groups and Leicestershire 
Police to agree and make arrangements to work together to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of all children in Leicestershire. 
 
The multi-agency safeguarding arrangements locally are managed through a partnership 
– the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership that covers the 
counties of Leicestershire and Rutland. The arrangements were published on 28 June 
2019 and commenced on 29 September 2019, replacing the former Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB). 
 
In Leicestershire and Rutland the Annual Report has traditionally been presented to the 
Cabinet and the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Consideration of the Annual Report enables the Cabinet to comment on the content of 
the document and consider whether it identifies matters that it wishes to address in 
relation to the effectiveness of safeguarding within the work of the Authority. 
 

55. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2020/21.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) Ms. Fran Pearson, which presented the 
Board’s draft Annual Report 2020-21. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 16’, is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
Mrs Radford CC thanked the Independent Chair and the various partners represented on 
the Board for their hard work and commitment during what had been a particular difficult 
period as a result of the pandemic.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report for 2020/21 
be noted. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguard Adult Board (LRSAB) is a statutory body and 
local authorities have a duty to ensure that the Board is enabled to operate effectively.   
 
It is a requirement of the Care Act 2014 that the LRSAB Annual Report be reported to the 
Leader of the Council together with the Chief Executive of the local authority, the 
Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
local Healthwatch. 
 
In Leicestershire and Rutland the Annual Report has traditionally also been presented to 
the Cabinet and the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

14



 
 

 

Consideration of the report enables the Cabinet to comment on its contents and consider 
whether the report identifies matters that it wishes to address in relation to the 
effectiveness of safeguarding within the work of the Authority. 
 

56. East Midlands Freeport - Including Urgent Action taken by the Chief Executive.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the proposed 
establishment of a Freeport covering sites in Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and 
Derbyshire. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 17’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the latest position and next steps in establishing the East Midlands Freeport, 
including the financial implications for the County Council, be noted; 
 

b) That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive under delegated authority to 
support the submission to Government of an Outline Business Case ahead of the 
submission deadline of 10 September be noted; 
 

c) That the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the Council, be 
authorised to submit the Full Business Case for the East Midlands Freeport to the 
Government on behalf of the County Council as the lead authority and 
accountable body for the East Midlands Freeport Interim Board; 
 

d) That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources 
and Director of Law and Governance, be authorised to enter into such governance 
and other agreements as may be required to progress the Freeport designation. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To ensure that the Cabinet is aware of the latest position and next steps to be taken in 
establishing the Freeport.   
 
The Government stipulated that as part of the process to secure designation of a 
Freeport, an OBC should be submitted by 10th September 2021.  The Chief Executive 
took the decision, following consultation with the Leader of the Council, in order to meet 
the Government’s deadline.  
 
The Council’s Constitution (Part 3, Section D) provides that the Chief Executive may take 
urgent decisions between Cabinet meetings subject to this being reported for information 
to the next available meeting. 
 
The deadline for the submission of the Full Business Case (FBC) is 10th December 2021 
which falls before the Cabinet meeting (14th December). 
 

57. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 

11.00 am - 12.08 pm CHAIRMAN 
17 September 2021 

 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2022-26  

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

PART A 

Purpose of the Report  

1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to consult on the 
draft Strategic Plan (2022-26), a copy of which is appended to this report.  
 

Recommendation   
 

2. It is recommended that  
 

a. The draft Strategic Plan, appended to the report, be approved for 
consultation. 
 

b. A further report be presented to the Cabinet in March 2022 regarding 
the outcome of the consultation and seeking approval for the revised 
draft Strategic Plan to be submitted to the County Council for approval.  

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. The current Strategic Plan is due to expire in 2022 and therefore a revised 

draft Plan, covering 2022-26, has been developed.  
 

4. It is intended that a 12-week consultation exercise on the Plan be undertaken 
between 1 November 2021 – 21 January 2022. This will include consideration 
by all of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny 
Commission, in addition to residents, community groups and partners. 
Following the consultation, it is intended that a final version be presented to 
the Cabinet in March 2022, followed by the County Council in May.  
 

Timetable for Decisions  

 

5. The public consultation will run for 12 weeks from 1 November 2021 – 21 
January 2022 and will involve residents, community groups and partner 
organisations. 

 

6. All Overview and Scrutiny Committees will consider the draft Strategic Plan as 
part of the consultation at their meetings in November. The Scrutiny 

17 Agenda Item 4



Commission will review the Plan and report at its meeting on 17 November 
2021. 

  

7. In March 2022, a report will be presented to the Cabinet regarding the 
outcome of the consultation and seeking approval for the revised draft 
Strategic Plan to be submitted to the County Council for approval in May 2022 

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions   

 

8. The Strategic Plan is complemented by the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
which sets out a financial plan supporting the priorities in the Strategic Plan, 
as well as by the Strategic Change Portfolio which outlines how the Council 
will transform local services in response to national and local drivers for 
change whilst seeking to maintain or improve outcomes. The Plan is also 
underpinned by departmental business plans and strategies which provide 
further detail on how the Council will deliver the aims and actions in the Plan. 
This includes, for example, the Council’s Communities Strategy ‘Our 
Communities Approach’ (which is also on the agenda for the Cabinet meeting 
on 26 October 2021) which sets out in detail the Council’s approach to 
collaborating and working in partnership with communities.  

 

9. On 6 December 2017, the County Council approved the current Strategic Plan 
(2018-22). This Plan was based on five aspirational outcomes which 
described the County Council’s vision for Leicestershire. On 15 May 2019, the 
County Council declared a climate emergency and the Strategic Plan was 
revised to reflect this. This was approved by the County Council on 8 July 
2020 (version expires in 2022) and this reflects the Council’s declaration of a 
climate emergency, with recognition that it would need to be revisited as a 
result of the coronavirus pandemic. 

 

Resource Implications  

 

10. All actions within the Plan are from existing service/business plans and 
strategies. As such, there should not be any additional resource investment 
required to deliver the Plan beyond that which has already been approved. 

 

11. However, as referenced in Section 11 of the Plan (‘Monitoring Outcome 
Delivery’), officer resources will be required to monitor delivery of the Plan and 
to ensure that the strategic outcomes are consistently reflected in and 
supported by all relevant underpinning Council plans and strategies. These 
tasks will be carried out by Outcome Boards, consisting of representatives 
from internal departments. As delivery of the Plan will require continued 
collaboration with partners, representatives from the Outcome Boards will 
interact with relevant partnership boards to monitor outcome delivery and to 
coordinate and integrate strategies. 

 

18



12. The number of Outcome Boards has been reduced following a review of 
outcome delivery arrangements. Therefore, fewer resources will be required 
than have been utilised to monitor delivery of the current (2018-22) Plan.  

 

13. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance 
have been consulted on the content of the Plan.  

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  

 

14. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members of the County Council. 
 

Officer(s) to Contact    

 

Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7019 
Tom.Purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Zafar Saleem, Head of Communities, Policy and Resilience 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 4952 
Zafar.Saleem@leics.gov.uk 

 

19

mailto:Tom.Purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Zafar.Saleem@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background   

 

15. The Strategic Plan sets out the Council’s ambitions and priorities for the next 
four years. It outlines what it aims to achieve and how it intends to do it.  

 

16. The current Plan is due to expire in 2022. This, along with the need to re-
assess the Council’s strategic priorities in response to the impact of the 
pandemic, has led to work during 2021/22 to review and refresh the Plan.  

 

Plan Structure and Contents 

 

17. The draft Plan (2022-26) is based on five strategic outcomes which describe 
the Council’s vision for Leicestershire. Each outcome includes four to five sub-
outcomes which will need to be achieved to deliver the outcome. 

 

18. The outcomes are broad and aspirational, reflecting the County Council’s 
significant and wide-ranging responsibilities and capacity to influence. 
Therefore, to ensure that the Plan provides a clear strategic direction for the 
Council, it also includes specific aims and actions to deliver each outcome 
over the next four years. 

 

19. The Plan also includes a section on ‘enabling services’ which is intended to 
highlight the contributions of corporate functions to outcome delivery as well 
as sustaining good governance. This is followed by a section on the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) which highlights the Council’s aims and 
actions to maintain a balanced budget whilst protecting frontline services and 
weathering the coronavirus crisis. Finally, there is a section on the Strategic 
Change Portfolio, summarising the aims and actions of the four key pillars of 
this internal transformation programme. 

 

Strategic Outcomes  

 

20. The five strategic outcomes in the Plan are intended to broadly reflect the 
remit of internal departments and portfolios of lead members. However, 
successful delivery of the Plan will rely upon departments sharing ownership 
of the outcomes in addition to the outcomes being reflected in all relevant 
Council plans and strategies. Outcome Boards, consisting of representatives 
from all Department Management Teams in addition to corporate services, will 
review and inform the development of Council strategies to ensure that they 
reflect the aims of their respective outcomes.  

  

21. The outcomes are: 

 

20



i. ‘Clean, Green Future’ Outcome: Reflects the need to protect and enhance 
the environment and tackle climate change, biodiversity loss and 
unsustainable resource usage. 

 
Sub-outcomes: 

o People act now to tackle climate change  
o Nature and the local environment are valued, protected and 

enhanced 
o Resources are used in an environmentally sustainable way 
o The economy and infrastructure are low carbon and 

environmentally-friendly 
 

ii. ‘Great Communities’ Outcome: Aims to ensure Leicestershire has thriving, 
inclusive communities in which people support each other and take 
responsibility for their local area 

 
Sub-outcomes: 

o Diversity is celebrated and people feel welcome and included 
o People participate in service design and delivery 
o Communities are prepared for and resilient to emergencies 
o Cultural and historical heritage are enjoyed and conserved 
o People support each other through volunteering 

 
iii. ‘Improving Opportunities’ Outcome: Aims for all children to get the best 

start for life and to have access to a good quality education. Also aims for 
everyone to have the opportunities they need to fulfil their potential. 

 
Sub-outcomes: 

o Every child gets the best start for life  
o Every child has access to good quality education 
o Families are self-sufficient and enabled to be resilient 
o Everyone is able to aim high and reach their full potential 

 
iv. ‘Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure’ Outcome: Aims to ensure 

that we build a productive, inclusive and sustainable economy at the 
cutting edge of science, technology and engineering. Also reflects the 
need for our infrastructure to meet the demands of a growing population 
and economy. 

 
Sub-outcomes: 

o There is close alignment between skills supply and employer 
demand 

o Leicestershire has the infrastructure for sustainable growth 
o Leicestershire is an attractive place where businesses can 

flourish 
o Economic growth delivers increased prosperity for all 
o Leicestershire has the right homes in the right places to meet 

needs 
 

21



v. ‘Keeping People Safe and Well’ Outcome: Aims to ensure the people of 
Leicestershire have the opportunities and support they need to take 
control of their health and wellbeing. Also reflects the need to ensure 
people are safe and protected from harm. 

 
Sub-outcomes: 

o People are safe in their daily lives 
o People enjoy long lives in good health 
o People at the most risk are protected from harm 
o Carers and people with care needs are supported to live active, 

independent, and fulfilling lives 
 

Progress and Performance Monitoring 

 

22. The Council’s progress in delivering these outcomes will be monitored by the 
Outcome Boards, which will provide six-monthly reports to the Corporate 
Management Team to highlight key achievements, challenges and priorities. 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will receive quarterly updates on 
performance.  

 

Consultation 

 

23. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, there will be a 12-week consultation on 
the Plan from 1 November 2021 – 21 January 2022. This will include all 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission (with 
meetings held from 1 -17 November), key partnership boards such as the 
Children and Families Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(meeting on 17 and 25 November respectively) in addition to residents, 
community groups and partners.  

 

24. The consultation will include an online survey in addition to meetings and 
workshops with community groups and partners. It will be promoted through 
the Council’s social media channels and website. The aim of the consultation 
will be to gauge respondents’ views on whether the sub-outcomes, aims and 
actions in the Plan are appropriate and reflect public opinion.   

 
25. Findings from the consultation will be used to inform development of the final 

Plan and in March 2022, a report will be presented to the Scrutiny 
Commission for consideration and then to the Cabinet presenting the outcome 
of the consultation and seeking approval for the revised draft Strategic Plan to 
be submitted to the County Council for approval on 18 May 2022.  

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications  

 

26. A screening assessment of the draft Strategic Plan concluded that a full 
impact assessment is not required. The Strategic Plan is a high-level 
document which reflects the content of existing Council plans and strategies 
in order to set out a clear summary of the Council’s overall ambitions and 

22



delivery approach; it does not include new actions which could have Equality 
and Human Rights Implications. 

 

27. The Plan will, however, have a positive impact as it promotes Equality and 
Human Rights, primarily by including, within the section on the ‘Great 
Communities’ outcome (see sub-section 6.1 of the appendix), specific aims 
and actions to deliver the sub-outcome: ‘diversity is celebrated, and people 
feel welcome and included’. This sub-outcome highlights issues around 
community cohesion and hate crime along with specific actions which the 
Council will deliver over the next four years to address these issues. Equality 
and Human Rights are also embedded throughout the Plan. 

 

Crime and Disorder Implications 

 

28. There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
The Plan promotes community safety by including, within the section on the 
‘Keeping People Safe and Well’ outcome (see sub-sections 9.1 and 9.2 of the 
appendix), specific aims and actions to deliver the sub-outcomes ‘people are 
safe in their daily lives’ and ‘people at the most risk are protected from harm’. 

 

Environmental Implications 

 

29. The Plan raises the profile of environmental issues by including, within the 
section on the ‘Clean, Green Future’ outcome, aims and actions to tackle 
climate change and biodiversity loss and promote sustainable resource 
usage. Aims to ensure infrastructure supports the transition to net zero carbon 
emissions are also reflected in the section on the ‘Strong Economy, Transport 
and Infrastructure’ outcome (see sub-section 8.2 of the appendix). 

 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 

 

30. Delivery of the Plan will require continued collaboration with partners. 
Outcome Boards will therefore liaise with relevant partnership bodies to 
monitor outcome delivery and support the integration of plans and strategies. 
All of the partnership actions within the Plan are from existing strategies. 

 

Background Papers 

 

Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan (2018-2022) (Previous Plan) 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 

 

Appendix 

 

Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan (2022-26) (Revised Plan) 

23

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan


This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Plan  
2022-26

Published October 2021

25



2  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Table of Contents
1. Glossary  .........................................................................................................2

2. Foreword .........................................................................................................3

3. Vision .............................................................................................................4

4. Strategic Outcomes ...........................................................................................5

5. Clean, Green Future ..........................................................................................6

6. Great Communities ...........................................................................................11

7. Improving Opportunities .....................................................................................16

8. Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure .......................................................22

9. Keeping People Safe and Well ............................................................................29

10. Enabling Services ...........................................................................................36

11. Monitoring Outcome Delivery............................................................................37

12. Medium Term Financial Strategy .......................................................................38

13. Strategic Change Portfolio ................................................................................39

1. Glossary 
Term Definition
LLEP Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership
VCSE Sector Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Sector
SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability
EHCP Education, Health and Care Plan
EHE Elective Home Education
NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training
GVA Gross Value Added
STEM Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics
R&D Research and Development
SMEs Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises
GDHI Gross Disposable Household Income
PM2.5 Fine Particulate Matter
CO2e Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

26



3  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

2. Foreword

 Cllr Nick Rushton 
 Leader of Leicestershire County Council

This Strategic Plan sets out our ambitions and priorities for the next four years (2022-26). It outlines what 
we want to achieve and how we intend to do it. 

It is based on five strategic outcomes which are aspirational; they outline the end results that we want to 
see for Leicestershire. For each outcome, we have identified specific aims which we will focus on achieving 
over the next four years, with corresponding actions. Further detail can be found through the relevant 
strategies in our Strategy Library.

Whilst the outcomes have been set out in separate sections, it is recognised that there are significant 
interdependencies between them. For example, reducing our carbon footprint supports not only our aim 
to tackle climate change but also to ensure positive health outcomes for current and future generations. 
Further, improving the educational attainment of disadvantaged children ensures they are able to access 
opportunities to fulfil their potential and supports economic growth in the county. Links between outcomes 
have been highlighted throughout the Plan and some actions support multiple outcomes.

We will deliver it by building upon our previous achievements, such as being recognised by Impower as 
the most productive Council in England and Wales, whilst being the lowest funded County Council in the 
UK. However, the Council alone cannot deliver all the change that will be needed. Through continued 
collaboration with our partners to coordinate and integrate our plans we hope to make the maximum 
impact on the most pressing issues that we face and celebrate and build on the success of this great 
county.

 

27



4  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

3. Vision
The vision below summarises our ambitions for Leicestershire and puts us on the right 
path to secure the best possible future for local residents. 

An inclusive county in which active 
communities, great connections and 
greener living enable everyone to 
prosper, be happy and healthy.

We want Leicestershire to have welcoming and inclusive communities in which people 
take responsibility for their local areas and support each other. People are safe and 
well, living active, independent, and fulfilling lives. The local economy is flourishing 
with resilient, clean growth delivering increased prosperity for all. Everyone, regardless 
of their background or personal characteristics, has access to the opportunities they 
need to aim high and achieve their aspirations. People act now with urgency to protect 
and enhance the environment and meet the challenges of climate change.

28



5  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

4. Strategic Outcomes

Great Communities
• Diversity is celebrated and people feel 

welcome and included

• People participate in service design and 
delivery

• Communities are prepared for and 
resilient to emergencies

• Cultural and historical heritage are 
enjoyed and conserved

• People support each other through 
volunteering

Keeping People  
Safe and Well
• People are safe in their daily lives

• People enjoy long lives in good health

• People at the most risk are protected 
from harm

• Carers and people with care 
needs are supported to live active, 
independent, and fulfilling lives

Clean, Green Future
• People act now to tackle climate 

change 

• Nature and the local environment are 
valued, protected and enhanced

• Resources are used in an 
environmentally sustainable way

• The economy and infrastructure are 
low carbon and environmentally-
friendly

Improving Opportunities
• Every child gets the best start in life 

• Every child has access to good quality 
education

• Families are self-sufficient and enabled to 
be resilient

• Everyone is able to aim high and reach their 
full potential

Strong Economy, Transport 
and Infrastructure
• There is close alignment between skill 

supply and demand

• Leicestershire has the infrastructure 
for sustainable growth

• Leicestershire is an attractive place 
where businesses flourish

• Economic growth delivers increased 
prosperity for all

• Leicestershire has the right homes in 
the right places to meet needs

29



6  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

5. Clean, Green Future
This outcome reflects the need to protect and enhance the environment and meet the challenges and 
opportunities of responding to climate change. Global warming is leading to an increase in the frequency 
and intensity of storms, flooding and heatwaves and changes in pests and diseases. It will affect social and 
environmental determinants of health including clean air, safe drinking water, supply of sufficient food and 
access to secure shelter. It will also damage local infrastructure and services, reduce productivity, increase 
the likelihood of conflict and climate migration and increase the loss of biodiversity.

There is increasing recognition of, and commitment to, the need to protect, promote and improve the 
environment at a local, national, and global level. The Paris Agreement of 2015 requires countries to 
limit global temperature rise to below 1.5 to 2°C. The interconnection between economic development, 
social equity and inclusion and environmental impacts has also been recognised internationally via the 
2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The UK Government has prioritised action on climate change 
through the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019, requiring the government 
to reduce the UK’s net emissions of greenhouse gases to zero by 2050. This will require transformational 
action.

On 15th May 2019, Leicestershire County Council declared a climate emergency, making a commitment to 
achieving net zero carbon emissions from its own operations by 2030 and to work with others and to lobby 
government to achieve net zero carbon emissions for Leicestershire by 2045. 

The Council has different levels of control and influence in protecting the environment and addressing 
climate change. It is responsible for complying with legislation relating to the environmental impacts from 
its activities, such as heating and powering our offices, using vehicles and generating waste; managing 
the environmental impacts from the activities of Leicestershire residents and businesses, such as air 
pollution from local transport and the reduction, recycling and disposal of household waste; and enforcing 
environmental legislation on businesses, such as in relation to product packaging, banned substances and 
energy certificates. It also has capacity to influence wider environmental action by lobbying government 
and working with partners within Leicestershire.

The Council commits to minimising the environmental impact of its activities and helping to protect the 
environment of Leicestershire. We will tackle climate change and embed environmental sustainability 
into everything we do. We will work with partners to deliver sustainable development by recognising and 
fostering the links between the environment, people, and the economy.

The priorities and commitments to deliver this outcome focus on how the Council will help to protect the 
environment and tackle climate change through its service delivery and interactions with residents and 
partners. Further detail on how the Council will reduce carbon emissions from its own operations can be 
found in the section on the Council’s Carbon Reduction Programme.

5.1  People act now to tackle climate change and protect the environment 

To achieve net zero carbon emissions in Leicestershire we need communities to be aware of the need for 
action on climate change and to act now to reduce environmental impacts.  There is significant potential for 
individual action and community-led initiatives to support environmental sustainability (e.g. energy usage, 
sustainable transport, recycling).  Our Community Survey highlights that 97% of residents feel protecting 
the environment is important. However, only 45% feel informed about what the Council is doing to protect 
the environment and tackle climate change, and 67% think the Council should be doing more.

30

file:///C:\Users\AEpps\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\20ND95GW\Appendix 1 - Draft Strategic Plan 2022-26.docx#_Carbon_Reduction_Programme


7  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Leicestershire has a higher rate of average waste produced per household than comparator counties, which 
may suggest that there is scope to reduce the amount of waste produced locally. We also have lower rates 
of electrical vehicle ownership than comparators and fewer electrical vehicle charging points. 

There has been a 33% reduction in the rate of domestic CO2 emissions in Leicestershire since 2010. 
Leicestershire also ranks in the best performing 25% of comparators for the percentage of new-build 
houses with an Energy Performance Certificate rating of C+. However, the county ranks in the worst 25% 
comparators for the percentage of existing homes with this level of energy efficiency. 

What will success look like?

• Residents actively involved in tackling climate change and protecting the environment

• Reduction in the rate of CO2 emissions per capita (average per resident)

Our Commitments

• We will use our interactions with communities to raise awareness of environmental impacts and harness 
community capacity to address them

• We will provide support and opportunities for learning to local communities, schools, and businesses 
to promote positive environmental action and collaborative working, leading to constructive behavioural 
change

• We will support residents to be more resource efficient in their energy and water use, such as through 
our Warm Homes service which provides free advice and information on managing heating costs and 
staying warm at home well as grants to deliver first-time gas central heating systems 

• We will work with partners to expand zero and ultra-low emissions vehicles and charging, including 
Heavy Goods Vehicle refuelling, and promote sustainable modes of transport including walking and 
cycling

31



8  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

5.2   Nature and the local environment are valued, protected and enhanced

Biodiversity describes the enormous variety of life on Earth. Biodiversity and the eco-system cleanse our 
atmosphere, provide us with the oxygen we breath, the clean water we drink and the food we eat as well 
as many of the medicines which help to keep us well. The natural capital assets (geology, soil, air, water 
and all living things) of Leicestershire have an annual value of £388.45 million, with agricultural habitats 
generating £180.91 million annually. 

Intensively managed farmland is poor for wildlife whilst land which is less intensively managed with little or 
no applications of chemical fertiliser, pesticides and herbicides is much richer in wildlife. In Leicestershire 
and Rutland where more than 80% of the land is farmed, good habitats for wildlife are now few and far 
between and much of our wildlife is being squeezed out and continues to decline. Leicestershire and 
Rutland are amongst the poorest counties for sites of recognised nature conservation value. The best sites 
(Sites of Special Scientific Interest) represent only about 1%% of the land area in Leicestershire. 

Natural green space includes a wide variety of land from scrub and wetland to woodland and meadow. 
Access to natural green space supports our health and well-being. There is a risk that future development 
may not sufficiently consider the value of natural capital and green space.

What will success look like?

• Increase in the percentage of county land which promotes diversity of habitat and species

Our Commitments

• We will support awareness raising and education on biodiversity and the value of natural capital to 
society and the economy

• We will create, protect, enhance, and manage sustainable green infrastructure and biodiversity on 
Council managed land and assets

• We will seek to improve the biodiversity value and condition of natural capital features on Council 
managed land and assets

• We will seek to demonstrate and support environmentally sustainable farming practices that support the 
maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity and the condition of natural capital features

• We will work with partners through the LLEP to develop a Natural Capital Investment Plan, and deliver 
the roadmap the recent Natural Capital Review Report set out for Leicestershire, minimising the loss of 
habitats and the impacts of development and encouraging innovative land use

5.3  Resources are used in an environmentally sustainable way

A further environmental crisis we are facing, in addition to climate change and biodiversity loss, is 
unsustainable resource usage. We are using the planet’s resources at a faster rate than they are being 
replenished and in a way which does not allow most of these resources to be reused within our economic 
systems. In order to address this crisis, we need to move to a circular economy model. This is a more 
resource efficient alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, use, dispose) where resources are used 
for as long as possible, then products and materials are recovered, regenerated, or recycled.

Leicestershire County Council is responsible for the reuse, treatment, recycling, or disposal of the collected 
wastes. In addition, it has the duty to provide places for the deposit of household waste from residents 
(Recycling & Household Waste Sites). Compared to other county areas, Leicestershire has a lower rate of 
household waste which is recycled and has a significantly higher percentage of waste which is landfilled. 

32



9  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

What will success look like?

• Increase in the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting and reduction in 
the percentage landfilled

Our Commitments

• Increase in the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting and reduction in 
the percentage landfilled

• We will reduce the tonnage of household waste produced in Leicestershire and minimise its 
environmental impact by applying the waste hierarchy in the priority order of prevention, preparation for 
reuse, recycling, other recovery, and disposal

• We will continue to encourage appropriate use of the Recycling & Household Waste Sites service

• We will provide a trade waste recycling, treatment and disposal service for businesses in Leicestershire, 
where practicable and cost-effective to do so

• We will work closely with other Waste Disposal Authorities to share ideas and opportunities for joint 
working / collaboration and innovation

5.4  The economy and infrastructure are low carbon and environmentally friendly

Decarbonising the economy and infrastructure is the key solution to addressing the climate emergency. 
Nearly 70% of Leicestershire’s emissions come from commercial, industrial and transport sources, with 
the remaining 30% coming from domestic sources (how we heat and use energy in our homes). Total 
commercial CO2 emissions in Leicestershire have reduced by xx% since 2005 and industrial CO2 
emissions have reduced by xx%. However, transport emissions have only fallen by x%. The move to a low 
carbon, environmentally-friendly economy will require policy, technological and behavioural changes.

The Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP)’s survey of local businesses from March-
June 2021 found that 35% of businesses had taken action to reduce carbon impact in the past 2 months 
and 50% planned to take action over the following 6 months.

What will success look like?

• Increase in the percentage of businesses taking action to reduce their carbon impact

• Reduction in CO2 emissions under the Council’s influence in the local area

Our Commitments

• We will ensure that our Corporate Asset Investment Fund owns efficient assets which enhance the 
environment and biodiversity in the county

• We will reduce the impact of the Council’s procurement and delivery of goods and services on the 
environment, including through the reduced use of raw materials and fossil fuels, increased use of 
renewable energy and deployment of smarter and more efficient processes

• We will work with businesses to raise awareness of the need to act on climate change and to support 
carbon reduction and circular economy practices

• We will identify and promote business opportunities arising from the move towards a circular economy 

33



10  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• We will work with partners to identify the investment requirements for zero carbon development and 
develop associated training and skills routes 

• We will work with partners to create new, low-carbon business units and managed workspaces for start-
ups and small companies

• We will work with partners and developers to ensure developments are low or zero carbon, climate 
resilient and enhance biodiversity 

• We will ensure effective restoration of public transport services following the pandemic and identify 
opportunities to make transport more efficient

• We will encourage and support active and sustainable travel options, where appropriate, by learning 
from best practice and encouraging the uptake and use of electric vehicles and micro-mobility as 
appropriate, including through provision of infrastructure

• We will reduce pollution and contamination in Leicestershire through our Trading Standards service and 
other areas of control and influence

• We will continue to investigate and pursue opportunities to increase carbon sequestration through nature 
based solutions, such as tree planting

34



11  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

6. Great Communities
The Great Communities outcome aims to ensure that Leicestershire has thriving, integrated and inclusive 
communities in which people support each other and take responsibility for their local area. We want 
communities to frequently tell us what is important to them and how well services are working and to work 
with us to improve services. Communities also need to be resilient and adaptable during emergencies to 
ensure a seamless return to normal life.

The communities we live in and the relationships we have are the primary source of our physical and 
mental health – which in turn affects the kind of life we are able to live and the part we play in society. Our 
communities are key assets and by investing in them we can cultivate the conditions for people to flourish. 

Whilst the pandemic has presented significant challenges for communities, it has also offered many 
examples of positive community spirit and highlighted the willingness of people to volunteer to help others, 
particularly the most vulnerable. Leicestershire’s thriving and diverse Voluntary, Community and Social 
Enterprise (VCSE) sector, comprising over 3,000 organisations, has continued to provide essential services. 
Over 1,000 Covid-19 volunteers have been recruited to support vulnerable people through activities such 
as providing food and medication, transport to and from appointments, information about support available 
and check-in/befriending contact. A further 1,250 county volunteers were recruited to support the Covid-19 
vaccination programme.

We aim to encourage more people to become active citizens, taking responsibility for their local areas. We 
will ‘help communities to help themselves’ by supporting them to take advantage of and build on the assets 
within their local area (e.g. buildings, people, skills, and networks) to help solve local challenges. We will 
build upon the successful partnerships and initiatives which have developed during the pandemic to further 
strengthen and empower communities. We will also provide VCSE organisations with tailored information, 
advice, and support to build community capacity and strengthen universal services. 

The council has a strong record of engaging with communities on services and strategies. This reflects our 
commitment to openness and transparency and supports informed decision-making on council services. 
We also encourage and support communities to direct development in their local areas. We aim to increase 
the involvement of residents in service design, such as by using a wider range of engagement methods and 
reaching marginalised communities.

Culture is our past, present and future. It’s what we have inherited, what we are experiencing now and 
what we would like to see remembered. It’s myths and legends, faiths and religion, buildings, villages, 
cities and landscapes, art, dance, music, and food, treasured and meaningful objects and possessions, 
values, beliefs and memories. We will preserve and make accessible our local cultural and historic heritage 
to enhance the wellbeing of local residents.

Resilient communities are capable of bouncing back from adverse situations. They do this by actively 
influencing and preparing for economic, social, and environmental change. We will work with partners to 
support society to avoid, prepare for, respond to, and recover from emergencies. 

Our specific priorities and commitments to deliver this outcome are set out in the following pages. To 
deliver them, we will work closely with residents, VCSE organisations and partner services. 

35



12  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

6.1  Diversity is celebrated and people feel welcome and included

Our Community Insight Survey finds that as of Quarter 1 2021/22 the vast majority of residents (92%) 
agree that their local area is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well together. 
However, this percentage represents a decrease from 96% in Quarter 2 2020/21. The rate of hate crime 
has also increased since the EU referendum and during the pandemic. 

What will success look like?

• Increased community cohesion

• Better reporting and reduction in hate crime

• Council services are accessible and inclusive for all

Our Commitments

• Our Equalities strategy will focus on providing accessible services, promoting community cohesion and 
ensuring equity in employment opportunities 

• We will sign up to the Race at Work Charter, The Disability Confident Scheme and the Stonewall 
Workforce Equalities Index 

• We will provide guidance, training and support for all staff to address equalities issues 

• We will organise and promote civic events throughout the county to celebrate our diverse communities

• We will support the Inter Faith Forum to promote greater understanding and awareness of religion, faith, 
and belief

• We will support the Leicestershire Equality Challenge Group to provide an independent challenge to our 
work to ensure service accessibility

• We will work with partners through the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board to tackle all 
forms of hate crime

6.2  People participate in service design and delivery

Our Community Survey suggests that 94% of residents are satisfied with their local area as a place to live. 
The majority of residents (57%) feel well informed about the Council and 67% state that they trust the 
Council. However, only 33% feel that they can influence Council decisions.

Neighbourhood Plans enable residents to develop a shared vision for local neighbourhoods and to shape 
the development and growth of local areas. There are now 125 active Neighbourhood Planning groups and 
there has been an increase in the number of Plans adopted, from 34 in 2019/20 to 38 in 2020/21. There 
are also 35 communities managing their local library, with many of these being community hubs which 
support the needs of local people.

What will success look like?

• Increase in the proportion of residents willing to work together and who feel that they can influence 
Council decisions

• Increase in the number of Neighbourhood Plans adopted

36



13  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Our Commitments

• We will engage residents, service users and partners in the planning of services, through a variety of 
means  

• We will sign the Consultation Institute’s Charter and follow the best practice principles for consultation 
and engagement 

• We will actively encourage community participation through the planning process, for instance through 
consultation on planning applications

• We will support Neighbourhood Plan development and provide timely and co-ordinated consultation 
responses from the Council 

• We will continue to support Parish and Town Councils in their role as community leaders and providers 
of community managed services

• We will continue to support communities to plan and deliver devolved services, such as community-
managed libraries and heritage sites

6.3  Communities are prepared for and resilient to emergencies

Leicestershire County Council aims to ensure that communities are ready for emergencies and prepared 
to respond. This can be supported through the development of Community Response Plans, which help 
communities to identify the skills, knowledge and resources that can be mustered to help those within 
the community who have been affected. There are currently 53 Community Response Plans across 
Leicestershire.

What will success look like?

• Increase in the number of active Community Response Plans

Our Commitments

• We will work with the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland Resilience Partnership to prepare for, 
respond to and recover from emergencies

• We will support communities to develop Community Response Plans, so they are in a position to help 
themselves in exceptional circumstances

• We will provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary organisations to ensure effective 
business continuity management 

• We will take action to support the resilience of the County to the existing and predicted changes in 
climate

• We will undertake the Lead Local Flood Authority statutory duties including reviewing Leicestershire’s 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

• We will maintain our Resilient Highways Network, targeting works to ensure that traffic is kept moving 
despite disruptive events (e.g. severe weather)

• We will work with partners through the Signposting and Community Support Service to provide 
emergency short-term food and fuel support 

37



14  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

6.4  Cultural and historical heritage are enjoyed and conserved

There was an 8% reduction in visits to heritage sites between 2018/19 and 2019/20. The pandemic 
has also had a significant impact on the county’s museum and heritage sites and library services, with 
premises having closed during the restrictions. However, services have adapted through digital delivery 
including virtual museum tours, whilst libraries have seen an 89% increase in the number of e-loans from 
2019/20-2020/21. 

What will success look like?

• Increase in the number of Leicestershire residents and visitors engaging in cultural and heritage activities

Our Commitments

• Our libraries, heritage, country parks and adult learning programmes will promote wellbeing by providing 
free and accessible community facilities, exhibitions and parks and outdoor activities and offering a 
range of learning opportunities

• Our Audience Development Team will ensure that new audiences obtain the wellbeing benefits 
associated with cultural participation and support communities through the Cultural Communities 
Network to develop their own bespoke programmes of cultural events and activities

• Our Creative Learning Services will support schools with a wide range of resources, pupil sessions and 
professional help to stimulate reading for pleasure and creative learning across the curriculum

• Our Record Office will preserve and provide access to resources which can be used to research 
Leicestershire’s history and culture 

• Our Museums’, Curatorial and Collections teams will maintain the County’s natural history, artefacts, 
specimens, information and objects as well as the stories of the people who have made Leicestershire 
their home for thousands of years

• Through GoLearn! (Leicestershire Adult Learning Service), we will offer a wide range of online adult 
learning courses in venues across Leicestershire

6.5  People support each other through volunteering

As highlighted previously, there has been a surge in prospective and mobilised volunteers during the 
pandemic, which is reflected nationwide; 750,000 people registered to volunteer for the NHS Volunteer 
Responders scheme within four days of its launch in April 2020 and over 4,000 mutual aid groups 
formed. Locally, 1,077 volunteers were recruited to support vulnerable people at the beginning of the 
pandemic and a further 1,250 recruited to support vaccination. However, pre-pandemic there was a long-
term downward trend in volunteer numbers and our latest Community Survey finds that 39% of resident 
respondents had given unpaid help in the last 12 months, suggesting that there may be scope to increase 
the rate of volunteering.

VCSE organisations have taken a leading role in ensuring the provision of support for vulnerable people 
throughout the pandemic, however they have faced significant financial pressures due to reduced income, 
the costs of making facilities Covid-19 secure and increases in demand.

What will success look like?

• There is a sustained increase in volunteering post-pandemic 

38



15  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• VCSE organisations remain financially viable and maintain service delivery

Our Commitments

• We will continue to provide communities with up-to-date information and advice to support and promote 
volunteering 

• We will develop and maintain a volunteering offer across services such as libraries, museums and 
heritage, social care and environment and waste

• We will encourage Council employees to volunteer to develop their skills and experience, build links with 
communities and support local initiatives

• We will support volunteers to maintain their health and wellbeing

• We will support the growth and development of VCSE organisations by providing targeted grants and 
funding

• We will commission an ongoing programme of support for VCSE groups in areas such as governance, 
income generation, commissioning support, representation, and establishment

39



16  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

7. Improving Opportunities
This outcome aims to ensure that all children get the best start for life and have the opportunities they 
need to reach their potential, regardless of where they grow up, or the family circumstances they are born 
into. This reflects evidence that the first 1001 critical days of life (from pregnancy to age two years) have 
a significant influence on neurological brain development and lifelong outcomes for the child. We believe 
children are best supported to grow within their own families and as such the outcome also reflects the 
need to ensure families are resilient and self-sufficient. Further, it aims to ensure that disadvantaged adults, 
such as those with learning disabilities, autism and/or mental health conditions, are able to aim high and 
achieve their aspirations.

The impact of family and community disadvantage is felt before a child enters school and is likely to have 
a significant impact on their future educational attainment and life chances. Whilst the term ‘disadvantage’ 
is usually linked to a family’s income, a wider definition incorporating the child’s vulnerability in the context 
of their family or community is more useful. For example, children living in a home where there is domestic 
abuse, a parent has poor mental health and/or problematic usage of drugs or alcohol, are at greater risk of 
experiencing mental illness and engaging in harmful behaviours. We also know that children with special 
educational needs and/or disabilities may be disadvantaged.

A report from the Association for Young People’s Health suggests that many of the risk factors for poorer 
outcomes amongst children and young people have been exacerbated by the pandemic, including financial 
hardship, poor emotional health and wellbeing and academic pressures. Young people already facing 
challenges in their lives (such as living in poverty, with a disability and/or in challenging family situations) 
seem to have been hardest hit. 

Early education has the potential to drive social mobility and improve outcomes for the next generation. 
It is therefore essential that children arrive at school ready to learn. High quality care in the early years 
of a child’s life supports better readiness for school, stronger cognitive skills and speech and language 
development. Investing in children’s development in the early years leads to large payoffs for children, 
communities and the wider economy. It is estimated that individuals with five or more good GCSEs have 
average lifetime productivity gains of £100,000, compared to those with qualifications below this level. 

Our services will be flexible and responsive to the needs of children and families, providing the right level  
of support at the right time. Wherever possible children’s and families’ needs will be met by universal 
services, however we will also invest in effective, targeted services that identify and support vulnerable 
families at an early stage. Supporting families requires effective collaboration between partner services. 
We will therefore work closely with partners, including through Leicestershire’s Children and Families 
Partnership - a sub-group of Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board which brings together local 
authorities, police, health, schools, probation and the voluntary sector - to help ensure children and young 
people reach their full potential.

7.1  Every child gets the best start in life 

The 1,001 days from pregnancy to the age of two set the foundations for an individual’s cognitive, 
emotional and physical development. These 1,001 days are a critical time for development, and we are 
committed to improving how we support families during the 1,001 critical days.

Leicestershire generally performs well in child and maternal health, with a lower rate of under-18 
conceptions, smoking at the time of delivery and low birth weight babies than England. It also currently has 
a slightly higher percentage of children achieving a good level of development at age 5 than the national 
average, although performance on this measure has historically tended to be below comparators.

40



17  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

However, Leicestershire ranks in the worst 25% of county areas for the percentage of children achieving 
the expected level of development at age 2-2.5yrs. It also performs poorly in terms of the percentage 
of eligible 2 year olds taking up free early education in Leicestershire (an initiative focused on the most 
socio-economically deprived households) and the percentage of children eligible for free school meals 
who achieve a good level of development at age 5. There is also further work to do around maintaining 
breastfeeding rates after initiation across the County.  

There are 2 tiers of support for children with special educational needs (SEND): ‘SEN Support’ and 
‘Education, Health and Care Plan’ (EHCP). EHCPs are the higher level of support. In Leicestershire, the 
percentage of children with SEND who have an EHCP and achieve a good level of development by age 5 is 
significantly higher than national average. However, for children on SEN Support, performance is below the 
national average.

For the past 10 years in Leicestershire there has been a year-on-year increase in the rate of children who 
are looked after in our care. Locally, as of 2019, Looked After Children were working below age related 
expectations when they start school - 72% were below age related expectations for Personal, Social and 
Emotional Development and 78% were below in Communication, Language and Literacy.

What will success look like?

• Services working in more integrated and collaborative ways to support pre-school children and their 
families 

• Increase in the proportion of young children achieving a good level of development at foundation stage

Our Commitments

Services working in more integrated and collaborative ways to support pre-school children and their 
families 

• We will focus on strengthening collaboration between partners to improve early education, health and 
wellbeing outcomes for pre-school children

• We will work with partners across education, health and care to promote breastfeeding initiation and 
continuation 

• We will develop an integrated Early Years Pathway to ensure that vulnerable children are identified and 
supported early

• We will develop an integrated communication strategy to promote the 1001 Critical Days Children’s 
Manifesto

• We will join up how services for pre-school children and their families report on performance to support 
a coherent understanding of our progress and where we need to improve

• We will help to ensure staff across health, care and education are informed about the needs of children 
with SEND and available support

Increase in the proportion of children achieving a good level of development at foundation stage

• We will focus on narrowing the development gaps that affect children and families who are at the 
greatest disadvantage (e.g. those who live in poverty or have a poor home environment, have special 
educational needs and/or are in our care)

• We will support parents and families to build on their understanding of children’s needs so that they are 
able to get their children off to a good start

41



18  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• We will help families access free childcare and provide high-quality childcare and early education that is 
fully inclusive and accessible 

• We will support all childcare providers to offer sufficient high-quality early education places

• We will protect and where possible strengthen the service provided by our Children and Family 
Wellbeing Centres

• We will provide greater clarity on what success looks like when children are ready for school and on how 
we can support schools to be ready 

7.2  Every child has access to good quality education

As of 2018/19, Leicestershire had a higher proportion of primary and secondary schools rated either good 
or outstanding than the national average. The vast majority of children and families are offered their first 
preference of school placement. Leicestershire also has better overall educational attainment rates than 
the national average from key stages 1-4, although outcomes at A-Level are consistently below comparator 
levels.

Although children in our care have significantly poorer educational outcomes than their peers, 
Leicestershire performs well compared to other counties in this area. Additionally, educational attainment 
for children with SEND who have an EHCP is better in Leicestershire than the national average at all key 
stages except key stage 2. However, for children on SEN Support, educational attainment is consistently 
below comparator levels. Further, for children in receipt of free school meals, educational attainment rates 
at key stages 2 and 4 are consistently lower locally than the national average.

One of the key challenges in Leicestershire is a growing need for school places. Demand for EHCPs 
to support children with SEND has also increased significantly locally, at a rate higher than regionally 
or nationally. We recognise that the majority of children with SEND can and should have those needs 
supported in a mainstream setting at the SEN Support stage, without the need for an EHCP.

What will success look like?

• Sufficient, high quality mainstream school places and specialist SEND provision to meet growing 
demand

• Improved educational attainment amongst disadvantaged pupils (e.g. those in receipt of free school 
meals, with SEN and/or a disability)

Our Commitments

Sufficient, high quality mainstream school places and specialist SEND provision to meet growing 
demand

• We will work with partners to ensure that admissions arrangements promote diversity and choice and 
meet the needs of vulnerable groups

• We will ensure a sufficient supply of high-quality school places by monitoring capacity and extending or 
building new schools where required

• We will implement an ambitious sufficiency programme to develop SEND provision across the local 
area, including development of resources in pre-school settings and mainstream schools to promote 
inclusion and expansion of existing special schools 

42



19  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• We will maintain strong arrangements for the management of our assets, and strengthen our 
relationship with Academies, to ensure all school buildings (irrespective of their designation and funding 
arrangements) are fit for purpose

Improved educational attainment amongst disadvantaged pupils

• We will aim to help school pupils catch up with learning missed during the pandemic and continue to 
improve educational attainment 

• We will focus on ensuring all children in our care access appropriate, stable education placements and 
positive educational experiences. Our Virtual School will ensure children in care and care leavers receive 
the best education possible and develop skills and knowledge for a successful future.

• We will work with partners through the SEND and Inclusion Board to ensure the culture of all 
mainstream schools and providers is inclusive and staff are well-equipped and supported to meet the 
learning needs of the vast majority of children, including those with SEND.

• We will work with further education colleges to develop opportunities for a more individualised learning 
experience for young people with SEND. 

• We will focus on improving the quality of EHCPs and developing the EHCP process and Annual Reviews 
both within the local authority and between the local authority, clinical commissioning group and 
provider services

• We will ensure that when a child or young person needs move to a different educational provision or 
service, this is done in a timely manner with the appropriate information being made available so that 
needs are well understood

7.3  Families are self-sufficient and enabled to be resilient

Many families have emerging or complex needs which require support to enable their children to achieve 
good outcomes in life. To provide an effective response, we need to identify issues early, ensure joined-up 
working between services and work directly with families.

In 2019/20, Leicestershire County Council achieved its target for the number of families achieving 
significant and sustained progress through the Troubled Families programme, which aims to improve the 
lives and outcomes for England’s most complex and ‘troubled’ families.

Disruption in family lives can lead to children missing education, with the impacts felt by children 
themselves, families and society. Leicestershire has low rates of children missing education. The number 
of elective home-educated (EHE) children has increased from approximately 150 six years ago to over 790 
children which highlights the need to ensure families are well-equipped and supported to provide a suitable 
education.

Leicestershire has a high rate of children with SEND who have an EHCP and this has increased in recent 
years. As the majority of children with SEND can and should have those needs supported in a mainstream 
setting at the SEN Support stage without the need for an EHCP, this may suggest a need to develop the 
confidence and capacity of families to manage the needs of children with SEND.

What will success look like?

• Families are able to identify their own support networks and feel more able to deal with issues as they 
arise

• The Council continues to achieve its target for the number of families achieving significant and sustained 
progress 

43



20  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Our Commitments

• We will develop the Leicestershire Information and Support Directory and Local Offer to help families 
access information, guidance, and support

• We will support the delivery of Citizens Advice services and crisis and hardship support for people in 
need

• We will we work positively with parents and carers opting for EHE, offering a range of support to ensure 
that statutory duties are met 

• We will work across the early help partnership to ensure all agencies are able to identify families who 
may require additional support at the earliest possible opportunity, and will work with partners to make 
sure families receive the best response to their needs

• We will continue to prioritise investment in preventative services to help to avoid the need for children to 
become looked after. We will ensure children who are at risk of family breakdown receive timely and, if 
necessary, intensive support to help them to remain living with their families

• We will develop our support to young people who encounter emotional difficulties or require other 
targeted early help support 

7.4  Everyone is able to aim high and reach their full potential

Only 2% of children aged 16-17 in Leicestershire are not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), 
below the national average (2.7%). The sub-groups we know are most likely to be NEET are care leavers, 
young carers, young offenders, young parents, and young people with learning and/or other disabilities. For 
example, the proportion of children with SEND who have an EHCP and are NEET at ages 16-17 is 9.4%; 
above the national average (8.9%).

The percentage of young people aged 19 with at least a level 2 qualification is consistently higher locally 
than the national average, however for those from poorer backgrounds who claimed free school meals 
during school, performance is consistently lower locally than the national average.

Leicestershire is in the best performing 25% comparators for the percentage of care leavers who are in 
education, employment, or training as well as for the percentage of care leavers who are living in suitable 
accommodation.

It is also in the best performing 25% comparators for the proportion of people aged 18-64 with a learning 
disability who are in paid employment and the proportion who are living in their own home or with their 
family. However, it is in the worst 25% of comparators for the proportion of those in contact with secondary 
mental health services who are in paid employment, and below the average amongst comparators for the 
proportion who are living independently. 

What will success look like?

• Below national average rate of vulnerable young people (e.g. unaccompanied asylum-seeking children, 
those with SEN and/or disability, those who are from poorer backgrounds and/or care leavers) who are 
NEET 

• Above national average rates of disadvantaged adults (e.g. those with learning disabilities, autism and/or 
mental health conditions) who are in paid employment and living independently 

44



21  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Our Commitments

Below national average rate of vulnerable young people who are NEET 

• We will challenge schools in relation to statutory individualised careers guidance for vulnerable groups

• We will monitor the progress of learners beyond age 16 to ensure good progress and identify those 
at risk of becoming NEET in order to target them for additional support to participate in education or 
training and make positive and well-informed choices

• We will identify the interests and skills of children in our care and provide them with information and 
advice about educational and career options 

• We will raise employers’ awareness of the issues affecting care leavers to help ensure they offer the right 
support to care leaver employees

• Through our Teenagers with Babies Action Group, we will deliver actions to reduce NEET amongst 
Teenage parents, such as ensuring seamless support pathways and improving access to educational 
opportunities 

• Our Youth Offending Team will provide young offenders with dedicated Education Worker and Careers 
Advisors to ensure they are actively engaged in education, training or employment and will advocate for 
them with schools, colleges, alternative providers, and employers

• We will expand the range of alternative providers for young offenders and others for whom formal 
educational placements are not suitable

Above national average rates of disadvantaged adults who are in paid employment and living 
independently 

• We will maintain a person-centred process to support navigation through transition, from child to 
adulthood

• We will continue to offer engaging ‘first steps’ learning opportunities through our Adult Learning Service 
as a way of increasing participation for disadvantaged learners, and to prepare them for a more formal 
programme of learning

• We will work with all partners to promote and extend opportunities for supported employment for 
disadvantaged people

• We will support people to live in the least restrictive environments possible, by developing more 
supported accommodation, including ‘step down’ temporary accommodation, and exploring the benefits 
of single accommodation units with on-site shared support for adults with mental ill-health

45



22  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

8. Strong Economy, Transport and 
Infrastructure
This outcome aims to ensure that, using our local capabilities, innovations, and skills – we build a 
productive, inclusive and sustainable economy at the cutting edge of science, technology and engineering. 
It also reflects the need for our infrastructure to meet the demands of a growing population and economy, 
by providing great connections and sufficient employment space and housing of a range of types and 
tenure.

Our economy is primed for success. We have unrivalled assets such as a world-class university with 
one of the UK’s largest science parks, a central location with the largest distribution park in Europe and 
the UK’s 2nd largest freight airport. Our strong and growing manufacturing sector forms the backbone 
of our economy. Recently, the East Midlands Airport and Gateway Industrial Cluster sites in North West 
Leicestershire were selected for Freeport Status. This could provide a significant boost to manufacturing 
and logistics industries and create up to 60,000 additional jobs. 

However, our economy faces significant challenges including lower productivity than the UK. This may be 
in part due to a lack of training, investment and innovation. Productivity helps businesses to grow more 
profitable and is a key determinant of the pay and living standards of residents.

The pandemic has also had a significant impact; leading to many jobs being classified as ‘vulnerable’ 
(particularly in hospitality, tourism, retail and manufacturing) and a contraction in job vacancies and hiring. 
This has impacted workers in low pay and/or insecure jobs the most and increased the risk of lower-
skilled workers facing unemployment and job insecurity. Young people have been particularly affected by 
a reduction in entry level positions and apprenticeships. The capacity and capability of many businesses 
has also been significantly stretched in terms of their resilience and financial health, and rural areas 
have experienced disruptions to harvesting and demand for agricultural produce, as well as supply chain 
disruptions in the food and drink sector. 

Pre-Covid, the Leicester and Leicestershire economy generated £24.5 billion in GVA, with 42,000 
businesses and 538,000 jobs. Testament to its resilience and growth potential, we expect this to increase, 
despite the impacts of the pandemic, to £30.2 billion and 568,000 jobs by 2030. 

The specific priorities and commitments for this outcome, outlined in the following pages, will enable the 
economy to recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and support long-term growth. To deliver them, we will 
continue to work in close partnership with public sector partners, businesses, and universities. We will 
focus on ensuring that people have the skills they need to access employment, as this will support a good 
quality of life and help businesses to grow. We will ensure that infrastructure provides excellent connectivity, 
enabling access to opportunities and opening up sites for development. As highlighted in the Clean, Green 
Outcome, we also need to ensure that economic growth and infrastructure development supports the 
transition to net zero carbon emissions. 

8.1  There is close alignment between skill supply and demand

Manufacturing and logistics are the key employment sectors in Leicester and Leicestershire, and we aim 
to accelerate growth in these areas. However, we also want to increase employment in business and 
financial services, tourism and hospitality and creative design, as well as facilitate growth in life sciences, 
environmental/low carbon technologies and space and aerospace. Local skills needs will also be driven 
by the shortfall in overseas workers, caused by Covid-19 and the fall in EU workers. This is likely to have 
a significant impact on the social care sector, which has already been facing recruitment and retention 

46

file:///C:\Users\AEpps\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\20ND95GW\Appendix 1 - Draft Strategic Plan 2022-26.docx#_The_economy_and_1
file:///C:\Users\AEpps\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\20ND95GW\Appendix 1 - Draft Strategic Plan 2022-26.docx#_The_economy_and_1


23  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

difficulties for many years. There will be a need to encourage life-long learning, and to improve skills 
attainment across all of these priority sectors.

Leicestershire performs well in terms of the percentage of working-age population qualified to Levels 2+ 
and 3+, and the percentage of residents qualified to NVQ Level 4+ is similar to the national average. It also 
has a good supply of graduates to the local labour market and a strong and improving further education 
sector which provides a wide range of vocational training to meet local employer needs. However, there are 
insufficient numbers of local young people choosing to pursue careers in Science, Technology, Engineering 
& Mathematics (STEM), which is critical for our growth sectors.

Leicestershire has lower levels of in-work training than comparators and employers are reporting a lack of 
skilled workers in key sectors which is impacting business performance. The Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership (LLEP)’s survey of local businesses in 2021 found that 21% of businesses had 
recruitment difficulties, 60% required improvement in basic work-based skills and over a third in digital 
skills. 

Leicestershire has a lower unemployment rate than the national average. However, the rate has increased 
locally during the pandemic; the rate of Job Seekers Allowance and Universal Credit claimants increased 
from 1.6% in March 2020 to 3.3% in June 2021. Young people are likely to be disadvantaged due to 
missing education, reduction in apprenticeship opportunities, a more competitive labour market and lack of 
workplace digital skills. 

What will success look like?

• Improvement in population skills and reduction in the proportion of employers reporting skills shortages 
or gaps

• Increased opportunities in the labour market for young people and reduced unemployment and job 
insecurity

Our Commitments

Improvement in population skills and reduction in the proportion of employers reporting skills 
shortages

• We will work with partners through the LLEP to:

• Capture and analyse labour market information to identify skills shortages and growth businesses
• Support the Further Education sector to expand and improve their facilities, especially where there is a 

strong link to growth sectors
• Develop Skills Plans for priority sectors to promote relevant job opportunities and help businesses 

meet their recruitment and skills needs
• Create a Leicester and Leicestershire Digital Skills Partnership to address digital skills deficiencies in 

the workplace and wider society
• Focus on embedding employability skills so that individuals are well-prepared for employment and 

attractive to employers 
• Provide flexible leadership and management skills development programmes
• Promote enterprise skills programmes to help people think about self-employment and support start-

ups and existing businesses

47



24  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Increased opportunities in the labour market for young people and reduced unemployment and job 
insecurity 

• We will provide information, advice, and guidance on the labour market to parents, teachers and young 
people and promote STEM careers

• We will work with partners to identify pathways into employment and support youth engagement in 
emerging, productive, and buoyant sectors

• We will work with partners to continue provision of youth, employment, and career services such as 
Careers Hub and Youth Employment Hub 

• We will work with partners to support the graduate careers and retention initiatives of local universities 
and to incorporate graduate skills into enterprise support, innovation, and growth initiatives

• We will work with partners to produce an Apprenticeship Action Plan to address the decline in 
apprenticeships due to Covid-19

• Our Kickstart scheme will provide employment placements for young people aged 16-24 at risk of 
becoming long-term unemployed

• We will work with local authorities, businesses, and education providers to support Leicestershire people 
back into employment following the Covid-19 crisis through re-training/job matching and stimulating 
entrepreneurialism

• Our Work + scheme will provide free one-to-one support, advice and information to people looking for 
secure paid employment or training

8.2  Leicestershire has the infrastructure for sustainable growth

We need our infrastructure to support continuous economic growth, whilst helping to tackle the climate 
emergency. There is a need to develop and promote sustainable forms of transport and decarbonise road 
transport.

Leicestershire’s population is projected to rise to 860,618 by 2043 – an increase of 23% from 2018. 
Leicester and Leicestershire’s Strategic Growth Plan identifies the need for 96,580 more homes by 2031 
and a further 90,500 dwellings from 2031-50. Just under 200,000 new homes are therefore set to be 
built by 2050. These will need to be supported by new roads, schools, transport, and other infrastructure – 
estimated to cost £600m over the next 25 years. 

The Strategic Growth Plan also identifies the need for an additional 367-423 hectares of land for 
employment use by 2031. Since 2010, there has been a transformation of the provision of world class 
business locations and premises in Leicester and Leicestershire; brand new Grade A office, technology 
and manufacturing premises accommodate 5,000 high-technology jobs. There is a need to continuously 
explore how existing employment areas can be supported and where new growth should be directed.

Road networks in Leicestershire are in fair condition with a relatively low percentage of roads requiring 
consideration of structural maintenance, although the percentage is higher for unclassified roads. However, 
unreliable journey times and congestion on local roads in county towns and on parts of the strategic road 
network (M1 Junctions) are a frequent complaint. Further, the predominantly rural nature of the county 
presents viability challenges for medium and long-distance public transport, which in turn means that 
it can be difficult to identify opportunities to travel by sustainable modes. Where mid or long-distance 
bus and rail opportunities exist, they may be infrequent, with long journey times, and stops located at 
potentially inconvenient locations. 

In terms of digital infrastructure, the pandemic has accelerated the pace of digital transformation of 
businesses and public services, with employers expecting digital skills to become increasingly important. 

48



25  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Whilst this has created opportunities for enhanced business efficiency, productivity and resilience, it has 
also exposed the ‘digital divide’ in society with residents unable to afford and/or use digital devices, rural 
areas lacking access to high speed broadband or 4G or 5G services and independent retailers in our Towns 
and Rural areas struggling to sell on-line or advertise themselves by social media.

What will success look like?

• Infrastructure capacity and capability supports growth, whilst supporting net zero carbon emissions

• Sufficient employment sites and premises for growth

Our Commitments

Infrastructure capacity and capability supports growth, whilst supporting net zero carbon emissions

• Through our Corporate Asset Investment Fund, we own and manage a diverse portfolio of property and 
other investment assets. We will use this to support growth in the county and ensure there is a diverse 
range of properties and land assets available to meet the aims of economic development

• We will continue to provide safe, suitably maintained highways that support and encourage new housing 
development and economic growth and employ a flexible approach to reviewing, amending, and 
developing the network to reflect changing travel demand and traffic patterns

• We will maximise opportunities from technological innovations; utilising evidence gathered on the Major 
Road Network and from key radial routes to support end to end journey planning and better traffic 
management

• We will continue to press Government for long-term funding streams to help us maintain our highway 
assets and support passenger transport services

• We will work in partnership with local bus operators to promote and champion the provision of 
affordable, frequent, and high-quality passenger transport services and support with the recovery of 
the passenger transport market following the Covid-19 pandemic by identifying opportunities to provide 
access to essential services in the most cost effective and efficient way

• We will engage with the freight and logistics sector, to better understand the needs of the sector and 
ensure that schemes are developed which support the efficient movement of freight into, around, and 
out of Leicestershire

• We will work with partners through Midlands Connect to invest in strategic road and rail improvements 
to reduce congestion, improve journey times and support housing growth (e.g. Midlands Rail Hub 
proposal - rail infrastructure improvements to provide better rail links across the Midlands)

• We will continue engaging with HS2 Ltd to ensure that Leicester and Leicestershire’s interests are 
protected and/or advanced throughout construction

• We will encourage and support active and sustainable travel options, where appropriate, by learning 
from best practice and encouraging the uptake and use of electric vehicles and micro-mobility as 
appropriate, including through provision of infrastructure

• We will work with partners through the LLEP to improve digital connectivity through broadband, Wi-
Fi and 5G connectivity in rural blackspots and will define and implementing the Council’s first digital 
connectivity strategy

49



26  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Sufficient employment sites and premises for growth

• We will work with partners to renew existing employment sites and premises where there is demand

• We will work with partners to maintain confidence and momentum of development of strategic sites and 
the Freeport

8.3  Leicestershire is an attractive place where businesses flourish

The Leicestershire economy is dominated by small businesses - with 89.2% of businesses micro-sized 
(employing 9 or fewer people). Building on the support from our growth hub and successful partnership 
initiatives, we can continue the substantial progress made in the last 10 years, as evidenced by the growth 
in number of businesses (+18% between 2014 and 2019) and improvements in start-up and survival 
rates. 

However, productivity rates are lower locally than the national average. Investment in research and 
development (R&D) is a key driver of innovation and productivity growth. Investment in R&D in 
Leicestershire has however been consistently below the national average; In 2016 R&D expenditure was 
equivalent to 1.5% GVA for Leicestershire, Rutland, and Northamptonshire – below the UK average (1.7%), 
and government target of 3% in the longer-term. This highlights the need to increase investment and 
activity in R&D and innovation and to lever existing R&D capabilities from our leading corporations.

Leicester and Leicestershire is a prime location for international businesses – with 18% of all businesses 
exporting overseas in 2020, and 83% of exporters selling to markets in the EU. Over the next 10 years, 
businesses must adapt to the new challenges and opportunities posed by Covid-19 and EU-Exit, as 
illustrated by the value of goods exported from the UK declining by 16% throughout 2020 – the largest 
drop since comparable records began.

What will success look like?

• Growth and expansion of existing innovation and R&D strengths

• Further increase in business density; particularly in growth sectors and knowledge-based businesses

Our Commitments

Growth and expansion of existing innovation and R&D strengths

• We will work with partners through the LLEP Innovation Board to drive forward accelerated innovation 
priorities

• We will work with partners to ensure the R&D sector has sufficient skills, capabilities and support to 
retain and attract new R&D programmes

• We will support R&D funding bids, innovation and knowledge transfer initiatives and increase public and 
private investment in R&D and innovation

• We will work with partners to increase opportunities for collaboration, knowledge exchange, pooling of 
resources, and applied problem solving

• We will support development of business and university networks to promote technology adoption and 
digital transformation

• We will work with businesses to improve the culture of innovation and awareness of the business 
performance benefits

50



27  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

Further increase in business density; particularly in growth sectors and knowledge-based businesses

• We will continue to support the key growth sectors of life sciences, space and earth observation, 
sports and sport science, advanced engineering, ICT, food and drink, logistics and professional and 
financial services – as well as the locally important sectors of agriculture, textiles, creative and cultural, 
construction, tourism and the visitor economy, and the voluntary and non-profit sectors

• We will work with partners to encourage and support international business expansion, including in the 
Freeport site

• We will develop and implement the Freeport strategy and SME support for exporting, identifying key 
sectors and opportunities

• We will continue to provide advice and support to businesses to assist recovery from Covid-19 and 
adaptation to the new EU trading relationships

8.4  Economic growth delivers increased prosperity for all

We aim for local economic growth to advance equality by creating opportunities for all, and for the benefits 
of increased prosperity to be distributed fairly. 

Leicestershire is not deprived overall; the county is ranked 137th out of 152 upper tier authorities 
in England for Multiple Deprivation, where 1st is the most deprived. However, pockets of significant 
deprivation exist; four neighbourhoods in the county fall within the most deprived decile in England. 

There is a lower number of children living in poverty locally than the average amongst county authorities 
and a lower percentage of children in secondary schools receiving free school meals. However, the 
percentage is higher than comparators for nursery and primary school children. Further, Gross Disposable 
Household Income (GDHI) is lower locally than average amongst county authorities.

Leicestershire has a low rate of households assessed as being at risk of homelessness, ranking in the 
best performing 25% comparators. However, financial pressures on residents are likely to increase as 
government Covid-19 support measures end. Local survey data suggests that over half of residents are 
worried about the economic wellbeing of their friends and family and significantly more are worried about 
their own economic well-being. 

What will success look like?

• Growth in Gross Value Added (GVA) corresponds with an increase in GDHI and a reduction in the 
percentage of children receiving free school meals 

Our Commitments

• We will focus on supporting inclusive economic growth in the disadvantaged areas and groups of 
Leicestershire

• Our Work + scheme will provide free one-to-one support, advice and information to people looking for 
secure paid employment or training

51



28  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

8.5  Leicestershire has the right homes in the right places to meet needs

Housing is generally an area of good performance, as Leicestershire ranks in the best performing 25% of 
comparators for the rates of new houses and affordable houses built. However, expensive house prices in 
rural areas puts housing out of reach for many and Leicestershire has a high rate of local authority owned 
homes which are ‘non-decent’ (an issue in Charnwood, Hinckley and Bosworth, North West Leicestershire 
and Melton). As highlighted, there is a need for 187,096 new houses by 2050, with 96,580 of those 
required by 2031. These will need to be low carbon developments and include affordable housing. The 
number of older people living in Leicestershire is also forecast to increase significantly, and many will 
require specialist accommodation.

What will success look like?

• Leicestershire is on track to deliver the 187,096 new dwellings required by 2050 

Our Commitments

• We will work with developers, landowners, and statutory agencies to remove the barriers to development

• We will focus development in major strategic locations to reduce the amount that takes place in existing 
towns, villages, and rural areas. This will allow us to plan for new housing and employment with new 
and improved roads, public transport, schools, health services, shops, and open space

• We will explore ways to secure financial contributions through development to support essential 
infrastructure (e.g. highway capacity, schools etc)

• Through the Leicestershire Rural Housing Group, we will guide work to assess and meet the housing 
needs of people in the villages of Leicestershire

• We will work with partners and developers to help ensure all housing developments are low carbon and 
enhance biodiversity

• We will develop further the Social Care Investment Plan to secure suitable accommodation choices for 
social care service users

52



29  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

9. Keeping People Safe and Well
This outcome aims to ensure the people of Leicestershire live in a healthy environment and have the 
opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing. It also aims to ensure 
people are safe and protected from harm. 

Health and wellbeing is an asset to individuals, communities and wider society. Good mental and physical 
health is a basic precondition for people to take an active role in family, community, and work life. 
However, these benefits are undermined by health inequalities. Those living in the most disadvantaged 
areas often have poorer health outcomes, as do some ethnic minority groups and vulnerable people. 
Health inequalities have been further exposed by Covid-19 as it has taken a disproportionate toll on groups 
already facing the worst health outcomes. 

Health inequalities are driven by factors beyond age, gender, genetics, lifestyle, social and community 
networks, socio-economic, cultural and environmental factors. The Council has influence and responsibility 
over some of these ‘wider determinants of health’ such as education, housing, transport, culture and clean 
air. It also fosters economic opportunity which is reflected in the supply and quality of jobs in the local area. 
Further, it empowers people to help themselves and each other, for example through volunteering and local 
initiatives.

We will work with partners through Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the health 
and wellbeing of children and adults and reduce health inequalities. This will include addressing the wider 
determinants of health, with a focus on breaking down intergenerational cycles of deprivation and poor 
health outcomes. We will ensure that everyone has access to information and advice which supports their 
wellbeing and enables them to think ahead and plan for their future. We will promote wellbeing by building 
upon peoples’ strengths and community assets. We will identify people who may be at risk of needing 
social care support in the future and help them to gain or regain the skills to live independently. We will 
also enable those requiring further support to take control of their health and wellbeing and to live active, 
independent, and fulfilling lives through easy access to effective, personalised care. 

To help keep people safe, we will work with partners through Leicestershire’s Safer Communities 
Board to strengthen links between work-streams being undertaken to reduce crime and disorder within 
communities. We will also fulfil our statutory duties to safeguard vulnerable children and adults who have 
experienced, or may be at risk of experiencing, abuse, or neglect. This will include work with partners 
through the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults’ Board and Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
to coordinate and continuously review and improve safeguarding practices.

9.1  People are safe in their daily lives 

Total crime levels are relatively low in Leicestershire compared to other areas and have reduced in recent 
years. The number of people killed or seriously injured on the County’s roads is also low and public 
satisfaction with road safety is high. Leicestershire also has low rates of youth offending.

However, during 2020/21 there were significant increases in: hate crime (+32%); sexual offences (+32%); 
drug offences (+24%) and violence with injury (+13%). There was also an increase in reported anti-social 
behaviour across the County during 2020/21. There has been a reduction in the percentage of residents 
who feel safe when outside in their local area after dark, from 88% in 2019/20 to 79% in 2020/21. A 
survey by the Leicestershire Police and Crime Commissioner found that respondents tended to attribute this 
to a lack of street lighting and the proximity of anti-social behaviour and crime.

From 2018/19 to 2020/21, there has been a year-on-year reduction in the number of referrals to child 
safeguarding for child sexual exploitation. However, the rate of referrals for child criminal exploitation has 

53



30  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

however increased slightly from 140 in 2019/20 to 145 in 2020/21. There is a risk that child criminal 
exploitation and violence related to young people may increase or become more visible during Covid-19 
recovery.

What will success look like?

• Less crime and fear of crime and increase in the percentage of residents who feel safe when outside in 
their local area after dark

• Fewer children and young people involved in and impacted by criminal behaviour

Our Commitments

Less crime and fear of crime and increase in the percentage of residents who feel safe when outside 
in their local area after dark

• We will work with Police and other agencies to ensure anti-social behaviour is dealt with swiftly and 
effectively

• We will work with partners to raise awareness of and tackle all forms of hate crime in which people are 
targeted based on their personal characteristics

• We will help to reduce the prevalence of modern slavery and trafficking by ensuring our suppliers adhere 
to the highest standards of ethics and working with the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland Modern 
Slavery Action Group to raise awareness, disrupt crimes and safeguard victims

• We will work closely with partners and communities through the Violence Reduction Unit to prevent 
serious violence 

• We will work with partners to raise awareness of and tackle scammers and rogue traders who exploit 
vulnerable consumers

• We will enforce standards related to food and product safety

Fewer children and young people involved in and impacted by criminal behaviour

• We will deliver a robust, whole-family approach to prevent children and young people from engaging in 
criminal behaviour

• We will work with partners to provide safe spaces for children and young people to play, without the risk 
of being groomed into criminal exploitation

• We will deliver preventative street-based work with young people targeted in areas with high levels of 
anti-social behaviour

• We will identify and address the exploitation of children and young people and provide care and support 
to those affected

9.2  People at the most risk are protected from harm

There is an upward trend in demand for child safeguarding, with an increase in the rate of Section 47 
enquiries (initiated to decide whether action should be taken to safeguard a child suspected to be suffering 
or at risk of suffering harm) and children on child protection plans. The rate of children looked after by the 
local authority has also increased year-on-year for the past 10 years. 

Whilst the rate of reported domestic abuse-related incidents remains below the national average, it has 
increased in Leicestershire from 21.1 per 1,000 population in 2017/18 to 23.1 in 2019/20 and during 

54



31  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

2020/21 there was a 20% rise in Domestic Violence with Injury and a rise in psychological abuse. 
Domestic abuse has also been a more prominent feature in child safeguarding cases during the last year.

What will success look like?

• Safeguarding approaches are effective in recovery from Covid-19 and informed by learning from the 
pandemic

• Vulnerable people are identified and protected from harm and abuse

Our Commitments

Safeguarding approaches are effective in recovery from Covid-19 and informed by learning from the 
pandemic

• We will focus on identifying and responding to hidden harm (e.g. self-neglect, mental ill-health and/or 
learning disabilities, domestic abuse)

• We will support care homes with Infection Control, vaccination, and Personal Protective Equipment 
support to minimise Covid-19 outbreaks 

• We will risk assess and quality assure care providers to ensure services are safe and protect vulnerable 
children and adults

• We will work with partners to review the response to and forward implications of Covid-19 and recovery 
work regarding safeguarding

Vulnerable people are identified and protected from harm and abuse

• We will improve how we work with families to safeguard babies by ensuring robust procedures are in 
place and raising awareness of risk factors 

• We will develop a communications strategy to support partners to deliver universal safety messages to 
children and young people

• We will work with partners to develop joint responses to risk including child sexual exploitation, domestic 
abuse, gangs, missing from home

• We will focus on combatting sexual violence and domestic abuse by developing a Domestic Abuse 
Strategy, protecting all survivors and their families in safe and appropriate accommodation and 
improving our understanding of perpetrators and how to respond to them

• We will develop trauma-informed practices and offer direct work to support children to recover from 
Adverse Childhood Experiences 

• We will ensure that work with young people to reduce risk and vulnerability assists prevention of adult 
safeguarding need 

• We will work with communities to prevent people becoming victims and ensure they know how to seek 
help and have the confidence to do so

• We will develop understanding of equality and diversity issues and the impact on access to safeguarding 
services

• We will review and change systems to ensure that the new Liberty Protection Safeguards Legislation and 
codes of practice are in place

55



32  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

9.3  People enjoy long lives in good health

The health of people in Leicestershire is generally better than the England average, as it is one of the 20% 
least deprived counties in England. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher in Leicestershire 
than the England average. However, healthy life expectancy (an estimate of how many years people might 
live in a ‘healthy’ state) is only marginally higher than the national average and there are significant health 
inequalities in the county, as life expectancy is 6.3 years lower for men and 5.0 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Leicestershire than in the least deprived areas. 

As highlighted, health outcomes are influenced by a range of social, economic and environmental factors, 
known as the ‘wider determinants of health’. Air pollution, particularly fine particulate matter (PM2.5), is a 
significant health hazard. PM2.5 is the 3rd leading cause of preventable deaths in Leicestershire.

Additionally, two thirds of adults, and one third of children in year 6, are either overweight or obese. This 
increases their risk of having long-term conditions like type 2 diabetes and reduces expected lifespan. 
There has also been a rise in adults classified as physically inactive from 19.5% in 2018/19 to 21.9% 
in 2019/20. Whilst these figures are similar to the national average, some areas of the county have 
higher rates of overweight/obesity and physical inactivity than England. Physical inactivity has also been 
exacerbated by the pandemic, with the deconditioning of the population during lockdown restrictions.

In terms of mental health and wellbeing, Leicestershire has a high rate of people reporting a low 
happiness score and a high rate reporting a high anxiety score. Although there is a low rate of suicides 
in Leicestershire compared to other counties, the county has a high rate of excess deaths amongst those 
aged under 75 with a severe mental illness. These excess deaths are explained not only by suicides and 
accidents but also physical illnesses; studies show that that all-cause mortality in people with severe 
mental illness is 2 to 3.5 times higher than in the general population. There has also been a significant 
increase in the number of cases referred to adult social care mental health teams during the pandemic, 
which has also occurred across the country. Surveys and cases also suggest that ongoing Covid-19 
restrictions are having an impact on mental health of children and young people.

What will success look like?

• Improved healthy life expectancy and reduced health inequalities 

• Increased proportion of residents with a healthy weight 

• Improved mental wellbeing and reduced prevalence of mental ill health 

Our Commitments

Improved healthy life expectancy and reduced health inequalities 

• We will focus on breaking down intergenerational cycles of deprivation and poor health, promoting new 
ways of working to tackle disadvantages

• Through Healthy Together 0-19 we will provide Health Visiting and School Nursing to support the health 
and wellbeing of children and young people

• We will provide information and advice to enable people to access services, facilities and resources 
which contribute towards wellbeing 

• We will deliver a wider determinants programme of work to address the range of social, economic and 
environmental factors which influence health outcomes, thereby improving health and reducing health 
inequalities. This will include for example our work with partners to improve air quality.

56



33  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• We will embed a Health Equity in All Policies approach to ensure policy decisions help to improve health 
outcomes and reduce health inequalities

• We will identify those at risk of needing social care support in the future and intervene early wherever 
possible to maintain wellbeing 

Increased proportion of residents with a healthy weight 

• We will provide weight management support and guidance to residents, so that they can achieve and 
maintain a healthy weight 

• We will work with partners through Active Together (Leicestershire and Rutland Sport) to support people 
to get and stay active; ensure physical activity and sport facilities are high quality and accessible and 
promote the county as a premier location for sport businesses

• We will work with partners in a ‘whole-system’ approach to deliver the Healthy Weight Strategy; creating 
an environment which facilitates healthy choices and supports individuals to be physically active and 
maintain healthy weight

Improved mental wellbeing and reduced proportion of residents experiencing mental ill health

• We will promote positive mental health and improve awareness of risk factors for poor mental health to 
increase resilience 

• We will learn from and sustain the excellent customer satisfaction with our cultural, wellbeing and adult 
learning services; promoting and facilitating access to our libraries, museums and learning centres to 
promote the wellbeing of residents and their communities

• We will implement Making Every Contact Count Plus to make the most of opportunities to support 
peoples’ wellbeing 

• We will work with partners to improve access to mental health services for all ages to promote recovery 
and independence 

• We will work with partners to ensure the early detection and treatment of child mental health and 
wellbeing needs 

9.4  Carers and people with care needs are supported to live active, independent, 
and fulfilling lives

Leicestershire’s reablement services effectively support those with physical or mental health needs 
to maintain or regain their independence and avoid unnecessary admissions to hospital or residential 
care; In 2020/21 Leicestershire ranked in the best 25% of comparators for reablement outcomes. 
Additionally, Leicestershire has low rates of adults aged either 18-64 or 65+ being permanently admitted 
into residential or nursing care. This is important because residential care is an expensive resource for 
individuals and the local authority and research suggests that people tend to prefer alternative options.

Leicestershire also has a high proportion of people with social care needs who are in receipt of a direct 
payment or personal budget; enabling people to access personalised care and support by choosing 
provision which is suitable to meeting their outcomes.

However, there is a need for improvement in the proportion of people who find it easy to access 
information about adult social care services and in the quality of life and overall satisfaction of those who 
receive care and support. In 2019/20, Leicestershire also ranked in the worst 25% comparators for the 
proportion of adult service users who felt safe or that they had control over their daily lives. The level of 

57



34  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

social contact in the daily lives of carers and users of social services also remains comparatively low and an 
area for improvement, something which the Covid-9 crisis has made worse.

As mentioned, the number of older people, and those living with dementia and/or mobility problems, is 
forecast to increase significantly. Some will require housing adaptions to meet their changing needs and 
others will need more specialist accommodation or support.

What will success look like?

• Increase in the proportion of people who find it easy to access information and advice about adult social 
care services

• Improvements in the experiences of those who receive adult social care and support

• Carers are recognised, valued, and supported to undertake their caring role, whilst maintaining their own 
health and wellbeing

Our Commitments

Increase in the proportion of people who find it easy to access information and advice about adult 
social care services

• We will improve access to information and advice through our digital plans including the directory of 
services and First Contact Plus

• We will work closely with partners to take a more proactive approach to providing advice and 
information relating to housing, including development of social prescribing and empowering frontline 
staff to encourage people to take responsibility for their housing needs

• We will continue to provide good quality information, advice, and guidance for those living with dementia 
and their informal carers

Improvements in the experiences of those who receive adult social care and support

• We will implement activities identified through research with our customers to improve satisfaction with 
our adult social care services

• We will work with partners to deliver integrated services at the point of delivery with seamless transitions 
between health and social care

• We will provide effective crisis response, reablement services, equipment, and technology to enable 
people to be self-reliant 

• We will review progress on the Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-22 and co-produce a new 
strategy and action plan with our partners

• We will continue to ensure care services and support procured by the Council provide a good supply and 
quality of dementia care 

• We will explore solutions to transport issues, enabling older people to remain active and independent 
and connected to community

• We will support people in receipt of direct payments and Personal Assistants to choose the provision 
suitable to meeting their outcomes

• We will develop further the Social Care Investment Plan to secure suitable accommodation choices for 
social care service users

58



35  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

• We will work with providers of services to maximise peoples’ opportunities for independence, health, 
and wellbeing 

Carers are recognised, valued, and supported to undertake their caring role, whilst maintaining their 
own health and wellbeing

• We will work with partners to identify carers and ensure they are signposted, if required, to relevant 
information and services 

• We will ensure accurate advice, information and guidance is available to assist carers to navigate health 
and social care services

• We will listen and involve carers in the development of services that enable them to continue to provide 
their caring role

• We will develop carer-friendly communities by awareness-raising within existing community groups

• We will promote health checks for carers to help them to maintain their own physical and mental health 
and wellbeing 

• We will work with housing and other organisations to ensure carers can access technology, equipment, 
or adaptations 

• We will ensure carers have access to assessments which will determine if social care services have a 
statutory duty to assist them

59



36  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

10. Enabling Services
Delivery of this Plan is dependent on a wide range of ‘back-office’ services such as Finance, IT, HR, Legal, 
Communications, Property Services, Strategy and Business Intelligence, Democratic Services and Business 
Support. These organisation-wide functions support frontline services by providing business support based 
on specialised knowledge, best practice and technology. They also support good governance, ensuring 
that:

• Resources are directed in accordance with agreed policy and according to priorities

• There is sound and inclusive decision making

• There is clear accountability for the use of those resources 

Good governance is about ensuring the Council is doing the right things, in the right way and for the benefit 
of the communities it serves. It leads to high standards of management, strong performance, effective 
use of resources and positive outcomes. The diagram to the right illustrates the core principles of good 
governance which the Council is committed to and how they relate to each other: Principles A and B 
permeate implementation of principles C to G. 

Back-office services have a key role in ensuring that the Council adheres to these principles and achieves 
positive outcomes for service users. For example, Strategy and Business Intelligence support principle C 
by assisting decision-makers in defining the Council’s overall vision and outcomes. Additionally, Finance 
support Principle F by enforcing financial discipline, strategic resource allocation and efficient service 
delivery.

60



37  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

10.1  Leicestershire County Council Values and Behaviours

Good governance flows from shared values and culture. Our values, set out below, underpin everything we 
do and describe how we will deliver this Plan.

Positivity
We find the best way to get 
things done. We challenge 
ourselves to deliver high-

quality services and inspire 
others to deliver results.

Flexibility
We are adaptable in order 
to support the needs of 
the business – working 

collaboratively and supporting 
colleagues.

Openness and 
Transparency

We are honest with the 
people we work with and 

serve. We share information 
and communicate clearly.

Trust and  
Respect

We enable our staff to take 
ownership and be accountable 

for their own performance, 
actions and decisions. We 
value diversity and listen  
to the views of others.

11. Monitoring Outcome Delivery
Council officers will oversee delivery of this Plan through Outcome Boards which will meet on a quarterly 
basis. These will ensure that the Council maintains focus on achieving the outcomes throughout service 
planning and delivery and that the aims of this Plan are reflected in all relevant supporting strategies. 

The Council’s Scrutiny Committees will receive quarterly reports on progress in delivering the outcomes 
in this Plan and our Annual Performance and Benchmarking Reports will provide a summary of progress 
each year. 

Progress in delivering the outcomes will also be monitored internally by the Outcome Boards through 
updates on delivery of key activities supporting outcome delivery along with reviews of Leicestershire’s 
performance on the Performance Indicators set out in Appendix A. Updates on outcome delivery and 
performance will be shared with our Corporate Management Team, led by the Chief Executive, to inform 
strategic decision-making and resource allocation.

61



38  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

12. Medium Term Financial Strategy
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides information on its financial planning over 
a four year period. Our latest Strategy, covering 2021-25, focuses on protecting frontline services and 
weathering the coronavirus crisis. The MTFS, along with other plans and strategies such as the Strategic 
Change Portfolio, aligns with and underpins the Strategic Plan.

The Council continues to operate in an extremely challenging financial environment following a decade of 
austerity and spending pressures, particularly from social care. The position has also been severely affected 
by Covid-19 and the ongoing financial impacts of the pandemic are unclear. There is also significant 
uncertainty and risk around future funding levels.

What will success look like?

• A credible 4-year financial plan to deliver at least 2-years of balanced budget followed by 2-years with a 
financial gap that is at a manageable level

• A financial plan that reflects the council’s key priorities

• Delivery of planned savings and active pipeline of new initiatives

• Sustainable level of service growth, particularly in social care

• SEND capital and revenue costs contained within designated external funding streams

• Capital programme that balances support for the Council’s priorities with financial sustainability

• Balance-sheet that supports the Council’s resilience to financial shocks

• Above ‘normal’ share of eligible funding schemes secured and sufficient developer contributions towards 
the cost of local infrastructure

• Progress on Fair Funding to increase Leicestershire’s share of national funding

Our Commitments

• We will raise awareness inside and outside of the Council of our financial position and the challenges 
faced

• We will maintain transparency around our savings proposals

• We will target efficiency savings and new income generation before service reductions

• We will ensure regular updating of assumptions to support the efficient flow of resources to Council 
priorities

• We will promote a culture of forward planning to ensure there is time for corrective action 

• We will embed financial discipline in decision making to increase value for money assurance for Council 
Taxpayers 

• Through our Corporate Asset Investment Fund, we will continue to invest in commercial schemes which 
support the Council’s budget

62



39  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

13. Strategic Change Portfolio
The Council has long held an internal approach to transformation that ensures we respond effectively 
to national and local drivers of change, including the need to transform local services whilst seeking to 
maintain or improve outcomes. The Council’s Strategic Change Portfolio (SCP) brings together the collective 
response to these drivers of change, delivered through four primary programmes:

• Sustainable Finances 

• Customer & Digital 

• Carbon Reduction

• Ways of Working

Overseen by the Council’s Transformation Delivery Board, and managed through Departmental Change 
and Programme Boards, the SCP contains key targets and deliverables for each programme as described 
below.

13.1  Sustainable Finances Programme

The savings requirements contained within the Council’s annually refreshed Medium Term Financial 
Strategy remain a central driver for the Council’s change portfolio. However, the scale of the financial and 
transformation challenge is increasing, with the simple changes having been made and the straightforward 
savings long-since delivered. What remains is complex change, often involving multiple partners and many 
risks. 

The body of work contained within the portfolio, refreshed annually, currently represents future savings 
targets in excess of £48m, including £21m for SEND. 

13.2  Customer & Digital Programme

The Covid-19 pandemic has changed customer expectations of how our services should be delivered 
and the need for more immediate access to information and support via a broader range of channels is 
greater than ever before. In response to the changing needs of our citizens we will focus on developing and 
delivering against an improved, council-wide customer and channel strategy which supports the delivery of 
modern and effective services in the most efficient and sustainable way. By promoting innovative, digital 
ways of working, we will seek to shape the Council’s interaction with its customers as part of our digital 
revolution and to enable improved customer journeys leading to an enhanced customer experience and 
faster, first time resolution of customer needs.

By 2024... 

• Innovation will be our business as usual

• Automation and digital will have improved services and reduced cost

• Customer journeys for staff and residents will be simple

63



40  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

 What will success look like?

• Customers directed to the right channel, at the right time, in the most efficient way 

• Our customer channels maximise citizen value whilst reducing the cost of service 

• A whole system approach is taken to designing our customer journey and back office processes

Our Commitments

Customers directed to the right channel, at the right time, in the most efficient way  

• We will further develop our Customer and Digital strategies to shape our delivery of services 

• We will increase our customer understanding and actively involve our customers to inform our channel 
development 

• Through engagement with groups such as the Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group, we will 
continuously seek to understand and mitigate the impact of digitalisation and channel development on 
those with protected characteristics, to ensure services remain accessible to all

• We will improve our front-end communications interfaces to support the routing of customer enquiries to 
the right channel at the right time

• We will deliver a new target operating model for our Customer Service Centre

• We will support high-quality, consistent customer experience council-wide

• We will enhance the customer experience through improved digital services 

Our customer channels maximise citizen value whilst reducing the cost of service 

• We will increase the amount of automation for repetitive, low value activities and integrations

• We will increase customer adoption of improved digital solutions driving a cultural shift to “digital by 
choice”

• We will improve our ability to resolve queries on first contact using the optimal channel 

• We will identify opportunities to reduce the cost of service provision through more effective deployment 
of resources and/or efficiency savings 

A whole system approach is taken to designing our customer journey and back-office processes  

• We will work jointly with departments to develop and deliver improved customer journeys 

• We will improve our contact and system data to inform continuous improvement activity

• We will seek to exploit emerging technologies and system integration where possible to enable more 
streamlined end-to-end working  

13.3  Carbon Reduction Programme

The Carbon Reduction Programme aims to achieve net zero carbon from the Council’s own operations 
by 2030, with an interim target of 64% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2025 (compared to 
2016/17 emissions)

The Council’s emissions are set out in our annual Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report (GHG) and expressed 
in a standard measure of tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) in line with national guidance which 
follows the international Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard.  Existing 

64



41  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

efforts and future opportunities to reduce our carbon emissions from internal operations were documented, 
resulting in the development of a draft roadmap to net-zero emissions by 2030.

The Council is in a good position in comparison to many other authorities due to the quantity and quality of 
data we have in relation to our emissions and our historic efforts to reduce emissions which date back as 
far as 2008/09  Overall, in 2019/20, the council had reduced its greenhouse gas emissions from its own 
operations by 67% to 11, 663 tCO2e compared to 35, 778 tCO2e 2008/09.

The impact of Covid-19 has been seen most significantly in business mileage and to a lesser degree 
in emissions from our estates, and an emerging objective is to look to retain as much of these carbon 
reductions as possible, primarily through close engagement with our Ways of Working Programme. Even 
before the impacts of Covid-19 on carbon emissions are considered, Leicestershire County Council is 
ahead of target in the delivery of net-zero emissions by 2030.

As highlighted, the recognition of the climate and biodiversity emergencies mean that there is increased 
local, national and international policy commitments to address the issues.  This has led to increasing 
opportunities to secure external funding and investment. The most recent success has been in our bid for 
decarbonisation funding, securing £3.6m towards works on our key buildings, including expansion of the 
biomass heating system across County Hall.

However, meeting the ambitious net-zero 2030 target remains a significant challenge, particularly in light of 
the challenging financial position of the council and demands on staff resources There is also the risk that 
national legislation or local policies change, impacting on our baseline or possible solutions to decarbonise 
our operations.

What will success look like?

• Net-zero carbon emissions from the Council’s own operations by 2030, with an interim 64% reduction 
by 2025

• Leicestershire County Council is a climate active organisation – carbon reduction and adapting to climate 
change are included in decision making

Our Commitments

• We will complete an assessment of the cost and technology implications of achieving net zero carbon by 
2030 for the council

• We will produce a Net Zero Carbon 2030 Plan for the council 

• We will reduce our demand for energy, increase our use and generation of clean energy 

• We will explore opportunities to remove carbon from the atmosphere through nature based solutions 
such as tree planting

• We will include net zero carbon criteria in our decision making

• We will create a culture for carbon reduction through communications, training, tools and guidance

65



42  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

13.4  Ways of Working Programme

The Covid-19 pandemic saw a huge shift in organisational culture – with many working from home for 
the first time. This brought about a change in mentality around how we work with each other and how 
we serve our customers. It led to a wholescale rethinking of how departments and teams need to operate 
in the future; including the need for a higher degree of flexibility and more remote working than previously 
thought possible.

In the latter half of 2020, the Workplace Programme Board, along with wider stakeholders came together 
to rescope the vision and objectives into a new programme called “Ways of Working” – building on the 
already great foundations and principles established through the workplace programme as well as key 
learnings and opportunities presented throughout the pandemic in relation to changing ways of working.

What will success look like?

• All staff are provided with the technology and training needed to do their job effectively

• The way we work embodies continuous improvement, innovation, and ambition

• Council-operated workplaces are a shared resource based on need, where staff and customers can 
collaborate

Our Commitments

All staff are provided with the technology and training needed to do their job effectively

• All staff will have an assigned ‘worker style’ and the IT kit they need

• All IT equipment will be centrally owned and replaced in good time to ensure technology is effective and 
productive 

• All staff will have the ability to work remotely through specialist technology, software, and remote access 
– no one will be tied to a specific location

• Where appropriate, staff meetings will be ‘digital by default’ - hybrid and face-to-face meetings will be 
supported with investment in workplace technology and collaboration spaces

66



43  Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

The way we work embodies continuous improvement, innovation, and ambition

• We will focus on objectives and outputs not on presenteeism for office-based staff 

• Staff - in consultation with managers - will be empowered to choose the right location to deliver their 
work - freedom to choose with responsibility to meet service and customer needs first

• Senior leaders and managers will lead by example – champion > role model > challenge

Council-operated workplaces are a shared resource based on need, where staff and customers can 
collaborate

• Our workplaces will be set up to better support collaboration, productivity, wellbeing, and customer 
service

• We will prioritise space for activities, not individuals - flexibility will be the norm and use of fixed desks 
will be kept to a minimum 

• We will all work in the most appropriate location for the task we are doing rather than being at a council 
office or workplace by default

• Staff will be encouraged to work as flexibly as possible, using a mix of workplaces (offices, working from 
home, remote working) to best meet service and customer needs, and support staff wellbeing.

67



V0
45

1

68



 

 

CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021 
 

DRAFT COMMUNITIES STRATEGY: LEICESTERSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL COLLABORATING WITH OUR 

COMMUNITIES – OUR COMMUNITIES APPROACH 2022-26 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to engage 

on the draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council 
Collaborating with our Communities- Our Communities Approach 2022-
26, a copy of which is appended to this report.   

 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
a. The draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council 

collaborating with our Communities- Our Communities Approach 
2022-26 (appended to the report) be approved for engagement; 
 

b. It be noted that a further report will be presented to the Cabinet 
in March 2022 regarding the outcome of the engagement and 
seeking approval for the revised Communities Strategy 2022-26 
to be submitted to the County Council for approval. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 
 
3. The current Communities Strategy is due to expire in 2021 and 

therefore a revised Communities Strategy covering 2022-26 (the draft 
Our Communities Approach), has been developed.  
 

4. It is intended that a 12-week engagement exercise will be undertaken 
between 1 November 2021 – 21 January 2022. This will include 
consideration by the Council’s Scrutiny Commission, in addition to 
stakeholders and communities including council departments and staff 
groups, voluntary sector groups, faith groups, parish and town councils 
and the general public, to enable them to contribute to the further 
development of the draft Approach. Following on from the engagement 
exercise it is the intention that a final version will be presented to the 
Cabinet in March 2022 followed by the County Council in May.  
 

69 Agenda Item 5



 

 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

5. The engagement exercise will run for 12 weeks from 1 November 2021 
to 21 January 2022 and will involve stakeholders and communities as 
set out at paragraph 22 below. This timescale links with that for 
consultation on and approval of the proposed revised Strategic Plan. 
 

6. The Scrutiny Commission will consider the draft Our Communities 
Approach 22-26 as part of the engagement process at its meeting on 
17 November 2021 and will consider the outcome of the engagement 
on the Strategy in March 2022. 
 

7. In March 2022, a report will be presented to the Cabinet regarding the 
outcome of the engagement and seeking approval for the revised draft 
Our Communities Approach 22-26 to be submitted to the County 
Council for approval in May 2022. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. The Cabinet approved the current Communities Strategy 2017-21 on 

12 December 2017. The Strategy will continue to enable delivery of all 
outcomes of the Councils’ Strategic Plan – it will set out how (through 
the Approach) the Council will seek to achieve its priority outcomes. 
The revised Strategic Plan is also on the agenda for this Cabinet 
meeting.  
 

9. The draft Approach will complement and support government 
objectives to “build back better” after the pandemic and to “level-up” 
prosperity and opportunity by enabling and supporting communities to 
achieve their goals through co-production and collaboration with 
communities and building community capacity and assets. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
10. There are no direct financial implications in relation to the draft Our 

Communities Approach 22-26. Delivery of the Approach will be 
supported from within existing staffing resources and through the 
commissioning of community capacity building contracts and grants.  

 
11. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and 

Governance have been consulted on this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

A copy of this report will be circulated to all members of the County Council.  
 

Officers to contact 
 

Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive, Strategy and Business Intelligence, Chief 
Executive’s Department  
Tel: 0116 305 7019 
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk  
 
  

70

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk


 

 

Zafar Saleem, Head of Communities, Policy and Resilience,  
Chief Executive’s Department  
Tel: 0116 305 4952  
Email: zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk 
 
  

71

mailto:zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk


 

 

PART B 
 
Background 
 

Communities Strategy 2017-21 
 

12. The existing Communities Strategy 2017-21 sets out the Council’s 
continuing commitment to work in partnership to support, strengthen 
and empower communities. It adopted ‘a glass-half full’ approach to 
build on and develop new relationships, values and culture within the 
County Council and with communities that could support and enable 
‘how’ the Council does things. 
 

13. Several significant achievements have resulted from delivery of the 
existing Communities Strategy including continuing high quality support 
for the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector delivered 
through contracts with Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL), the Rural 
Community Council, Leicestershire and Rutland (RCC) and the 
Cooperative and Social Development Agency (CASE), building strong 
and supportive relationships with town and parish councils through 
working with the Leicestershire Association of Town and Parish 
Councils, embedding asset-based approaches to service development 
and delivery across the County Council, supporting the growing 
number of neighbourhood plan groups across the County and 
development and implementation of an approach to tackling loneliness.  
 

14. During the Covid-19 pandemic the County Council has had a leading 
role in the response for communities including hosting the coordinating 
multi-agency Local Resilience Forum (LRF).  The County Council 
established and led the Voluntary, Faith and Community Engagement 
Cell, the response for which was informed by the Communities 
Strategy 2017-21, and the Council’s role in supporting the Voluntary 
and Community Sector, Town and Parish Councils, communities and 
working with partners was invaluable.  
 

15. A critical supporting intervention was the Communities Fund which was 
established to support voluntary and community sector organisations in 
the County to manage the financial impacts of the coronavirus 
outbreak. The grant fund has helped voluntary groups to manage the 
impacts of the pandemic and to continue to deliver services for 
vulnerable and disadvantaged people and communities. In total, over 
three rounds of funding, 379 grants were awarded, totalling nearly 
£2.6m of funding from the County Council. 
 

16. The Council’s Communities Board, comprising officers from each 
Council department, has been established to provide a focus for 
implementing and refreshing the Strategy.  
 

Development of the draft refreshed Strategy; The Leicestershire 
Communities Approach 2022-26 

 
17. Since the adoption of the Communities Strategy 2017-21, there has 

been a notable shift amongst commentators, think-tanks, policy 

72



 

 

developers and politicians to change how the public sector operates; 
with a greater emphasis on how it collaborates with communities and 
where and how decisions are made. The shift towards greater 
community involvement and collaboration is reflected in the draft 
refreshed Strategy - Leicestershire County Council Collaborating with 
our Communities, our Communities Approach 2022-26 - which should 
be viewed as the model for ‘how’ solutions can be achieved.  

 
18. The work to develop the draft Communities Approach has been guided 

by the following key influences: 
 

 Recognising and learning from the difference made from the 
approaches embedded within the County Council and growing 
these. 

 The role and significance of civil society (communities and the 
voluntary, community and social enterprise sector) prior to and 
during Covid-19 (including social action and community 
responses). 

 A focus on recovery and how the County Council can support 
and enable the Government’s levelling up/build back better 
agenda with communities. 

 
19. The principles of the draft Communities Approach build on the priorities 

of the existing Strategy and cut across all Outcomes of the Strategic 
Plan. The principles are; 

 

 Prevention: Supporting and enabling citizens to help 
themselves and others. This is about how the Council works 
towards this and how the Authority communicates this with 
communities. Focus must be on how the information and advice 
produced underpins prevention and reduces demand, ensuring 
that it is accessible, relevant, and timely. 

 Engagement: The Council will work across services, 
departments and with partners and will be led by its work with 
citizens and communities. Through listening and conversations 
and by building trusting relationships solutions will be 
collaboratively defined and designed locally.  

 Catalysts: Voluntary and community sector organisations, 
social enterprises and parish and town councils are supported 
and empowered to collaborate and provide a range of effective 
services and activities for individuals and communities. 

 
20. The principles of the refreshed Communities Approach will be 

supported by the Strategic Plan and associated Council plans and the 
delivery model will be underpinned by the themes of an asset-based 
approach centred on the strengths of local communities, and social 
action. These themes were introduced in the Communities Strategy 
2017-21 and will be reiterated and emphasised as the basis for delivery 
for the work of the County Council over the next four years. 

 
 
 
 

73



 

 

Engagement, conversations and further development 
 

21. Engagement will be used to gather insight and understanding about 
Leicestershire Communities and the approach that the Council 
proposes.  
 

22. It is proposed to engage on the draft Our Communities Approach with 
the Communities Board/Departmental Management Teams, workers 
groups, the Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group, parish and town 
councils, other public sector partners and the voluntary and community 
sector including VAL and the RCC. An asset-based approach will form 
the basis for this engagement and colleagues, partners and 
communities will be asked to discuss examples and experience of 
communities helping themselves, collaboration and partnership 
working. The methods of engagement will include a survey and 
dissemination of information through newsletters and briefings, with 
opportunities to feedback via group discussions, email responses and 
an on-line questionnaire. The engagement process will be promoted 
via an article in Leicestershire Matters, web articles and newsfeeds, 
social media and briefing meetings with stakeholder groups and 
organisations.  
 

23. The proposed timescale for engagement, development and approval of 
the refreshed Our Communities Approach is: 
 

 November 2021 – January 2022 - engagement with 
communities and stakeholders 

 February 2022 - Final draft of the Approach produced 

 March 2022 - Report to the Cabinet on final draft of the 
Communities Approach 

 May 2022 - Report to the County Council seeking approval of 
the refreshed Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County 
Council collaborating with our Communities, Our Communities 
Approach 2022-26. 

 
Equalities and Human Rights implications 
 
24. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment screening 

document will be completed as the draft Approach is developed and 
will be used to inform the final draft of the Communities Strategy: 
Leicestershire County Council collaborating with our Communities, our 
Communities Approach 2022-26. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet – Working Together to Build Great Communities in 
Leicestershire: The Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21 - 12 
December 2017 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s134009/FINAL%20Communities%20Str
ategy%20report.pdf  
 
 
 

74

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s134009/FINAL%20Communities%20Strategy%20report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s134009/FINAL%20Communities%20Strategy%20report.pdf


 

 

Appendix 
 
Draft Refreshed Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council 
collaborating with our Communities, our Communities Approach 2022-26 
 
 
 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire 
Communities

Leicestershire County Council  
Collaborating with our Communities  
 

Our Communities Approach  
2022 - 26 Draft

77



2   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Contents
Foreword  3

Introduction  4

Key Achievements 2017-21 5

Supporting Voluntary, Community Social Enterprise (VCSE)  
infrastructure and community organisations  5

Supporting Town and Parish Councils 6

Embedding Asset Based Approaches  6

Website 7

SHIRE Community Grants Fund 7

The Communities Board 7

Covid-19 – Since March 2020 8

March-June 8

Communities Fund  9

June 20 and ongoing  9

Policy Developments  10

Our Communities Approach 2022-26 12

Principles of the Strategy 12

Prevention  12

Engagement  12

Catalysts  12

Model  12

Asset Based Approach – working with the skills, knowledge, connections and  
potential that exists within a community. 12

Social Action  13

Implementation  14

78



Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    3

Foreword 

Mrs Pam Posnett, CC,  
Cabinet Lead Member Equalities,  
Community Engagement and Rural Partnerships 

It is heartening to see that collaborating with, and working alongside, Leicestershire 
Communities is at the forefront of the way in which the county council makes it plans and 
delivers its services. This approach has guided our work for many years, and there are many 
inspiring examples of what has been jointly achieved, but there are also opportunities to go 
further and I am delighted that this draft strategy makes a strong commitment to fully embed a 
way of working centred on an asset-based approach and the value of social action. 

Every community has a tremendous supply of assets 
including people, skills, land and buildings and 
networks that can be used to build the community 
and solve the challenges that require a shared 
commitment and a willingness to come together.  
The approach of communities and the council to the 
Covid 19 pandemic is testament to this and has also 
informed our Communities Approach. 

This is a draft document, it sets out a proposed way 
of working for the council over the coming years and 
we would be very pleased to hear your views. 

“ I am delighted that this draft strategy 
makes a strong commitment to fully embed 
a way of working centred on an asset-based 
approach and the value of social action.”

79



4   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Introduction 
This Communities Approach sets out our aspirations to strengthen and further embed 
Leicestershire County Council’s approach to decision making and to designing and delivering 
public services in Leicestershire. Formerly known as the Leicestershire Communities Strategy, 
this refreshed and updated Communities Approach has been informed by:

Recognising and learning from the difference made by approaches to working with communities that have 
become embedded within the county council and growing these,

The role and significance of civil society (communities and the Voluntary, Community and Social 
Enterprise Sector [VCSE]) prior to and during covid-19 (including social action and community responses)

A focus on recovery from the pandemic and the plans to ‘build back better’.

Our first Communities Strategy 2014-17 was 
delivered against the backdrop of austerity measures 
and at a time when making efficiencies, within 
a market-led, transaction-based public service 
framework was required. The impact of these 
measures meant that adopting new models of 
delivery and relationships with citizens was needed 
to mitigate the impacts of reduced resources on 
Leicestershire communities.

New models were beginning to be adopted and 
during this period we saw the establishment of 
Community Managed Libraries, the creation of Local 
Area Coordinators within Leicestershire and, with 
more savings needed, a continued commitment 
to support our communities and voluntary sector 
through grants and commissioned activities, albeit 
within a reduced resource envelope. 

The aim of the Communities Strategy 2017-21 
‘Working Together to Build Great Communities’ was 
to move away from the dire warnings of the previous 
few years and to look at ‘what can be done.’ This aim 
was underpinned by 4 Key Priorities: 

1. Communities support themselves, individuals 
and families 

2. Communities in collaboration with public 
services, are supported to design and deliver 
better outcomes for the people of Leicestershire 

3. Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, 
Social Enterprises and Parish & Town Councils 
are supported and empowered to provide a 
range of effective services and activities for 
individuals and communities 

4. The Council continues to be outward focussed, 
and open to new ways of working 

The Strategy introduced asset-based approaches to 
support and enable ‘how’ we do things. It has helped 
change our thinking and provided the impetus to 
collaborative solutions that have developed new 
relationships, values and culture within the county 
council and with our communities. 

80



Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    5

Key Achievements 2017-21

Supporting Voluntary, Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) infrastructure and 
community organisations

Leicestershire has a dynamic and diverse VCSE, with over 
3,000 different organisations operating across the county, 
ranging from small grassroots groups, to social enterprises and 
national charities. 
These organisations have a strong track record of innovation and responsiveness to communities and are an 
essential part of improving the lives of people across the county. 

Support for the VCSE in Leicestershire is provided by an infrastructure services contract that is delivered by 
Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL). The service is jointly commissioned with West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group and East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group. It is aligned to 
the shared objectives of the county council and CCGs around managing demand through early/community 
level intervention and prevention, increasing community resilience and more effective delivery of services by 
community groups. The Service brings together commissioners and sector groups in information, advice and 
learning events, provides advice and support around topics such as governance, group development and 
funding and promotes, develops and supports volunteering. 

In addition to the infrastructure contract, support for the VCSE in Leicestershire is also enabled by a contract 
with CASE (Cooperative and Social Enterprise Development Agency) to provide support for social enterprise 
development and a grant to the RCC to provide assistance for Community Buildings; an invaluable resource 
where community activities take place, where people meet and from where services are delivered. 

81



6   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Embedding Asset Based Approaches 

An asset-based approach is one that harnesses the skills, knowledge, connections and potential which 
already exist within communities. Through a combination of influencing and direct delivery a range of asset-
based projects and programmes have been supported and delivered working with peers and colleagues, 
local, regional and national partners and Leicestershire communities and citizens.

Within the Council the Communities Team has developed a number of long and short facilitated asset-based 
sessions; tailored to different teams and departments to meet the needs of groups ranging from small new 
teams to entire services and inter-departmental groups.  

With partners from health and the VCSE we have designed and delivered a long-term asset-based 
development programme running over 6 months that has resulted in a number of collaborative, practical 
new initiatives.  We have also facilitated sessions with partners such as Town and Parish Councils and, by 
invitation, delivered workshops to partner conferences.

Within communities themselves we have hosted events such as Community Roadshows to put asset-based 
approaches into practice and enable whole geographical communities to come together.  We have also 
worked with communities of interest such as Community Manged Libraries, collecting and developing tools 
and resources to be made available to all.

Supporting Town & Parish Councils

Leicestershire has a total of 191 Town and Parish Councils and a further 89 Parish Meetings. The council 
works closely with the Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local Councils (LRALC) to support Parish & 
Town Councils and has a Grant Agreement with the Association to help enable this support. 

They key elements of the agreement are around engagement with the Sector and enhancing the role of Parish 
& Town Councils. We meet regularly with Parish Clerks to discuss operational matters. We have developed 
a dedicated contact point for all Parish & Town Councils within our Customer Service Centre alongside a 
dedicated resource within our Communities Team. A new website – A-Roads to Zebras’ – has also been 
launched to support Parish & Town Councils with Highways related queries and applications. We have held 
several meetings, briefings and training sessions around the ‘Climate Emergency’ which will help shape the 
support we can offer to Parish & Town Councils in responding to our Net Zero goal. 

A recent focus has been identifying and securing additional support, through the LRALC, around the financial 
impact of the pandemic on our Parish & Town Councils. Tailor-made training sessions and 1-1 support are 
included in the package of support offered to all Parish & Town Councils for 2021-22. 

82



Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    7

SHIRE Community Grants Fund

Leicestershire County Council’s SHIRE Community Grants 
programme provides grant funding to charities and other voluntary/
community organisations and social enterprises, to support the 
delivery of services, projects and activities which improve the lives 
of vulnerable and disadvantaged people and groups.

www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/grants/

Website

The Leicestershire Communities website is a resource 
which provides a range of useful information to help local 
people to actively participate in their communities. It 
continues to be a place where our communities can find 
information and support. The website has dedicated pages 
for the Neighbourhood Planning Network and Community 
Managed Libraries where volunteers can manage and 
update their own pages.

www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/

Community 
Grants

The Communities Board

The Communities Board was established in August 2016 to co-ordinate delivery of the Communities Strategy 
across the Council by developing active, resilient and inclusive communities.  Progress and proposals are 
overseen and driven forward by the Board which meets bi-monthly and includes senior representatives from 
across the Council. 

The Communities Strategy acts as a key enabler across the work of all Council departments and all five 
Outcomes of the Strategic Plan, although it is acknowledged that it has a strongest connection to the Great 
Communities Outcome.  The Communities Strategy aims to facilitate and drive culture change within the 
Council and identifies opportunities to do things differently by:

Encouraging, enabling and 
supporting volunteers and 

volunteering

Creating the conditions 
and commissioning for 
social action and asset-

based thinking and doing

Working with 
communities, town & 

parish councils, the VCSE 
and businesses.

83

https://www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/grants/


8   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Covid-19 – Since March 2020

March-June

Leicestershire County Council had a leading role in 
the response for our communities to the Covid-19 
pandemic. As the host for the Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF) there was a clear line of responsibility 
within the Authority for the initial set-up and support 
for the crisis response. Structures were quickly 
established across Leicestershire, Leicester and 
Rutland (LLR) to identify issues and co-ordinate 
support. This included the establishment and 
leadership of partnership response ‘cells’ that were 
tasked with dealing with all aspects of the response. 

Whilst specialists for health, care and blue light 
services were drawn into the planning for their 
responsibilities, LCC established and led the 

Voluntary, Faith and Community Engagement Cell 
and the sub-cells that were tasked with supporting 
our communities. 

At this time, our ongoing work, 
informed by the Communities 
Strategy 2017-21, and our role 
in supporting the Voluntary and 
Community Sector, Town and 
Parish Councils, communities 
and working with partners, was 
invaluable. 

Within the LRF a Community and Volunteering 
group was established and has been responsible for 
supporting and driving forward work linked to:

The multiple community responses that were 
happening across LLR in support of neighbours 
and communities within local areas. 

The role and impact on voluntary and 
community sector organisations in supporting 
communities and those that were shielding, 
how these organisations were operating and 
could continue. 

The establishment and co-ordination of 
volunteering and volunteers in support of 
delivering the response to requests for help 
from both individuals and public services as 
consequence of the pandemic.

84



Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    9

Communities Fund 

In March 2020 the Council announced a £1 million fund 
to support voluntary and community sector organizations 
in the county to manage the financial impacts of the 
pandemic. This hardship fund was established to enable 
local groups, impacted by reduced income from sales/
trading, room rental or donations, to keep on providing 
essential support to vulnerable people, including those 
isolating and with reduced social contact. 

The grant fund was subsequently increased in value and extended 
through further rounds of funding to help voluntary groups to 
manage the impacts of the pandemic and to continue to deliver 
services for vulnerable and disadvantaged people and communities. 
In total, over 3 rounds of funding, 379 grants were awarded, 
totalling nearly £2.6m of funding from the county council.

June 20 and ongoing 

Optimistically, the LRF and county council took its first steps towards thinking about recovery 
in the early summer period of 2020. Whilst there has needed to be a continuing focus on 
responding to the impacts of the Covid-19 this has been accompanied by looking at what 
could be learnt from the pandemic to help us shape how we recover.

This learning concentrated on the vital role that civil 
society (communities, voluntary sector, local groups) 
had, and continues to have, in providing services and 
support to individuals and communities and how this 
can be built upon.

An ongoing focus over many years, and in the lead 
up to and learning from the pandemic, was not to 
focus solely on what communities have done or can 
do. Rather, it is to look at the role the county council 

has and how it operates in supporting and enabling 
individuals and communities to help themselves. 

Our refreshed and updated 
Communities Approach 2022-26 
reflects this not only in its title but 
in its ethos, principles, and model 
of delivery.

COMMUNITIES FUND

GRANTS 
AWARDED

£2.6m

LEICESTERSHIRE

ROUNDS
OF FUNDING3

379

85



10   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Policy Developments 

Financial pressures and the implications of ongoing reductions in funding for the public 
sector accompanied by rising demand for public services has meant that there has been, and 
continues to be, a need to focus on how the county council can best achieve its outcomes. 

Locally the Council’s Strategic Plan and Outcomes have been reviewed and updated. 

Our Communities Approach is reflected in the Great Communities Outcome  through the enabling 
commitments that;

 People participate in service design and delivery, and 

 People support each other through volunteering.

The Communities Approach does 
however support all aspects of every 
Outcome and all elements of the 
Strategic Plan and should be viewed 
as ‘how’ the county council can 
deliver ‘what’ (all the Outcomes) we 
want to achieve.

Since the adoption of the 2017-21 Communities 
Strategy there has been a notable shift amongst 
commentators, think-tanks, policy developers and 
politicians that has promoted a change in how the 
public sector operates; with a greater emphasis on 
how it collaborates with communities and where and 
how decisions are made.

The greater emphasis on collaboration and 
involvement for our citizens and communities, 
supporting and empowering them to have autonomy 
and agency over their lives and in their interactions 
with public services, is not without its challenges.  

However, this shift towards greater community 
involvement and collaboration should be viewed as 
model of ‘how’ we can achieve solutions. 

New Local* advocate that the public sector needs to 
recognise and acknowledge ‘that the solutions to an 
area’s biggest challenges are to be found outside in 
the community not inside the institution…’  and that 
this can be achieved though:

 Community decision-making:      
Using deliberative and participatory tools to involve 
citizens more meaningfully in local decision-making. 

 Collaboration with communities:      
Public services shifting from hierarchical and siloed 
ways of working, to more collaborative approaches 
which deeply involve communities as equal partners 
with essential insights. 

 Building community capacity and assets:      
Equipping communities with the resources and skills 
they need. 

*New Local (formerly the New Local Government Network) is an independent think tank and network with a mission to transform public services and unlock community power.
COMMUNITY POWER: THE EVIDENCE Grace Pollard, Jessica Studdert and Luca Tiratelli Published by New Local February 2021 www.newlocal.org.uk/research/publications/

86

https://www.newlocal.org.uk/research/publications/


Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    11

This way of working is related to, and can be 
viewed alongside, associated calls and lobbying for 
regional and local devolution and changes to local 
governance and our aspiration to learn from the 
pandemic and ‘Build Back Better’ by ‘Levelling Up 
our Communities.’ 

Levelling up our communities: proposals for a new 
social covenant - A report for government by Danny 
Kruger MP, September 2020  
www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.
org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20
Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf, 
set out a series of recommendations ‘to give civil 
society a greater role in levelling up the country.’ 
He advocated that ‘What is missing in our current 
model [of public service] is community power: the 
role of local people, acting together spontaneously or 
through enduring institutions, to design and deliver 
the kind of neighbourhood they want to be part of.’ 

Kruger recommends that ‘The 
economic and social model we need 
for the future has community power, 
and the civil society that enables it, 
at its heart. This is the way to level up 
the country - to make great places 
from within’ rather than by outside 
interventions to give civil society a 
greater role in levelling up the country.’

As New Local note, ‘This principle [Community 
Power] is not just a theory. It already exists in 
neighbourhoods, in local networks, and in voluntary 
and community organisations where people come 
together to overcome challenges and support each 
other. This comes to the fore in times of crisis, such 
as with the sudden flourishing of mutual aid during 
the Covid-19 pandemic but has endured for decades 
in many forms. It is also rapidly influencing practice 
in the public sector and local government. Public 
services are seeing the benefits of moving towards 
practices which involve actively collaborating with 
communities. New methods of enabling community 
insights to shape action are increasingly being 
developed: from councils trialling participatory and 
deliberative democracy; to frontline professionals 
using asset-based practice and co-production.’  
www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/the-community-
paradigm/

This refreshed Communities Approach aims to 
act as a catalyst to further develop and strengthen 
the achievements of collaboration and community 
involvement and move this approach ‘From the 
Margins to the Mainstream”. This will be achieved 
by enhancing and embedding the mindset, values, 
behaviours, relationships and infrastructure creating 
‘…the conditions for new operating models to 
thrive. ’ From the Margins to the Mainstream-Nesta 
-Collaborate Published September 2020.  
https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/Margins _
to _ Mainstream.pdf 

87

https://www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf
https://www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf
https://www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/the-community-paradigm/
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/the-community-paradigm/


12   Leicestershire Communities Annual Report 2020 - 21

Our Communities Approach 2022-26

Principles of the Strategy

The principals outlined in this refreshed Strategy build on and incorporate the Priorities of the 
Communities Strategy 2017-21. 

Prevention - (Priority 1 Helping people to help themselves and others) 

Supporting and enabling citizens to help themselves and others. This is about how the whole council works 
towards providing preventative and self-help support and how we communicate this with our communities. 
We must focus on how the information and advice we produce underpins prevention and reduces demand, 
ensuring that it is accessible, relevant, and timely.

Engagement - (Priority 2 Work in collaboration & Priority 4 Be outward focused)

The Council will work across services, departments and with partners and will be led by our work with our 
citizens and communities. Through listening and conversations and by building trusting relationships we will 
collaboratively define and design our solutions locally. 

Catalysts - (Priority 3 - Supporting VCSE & Town & Parish Council service provision)

Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, Social Enterprises and Parish & Town Councils are supported 
and empowered to collaborate and provide a range of effective services and activities for individuals and 
communities. 

The Principles of the Strategy will be supported by the Strategic Plan and associated plans-Engagement 
Strategy; VCSE Partnership Statement; Strategic Volunteering Vision; Social Value Policy and others.

Model 

The Principles of our Communities Approach are underpinned by asset-based thinking and doing and social 
action. These concepts were introduced in our Strategy 2017-21 and we want to reiterate and emphasise 
them as the model for delivery for the county council over the next 4 years. 

Asset Based Approach – working with  the skills, knowledge, connections and 
potential that exists within a community.

The asset-based approach starts by making visible and explicitly valuing the strengths that exist in people and 
places rather than starting from the perspective of the problems in a community, or what a community needs 
(a ‘deficit-based’ model).

88



Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21    13

These strengths include: 

Personal assets – the knowledge, skills, talents and aspirations of individuals 

Social assets – the relationships people have with family, friends and the wider community 

Community assets – voluntary and community sector organisations; faith groups; public sector services 
that operate in the area

Neighbourhood assets – the physical assets that contribute to health and wellbeing where people can 
meet and take part in activities, for example community centres and parks.

An asset-based approach develops connections, builds relationships, and mobilises social action at the 
local level, helping to prevent the need for more formal services and helping communities to develop and 
flourish. This approach also highlights that the design, development and delivery of solutions is not only 
the responsibility of public services, but is much more effective when accompanied by local community 
involvement which helps people to take ownership of, and responsibility for, local solutions. As evidenced 
clearly through the responses from local communities within the pandemic. 

Investment in identifying, understanding and developing community assets can help to prevent and address 
problems early on, rather than when they have had a greater impact on people and have become more 
difficult and costly to tackle.

We want to continue to focus on this approach by:

- Embedding the ‘asset-based’ approach amongst our staff, service departments and 
partners, understanding that is ‘how’ we think and do things such commissioning and 
service planning that will help achieve change.

- Supporting communities to recognise their own and local assets, ensuring that all can take 
full advantage of what is available. 

Social Action 

A focus on social action acknowledges that when people come together and act, they can improve their lives 
and solve the problems their communities face. Social Action can be best understood as:

People coming together to help improve their lives and solve the problems that are important in their 
communities. It can broadly be defined as practical action in the service of others, which is (i) carried out by 
individuals or groups of people working together, (ii) not mandated and not for profit, (iii) done for the good of 
others – individuals, communities and/or society, and (iv) bringing about social change and or value.’

 (adapted and updated from Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21)

89



14   Leicestershire Communities Approach 2020 - 21

Implementation 
The aim of this Communities Approach is not to present a complete ‘plan’, mapping out the 
specifics of what can be achieved; rather it is intended as guide to shape ‘how’ we should 
work to fulfil the ambitions of the council and of communities. It should be understood as a 
live document wherein we further develop and enhance the approach over the next 4 years as 
we implement and learn. 

Through the principles and model, we believe that we are creating the conditions to enable and support 
community involvement and collaboration that will benefit all of Leicestershire. 

Over the coming months (November 2021-January 2022 as we undertake our engagement plans for this 
draft ‘Our Communities Approach 2022-26,’ we will be undertaking several activities and holding a range 
of conversations with our colleagues, partners and communities to help us refine, develop and grow this 
approach. 

If you would like us to have a conversation with your community or would like to find out else you get involved 
please see: www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/getinvolved/communitiesapproach.html

or email us at communities@leics.gov.uk

90

mailto:communities@leic.gov.uk


   

 
CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021 

 
NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on work associated with the 

implementation of ‘Bus Back Better’ the National Bus Strategy, setting out the 
financial implications and seeking approval for the Leicestershire Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, which will inform the proposals for an associated Enhanced 
Partnership plan and scheme in line with the Department for Transport’s (DfT) 
requirements and timescales as specified in the NBS and associated guidance 
(the guidance). 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

a) The initial financial implications and ongoing funding requirements arising 
from implementing the National Bus Service (NBS) and associated 
Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), including the 
appointment of an Enhanced Partnership Scheme Manager and support 
team, as set out in paragraph 14 of the report, be noted; 
 

b) The outcomes of the public engagement survey undertaken by the 
Authority in respect of the NBS, as attached at Appendix A and 
summarised in paragraphs 36 to 47 of the report, be noted; 
 

c) The draft Leicestershire BSIP, as attached at Appendix B and summarised 
in paragraphs 53 to 59 of the report, be approved and that it be noted that 
the Director has delegated powers to make any necessary amendments 
unless such amendments represent a material change in policy in which 
case a report on such changes will be submitted to the Cabinet; 
 

d) The County Council’s longer-term BSIP funding requirement, as set out in 
the template attached at Appendix C and summarised in paragraphs 60 to 
65 of the report be noted and the Director of Environment and Transport be 
authorised to submit the template to the Department for Transport by no 
later than 31 October 2021; 

 

91 Agenda Item 6



   

e) The work undertaken to date to develop the Enhanced Partnership Plan 
and Scheme (EPS) for Leicestershire, as set out in paragraphs 48 to 52 of 
the report, be noted; 
 

f) The requirement to issue a statutory notice of the EPS to Bus Operators in 
November, providing them with a 28-day period for objection, be noted; 
 

g) Subject to no objections being received during this period, the undertaking 
of a public consultation on the EPS, be approved; 
 

h) That the current Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy be reviewed and 
amended to take account of the formal establishment of the EPS and the 
delivery of the BSIP; 

i)  
That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in March 2022 presenting 
the outcomes of the consultation, progress with implementation of the NBS 
and the associated formalisation of an Enhanced Partnership. 

 
Reason for Recommendations  
 
3. To comply with the requirements of the NBS and the guidance, which requires 

the County Council to publish its BSIP by the end of October 2021. Compliance 
with the NBS and the guidance will ensure the Authority is still able to access 
DfT bus recovery funding, be eligible for the NBS implementation support 
funding and also be eligible to access a further share of the £3bn funding that 
the Government is making available to fund delivery of the NBS. 

 
4. Engagement with stakeholders is an important part of the process for 

developing an approach to the delivery of bus services. It helps to ensure that 
the Authority takes account of customer and user expectations and delivers the 
most appropriate service levels, consistent with the budget available. 

 
5. As a new approach for the delivery of improvements to bus services, flexibility 

is required to enable the Authority to be ‘fleet of foot’ in evolving the BSIP in 
light of experience with its implementation, whilst still ensuring appropriate 
levels of oversight and governance are in place. The delegations in place to the 
Director regarding the future review and update of the BSIP will achieve this. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. Further to the publication of the Statutory Notice in June 2021, which set out 

the Authority’s decision to establish an EPS to improve bus services in 
Leicestershire, work will continue to develop the EPS for implementation by the 
Government’s deadline of end March 2022. 

 
7. A report on the BSIP and EPS will be considered by the Highways, Transport 

and Flooding Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November. 
 
8. It is currently anticipated that a further report on progress with implementation 

of the NBS and the associated formalisation of an Enhanced Partnership will be 
considered by the Cabinet in March 2022. 

92



   

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
9. In October 2018 the Cabinet approved the Authority’s Passenger Transport 

Policy and Strategy. 
 
10. In May 2019, the County Council declared a Climate Emergency. The updated 

2020 Environment Strategy sets out how the Council will reduce the 
environmental impacts of travel and transport. Providing frequent, high quality 
passenger transport services is a key element in delivering the Climate Change 
commitment and the Environment Strategy. 

 
11. In November 2020 the Cabinet approved the Leicester and Leicestershire 

Strategic Transport Priorities document (2020-2050), which highlights where 
Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council will work together to 
deliver common transport aims and objectives. Its principle aims including: 

 

 support the transition to a low carbon and circular economy; 

 adapting to climate change; 

 improve connectivity; 

 support and drive the economy to unlock growth; 

 support the efficient movement of both people and goods around and 
through the County. 

 
12. In June 2021 the Cabinet approved the establishment of an EPS and 

publication of a Statutory Notice to that effect in order to comply with the 
requirements of the NBS and the guidance. As requested by the Cabinet, this 
further report sets out proposals for the EPS and BSIP. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
13. Since the report to the Cabinet in June 2021, the Authority has received a 

further payment of £297,000 from the DfT to support initial implementation of 
the NBS (which combined with the pre-June payment of £100,000 gives a total 
received to date of £397,000). Presently, the Authority continues to use these 
funds to help to pay for consultancy support commissioned to assist with the 
development of the EPS and BSIP. 

 
14. The report to the Cabinet in June 2021 noted that the Authority was not 

resourced to deliver the NBS. Having since undertaken a further assessment of 
resourcing requirements, an initial need is to appoint an EPS Manager and 
support team to be in place by the time that the EPS is expected to be 
implemented at the end of March 2022. This will be an ongoing ‘base’ 
requirement to ensure the Authority’s effective participation in the EPS. The 
estimated annual total (revenue) cost (based on current pay rates) is circa 
£230,000; funding for this forms part of the Authority’s BSIP Funding 
Requirements submission to DfT (detailed in Part B of the report). In the 
meantime, should this additional resource need funding for a balance of the 
current financial year (bearing in mind likely recruitment process timeframes 
and notice periods), the intention is that this will be paid for from the DfT 
monies already received. 

93



   

 
15. Over the longer-term, it is presently estimated that the costs of implementing a 

Leicestershire EPS and BSIP are in the order of £58m over the next three years 
(I.e. 2022/3 to 2024/5) and of the order of £173m over a ten-year period (the 
assumed life of the BSIP). The matter of longer-term funding is dealt with in 
more detail in Part B of this report, but in effect the Authority is once again 
reliant on having to ‘bid for funding from Government in order to deliver its 
BSIP. 

 
16. At this point, however, it bears repeating the content of the June Cabinet report, 

which noted that however ambitious the Authority (and bus operators) might 
want to be in improving bus services to meet the needs and wants of the 
residents and businesses of Leicestershire, the costs of delivering on those 
ambitions will not be affordable to the Authority in either revenue or capital 
terms without receipt of additional funding. Thus, accordingly, the Authority 
continues to expect the Government to provide: 

 

 consistent and sustained revenue funding for the resources that it 
currently does not have (and the DfT acknowledge many other Local 
Transport Authorities (LTAs) do not have) to enable the implementation 
of, ongoing operation of and monitoring and review of the EPS and BSIP; 

 consistent and sustained revenue funding to enable it, if and as required, 
to continue to provide any financial support for bus services; and 

 the levels of capital funding required to deliver on the Authority’s 
ambitions. 

 
17. As set out in Part B, there are some significant uncertainties regarding the 

further share that the Authority might receive of the already announced £3bn 
NBS funding, in any event, this only covers the lifetime of the current Parliament 
(i.e. until 2024/2025 if this Parliament runs to its full term) and the level of 
funding available beyond 2025 is subject to the outcomes of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review. 

 
18. Notwithstanding such uncertainties and the immediate and longer-term financial 

implications arising from seeking to deliver on the NBS, there are likely to be 
equally significant consequences arising from any failure to do so. The 
Government continues to make clear that ongoing access to passenger 
transport funding (both ‘temporary’ pandemic related and ‘permanent’ NBS 
related) remains contingent on compliance with the requirements of the NBS 
and the guidance, including the specified delivery timetable. In addition, there is 
an inference from the guidance that this might not just be in respect of bus 
related funding, but in respect of wider highways and transport funding. 

 
19. It should also be noted that separately, costs are still likely to fall to the 

Authority where a service ceases to operate on a commercial basis and it is 
required to fund a replacement in accordance with the Authority's adopted 
Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy. 

 

20. BSIP funding is intended to provide transformational investment to support the 
bus sector over the life of the current Parliament and in the long term. In the 
shorter term, it is expected that the Authority will continue to receive existing 

94



   

bus funding such as the LTA element of the Bus Services Operators Grant 
(BSOG) and the Revenue Support Grant. 

 
21. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
This report has been circulated to all Members of the County Council 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:  (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Janna Walker 
Acting Assistant Director, Development and Growth 
Tel:  (0116) 305 0785 
Email: janna.walker@leics.gov.uk  

95

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:janna.walker@leics.gov.uk


   

PART B 

 
Background 
 

National Bus Strategy (NBS) 
 
22. As explained in the report to the Cabinet in June 2021, the National Bus 

Strategy (NBS) ‘Bus Back Better’ was published in March 2021, marking 
another radical change in Government transport policy. 

 
23. The NBS sets out an ambitious vision to dramatically improve bus services in 

England outside of London through greater local leadership, to reverse the 
recent shift in journeys away from public transport as a result of the pandemic 
and encourage passengers back to buses. Local Transport Authorities (LTAs) 
and local bus operators must work at pace with local communities to plan and 
deliver a fully integrated service with simple, multi-modal tickets, more bus 
priority measures, the same high quality information for all passengers in 
more places, and better turn-up-and-go frequencies that keep running into the 
evenings and at weekends. 

 
24. The NBS explains that there can be no return to a situation where bus 

services are planned on a purely commercial basis with little or no 
engagement with, or support from, Local Transport Authorities. 

 
25. The Government has previously committed £3bn of new funding to support 

delivery of the NBS, some of which has already been paid to LTAs to assist 
with work to implement the NBS (i.e. the £397,000 of funding already received 
by the Authority). LTA’s access to a further share of this funding is contingent, 
inter-alia, on compliance with the DfT’s timeframe requirements as set out in 
paragraph 28, with the amount potentially available to each LTA to be 
dependent on the DfT’s assessment of the scale of ambition of an LTA’s 
BSIP. 

 
Bus Service Improvement Plans (BSIP) 

 
26. The Government describes BSIPs as being how LTAs, working closely with 

their local bus operators and local communities, set out a vision for delivering 
the step-change in bus services that is required by the NBS. 

 
27. The Government expects BSIPs to be comprehensive, living documents that 

will evolve over time. All relevant LTAs are required to prepare a BSIP. 
 

DfT requirements and timeframes for implementing the NBS 
 
28. The guidance is very prescriptive in placing significant requirements on LTAs 

in very short timeframes. 
 

 Step 1 - by the end of June 2021: LTAs to decide which statutory path to 
follow for improving bus services – Cabinet approved an EPS in June 
2021 and the required Statutory Notice was published to that effect. 

 Step 2 – by the end of October 2021: Publish a BSIP for its area. 

96



   

 Step 3 – by the end of March 2022: Have the EPS in place. 
 
NBS Engagement Survey 
 
29. Engagement with stakeholders is an important part of the process for 

developing a new approach to the delivery of bus services. It helps to ensure 
that the Authority takes account of customer and user expectations and 
delivers the most appropriate service levels, consistent with the budget 
available. 

 
30. The guidance also makes clear that BSIPs should be developed taking into 

account the views of service users. 
 

Overview 
 
31. To inform work on the EPS and development of a BSIP a public engagement 

survey was undertaken between 15 June and 30 July 2021. 
 
32. The survey was undertaken primarily as an online survey. However, people 

were also offered the option of completing and returning a paper copy of the 
questionnaire. The survey was widely publicised through a marketing and 
communications campaign. 

 
33. The main purpose of the survey was to find out what local people think would 

improve local bus services and what would make them use local buses more. 
This included engaging with people who already use buses and with those 
who currently do not. The survey also invited opinions from representatives of 
public, private, and voluntary organisations who have an interest in making 
Leicestershire’s bus services work better. 

 
34. Within the survey, questions were asked about local bus services as well as 

buses that operate on a regular timetable, which included ‘demand responsive 
transport’ (or DRT). Dedicated school bus services were excluded from the 
scope of the survey. The survey consisted primarily of ‘closed’ questions with 
the opportunity for respondents to express their more detailed thoughts freely, 
with response to an ‘open’ question. 

 
35. Whilst a detailed report on the survey findings is included at Appendix A, the 

following sections summarise some of its key findings. 
 

Respondent characteristics 
 
36. A total of 1,483 responses were received, with 1,428 online responses and 55 

paper responses. The vast majority (92%) of respondents were residents of 
Leicestershire, with a marked skew towards white (93%), females (68%) and 
relatively older age groups (with 42% of respondents being aged 55 or older 
and only 5% under 25 years of age). 

 
37. 1,385 respondents answered the survey question about concessionary 

passholder status. 64% of respondents were not concessionary passholders, 
while 36% held a concessionary pass. 

97



   

 
Pre-Covid-19 frequency of bus use and journey purpose 

 
38. The survey data has been consolidated into two main categories - ‘regular bus 

users’ (those who use bus once a month or more) and ‘infrequent or non-bus 
users’ (less than once per month or never). Of the 1,398 respondents that 
answered in this regard, 63% were regular users and 37% were 
infrequent/non-users. 

 
39. Excluding respondents that reported they ‘never’ use local buses within 

Leicestershire, a total of 1,324 respondents indicated at least one trip 
purpose. The majority of respondents used the bus for shopping (60%), 
closely followed by social reasons (58%). Just less than one in four 
respondents (23%) used the bus to travel to and from work. 

 
Expected frequency of use ‘post-pandemic’ 

 
40. Respondents were asked how they expected their use of local bus services to 

change, if at all, following the Covid-19 pandemic (compared to how they used 
to travel prior to the pandemic). A total of 1,394 provided a response, with 
over half (54%) expecting their bus usage to remain the same. Just over one 
in five people (22%) expected to increase their bus usage following the 
pandemic, while 12% expected their bus usage to decrease. 12% of 
respondents didn’t know how their usage might change. 

 
Measures to increase bus usage 

 
41. A key part of the survey from a BSIP perspective explored what measures 

would encourage people to use buses more. Individual survey respondents 
were asked to consider the extent to which 21 different measures would make 
them personally use local buses in Leicestershire more. Similarly, people 
responding from organisations were asked their views on which measures 
would make people whose views they represent use buses more. For each 
measure, respondents rated the extent to which it would increase their bus 
use, ranging from ‘a great deal’, to ‘to some extent’, to ‘not very much’ to ‘not 
at all’ and finally ‘don’t know’.   

 
42. The top ten measures that responding residents and visitors said would 

increase their bus use a great deal, were: 
 

 More frequent services (63%) 

 Easier access to bus service information (54%) 

 More comprehensive services (local buses near you serving more 
destinations) (50%) 

 Better bus stops or shelters (50%) 

 Earlier and later services (49%) 

 Lower fares (49%) 

 Wider availability of multi-operator tickets (45%) 

 More reliable journey times (44%) 

 Contactless fare payment on buses (44%) 

98



   

 Better bus service and rail service connections (37%) 
 
43. Regular users and infrequent/non-users both consider that the measure most 

likely to increase their use of buses in Leicestershire is a more frequent 
service. In addition, easier access to bus service information and a more 
comprehensive service (serving more destinations) were also common 
considerations likely to increase bus usage. 

 
44. There are, however, some notable differences in the perceived effect of 

several measures between regular users and infrequent/non-users. The 
capability for contactless fare payment was considered more effective at 
encouraging increased bus use for infrequent/non-users than for regular 
users. Conversely, whilst 55% of regular bus users felt that improved bus 
stops or shelters would encourage increased bus use ‘a great deal’, only 42% 
of infrequent/non-users felt the same. 

 
45. There are also variations of response by district of residence. For example, a 

more frequent service was considered as being one of the most effective 
measures (where highest proportions of the response ‘a great deal’ was 
recorded) for five of the seven districts: Harborough (70%) Blaby (67%), 
Hinckley and Bosworth (67%), Melton (67%) and Charnwood (52%). For 
Charnwood residents, this was very closely followed by ‘better bus stops or 
shelters’ where 51% felt that this would encourage them personally to 
increase their bus use ‘a great deal’. 

 
46. Only 35% of North West Leicestershire residents perceived a more frequent 

bus service would increase their bus use ‘a great deal’ (although 37% 
considered it would do ‘to some extent’). Respondents from North West 
Leicestershire generally showed a different set of priorities for measures to 
improve bus use. Respondents from this district considered ‘more reliable 
journey times’ to be a more effective measure for increasing bus use than 
increased frequency, with 62% of residents considering this would increase 
their bus use by a great deal. More modern vehicles and zero emission 
vehicles also appeared in the top five most favoured measures in that district. 

 
47. To conclude, the survey responses suggest that the BSIP needs to have a 

focus on making bus travel more attractive to a wider demographic, including 
to those under the age of 25. Whilst the responses also helpfully highlight 
measures that the BSIP should concentrate on to improve attractiveness, they 
also serve to show that there is not necessarily a universal one size fits all 
approach in respect of bus users vs non-users and across the County. 

 
Development of the Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme (EPS) 
 
48. Following the decision of the Cabinet in June 2021 to establish an EPS, 

officers (supported by the commissioned consultants) have been working with 
local bus operators to agree the details of the Scheme. 

 
49. The EPS is a formal agreement between the LTA and local bus operators, to 

work together to improve local bus services. It will provide the formal 
framework and governance for the Enhanced Partnership and the schemes 

99



   

within it will mirror those within the BSIP, it is the delivery vehicle for the 
schemes detailed in the BSIP.  

 
50. Several meetings of the ‘shadow’ EPS have been held, attended by bus 

companies Arriva, First Bus, Centrebus, Stagecoach, Vectare and Trent 
Barton (including Kinchbus). The meetings have been generally constructive 
and have been primarily focused initially on the content of the BSIP; the EPS 
will be the delivery vehicle for the BSIP. 

 

51. Subject to the approval of the BSIP by the Cabinet a statutory notice of the 
EPS will be issued to bus operators in November, providing them with a 28-
day period for objection. Should no objections be received a public 
consultation would then be undertaken towards the end of the year. Any 
changes resulting from the consultation would need to be ratified by bus 
operators prior to formalising the partnership agreement, through a further 28-
day period of objection. 

 
52. Discussions will continue and it is currently intended that a further report will 

be presented to the Cabinet on this matter at the end of March 2022 ahead of 
the EPS formally coming into existence. 

 
Draft Leicestershire BSIP 
 
53. The BSIP has been developed in collaboration with bus operators in the 

County. It also takes account of the public’s views gathered through the 
engagement survey including those of parish councils and of the views of 
neighbouring authorities, including Leicester City Council, district councils; 
and community transport operators.  

 
54. The BSIP recognises the very important role that passenger transport 

services have to play in keeping people and places connected, especially in a 
largely rural county such as Leicestershire. Use of such services rather than 
private car travel also helps reduce congestion, improve air quality in towns, 
and limit carbon emissions.  

 
55. The BSIP is intended to be strongly led by users. In general terms, the focus 

is on increasing the fare-paying customer market, with concessionary 
passengers also benefiting from many of the initiatives. A particular focus is 
growth of patronage among young people (16-19) and young adults (19-25), 
as these are key life stages when people who have been regular bus 
travellers are often tempted to move from bus to car use. Encouraging young 
people and young adults to use buses more is seen as a cornerstone of a 
future sustainable Leicestershire bus network. 

 
56. Whilst for the benefit of customers and also because of how the DfT intend to 

award further NBS funding, it is important that a BSIP for Leicestershire seeks 
to be ambitious, it is equally important to be mindful of a number of key points: 

 

 There is no reliable evidence available at present to indicate how in a 
world living with Covid-19, passenger transport patronage levels in the 
County might recover and as to how travel patterns might have changed 

100



   

‘forever’. This makes it challenging to establish baseline usage levels 
against which to set targets for patronage increases; 

 There are still considerable uncertainties about the ‘lasting’ economic 
implications arising from the pandemic and the impacts this might have on 
levels of public and private investment available, at least in the short to 
medium term. Combined with uncertainties about patronage levels, it is 
unsurprising that this is influencing operator confidence to invest, for 
example in more modern vehicles;  

 In a rural county such as Leicestershire, with a great number of (relatively) 
smaller communities requiring access to a dispersed/remote range of 
economic and social needs, it will always be considerably more 
challenging and costly to deliver high quality, viable and sustainable (in 
financial terms) passenger transport services than in comparison to more 
densely populated urban/metropolitan areas; 

 Hitherto, rural counties such as Leicestershire have not had access to the 
significant levels of funding available to urban/metropolitan areas, such as 
City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements for Mayoral Combined 
Authorities and Transforming Cities Funds. 

 
57. Throughout the life of the BSIP, the Authority will be regularly required to 

report to the DfT on the progress of the delivery of the targets that it contains. 
 

Overview of content 
 
58. The draft BSIP is attached at Appendix B. In summary its content includes: 
 

i) Description of the BSIP’s area of coverage, i.e. the area administered by 
Leicestershire County Council as the LTA, and of current service 
provision 
 

ii) A vision, which is one where the County’s bus services are simply “‘best-
in-class’. Our future bus network will seamlessly connect people with 
employment locations, education and training opportunities, key 
services, other transport modes, leisure destinations and, of course, 
each other; in a way that is reliable, affordable, environmentally friendly, 
easy-to-use, safe, and inclusive.” 
 

iii) An overall aim, which is to increase bus usage (compared with pre-
pandemic levels) across the County through improved, financially 
sustainable, higher standard services that better meet the needs of 
Leicestershire residents, employees, and visitors – making bus travel a 
preferred choice for travel around the County and travel into the City of 
Leicester. 
 

iv) Several objectives focused around: 

 creating a single, higher-quality integrated system, e.g. through a 
clearer brand identity and a more holistic approach to marketing and 
greater coordination between operators’ timetables; integration with 
other travel modes such as rail and cycling and e-mobility; 

 greater use of DRT to provide greater availability, particular in rural 
areas of the County; 

101



   

 improved journey time reliability of bus services; 

 affordability - particularly for young people who are the potential core 
bus market for the future; 

 ease of use – with the customer experience much easier in terms of 
getting information, using different operators’ services, and paying 
fares; and 

 moving towards the use of modern, lower emission vehicles across 
the network. 

 
v) Proposals for setting (but not for definitively establishing at this time, for 

the reasons set out in paragraph 56 above) a number of targets in 
respect of: 

 passenger growth 

 customer satisfaction 

 journey times 

 reliability (including how well buses run to the timetable, whether a 
bus arrives at all and consistency of journey time) 

 bus emissions  
 

vi) Delivery themes, and schemes within those themes, grouped around: 

 Theme: Single System, which includes schemes around: 
o Operators working together to coordinate timetables on key 

corridors, 
o Piloting of increased frequencies on three (yet to be selected) 

routes, 
o Bus operators working with rail operators to seek to ensure 

better coordination of bus services with connections to railway 
stations relative to train times, 

o Provision of higher quality bus stop infrastructure and which is 
better maintained, 

o Working in collaboration with operators to create a distinctive 
brand for the Leicestershire bus network, with marketing of the 
network as a single entity undertaken jointly by LCC and bus 
operators, 

o Piloting of further DRT services, building on experience as it’s 
gained from the Rural Mobility Fund (RMF) project in south east 
Leicestershire, 

o Using the RMF project to explore the piloting of evening 
services, 

o Agreement and implementation of minimum service quality 
standards across all Leicestershire bus services, covering 
aspects such as cleanliness of vehicles and customer service 
training for drivers, 

o Adoption of a Customer Charter across Leicestershire bus 
services. 

 Theme: Reliable, which includes schemes around: 
o The development and implementation of a programme of 

individual schemes and interventions to address delays to bus 
services and give buses priority, 

102



   

o Improving traffic and parking management and enforcement 
particularly in areas where poor traffic and parking discipline 
causes problems and delays for buses. 

 Theme: Affordable, which includes schemes around: 
o Rationalisation of qualification ages for child / young people 

discounted fare products, i.e. seeking to agree with operators a 
consistent age below which significantly discounted ticket 
products for children and young people are available, 

o Putting in place a young adult discounted fare offer for all 19 to 
25-year-olds. 

 Theme: Easy to use, which includes schemes around: 
o Improved bus service information availability, including online, 

printed and roadside, 
o Improvements to real time information provision, 
o Moving towards multi-operator capped fares that work with debit, 

credit card, cash, and mobile payments across all Leicestershire 
operators. 

 Theme: Greener, which includes schemes around: 
o Piloting the use of ultra-low emissions vehicles. 

 
59. Subject to there being no changes in national policy or funding, or any other 

material changes, it is currently proposed to undertake a major, wholesale 
review prior to the BSIP’s 10-year anniversary. However, during its lifetime 
changes are likely to be required as progress against targets is monitored and 
evidence is collected about the effectiveness of the BSIP’s delivery. 

 
BSIP Funding Requirements 
 
60. In August 2021, the Government published additional guidance as to how 

LTAs should present their BSIP funding requirements to Government. 
 
61. The additional guidance on funding specifies a template that is required to be 

attached to BSIPs when returned to them. Furthermore, it sets out that: 
 

i) The purpose of the template is to provide an indicative view of potential 
LTA and operator priorities for additional Government funding. The 
template asks for detail regarding potential funding requirements, both 
capital and resource (revenue), to deliver the expectations set out in the 
Strategy. It goes on to say that LTAs should aim to include detail on 
specific schemes, routes and requirements where possible (e.g. bus 
priority measures on a specific route corridor, or detail on changes to 
fares/tickets). 

 
ii) Given the limited amount of funding available across the country, LTAs 

should aim to prioritise these schemes and consider constraints on 
available funding. Funding amounts should be set out by year (i.e. 
2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25) and long term (beyond 2025) as best as 
able. Albeit, the supplementary guidance notes that at this stage, ahead 
of the DfT’s spend profiles beyond April 2022 being confirmed at the 
Spending Review later this year, it cannot confirm specific funding 

103



   

allocations. Officers understand that the DfT will release further detailed 
guidance in due course on the funding allocation process. 

 
iii) LTAs should also set out what alternative sources of funding are 

available to support delivery of BSIPs (e.g. operator or LTA 
contributions).  

 
iv) The DfT do not expect BSIPs to provide detailed, definitive costings. As 

explained in the primary BSIP guidance, given that the plans have to be 
produced by October, they will necessarily be outlines.  

 
v) BSIPs will enable the Government to understand the appetite for 

transformational investments which support the bus sector in the funding 
period and over the long term (i.e. beyond 2025). In the shorter term, 
there are also existing bus funding sources (such as the LTA element of 
the Bus Services Operators Grant, and the Revenue Support Grant) and 
other funding schemes with transport elements (such as the Levelling Up 
fund, or the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements for Mayoral 
Combined Authorities) that are expected to be considered, where 
relevant, in how the BSIP is supported and delivered. The BSIP is not 
purely a bid for funding from the buses £3bn and should not rely on 
additional Government funding to deliver a basic level of service 
integration, investment and improvement. The template also contains a 
section to note the other funding which will support delivery of the BSIP.  

 

62. Whilst the additional guidance does not clearly state, the process for the 
further award of NBS delivery funding is in effect a bidding process. As such 
there is no guarantee as to its outcome. 

 
63. The completed template setting out the Authority’s BSIP funding requirements 

is attached at Appendix C. This takes into account the additional guidance; 
the position on funding previously set out in the report to the Cabinet in June 
2021 (and as set out in the Resource Implications in Part A of this report); and 
discussions with operators. 

 
64. The total estimated requirement is £173m, which allows for: 
 

 revenue funding required over a ten-year period (assumed life of the 
BSIP) to resource the management of the EPS and also to manage 
implementation of, monitor the impacts of and the continued development 
of the BSIP (the NBS guidance is clear that BSIPs should be ‘living 
documents’ that continue to evolve over their lives);* 
* This includes funding of the EPS Manager and support team 

 revenue funding to deliver measures set out in the BSIP, e.g. in 
relationship to branding and marketing; and 

 capital funding to deliver measures set out in the BSIP, e.g. improvements 
to bus stop infrastructure or highway works to remove pinch-points that 
are causing delays to bus services. 

 

65. As noted in Part A, Resource Implications, the extent to which the Authority 
(and bus operators) are able to deliver on ambitions to improve bus services 

104



   

in Leicestershire will be dependent on the level of further NBS delivery funding 
received from the Government. 

 

Further Consultation 
 
66. There is a Statutory requirement for the Authority to undertake a consultation 

exercise with bus operators in respect of the EPS. 
 
67. Bus operators will receive notice of the EPS in November, providing them with 

a 28-day period for objection. Statutorily, any objections received by bus 
operators would need to be resolved before the Enhanced Partnership can be 
formalised. 

  
68. Subject to no objections from bus operators, the Council would undertake a 

three to six-week public consultation on the EPS in Winter 2021 through an 
on-line survey with paper version available on request. Other key 
stakeholders such as district councils, the police, Transport Focus and the 
Traffic Commissioner, will be consulted. It will be promoted through the 
Council's website and through social media. 

  
69. Any changes resulting from the consultation would need to be ratified by bus 

operators prior to formalising the partnership agreement, through a further 28-
day period of objection. 

 
70. Any delays caused in resolving any bus operator objections would need to be 

reported to DfT accordingly.  
 
71. A report detailing the BSIP and EPS timeline will be considered by the 

Highways and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 November 
2021. 

 
72. It is intended that a further report on the outcomes of the consultation will be 

presented to the Cabinet in March 2022. 
 
73. Going forward specific schemes and measures delivered through the EPS 

and under the BSIP will, as appropriate, be subject to separate engagement 
and consultation exercises. 

 
Implications for the Authority’s Adopted Passenger Transport Policy and 
Strategy (PTPS) 
 
74. It is inevitable that the formal establishment of the EPS and delivery of the 

BSIP will have implications for the adopted PTPS. 
 
75. The BSIP sets out that the PTPS will be reviewed in full once the BSIP and 

EP Plan have been developed to ensure that full alignment is achieved and a 
further report will be brought to the Cabinet once that work has been 
completed and the implications for the PTPS are understood. For the 
avoidance of doubt, officers will continue to use the adopted PTPS where 
appropriate in considering whether the Authority should provide funding to 

105



   

support local bus services where they are no longer able to operate on a 
commercial basis. 

 
Conclusion 
 
76. Publication of the NBS marked another radical change in Government 

transport policy. The role of LTAs in the development and delivery of 
passenger transport services is significantly altered by its publication, with the 
expectation that they will provide greater local leadership and work far more 
collaboratively with bus operators and local communities to plan and deliver a 
fully integrated service with simple, multi-modal tickets, more bus priority 
measures, the same high quality information for all passengers in more 
places, and better turn-up-and-go frequencies that keep running into the 
evenings and at weekends. 

 
77. The Government describes BSIPs as being how LTAs, working closely with 

their local bus operators and local communities, set out a vision for delivering 
the step-change in bus services that is required by the NBS. Government 
expects BSIPs to be comprehensive, living documents that will evolve over 
time. All relevant LTAs are required to prepare a BSIP. 

 
78. Development of the Leicestershire BSIP has been informed by discussions 

with operators and by the outcomes of an engagement survey, but also 
mindful too of the continuing impacts of the pandemic both on patronage 
levels (both current and going forward) and on the public finances and private 
sector investment confidence; the rural nature of Leicestershire; and that as 
non-Mayoral or City area, the Authority has not enjoyed the benefits of such 
things as (direct award) Region Sustainable Transport Settlements or qualified 
for Transforming Cities Funding. 

 
79. This report sets out the immediate financial implications to the Authority 

arising from implementing the NBS in line with DfT requirements. Over the 
longer-term, delivery of the Leicestershire BSIP is dependent on the award by 
Government of further NBS delivery funds to the Authority. The process for 
the further award of funding amounts, in effect, to a bidding process with no 
guarantee as to its outcome. 

 
80. Notwithstanding financial considerations, improving local bus services has a 

key role to play in seeking to reduce carbon emissions from transport; 
providing for equality of opportunity for those who don’t have access to a 
private car; and supporting recovery from the pandemic. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
81. The Equality Act 2010 requires the Authority to have due regard to the need to 

eliminate discrimination and to promote equality of opportunity between 
different protected groups. 

 
82. An initial Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening 

exercise was undertaken at the stage the Council submitted a statutory notice 

106



   

of intent to enter into an Enhanced Partnership. The initial impact was 
considered to be positive and so a full EHRIA was not needed at that time.  

 
83. A further EHRIA screening exercise will be undertaken following the 

consultation.  
 
Environmental Implications 
 
84. Delivery of improved bus services should help to deliver mode shift away from 

the private car and would therefore be anticipated to deliver air quality and 
carbon reduction benefits. 

 

Legal Implications 
 

85. The Director of Law and Governance confirms that the recommendations in 
this report accord with the statutory requirements of the Bus Services Act 
2017. 

 
Background Papers  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 16 October 2018, ‘Draft Passenger Transport Policy 
and Strategy’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020, ‘Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Transport Priorities’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 June 2021, ‘National Bus Strategy’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: National Bus Strategy Bus Service Improvement Plan Public 
Engagement Survey Findings August 2021 
Appendix B: Draft Leicestershire BSIP September 2021 
Appendix C: BSIP Funding Requirements Template 

107

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

 

 

National Bus Strategy 

Bus Service Improvement Plan 

 

Public Engagement 

Survey Findings 

 

August 2021 

 

V1-0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109

AMPoole
Text Box
APPENDIX A



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 i  

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Respondent Sample Characteristics ............................................................................... 2 

Role of Respondent ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

Respondents’ District of Residence ....................................................................................................... 3 

Age and Gender of Respondents ........................................................................................................... 3 

Ethnicity of Respondents .......................................................................................................................... 4 

Concessionary passholder status ........................................................................................................... 5 

3. Travel Habits of Individual Respondents ..................................................................... 6 

Frequency of Bus Use ................................................................................................................................. 6 

Trip Purpose When Travelling by Bus .................................................................................................. 6 

Expected Frequency of Bus Use Following COVID-19 ................................................................... 7 

4. Measures to Increase Bus Usage ................................................................................... 10 

Individual Respondents .......................................................................................................................... 11 

Overall ..................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Regular bus users vs infrequent / non-bus users ................................................................... 13 

District of residence ........................................................................................................................... 16 

Age group .............................................................................................................................................. 26 

Gender ..................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Concessionary passholding ............................................................................................................. 36 

Councillors and Organisation Representatives .............................................................................. 39 

5. Summary and Conclusions ............................................................................................... 41 

 

  

110



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 ii  

List of Tables 

Table 2-1: Numbers and proportions of respondent role ........................................................................ 2 

Table 4-1: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective by 

regular and infrequent / non-bus users ....................................................................................................... 13 

Table 4-2: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective per 

Leicestershire district ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

Table 4-3: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective per age 

group ......................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Table 4-4: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective per 

gender ....................................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Table 4-5: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective between 

concessionary passholders and non-passholders .................................................................................... 36 

Table 5-1: Ranked priorities of individual respondents and different sub-groups ...................... 41 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 2-1: Proportion of respondents per Leicestershire district ......................................................... 3 

Figure 2-2: Respondents by gender (male and female) and age .......................................................... 4 

Figure 2-3: Proportion of respondents per ethnicity .................................................................................. 4 

Figure 3-1: Frequency of bus use prior to the COVID-19 pandemic .................................................... 6 

Figure 3-2: Leicestershire local bus usage by trip purpose ...................................................................... 7 

Figure 3-3: Expected bus usage following the COVID-19 Pandemic ................................................... 8 

Figure 3-4: Expected change in bus use, comparing regular bus users to infrequent/non-bus 

users .............................................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Figure 4-1: Measures that would encourage Leicestershire residents and visitors to increase 

their bus use ............................................................................................................................................................ 12 

Figure 4-2: Measures that would encourage regular bus users to increase their bus use ....... 14 

Figure 4-3: Measures that would encourage infrequent or non bus users to increase their bus 

use ............................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Figure 4-4: Measures that would encourage residents of Blaby to increase their bus use ...... 19 

Figure 4-5: Measures that would encourage residents of Charnwood to increase their bus use

...................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Figure 4-6: Measures that would encourage residents of Harborough to increase their bus 

use ............................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Figure 4-7: Measures that would encourage residents of Hinckley and Bosworth to increase 

their bus use ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

111



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 iii  

Figure 4-8: Measures that would encourage residents of North West Leicestershire to 

increase their bus use .......................................................................................................................................... 23 

Figure 4-9: Measures that would encourage residents of Oadby and Wigston to increase 

their bus use ............................................................................................................................................................ 24 

Figure 4-10: Measures that would encourage residents of Melton to increase their bus use 25 

Figure 4-11: Measures that would encourage under-25's to increase their bus use .................. 28 

Figure 4-12: Measures that would encourage 25–44-year-olds to increase their bus use ....... 29 

Figure 4-13: Measures that would encourage 45–64-year-olds to increase their bus use ....... 30 

Figure 4-14: Measures that would encourage people aged 65+ to increase their bus use ..... 31 

Figure 4-15: Measures that would encourage males to increase their bus use ............................ 33 

Figure 4-16: Measures that would encourage females to increase their bus use ........................ 34 

Figure 4-17: Measures that would encourage those that prefer to self-describe gender to 

increase their bus use .......................................................................................................................................... 35 

Figure 4-18: Measures that would encourage concessionary passholders to increase their bus 

use ............................................................................................................................................................................... 37 

Figure 4-19: Measures that would encourage non-passholders to increase their bus use ...... 38 

Figure 4-20: Measures that would increase bus use as perceived by local councillors and 

organisation representatives ............................................................................................................................ 40 

 

112



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 1  

1. Introduction 

1.1 This report has been prepared by Integrated Transport Planning Ltd (ITP) on behalf of 

Leicestershire County Council.  It presents the main findings of a public engagement 

survey undertaken by Leicestershire County Council between June 15th and July 30th, 

2021.  The survey was undertaken primarily as an online survey.  However, people were 

also offered the option of completing and returning a paper copy of the questionnaire.  

The survey was widely publicised through a marketing and communications campaign 

devised and run by Leicestershire County Council officers. 

1.2 The main purpose of the survey was to find out what local people think would improve 

local bus services and what would make them use local buses more, to inform 

development of Leicestershire’s Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP).  This included 

engaging with people who already use buses and with those who currently don’t 

(collectively termed ‘individual respondents’ in this report). The survey also invited 

opinions from representatives of public, private, and voluntary organisations who have 

an interest in making Leicestershire’s bus services work better.  

1.3 Within the survey questionnaire (see appendix A), questions were asked about ‘local 

bus services’.  As well as buses that operate on a regular timetable, this included 

‘demand responsive transport’ (or DRT).  Dedicated school bus services were excluded 

from the scope of the survey.  The survey consisted primarily of ‘closed’ questions with 

the opportunity for respondents to express their more detailed thoughts freely, with 

response to an ‘open’ question.   

113



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 2  

2. Respondent Sample Characteristics 

2.1 A total of 1,483 responses were received, with 1,428 online responses and 55 paper 

responses. A small number of representations from individuals were also received 

outside the main survey. This report contains only analysis of the ‘closed’ question 

responses; analysis of ‘open’ question responses and separate representations will be 

added later. 

Role of Respondent 

2.2 Table 2-1 provides a breakdown of respondents by the role in which they were 

responding. The great majority (~95%) of respondents were ‘individual respondents’ 

who were either residents of Leicestershire or visited Leicestershire (for example, for 

work or leisure). Parish, town, district, or county councillors represented 4% of 

respondents, with the remainder being representatives of other organisations. 

Table 2-1: Numbers and proportions of respondent role 

Role of Respondent 
Number of 

respondents 

% of all 

respondents 

(n=1483) 

Leicestershire resident 1370 92.4% 

Parish or town councillor  41 2.8% 

Visitor to Leicestershire (e.g. for work or leisure) 31 2.1% 

District councillor  12 0.8% 

Other (please specify) 9 0.6% 

Representative of a voluntary sector organisation, 

charity, or community group  
8 0.5% 

Representative of a public sector organisation  5 0.3% 

Representative of a business or private sector 

organisation  
4 0.3% 

County councillor  3 0.2% 

114



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 3  

Respondents’ District of Residence 

2.3 Individual respondents (residents or Leicestershire visitors) were asked to provide their 

full postcode in order to determine their district of residence.  1,336 individual 

respondents answered this question. There were two responses from residents of 

Rutland, and 67 respondents from the city of Leicester. The split of responses from 

Leicestershire residents among the seven districts is shown in Figure 2-1.  It is notable 

that residents of Melton, and Oadby and Wigston, were under-represented in the 

achieved sample.  Results specific to those districts presented in this report therefore 

need to be viewed with caution because of the small sub-sample sizes. 

Figure 2-1: Proportion of respondents per Leicestershire district 

 

Age and Gender of Respondents 

2.4 In terms of gender, the sample was skewed towards females (68%) rather than males 

(31%).  1% of respondents opted to self-describe.  On age, the highest number of 

responses was received from the 65 – 74-year age group (23%), followed by 55–64-

year-olds (19%) and 45–54-year-olds (17%).  Only 5% of respondents were under 25 

years of age. The breakdown across all age groups and male/female genders is shown 

in Figure 2-2. 

115



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 4  

Figure 2-2: Respondents by gender (male and female) and age  

 

Ethnicity of Respondents 

2.5 Individual respondents were asked about their ethnicity. Of the 1,352 people who 

responded to this question, 93% were White, followed by 3% Asian or Asian British (see 

Figure 2-3). For comparison, 2011 Census data for Leicestershire indicated that 92% of 

the population of Leicestershire identified as White. 

Figure 2-3: Proportion of respondents per ethnicity 

 

116



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 5  

Concessionary passholder status 

2.6 1385 respondents answered the survey question about concessionary passholder 

status.  64% of respondents were not concessionary passholders, while 36% held a 

concessionary pass. 

117



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 6  

3. Travel Habits of Individual Respondents 

3.1 The survey posed questions about individual respondents’ (Leicestershire residents and 

visitors) pre-pandemic bus usage, including frequency and purpose, and how they 

expected their frequency of use to change, if at all, following the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Frequency of Bus Use 

3.2 Individual respondents were asked about how often, if at all, they used a local bus 

service in Leicestershire, considering a typical week before the COVID-19 pandemic. A 

breakdown of responses is shown in Figure 3-1 Error! Reference source not found., 

with only three respondents choosing not to answer. The data was consolidated into 

two main categories - ‘regular bus users’ (those who use bus once a month or more) 

and ‘infrequent or non-bus users’ (less than once per month or never). Of the 1,398 

respondents that answered the question, 63% were regular bus users and 37% were 

infrequent/non-bus users.  

Figure 3-1: Frequency of bus use prior to the COVID-19 pandemic 

 

Trip Purpose When Travelling by Bus 

3.3 In order to understand the reasons why people use local bus services in Leicestershire, 

individual respondents were asked to provide their most usual / frequent reasons for 

118



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 7  

travelling by bus in a typical week before the COVID-19 pandemic. Respondents were 

able to provide more than one trip purpose, as applicable.  

3.4 Excluding respondents that reported they ‘never’ use local buses within Leicestershire, 

a total of 1,324 respondents indicated at least one trip purpose (see Figure 3-2). The 

majority of respondents used the bus for shopping (60%), closely followed by social 

reasons (58%). Just less than one in four respondents (23%) used the bus to travel to 

and from work.  

Figure 3-2: Leicestershire local bus usage by trip purpose 

 

Expected Frequency of Bus Use Following COVID-19 

3.5 Individual respondents were asked how they expected their use of local bus services to 

change, if at all, following the COVID-19 pandemic (compared to how they used to 

travel prior to the pandemic). A total of 1,394 provided a response, with over half (54%) 

expecting their bus usage to remain the same. Just over one in five people (22%) 

expected to increase their bus usage following the pandemic, while 12% expected their 

bus usage to decrease (see  Figure 3-3).  12% of respondents to this question didn’t 

know how their usage might change. 

119



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 8  

Figure 3-3: Expected bus usage following the COVID-19 Pandemic 

 

3.6 It is interesting to note that infrequent users were more unsure about their bus use 

post-Covid than those who regularly travelled by bus (22% compared to 6%), as shown 

in  

3.7 Figure 3-4.   

120



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 9  

Figure 3-4: Expected change in bus use, comparing regular bus users to 

infrequent/non-bus users 

 

121



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 10  

4. Measures to Increase Bus Usage 

4.1 A key part of the survey from a BSIP perspective explored what measures would 

encourage people to use buses more. Individual survey respondents were asked to 

consider the extent to which 21 different measures would make them personally use 

local buses in Leicestershire more. Similarly, people responding from organisations 

were asked their views on which measures would make people whose views they 

represent use buses more. For each measure, respondents rated the extent to which it 

would increase their bus use, ranging from ‘a great deal’, to ‘to some extent’, to ‘not 

very much’ to ‘not at all’ and finally ‘don’t know’. The 21 measures were.  

• Journey times on local bus services made quicker 

• Delays on local bus services reduced to make journey times more reliable 

• Local bus services near you operating more frequently 

• Local buses near you operating later in the evening or earlier in the morning 

• More Sunday bus services 

• Local buses near you serving more destinations 

• Better connections between bus services and with rail services 

• On-demand bus services that could be booked at short notice with an app 

• Services operated with more modern vehicles 

• Services operated with electric or other zero emission vehicles 

• Better availability of Wi-Fi onboard local buses 

• Better interior cleanliness of the vehicle 

• Better availability of seating 

• Better customer service from bus drivers 

• Better on-bus information such as ‘next stop’ displays or announcements 

• Lower fares  

• Simpler-to-understand fares  

• Wider availability of multi-operator tickets (or e-tickets) that could be used on 

more than one operator’s buses   

• Contactless fare payment on buses 

• Information on local bus services made easier to obtain and understand 

122



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 11  

• Better bus stops or shelters (e.g., real time information, lighting, seating, CCTV, 

raised kerbs) 

Individual Respondents 

4.2 Responses from Leicestershire residents and visitors (individual respondents) are 

considered within this section. It should be noted that not all respondents provided an 

answer to all of the 21 measures, so there are varying sample sizes across all measures.  

Overall 

4.3 Figure 4-1 shows the overall picture from all individual respondents, in terms of people 

who say that measures would increase their bus use ‘a great deal’ or ‘to some extent’.  

Measures are presented in order of the percentage of respondents who responded ‘a 

great deal’. 

4.4 The top ten measures considered that responding residents and visitors’ said would 

increase their bus use a great deal, were: 

• More frequent service (63%) 

• Easier access to bus service information (54%) 

• More comprehensive service (local buses near you serving more destinations) 

(50%) 

• Better bus stops or shelters (50%) 

• Earlier and later services (49%) 

• Lower fares (49%) 

• Wider availability of multi-operator tickets (45%) 

• More reliable journey times (44%) 

• Contactless fare payment on buses (44%) 

• Better bus service and rail service connections (37%) 

4.5 The three measures that residents and visitors considered least likely to increase their 

bus use included: 

• Better availability of Wi-Fi 

• More modern vehicles  

• Better customer service from bus drivers  

  

123



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 12  

Figure 4-1: Measures that would encourage Leicestershire residents and visitors to increase their bus use 

63%
54% 50% 50% 49% 49% 45% 44% 44%

37% 35% 33% 32% 29% 29% 28% 26% 23% 21% 20%
10%

23%
30%

29% 30%
24% 25%

25%
34%

28%
30% 29% 39% 36%

37%
31% 30%

23%
36%

31% 30%

22%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

M
o

re
 F

re
q

u
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

e

Ea
si

er
 A

cc
es

s 
to

 B
u

s 
Se

rv
ic

e 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

M
o

re
 C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 S
er

vi
ce

B
et

te
r 

b
u

s 
st

o
p

s 
o

r 
sh

el
te

rs

Ea
rl

ie
r 

an
d

 L
at

e
r 

Se
rv

ic
es

Lo
w

er
 f

ar
es

W
id

er
 a

va
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
m

u
lt

i-
o

p
er

at
o

r 
ti

ck
et

s

M
o

re
 R

el
ia

b
le

 J
o

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

C
o

n
ta

ct
le

ss
 f

ar
e 

p
ay

m
en

t 
o

n
 b

u
se

s

B
et

te
r 

B
u

s 
Se

rv
ic

e 
an

d
 R

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
C

o
n

n
ec

ti
o

n

Si
m

p
le

r-
to

-u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 f

ar
es

Q
u

ic
ke

r 
Jo

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

B
et

te
r 

o
n

-b
u

s 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n

B
et

te
r 

C
le

an
lin

es
s

M
o

re
 S

u
n

d
ay

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es

Ze
ro

-E
m

is
si

o
n

 /
 E

le
ct

ri
c 

O
p

er
at

ed
 B

u
se

s

O
n

-d
em

an
d

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

h
at

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

b
o

o
ke

d
 a

t 
sh

o
rt

 n
o

ti
ce

 w
it

h
 a

n
 a

p
p

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

se
at

in
g

B
et

te
r 

cu
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
 f

ro
m

 b
u

s 
d

ri
ve

rs

M
o

re
 M

o
d

er
n

 V
eh

ic
le

s

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

w
if

i

A great deal To some extent

124



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 13  

Regular bus users vs infrequent / non-bus users 

4.6 Regular bus users (59%) and infrequent / non-bus users (59%) both considered that 

the measure most likely to increase their use of bus services in Leicestershire was a 

more frequent service (see Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3).  The top five measures that were 

considered most effective across both user groups are summarised in Table 4-1.  There 

was agreement across the two groups on three of the top five measures which would 

increase their bus usage.  As well as a more frequent service, easier access to bus 

service information and a more comprehensive service (serving more destinations) 

were also considered likely to increase their bus usage. 

4.7 There were some notable differences in the perceived effect of a number of measures 

between regular bus user and infrequent / non bus user groups. The capability for 

contactless fare payment was considered more effective at encouraging increased bus 

use for infrequent / non-users than for regular users.  Conversely, whilst 55% of regular 

bus users felt that improved bus stops or shelters would encourage increased bus use 

‘a great deal’, only 42% of infrequent / non-users felt the same.   

Table 4-1: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most 

effective by regular and infrequent / non-bus users 

Ranking 

(based on ‘a 

great deal’) 

Regular User Infrequent / Non User 

1 More Frequent Service More Frequent Service 

2 Better bus stops or shelters Easier Access to Bus Service 

Information 

3 Easier Access to Bus Service 

Information 

Lower fares  

4 More Comprehensive Service Contactless fare payment on 

buses 

5 Earlier and Later Services More Comprehensive Service 

125



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 14  

Figure 4-2: Measures that would encourage regular bus users to increase their bus use 

 

126



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 15  

Figure 4-3: Measures that would encourage infrequent or non bus users to increase their bus use 

59% 54% 50% 48% 47% 46% 42% 41% 38% 37% 35% 33% 31% 26% 25% 24% 19% 18% 16% 16%
8%

23% 26%
25% 27% 30%

24% 29% 27% 30% 32% 35% 39%

25% 34% 34%
29% 33% 31% 29% 27%

21%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

M
o

re
 F

re
q

u
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

e

Ea
si

e
r 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 B

u
s 

Se
rv

ic
e

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

Lo
w

er
 f

ar
e

s

C
o

n
ta

ct
le

ss
 f

ar
e 

p
ay

m
en

t 
o

n
 b

u
se

s

M
o

re
 C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 S
er

vi
ce

Ea
rl

ie
r 

an
d

 L
at

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s

B
et

te
r 

b
u

s 
st

o
p

s 
o

r 
sh

el
te

rs

W
id

er
 a

va
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
m

u
lt

i-
o

p
er

at
o

r
ti

ck
et

s

Si
m

p
le

r-
to

-u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 f

ar
e

s

B
et

te
r 

B
u

s 
Se

rv
ic

e 
an

d
 R

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
C

o
n

n
ec

ti
o

n

M
o

re
 R

el
ia

b
le

 J
o

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

Q
u

ic
ke

r 
Jo

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

O
n

-d
em

an
d

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

h
at

 c
o

u
ld

b
e 

b
o

o
ke

d
 a

t 
sh

o
rt

 n
o

ti
ce

 w
it

h
…

B
et

te
r 

o
n

-b
u

s 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n

B
et

te
r 

C
le

an
lin

es
s

Ze
ro

-E
m

is
si

o
n

 /
 E

le
ct

ri
c 

O
p

er
at

ed
B

u
se

s

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

se
at

in
g

M
o

re
 S

u
n

d
ay

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es

B
et

te
r 

cu
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
 f

ro
m

 b
u

s
d

ri
ve

rs

M
o

re
 M

o
d

er
n

 V
eh

ic
le

s

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

w
if

i

A great deal To some extent

127



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 16  

District of residence 

4.8 A more frequent service was considered as being one of the most effective measures (where highest proportions of ‘a great deal’ 

was recorded) for five of the seven districts: Harborough (70%) Blaby (67%), Hinckley and Bosworth (67%), Melton (67%) and 

Charnwood (52%). For Charnwood residents, this was very closely followed by ‘better bus stops or shelters’ where 51% felt that this 

would encourage them personally to increase their bus use ‘a great deal’. 

4.9 Only 35% of North West Leicestershire residents perceived a more frequent bus service would increase their bus use ‘a great deal’ 

(although 37% considered it would do ‘to some extent’).  Respondents from North West Leicestershire generally showed a different 

set of priorities for measures to improve bus use. Respondents from this district considered ‘more reliable journey times’ to be a 

more effective measure for increasing bus use than increased frequency, with 62% of residents considering this would increase their 

bus use by a great deal.  More modern vehicles and zero emission vehicles also appeared in the top five most favoured measures in 

that district.   

4.10 The five measures that were considered most effective in increasing bus use by district are summarised in Table 4-2 with a detailed 

breakdown of responses by ‘a great deal’ and ‘to some extent’ reflected in Figure 4-4, Figure 4-5

128



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 17  

, Figure 4-6, Figure 4-7, Figure 4-8, Figure 4-9, and Figure 4-10.  

129



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 18  

Table 4-2: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most effective per Leicestershire district 

Ranking 

(based on ‘a 

great deal’) 

Blaby Charnwood Harborough Hinckley and 

Bosworth 

North West 

Leicestershire 

Oadby and 

Wigston 

Melton 

1 More Frequent 

Service 

More Frequent 

Service 

More Frequent 

Service 

More Frequent 

Service 

More Reliable 

Journey Times 

Quicker Journey 

Times 

More Frequent 

Service 

2 Easier Access 

to Bus Service 

Information 

Better bus stops 

or shelters 

Earlier and Later 

Services 

Easier Access to Bus 

Service Information 

More Modern 

Vehicles 

Simpler-to-

understand fares  

Earlier and Later 

Services 

3 More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

Easier Access to 

Bus Service 

Information 

Easier Access to 

Bus Service 

Information 

More Reliable 

Journey Times 

More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

Better on-bus 

information  

More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

4 Lower fares  Wider 

availability of 

multi-operator 

tickets  

Better bus stops 

or shelters 

Better bus stops or 

shelters 

Better bus stops or 

shelters 

More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

More Reliable 

Journey Times 

5 Better bus 

stops or 

shelters 

Lower fares  Contactless fare 

payment on 

buses 

Earlier and Later 

Services 

Zero-Emission / 

Electric Operated 

Buses 

More Modern 

Vehicles 

Better Bus and Rail 

Connection 

130



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 19  

Figure 4-4: Measures that would encourage residents of Blaby to increase their bus use

67%
55% 54% 53% 51% 47% 45% 45% 41% 40% 38% 32% 32% 31% 29% 26% 25% 23% 19% 18%

8%

21%
34%

29%
21%

36%

24% 30%
38%

33% 30% 35%
32% 27%

40%

25%
45%

31% 38%
35% 32%

22%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

M
o

re
 F

re
q

u
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

e

Ea
si

e
r 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 B

u
s 

Se
rv

ic
e

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

M
o

re
 C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 S
er

vi
ce

Lo
w

er
 f

ar
e

s

B
et

te
r 

b
u

s 
st

o
p

s 
o

r 
sh

el
te

rs

Ea
rl

ie
r 

an
d

 L
at

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s

W
id

er
 a

va
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
m

u
lt

i-
o

p
er

at
o

r
ti

ck
et

s

M
o

re
 R

el
ia

b
le

 J
o

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

C
o

n
ta

ct
le

ss
 f

ar
e 

p
ay

m
en

t 
o

n
 b

u
se

s

B
et

te
r 

B
u

s 
Se

rv
ic

e 
an

d
 R

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
C

o
n

n
ec

ti
o

n

Q
u

ic
ke

r 
Jo

u
rn

ey
 T

im
es

Si
m

p
le

r-
to

-u
n

d
er

st
an

d
 f

ar
e

s

M
o

re
 S

u
n

d
ay

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es

B
et

te
r 

o
n

-b
u

s 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n

O
n

-d
em

an
d

 b
u

s 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

h
at

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

b
o

o
ke

d
 a

t 
sh

o
rt

 n
o

ti
ce

 w
it

h
 a

n
 a

p
p

B
et

te
r 

C
le

an
lin

es
s

Ze
ro

-E
m

is
si

o
n

 /
 E

le
ct

ri
c 

O
p

er
at

ed
B

u
se

s

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

se
at

in
g

B
et

te
r 

cu
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
 f

ro
m

 b
u

s
d

ri
ve

rs

M
o

re
 M

o
d

er
n

 V
eh

ic
le

s

B
et

te
r 

av
ai

la
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

w
if

i

A great deal To some extent

131



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 20  

Figure 4-5: Measures that would encourage residents of Charnwood to increase their bus use 

 

132



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 21  

Figure 4-6: Measures that would encourage residents of Harborough to increase their bus use 

 

133



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 22  

Figure 4-7: Measures that would encourage residents of Hinckley and Bosworth to increase their bus use 

 

134



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 23  

Figure 4-8: Measures that would encourage residents of North West Leicestershire to increase their bus use 

135



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 24  

Figure 4-9: Measures that would encourage residents of Oadby and Wigston to increase their bus use 

 

136



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 25  

Figure 4-10: Measures that would encourage residents of Melton to increase their bus use

 

137



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 26  

Age group 

4.11 This section details the measures that were considered by respondents from different 

age groups to be the most effective in encouraging them to increase their bus usage 

within Leicestershire. For the purpose of this analysis, the age groups were combined 

as follows:  

• Under 25 

• 25 – 44 

• 45 – 64 

• 65+ 

4.12 Similar patterns are generally seen across all age groups with measures considered 

most effective (where higher proportions of respondents rate a measure by ‘a great 

deal’) relatively consistent.  A comparative summary of the ‘Top 5’ measures 

considered most effective at increasing bus use per age group is shown in Table 4-3, 

with Figure 4-11, Figure 4-12, Figure 4-13 and Figure 4-14 providing a more detailed 

breakdown across all measures by ‘a great deal’ and ‘to some extent’.  

4.13 A significant proportion (72%) of under-25’s perceived that their bus usage would 

increase by ‘a great deal’ with the implementation of lower fares. This measure was 

also considered effective by the 25-44 and 45-64 age groups but to a lesser extent 

(57% and 53% respectively). In comparison, only 34% of respondents over the age of 

64 perceived lower fares would increase their bus use by ‘a great deal’, as the majority 

of this age group would be eligible for free travel for most of their journeys via the 

English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS). Views on earlier and later bus 

services also differed between younger and older age groups, with a consensus 

between under-25s, 25-44s and 45-64s (over 55%) considering this measure would 

increase their bus usage by ‘a great deal’, compared to only 33% of those aged over 

64.  

4.14 Respondents within the older age groups (45-64s and over 65) placed more 

importance on having easier access to bus service information than those in the 

younger age groups (under 25 and 25-44). This measure was perceived as most 

effective by those over 65, with 60% considering this would increase their bus usage by 

‘a great deal’.  

4.15 All four age groups were consistent in their views on the measures that may have little 

effect on increasing their bus usage, with the smallest proportions across all measures 

138



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 27  

deeming that better availability of Wi-Fi would increase their bus usage by ‘a great 

deal’.   

Table 4-3: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most 

effective per age group 

Ranking 

(based on ‘a 

great deal’) 

Under 25 25-44 45-64 65+ 

1 Lower fares  More Frequent 

Service 

More Frequent 

Service 

Easier Access to 

Bus Service 

Information 

2 More Frequent 

Service 

Lower fares  Earlier and Later 

Services 

Better bus stops 

or shelters 

3 Earlier and Later 

Services 

Earlier and Later 

Services 

Easier Access to 

Bus Service 

Information 

More Frequent 

Service 

4 Wider 

availability of 

multi-operator 

tickets  

Contactless fare 

payment on 

buses 

Lower fares  More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

5 Better bus 

stops or 

shelters 

More 

Comprehensive 

Service 

Wider 

availability of 

multi-operator 

tickets  

More Reliable 

Journey Times 

 

  

139



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 28  

Figure 4-11: Measures that would encourage under-25's to increase their bus use

 

140



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 29  

Figure 4-12: Measures that would encourage 25–44-year-olds to increase their bus use

 

141



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 30  

Figure 4-13: Measures that would encourage 45–64-year-olds to increase their bus use

 

142



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 31  

Figure 4-14: Measures that would encourage people aged 65+ to increase their bus use

 

143



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 32  

Gender 

4.16 A more frequent bus service was perceived as the most effective measure at increasing 

bus usage for respondents across all genders. 56% of males, 66% of females and 71% 

of those that prefer to self-describe considered this would increase their bus usage ‘a 

great deal’  

4.17 There was agreement across the genders on three of the top five measures which 

would increase their bus use to a great extent.  As well as a more frequent service, 

‘earlier and later services’ and ‘easier access to bus service information’ were 

considered to be effective.  Figure 4-15, Figure 4-16 and Figure 4-17Table 4-5 provide 

a more detailed breakdown across all measures by ‘a great deal’ and ‘to some extent’. 

Table 4-4: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most 

effective per gender 

Ranking 

(based on ‘a 

great deal’) 

Male Female Prefer to self-describe 

1 More Frequent Service More Frequent Service More Frequent Service 

2 Earlier and Later 

Services 

Easier Access to Bus 

Service Information 

Lower fares  

3 More Comprehensive 

Service 

More Comprehensive 

Service 

Earlier and Later 

Services 

4 Lower fares  Better bus stops or 

shelters 

Easier Access to Bus 

Service Information 

5 Easier Access to Bus 

Service Information 

Earlier and Later 

Services 

Better bus stops or 

shelters 

 

144



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 33  

Figure 4-15: Measures that would encourage males to increase their bus use

 

145



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 34  

Figure 4-16: Measures that would encourage females to increase their bus use

 

146



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 35  

Figure 4-17: Measures that would encourage those that prefer to self-describe gender to increase their bus use

 

147



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 36  

Concessionary passholding  

4.18 57% of non-concessionary passholders considered lower fares would increase their bus 

usage ‘a great deal’. Conversely (and unsurprisingly), only 29% of those that do hold a 

concessionary pass thought the same A comparison of the ‘Top 5’ measures 

considered most effective at increasing bus use of concessionary passholders and non-

passholders is shown in Table 4-5, with a more detailed breakdown across all measures 

shown in Figure 4-18 and  Figure 4-19.  Passholders and non-passholders were in 

agreement on two of the top five measures most likely to encourage them to use 

buses more – ‘a more frequent service’ and ‘easier access to bus service information’.  

Better bus stops and shelters was the key measure likely to increase bus use among 

passholders.   

Table 4-5: Summary comparison of the 'Top 5' measures considered most 

effective between concessionary passholders and non-passholders 

Rating (based on 

‘a great deal’) 

Concessionary passholder Non-passholder 

1 Better bus stops or shelters More Frequent Service 

2 Easier Access to Bus Service 

Information 

Lower fares  

3 More Frequent Service Earlier and Later Services 

4 More Comprehensive Service Easier Access to Bus Service 

Information 

5 More Reliable Journey Times Wider availability of multi-

operator tickets  

  

148



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 37  

Figure 4-18: Measures that would encourage concessionary passholders to increase their bus use

149



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 38  

 Figure 4-19: Measures that would encourage non-passholders to increase their bus use

 

150



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 39  

Councillors and Organisation Representatives 

4.19 This section explores the responses from those that responded to the survey in any 

other role, including district and local councillors and representatives of organisations, 

both in an official and non-official capacity. They account for 5% (82 responses) of the 

total number of responses received with 14 (17%) of these people providing a 

response on behalf of an organisation.  

4.20 A more frequent service was perceived as the most effective measure that would 

encourage the people they represented to increase their bus use within Leicestershire. 

68% (53) felt this measure would increase their bus usage by ‘a great deal’ with a 

further 23% (18) responding ‘to some extent’ (see Figure 4-20). This is consistent with 

the response received from residents and visitors, who also perceived a more frequent 

service as most effective in increasing their bus use.  

4.21 Easier access to bus service information and earlier and later services were the 

measures that were also considered most likely to increase bus use among the people 

they represented.  

4.22 Factors that councillors and representatives considered less effective in increasing bus 

use included: 

• Better customer service from bus drivers 

• Better Cleanliness  

• On-demand bus services that could be booked at short notice with an app  

 

151



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 40  

Figure 4-20: Measures that would increase bus use as perceived by local councillors and organisation representatives 

152



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

 41  

5. Summary and Conclusions 

5.1 This report has set out the main findings of the Leicestershire CC BSIP Public 

Engagement Survey based on analysis of the ‘closed’ questions included in the 

questionnaire. A good overall sample size was achieved, although this was not fully 

representative of the general population, with certain groups being under-represented 

(e.g. males, younger people, and residents of Melton and Oadby & Wigston).  

5.2 The survey questions on people’s travel habits revealed that shopping and leisure were 

the most common trip purposes for bus use before the Covid pandemic.  54% of 

individual respondents expected their bus use to be the same after the pandemic as 

before. Encouragingly, a higher proportion of respondents expected to make more use 

of buses post-pandemic than they had before. 

5.3 The survey responses from the overall sample of individuals (Leicestershire residents 

and visitors) showed the top 10 priorities shown in Table 5-1, as defined by number of 

responses indicating that they would make respondents likely to use buses ‘a great 

deal’ more.  This table also highlights where those priorities differ between different 

respondent sub-groups, as highlighted within this report.   

Table 5-1: Ranked priorities of individual respondents and different sub-groups 

 

Top 10 measures (all individual responses) R
e
g

u
la

r 
b

u
s 

u
se

rs

In
fr

e
q

u
e
n
t 

o
r 

n
o

n
 b

u
s 

u
se

rs

B
la

b
y
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

C
h
a
rn

w
o

o
d

 r
e
si

d
e
n
ts

H
a
rb

o
ro

u
g

h
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

H
in

ck
le

y
 &

 B
o

sw
o

rt
h
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

N
W

 L
e
ic

e
st

e
rs

h
ir

e
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

O
a
d

b
y
 &

 W
ig

st
o

n
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

M
e
lt
o

n
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

P
e
o

p
le

 a
g

e
d

 u
n
d

e
r 

2
5

P
e
o

p
le

 a
g

e
d

 2
5
-4

4

P
e
o

p
le

 a
g

e
d

 4
5
-6

4

P
e
o

p
le

 a
g

e
d

 6
5
+

M
a
le

F
e
m

a
le

S
e
lf
-d

e
sc

ri
b

e
d

 g
e
n
d

e
r

C
o

n
ce

ss
io

n
a
ry

 p
a
ss

h
o

ld
e
rs

N
o

n
 p

a
ss

h
o

ld
e
rs

C
o

u
n
ci

llo
rs

 &
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o

n
 r

e
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
v
e
s

1 More frequent service 1 1 1 1 1 1 11 21 1 2 1 1 3 1 1 1 3 1 1

2 Easier access to bus service information 3 2 2 3 3 2 12 10 6 8 6 3 1 5 2 4 2 4 2

3 More comprehensive (local buses serving more destinations)4 5 3 6 6 6 3 4 3 9 5 6 4 3 3 12 4 6 5

4 Better bus stops or shelters 2 7 5 2 4 4 4 14 8 5 9 7 2 6 4 5 1 8 10

5 Earlier and later services 5 6 6 9 2 5 18 7 2 3 3 2 10 2 5 3 9 3 4

6 Lower fares 7 3 4 5 7 8 17 11 7 1 2 4 11 4 6 2 11 2 8

7 Wider availability of multi-operator tickets 8 8 7 4 8 7 6 6 16 4 7 5 12 7 9 9 12 5 6

8 More reliable journey times 6 11 8 7 10 3 1 12 4 7 8 10 5 10 7 11 5 9 9

9 Contactless fare payment on buses 9 4 9 8 5 9 19 9 10 6 4 8 8 8 8 7 8 7 3

10 Better bus service and rail service connections 10 10 10 11 9 13 15 8 5 11 11 11 7 9 11 13 7 11 7

153



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

  

5.4 This information, alongside views and inputs from bus operators and council officers, 

forms invaluable input into shaping Leicestershire’s Bus Service Improvement Plan 

(BSIP). 

 

 

154



Leicestershire BSIP - Public Engagement Survey Findings 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 

Charles House 

148 Great Charles Street 

Birmingham 

B3 3HT  UK 

+44 (0)121 285 7301 

 

Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 

Build Studios 

203 Westminster Bridge Road 

London 

SE1 7FR  UK 

+44 (0)7498 563196 

 

Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 

1 Broadway 

Nottingham 

NG1 1PR  UK 

+44 (0)115 824 8250 

 

www.itpworld.net 

 
 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Leicestershire County Council 

 

 

National Bus Strategy 

Bus Service Improvement Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 2-5 

 
October 2021 

  

157

AMPoole_1
Text Box
APPENDIX B



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 i  

Table of Contents 
0. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

1. Overview .................................................................................................................................... 3 

LTA Responsible for the BSIP ................................................................................................................... 3 

Area Covered by the BSIP ......................................................................................................................... 3 

Enhanced Partnership ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Duration ........................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Alignment with Local Transport Plan.................................................................................................... 5 

Alignment with Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy ........................................................... 6 

Our Vision ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Our Aim and Objectives ............................................................................................................................ 6 

2. Current Bus Offer to Passengers ..................................................................................... 8 

Analysis of Existing Bus Services ............................................................................................................ 8 

Bus Network ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Bus Fleet ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Traffic congestion and traffic levels ................................................................................................... 14 

Fares and Ticketing ................................................................................................................................... 14 

Timetables and Information .................................................................................................................. 15 

Responsibility for bus services ............................................................................................................. 15 

Local Operators and the County Council ......................................................................................... 16 

Public Engagement................................................................................................................................... 16 

Other Factors that Affect Use of Local Bus Services .................................................................... 19 

3. Headline Targets .................................................................................................................. 21 

Baseline Position........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Performance Indicators ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Targets for Passenger Growth and Customer Satisfaction ........................................................ 24 

Targets for Journey Times and Reliability ........................................................................................ 25 

Target for Bus Emissions Standards ................................................................................................... 27 

4. Delivery ..................................................................................................................................... 29 

Single system .............................................................................................................................................. 30 

158



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 ii  

Reliable .......................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Affordable .................................................................................................................................................... 37 

Easy to use ................................................................................................................................................... 39 

Greener ......................................................................................................................................................... 41 

5. Reporting ................................................................................................................................. 44 

6. Overview Table ...................................................................................................................... 45 

Annex 1: Bus delay hotspots ........................................................................................................  

Annex 2: General traffic delay maps for main Leicestershire towns ...........................  

Annex 3: Current real time information display locations in Leicestershire ............  

Annex 4: Town Centre Off-Road Parking Provision in Leicestershire .........................  
 

159



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

1 
 

0. Introduction 
0.1 Leicestershire County Council recognises the very important role that buses and other 

passenger transport services have to play in keeping people and places connected, 
especially in a largely rural county such as Leicestershire.  Use of such services rather 
than private car travel also helps reduce congestion, improves air quality in our towns, 
and limits carbon emissions.  

0.2 Decarbonisation is clearly one of the high priority overall objectives for developing 
increased use of better, cleaner bus services.  The County Council has declared a 
Climate Emergency and has pledged to reach a revised target of achieving ‘net zero’ 
across the county by 2045 – five years sooner than the government target of 2050.   

0.3 In line with this, the Leicester & Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan has a strong 
emphasis on ‘clean growth’, for which greater bus use will be a key delivery strand.  
The county already has a number of major employment areas, including Magna Park 
(the largest distribution hub in Europe), and the East Midlands Gateway adjacent to the 
airport.  It is vital that public transport use is maximised for workers at these and other 
future major employment parks if ‘clean growth’ is to be achieved. 

0.4 This document presents the Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), which 
sets out our ambitions to deliver the Government National Bus Strategy, which the 
council fully supports.  It has been developed by Leicestershire County Council and 
consultants, ITP, in collaboration with bus operators in the county. It takes account of 
views expressed by residents and visitors to Leicestershire and other interested parties 
and organisations, as gathered through a countywide public engagement exercise.  It 
also takes account of discussions with neighbouring authorities, and community 
transport operators.  

0.5 The delivery vehicle for the Leicestershire BSIP will be an Enhanced Partnership (EP), in 
which the County Council will work in partnership with all bus operators in the county 
and other interested parties.  The EP Plan and initial individual Schemes will be 
developed and brought forward following formal adoption of this BSIP. 

0.6 The Leicestershire BSIP is intended to be strongly led by user needs and desires.  
Throughout, we have been cognisant of the views of the people of Leicestershire 
expressed through public engagement, and have included further user needs research 
in the initial stages of many of the themes and schemes included in the plan. The BSIP 
is intended to be a ‘living document’; it will evolve as we learn from experience and 
gather evidence. 

160



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

2 
 

0.7 The focus of the plan is strongly on growing the fare-paying customer market, with 
concessionary passengers also benefiting from many of the initiatives included.  A 
particular focus is growth of patronage among young people (under 19) and young 
adults (19-25).  Our view is that these are key life stages when people who have been 
regular bus travellers are often tempted to move from bus to car use.  Getting young 
people and young adults to use buses more is seen as a cornerstone of a future 
sustainable Leicestershire bus network. 

0.8 We believe that the Leicestershire BSIP represents an ambitious but realistic first step 
on the road to revitalising the Leicestershire bus network.  With funding from 
Government, we will be able to deliver a brighter future for bus use in the county, that 
will play a vital role in achieving Leicestershire’s aspirations to be a low-carbon, clean 
growth area.  

 

  

161



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

3 
 

1. Overview 

LTA Responsible for the BSIP 
1.1 The Leicestershire BSIP covers the area administered by Leicestershire County Council 

as a local transport authority (LTA).  It is therefore a single-LTA BSIP.  Although 
discussions are being undertaken with neighbouring authorities, because of the largely 
rural / market town nature of the area there appears to be no real advantage of joining 
to become a multi-LTA BSIP at this stage.  Operating as a single-LTA BSIP has the 
advantage that we are able to focus on a manageable (though large) area and the 
particular needs of its residents, employers, and visitors. 

Area Covered by the BSIP 
1.2 The area covered by the Leicestershire BSIP is the administrative area of Leicestershire 

County Council, as shown in Figure 1-1.  Our BSIP area does not cover the City of 
Leicester. However, we will work with operators and Leicester City Council to achieve 
our BSIP vision in respect of county residents’ access to employment, education, 
services and to leisure opportunities in the City. 

1.3 Leicestershire has a population of around 706,000 (2019 mid-year estimate1). The 
demographic profile by age and gender is shown in Figure 1-2.  The county population 
is ageing at a faster rate than the national average. 

1.4 Leicestershire is predominantly a rural county, with 80% of the county’s land being 
used for agriculture and approximately 55% of the county’s population living within 
rural parishes.  The county has approximately 150 settlements with a population of less 
than 10,000, and approximately 150 small villages with a population of less than 250. 
The majority of these small villages are located in the east of the County, within the 
districts of Melton and Harborough.  

1.5 There are a number of towns in Leicestershire. These include Ashby-de-la-Zouch, 
Coalville, Earl Shilton, Hinckley, Loughborough, Lutterworth, Market Harborough, 
Melton Mowbray, Oadby, and Wigston.  A significant number of Leicestershire 
residents also live within the Greater Leicester conurbation, just outside the city 
council’s administrative boundary.  

 
1 https://www.lsr-online.org/population-and-census.html consulted July 2021. 

162

https://www.lsr-online.org/population-and-census.html


Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

4 
 

Figure 1-1: Leicestershire BSIP area (county boundary) 

 

Figure 1-2: Age and gender breakdown (2019 bars and 2018 marks) 

 

163



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

5 
 

Enhanced Partnership  
1.6 Following initial discussions with Leicestershire’s bus operators (who were all strongly 

supportive) and an analysis of the pros and cons of Enhanced Partnership or 
Franchising in the local context, Leicestershire County Council published its Notice of 
Intent in June 2021 to establish an Enhanced Partnership (EP).  This is the preferred 
mechanism to deliver the Leicestershire BSIP.  A Partnership Working Group has been 
established (including the local authority and all Leicestershire bus operators) to 
collaboratively develop the BSIP, an EP Plan and EP Schemes.  The Enhanced 
Partnership will be formally in place by the end of March 2022. 

1.7 The following bus operators are members of the EP Partnership Working Group: Arriva, 
Centrebus, First, Kinchbus, Midland Classic, Nottingham City Transport, Paul Winson 
Coaches, Roberts Coaches, Stagecoach, trentbarton, Uno Buses, Vectare.   

Duration 
1.8 It is proposed that the Leicestershire BSIP will cover a 10-year period initially.  This will 

give stability, consistency, and clarity of long-term vision to allow both LTA and bus 
operators to commit to delivering a much-needed boost to bus services and usage. 

1.9 The BSIP will be formally reviewed annually by Partnership members to ensure that it is 
still fit-for-purpose and that it takes account of levels of funding availability, 
technological developments and ongoing feedback from bus users and non-users.  The 
Enhanced Partnership members will meet at least quarterly to review progress on the 
delivery of the BSIP, EP Plan and Schemes, and agree actions needed to keep on or 
ahead of schedule. 

1.10 Subject to there being no changes in national policy or funding, or any other material 
changes, a major review will be undertaken prior to the 10-year anniversary and the 
BSIP will be re-published at that point. 

Alignment with Local Transport Plan 
1.11 Leicestershire is currently in the process of developing a new Local Transport Plan 

(LTP4). Our current Local Transport Plan (LTP3) runs until 2026.  The six published goals 
of the LTP are entirely consistent with the aim of the BSIP – to get more people using 
buses through an improved bus network and better operation. These goals are: 

• Goal 1: A transport system that supports a prosperous economy and provides 
successfully for population growth. 

164



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

6 
 

• Goal 2: An efficient, resilient, and sustainable transport system that is well 
managed and maintained.  

• Goal 3: A transport system that helps to reduce the carbon footprint of 
Leicestershire.  

• Goal 4: An accessible and integrated transport system that helps promote equality 
of opportunity for all our residents.  

• Goal 5: A transport system that improves the safety, health, and security of our 
residents. 

• Goal 6: A transport system that helps to improve the quality of life for our 
residents and makes Leicestershire a more attractive place to live. 

1.12 The BSIP (and subsequently the EP Plan and EP Schemes) will form daughter 
documents to the Local Transport Plan (current and future editions) to ensure that they 
are embedded within the Leicestershire governance framework and culture.   

Alignment with Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy  
1.13 Our BSIP will align with the county’s Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS), 

which has been in operation since October 2018 and was developed against a 
background of diminishing funds to support buses.  The PTPS will be reviewed in full 
once the BSIP and EP Plan have been developed to ensure that full alignment is 
achieved. 

Our Vision 
1.14 The vision that sits behind the Leicestershire BSIP is one where the county’s bus 

services are simply ‘best-in-class’.  Our future bus network will seamlessly connect 
people with employment locations, education and training opportunities, key services, 
other transport modes, leisure destinations and, of course, each other; in a way that is 
reliable, affordable, environmentally friendly, easy-to-use, safe, and inclusive.   

Our Aim and Objectives 
1.15 The overall aim of the Leicestershire BSIP is to increase bus usage (compared with pre-

pandemic levels) across the county through improved, financially sustainable, higher 
standard services that better meet the needs of Leicestershire residents, employees, 
and visitors – making bus travel a preferred choice for travel around the county and 

165



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

7 
 

travel into the City of Leicester.  This will enable long term clean growth, supporting 
delivery of the Leicester & Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan. 

1.16 Within this overall aim, our objectives are to make the Leicestershire bus network: 

1) A single system - a high-quality integrated and efficient system, with: 

• a clearer brand identity and a more holistic approach to marketing; 

• greater coordination between operators’ timetables; 

• integration with other travel modes such as rail, cycling, walking and e-
mobility; and 

• use of DRT to provide greater availability, particular in rural areas of the 
county. 

2) Reliable – quicker journey times delivered more reliably and where possible, more 
frequently  

3) Affordable - particularly for young people who are the potential core bus market 
for the future. 

4) Easy to use – with the customer experience much easier in terms of getting 
information, using different operators’ services, and paying fares. 

5) More attractive and greener – through moving towards use of modern, lower 
emission (and ultimately zero emission) vehicles across the network. 

 

166



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

8 
 

2. Current Bus Offer to Passengers 

Analysis of Existing Bus Services 
2.1 In general, Leicestershire has seen a downward trend in bus passengers over the last 

decade, from 17.3m in 2009/10 to 13.8m in 2018/19, as shown in Figure 2-1.  This 
reduction in patronage to some extent coincides with reduction of local authority 
support for non-commercial bus services as council finances have been reduced.  The 
20% patronage reduction in Leicestershire is equivalent to the fall in patronage in 
neighbouring Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire.  It is against this background that the 
Leicestershire BSIP aims to reverse this trend and grow bus use over the next decade.  
At the same time, however, it should be noted that there are a number of commercial 
routes whose patronage was growing pre-Covid and there are lessons to be learned 
from such services.   

Figure 2-1: Leicestershire bus passenger trends2 3 

 

2.2 The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on bus patronage has been dramatic.  Patronage 
for financial year 2020/21 was just 27.5% of the 2018/19 figure (3.8m compared to 
13.8m). 

2.3 Table 2-1 shows that although the proportion of passengers travelling with an ENCTS 
pass has fallen over recent years (in line with the rise in age of eligibility), in 2019/20 

 
2 Based on DfT bus statistics Table BUS0109, as published June 2021. 
3 Last month of 2019-20 (latter part of March) was affected by COVID restrictions. 

167



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

9 
 

31% of all bus passengers in Leicestershire were concessionary travellers.  This is 
significantly higher than the England average of 21%.  The concessionary section of the 
bus market is also taking the longest time to recover post-Covid.   

Table 2-1: Concessionary travel trends in Leicestershire4 

 

2.4 Over the past decade, there has been a steady decline in the number of bus passenger 
journeys per head of population in Leicestershire (Figure 2-2), reducing by 26% from 
just under 27 in 2009/10 to just under 20 journeys per person in 2018/19.  This trend 
reflects the challenges the authority has faced in maintaining service levels, which have 
resulted in supported service frequency reductions and removal of certain under-used 
services It also reflects growth in car ownership and usage.  It is also a slightly greater 
reduction than the 23% experienced in neighbouring Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire.  

 
4 Based on DfT bus statistics Tables BUS0109 and BUS0113, as published June 2021 

Year

Total 
passenger 
journeys 
(millions)

Of which 
ENCTS 

(millions)
% ENCTS

England 
ENCTS %

2009/10 17.3 5.6 33 23

2010/11 15.5 5.5 36 23

2011/12 15.9 5.8 37 23

2012/13 15.1 5.8 38 22

2013/14 13.8 4.9 36 22

2014/15 14.6 5.1 35 22

2015/16 14.5 5.3 37 22

2016/17 13.0 4.3 33 22

2017/18 13.2 4.4 33 22

2018/19 13.8 4.5 32 22

2019/20 12.2 4.0 31 21

168



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

10 
 

Figure 2-2: Bus passenger journeys per head of population 

 

 

Bus Network 
2.5 The primary providers of passenger transport services in Leicestershire are commercial 

organisations that operate local bus services on a profit-making basis, as envisaged 
when the local bus service market outside London was de-regulated in 1985.  It is 
generally in the interests of the people of Leicestershire for commercial bus networks 
to be attractive, efficient, and stable; also commercial networks require no subsidy and 
there is, therefore, no cost to the taxpayer.  Such networks can meet the needs of many 
people in providing a means of collective transport that reduces congestion on our 
roads, limits vehicular emissions and provides access to work and life opportunities. 

2.6 Facilitating and supporting an appropriate mix of services, working with communities 
and commercial and 3rd sector operators, is a key aim for the Council, against a 
backdrop of a challenging funding situation.  These are intended to meet statutory 
requirements, help Leicestershire County Council deliver on its strategic priorities and 
outcomes, and support the people of Leicestershire in accessing key services.   

2.7 There are just over 70 commercial routes in operation in Leicestershire, many of which 
operate cross-boundary into neighbouring authority areas.  There is no dominant 
operator of commercial routes – Arriva operates approximately 44% of commercial 
routes, with Centrebus operating approximately 23%.  The remaining commercial 

26.9

19.8

17.3

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Bus passenger journeys per head of population

169



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

11 
 

routes are operated by nine different operators, including First, trentbarton and 
Kinchbus.   

2.8 There are a number of bus services operating in the county which the County Council 
considers it appropriate to secure and financially support, in addition to those 
operated commercially, in order to meet priority social needs.  These services are 
summarised in Table 2-2 and together amount to approximately 1.6 million supported 
miles.   

2.9 Four operators provide supported local bus services in Leicestershire – Arriva, 
Centrebus, Paul Winson and Roberts Coaches.  Fourteen services are fully supported by 
the Council at a gross cost of approximately £2.2m per annum.  Thirteen services are 
funded on a de minimis basis at a gross cost of approximately £580,000.  A further two 
services are supported on a de minimis basis, using Section 106 funding from 
developers.  A number of the de minimis contracts had been commercial within the 
last five years, demonstrating the fragility of the bus market in Leicestershire.   

2.10 Some cross-boundary services are also co-funded by neighbouring LTA’s, including the 
Park & Ride services that go into the City of Leicester and the 747 that serves Rutland 
as well as Leicestershire. 

170



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

12 
 

Table 2-2: Supported bus services in Leicestershire - expected costs in 2021/22 

 

2.11 Analysis of the local bus network was undertaken in 2018 to identify the proportion of 
the population within walking distance (determined as 800m to reflect the rurality of 
the area) of a commercial or a supported service.  The analysis concluded that 82.3% of 
the county’s population was within walking distance of a commercial service and 63.5% 
of the population was within walking distance of a supported service.  Overall, 93.3% of 
the population was within 800m of a local bus service.   

2.12 In addition to conventional bus services, the County Council currently funds in excess 
of 40 demand responsive transport (DRT) services at a gross cost of approximately 
£185,000 per annum.  These taxi DRTs operate on specific days of the week, with a 
fixed timetable.  Journeys only operate if bookings are received, with bookings being 
made directly with the operator.  Concessionary passes are accepted for travel on these 
services.   

Service Number Operator Details Cost p.a. Nature of Financial Support
27 Roberts Loughborough - Thurmaston Service fully-funded
55, 56 Centrebus Melton - Grantham (CBP) Service fully-funded
33 Centrebus Market Harborough Town Services Service fully-funded
44 Centrebus Foxton - Harborough Fleckney Service fully-funded
58 Centrebus Lutterworth - Market Harborough Service fully-funded
100 Centrebus Melton - Syston Service fully-funded
125 Roberts Leicester - Castle Donington Service fully-funded
129 P Winson Ashby - Loughborough (CBP) Service fully-funded
3 & 13 P Winson Loughborough Town Services Service fully-funded

23 & 25 Centrebus Melton-Bottesford (23) & Melton-Stathern (25) Service fully-funded
7 Roberts Measham - Atherstone (CBP) Service fully-funded
101 Roberts Park and Ride (Meynell's Gorse) Service fully-funded
203 Roberts Park and Ride (Enderby) Service fully-funded
303 Roberts Park and Ride (Birstall) Service fully-funded

Sub-total gross cost of fully-funded services £2,212,229
14 & 15 Centrebus Melton Town Services Service part-funded
747 Centrebus Leicester - Uppingham Service part-funded
8 Arriva Lutterworth - Hinckley Service part-funded
8 Centrebus Loughborough - Melton (& Grantham) Service part-funded
X84 Arriva Leicester - Rugby (Saturday) Service part-funded
X55 Arriva Hinckley - Leicester (Fosse Park) Service part-funded
6/6A & 7 Arriva Hinckley Town Service part-funded
X6 Arriva Hinckley Town + Dadlington Diversion Service part-funded
154 Centrebus Leicester - Loughborough (Saturday) Service part-funded
154 Centrebus Leicester - Loughborough (Mon-Fri) Service part-funded
159 Roberts Coalville - Hinckley Service part-funded
X6 Centrebus Bottesford - Grantham (Muston Diversion) Service part-funded
22B Centrebus Leicester - Birstall (Saturday) Service part-funded

Sub-total gross cost of LCC part-funded 
services £582,266

X3 Arriva Farndon Fields Extensions Part-funded: S106 obligation funds from developer
30 Centrebus Farndon Fields Ext + infill journeys Part-funded: S106 obligation funds from developer

Sub-total gross cost of part-funded Section 
106 services £56,965
Estimated fare receipts to LCC* on min cost 
services -£250,000
Total net funding of bus services £2,601,460

*Takes account of Covid effects in 21-22 and anticipated lower level of income than allowed for in the budget

171



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

13 
 

2.13 The Council secured £1.3m of funding from the Rural Mobility Fund to pilot a 
technology-based DRT service in the Hinckley / Narborough area of Leicestershire.  
This pilot will be closely monitored with a view to extending the concept to other low 
PT demand areas of the county.   

2.14 The council also funds community transport services across the county which 
complement the local bus network and provide lifeline services for those who are 
unable to use conventional bus services.  Annual funding of £512,000 is provided to 12 
CT providers who offer car- and minibus-based services for members of their schemes.   

Bus Fleet 
2.15 The bus fleet deployed in Leicestershire is predominantly Euro 6 (see Table 2-3).  The 

electric buses within the fleet are deployed exclusively on the tendered Park & Ride 
services.  Only around 3% of the vehicles deployed in Leicestershire are less than two 
years old (see Figure 2-3)– this includes the Park & Ride electric buses.  A Euro 6 diesel 
car emits 10 times the per passenger NOx of a comparable journey by a Euro VI bus.   

2.16 In general terms, older buses are more polluting than newer buses.  Approximately a 
third of buses in public service in Leicestershire are between three and five years old.  
More than a fifth of vehicles are over 12 years old, which reflects the tendency among 
operators to cascade vehicles as they age from more profitable urban services onto 
county services.   

Table 2-3: Composition of Leicestershire bus fleet5 

 

 
5 Based on data supplied by the majority of bus operators 

172



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

14 
 

 

Figure 2-3: Average age of Leicestershire bus fleet 

 

Traffic congestion and traffic levels 
2.17 According to DfT’s Road Traffic Statistics, 5.27 billion vehicle miles were travelled on 

roads in Leicestershire in 2019, of which 3.96 billion (over 75%) were travelled by cars 
and taxis.  For cars and taxis and all motor vehicles, this is an increase of 8% compared 
to the equivalent figures for 20146.   

2.18 Traffic congestion in the county has worsened over recent years, resulting in significant 
pinch points along the network where buses struggle to maintain their schedules as a 
consequence of competing for road space with other traffic.  A list of key bus pinch 
points on the network, as identified by bus operators, is provided as Annex 1.  Annex 2 
presents maps showing morning peak period traffic delays in and around the main 
Leicestershire towns, derived from Trafficmaster journey time data. 

Fares and Ticketing 
2.19 ‘Flexi’ bus tickets offer unlimited travel on any bus in the city of Leicester and into 

Greater Leicestershire – the urban area of the county close to the city boundary.  Five 
bus operators participate in the scheme – Arriva, Centrebus, First, Kinchbus and 
Stagecoach.  The scheme includes child and student termly and yearly ticket options.   

 
6 Road traffic statistics - Local authority: Leicestershire (dft.gov.uk)  

173

https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/local-authorities/60


Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

15 
 

2.20 All commercial bus operators in Leicestershire offer a range of proprietary tickets which 
include single, return, one day and multiple day options; all discounts offered currently 
are done so commercially by each individual operator.  Operators also offer a range of 
tickets for employers, schools, colleges and universities to encourage public transport 
use.  Fares and ticketing information are available from the bus driver or via the 
relevant operator’s website.  Saver tickets are also available to buy from the driver for 
the Council-subsidised Park & Ride services.   

2.21 Although operators offer some child and young person discounts in Leicestershire, age 
restrictions, the amount of discount available and coverage differ by operator.   

Timetables and Information 
2.22 The County Council is responsible for providing timetables and information for the 

local bus services which it financially supports.  This information is predominantly 
available via the Choose How You Move website – the one-stop shop for travel 
information in Leicester & Leicestershire7.  The website also includes a journey planner 
to enable users to explore the different travel options that are available in 
Leicestershire.   

2.23 Several operators also provide live at stop real time information via free to download 
mobile phone apps.  Such apps also offer journey planning tools to help customers.  
Bus operators provide timetable and information for commercial services via their own 
company websites and paper timetables at stops.  

2.24 There are 114 Real-Time Information displays located around the county.  A list of the 
display sites is provided in Annex 3.   

Responsibility for bus services  
2.25 Responsibility for bus services rests with four main teams, covering 14.3 Full-Time 

Equivalent (FTE) posts: 

• Contracts and Compliance Team – with responsibility for procuring local bus and 
DRT services and monitoring compliance with contract conditions (1.5 FTE posts) 

• Passenger Transport Services Team – providing data on concessionary travel 
reimbursements and usage, recording patronage and revenue data for supported 
services (1 FTE post) 

 
7 www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/public-transport/   

174

http://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/public-transport/


Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

16 
 

• Safe and Sustainable Travel Team – responsible for logging bus service 
registrations, applying the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy in response to 
proposed network changes, advising Contracts and Compliance Team on services 
to be tendered, maintaining NaPTAN database, updating public transport 
information for supported services, managing contract for bus shelter cleaning 
and maintenance (8 FTE posts) 

• Transport Strategy and Policy Team – providing policy direction, particularly with 
regard to the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (0.7 FTE posts) 

2.26 In addition, three teams provide support to bus service operations as follows: 

• Network Management Team - processing road space booking applications, 
notifying bus operators and assisting works promotors in the selection of 
appropriate traffic management to minimise impact on bus services (0.06 FTE 
posts) 

• Network Data Intelligence – collecting and managing data for all bus service 
reviews and ongoing patronage monitoring (2.5 FTE posts) 

• Communications Unit – advising on media handling, preparing public engagement 
materials and supporting at engagement events (0.7 FTE posts) 

2.27 Decision making with regard to all elements of local bus service provision involves high 
level Director, Assistant Director and Head of Service resource (1.8 FTE posts). 

Local Operators and the County Council 
2.28 During the pandemic, regular meetings were held with the two main operators of 

supported services to deal with issues arising and monitor service provision and Covid-
recovery.  

2.29 There is a Park & Ride Steering Group involving the service operator, county and city 
council which meets on a monthly basis.  The county council and bus operators 
participate in area-focussed working groups, such as the East Midlands Gateway 
Access to Work group, the East Midlands Gateway Sustainable Travel working group 
and the Arriva Click DRT project in New Lubbesthorpe.   

Public Engagement 
2.30 An online survey, which was live between 15th June and 30th July 2021, sought to gather 

the views of Leicestershire residents and visitors regarding their use of bus services and 
measures that would encourage them to increase their bus travel.  A total of 1,483 

175



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

17 
 

responses were received, which included councillors and representatives of 
organisations.   

2.31 Figure 2-3 shows that the top ten measures residents and visitors considered would 
increase their bus use in Leicestershire ‘a great deal’, were: 

• More frequent service (63%) 

• Easier access to bus service information (54%) 

• More comprehensive service (local buses near you serving more destinations) 
(50%) 

• Better bus stops or shelters (50%) 

• Earlier and later services (49%) 

• Lower fares (49%) 

• Wider availability of multi-operator tickets (45%) 

• More reliable journey times (44%) 

• Contactless fare payment on buses (44%) 

• Better bus service and rail service connections (37%) 

2.32 Among regular users and infrequent / non-users, two of the top three measures were 
the same – ‘more frequent services’ and ‘easier access to bus service information’.  
‘Lower fares’ were considered more likely to increase bus use by infrequent and non-
users than by regular users.  The capability for contactless fare payment was 
considered more effective at encouraging increased bus use by infrequent / non-users 
than by regular users.   

176



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

18 
 

Figure 2-4: Measures that would encourage Leicestershire residents and visitors 
to increase their bus use 

 

2.33 In addition to the measures outlined, councillors and representatives of organisations, 
business and community groups suggested the following measures could help to 
increase bus use in the county:  

• more circular services providing links to facilities and destinations situated outside 
of the city centre 

• improvements to walking and cycling links to access bus services  

• measures to disincentivise car use to achieve modal shift and net-zero carbon 
targets 

• improved communication between the bus operator and its users, such as the 
provision of real-time information via social media  

• retain cash payments on the bus and paper timetables at bus stops. 

• co-ordination between the County and City Council, including better co-ordinated 
timetabling, ticketing, and links to other public transport interchanges. 

2.34 Residents and visitors highlighted the following additional measures to encourage 
greater bus use: 

• better bus service connections to Fosse Park shopping centre, avoiding the need 
to interchange in Leicester and making the bus journey time competitive with the 
car 

177



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

19 
 

• cheaper and easier-to-understand fares, including multi-operator tickets 

• availability of group saver tickets (particularly for families)  

• under-18 travel to be available without charge 

• an extension to the concessionary pass validity, particularly for travel before 09:30 

• retain traditional methods of payment and bus service information provision at the 
same time as developing mobile apps  

• increase in use of CCTV and improved driving style 

• improved walking infrastructure to reach bus stops  

• improve vehicle accessibility, particularly for disabled individuals, those travelling 
by bike and those with a pushchair  

2.35 The full survey analysis report can be accessed on the Leicestershire public transport 
website.  

Other Factors that Affect Use of Local Bus Services 
2.36 Local bus services are always in competition with other modes of transport.  In 

particular, this includes the private car, which on a per-person basis uses more road 
space, contributes much more to congestion, emits more local air pollutants, and has 
greater carbon emissions. 

2.37 Private car users incur costs each time they make a trip. These include depreciation on 
the initial investment made in the vehicle, maintenance costs, tyre wear, fuel costs, and 
parking costs.  However, only the last two items tend to be perceived as a per-trip cost 
by people, leading to a skewed view of the relative cost of car versus bus or other 
modes.   

2.38 Parking capacity and prices are within the partial control of the public sector, where car 
parks and on-road parking are controlled and operated by local authorities.  Private 
non-residential (e.g. employer-provided) parking is, of course, outside their direct 
control, as are privately-operated car parks.  Nonetheless, parking prices and supply 
control can be used as a demand management tool, helping to re-balance the skewed 
view of relative costs of car versus bus. 

2.39 Leicester City Council is considering the introduction of a Workplace Parking Levy in 
Leicester.  Such a measure would have implications for Leicestershire residents who 
currently drive into work in the city, as city centre employers may opt to pass some or 
all of the parking charge onto employees, which may affect county residents’ modal 
choice for travel to work in the city.  

178



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

20 
 

2.40 In the main Leicestershire towns (as in many towns), parking prices are generally set 
quite low by the seven first tier local authorities (district councils).  This is probably due 
to a concern that higher prices would affect the attractiveness of the town.  
Nevertheless, there is some scope for using parking price as a lever in future to get 
more people to use buses and other sustainable transport modes, provided that there 
are high quality bus services and infrastructure available as alternatives.  This will be 
explored with the district councils during the early stages of BSIP implementation, 
particularly in towns where improved bus services are delivered.  

2.41 Annex 4 to this document presents an overview table of off-road parking capacity and 
prices in the main Leicestershire towns.  In viewing this table, it is worth noting that 
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council is considering introducing some form of car park 
charging in 2022. 

179



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

21 
 

3. Headline Targets 

Baseline Position 
3.1 As required by DfT, we have set targets in the following areas for the Leicestershire Bus 

Service Improvement Plan:  

• Passenger growth 

• Customer satisfaction 

• Journey times 

• Reliability  

3.2 We have also set an additional target for bus emission standards for the Leicestershire 
bus fleet.  

3.3 We want to set ambitious and challenging targets. In order to set such targets, 
however, it is important that we have suitably representative evidence so that a 
baseline position can be established, against which improvements can be measured.  
This is challenging, as bus operations are not in a ‘stable’ position at present, with 
patronage levels and public opinions on buses still in recovery from the Covid-19 
pandemic, and journey times being affected by post-pandemic private car usage 
patterns.  Comparison with pre-pandemic levels as a baseline is not seen as 
appropriate by the Council or partner bus operators as people have settled into new 
travel habits and services have also flexed and altered since the pandemic began in 
March 2020. 

3.4 We therefore propose the following8:  

• For passenger growth, the baseline position will be based on patronage on 
services serving Leicestershire in the six months leading up to March 31st 2022.  
These are the last six months before the first measures under the BSIP and 
associated Enhanced Partnership Plan will start to take effect, and are likely to 
represent the most stable picture of ‘the new normal’ bus operations post-Covid.  
The six-month period figures will be converted to annual equivalent figures using 
ratios (annual/final six months) from a previous non-Covid-affected financial year 
(e.g. 2018-19).  It is anticipated that this patronage baseline will be of the order 
of 80% of pre-Covid levels. 

 
8 Subject to national COVID guidance and restrictions not materially changing in the meantime 

180



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

22 
 

• For customer satisfaction, the baseline position will be based on outputs from 
the National Highway and Transport Public Satisfaction Survey (NHT Survey) for 
2019 (the last complete year unaffected by COVID).  Leicestershire County 
Council subscribes to this annual survey, which includes a number of questions 
on public satisfaction with different aspects of bus services, as well as overall 
satisfaction with local bus services.  It is worth noting that this samples views 
from general members of the public, rather than just focusing on current bus 
users.  

The county of Leicestershire is not one of the areas covered by Transport Focus 
in their annual national bus passenger survey.  While some Leicestershire 
operators run their own customer satisfaction surveys, these are unlikely to be 
comparable across operators in the county.   

The DfT requirement appears to be for customer satisfaction to be reported 
every six months rather than annually.  It is therefore proposed that an ‘infill’ 
customer satisfaction survey is undertaken across the county halfway between 
each annual NHT Survey.  This would ask a subset of the NHT survey questions of 
a sample of Leicestershire residents, with the first one taking place in Spring 2022 
using some of the BSIP funding provided by DfT.  The results of the NHT and 
‘infill’ surveys will then be tracked over time to monitor changes in customer 
satisfaction with different aspects of bus services. The need for the ‘infill’ surveys 
is included in the financial ask for supporting Leicestershire’s BSIP delivery. 

• For journey times, it is proposed that average bus journey times for different 
times of day (e.g. morning peak, interpeak, afternoon peak) for each service are 
examined for ‘neutral months’ twice per year (e.g. March and September).  Where 
possible, this will be based on GPS bus journey time data and the baseline will be 
set by data from September 2021 and March 2022. 

• On reliability, there are three measures that are all important: 

 Punctuality – reflects how well buses run to the timetable (which is 
developed in the knowledge of regular delays).  

 Reliability – concerns whether a bus arrives at all. 

 Consistency of journey time – concerns how much journey times vary 
between uncongested and congested conditions. 

As with journey times, it is proposed that, where possible, this will be based on 
GPS journey time data and the baseline will be set by data from September 2021 
and March 2022. 

181



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

23 
 

Performance Indicators 
3.5 Within each of the four areas, a number of performance indicators will need to be 

monitored.  Table 3-1 sets out the proposed performance indicators under each area. 

Table 3-1: Proposed performance indicators 

Area Indicators Desirable Sub-divisions, if 
available 

Passenger growth Patronage (person-trips) All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

Customer 
satisfaction 

Overall satisfaction with bus 
service – all users 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with punctuality All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with value for 
money / bus fares 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with quality and 
cleanliness of vehicle  

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with helpfulness of 
drivers 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with bus stops 
/shelters 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with ease of 
obtaining service information 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

 Satisfaction with availability of 
information to plan journeys 

All users / adult fare-payers / 
young people / ENCTS 
passholders 

182



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

24 
 

Area Indicators Desirable Sub-divisions, if 
available 

Journey times Average journey time (monthly 
period) per service 

Morning peak / Interpeak / 
Afternoon peak 
 

Reliability Punctuality  Morning peak / Interpeak / 
Afternoon peak 
 

 Reliability – percentage of 
cancelled service runs. 

 

 Consistency of journey time – 
drawn from journey time data. 

Across AM peak, interpeak and 
PM peak 
 

Targets for Passenger Growth and Customer Satisfaction 
3.6 Our targets for passenger growth over the 10-year BSIP period are shown in Table 3-2 

below.  The value 100 denotes the baseline position, as described above, as 
determined at the end of March 2022.  It is anticipated that this will be around 80% of 
pre-Covid levels. These are set to be challenging targets against a background of 
declining patronage, as presented in Section 2.   

Table 3-2: Targets for passenger growth and customer satisfaction 

Performance indicator Year All passengers 

Patronage (person-trips) Baseline 2021-22 100 

 2022-23 110 

 2023-24 125 

 2024-25 130 

 2025-26 132 

 2026-27 133 

 2027-28 134 

 2028-29 135 

 2029-30 136 

183



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

25 
 

Performance indicator Year All passengers 

 2030-31 137 

 2031-32 138 

Customer satisfaction (all indicators) Baseline 2021-22 100 

 2022-23 101 

 2023-24 103 

 2024-25 105 

 2025-26 107 

 2026-27 109 

 2027-28 111 

 2028-29 112 

 2029-30 113 

 2030-31 114 

 2031-32 115 

Targets for Journey Times and Reliability 
3.7 Our targets for journey times and reliability over the 10-year BSIP period are shown in 

Table 3-3 below.  Targets for punctuality and percentage of cancelled service runs will 
apply to all services across Leicestershire. Other targets apply only to services that 
operate on routes that are affected by journey time schemes or interventions (typically 
those targeting bus priority) implemented under the plan.  The value 100 denotes the 
baseline position, as described above, as determined at the end of March 2022.   These 
are set to be challenging targets against background growth in general traffic and 
declining bus patronage. 

Table 3-3: Targets for journey times and reliability 

Performance indicators Year Routes covered 
by BSIP journey 

time 
interventions 

Average journey time (morning and evening 
peak periods)  

Baseline 2021-22 100 

184



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

26 
 

Performance indicators Year Routes covered 
by BSIP journey 

time 
interventions 

 2022-23 100 

 2023-24 97 

 2024-25 95 

 2025-26 95 

 2026-27 95 

 2027-28 95 

 2028-29 95 

 2029-30 95 

 2030-31 95 

 2031-32 95 

Reliability (punctuality) – morning and evening 
peak periods 

Baseline 2021-22 100 

 2022-23 101 

 2023-24 102 

 2024-25 103 

 2025-26 104 

 2026-27 105 

 2027-28 106 

 2028-29 107 

 2029-30 108 

 2030-31 109 

 2031-32 110 

Reliability (percentage of cancelled service runs) 
– all day 

Baseline 2021-22 100 

 2022-23 95 

 2023-24 90 

185



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

27 
 

Performance indicators Year Routes covered 
by BSIP journey 

time 
interventions 

 2024-25 85 

 2025-26 80 

 2026-27 75 

 2027-28 70 

 2028-29 65 

 2029-30 60 

 2030-31 55 

 2031-32 50 

Reliability (average journey time differences 
between peak and interpeak services) 

Baseline 2021-22 100 

 2022-23 97.5 

 2023-24 95 

 2024-25 92.5 

 2025-26 90 

 2026-27 87.5 

 2027-28 85 

 2028-29 82.5 

 2029-30 80 

 2030-31 77.5 

 2031-32 75 

 

Target for Bus Emissions Standards 
3.8 Our target for bus emission standards is a relatively short term one.  This is that all 

buses used on the Leicestershire registered local bus network will meet Euro VI 
emission standards (or equivalent) by the end of 2024-25.  There may be a very small 

186



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

28 
 

number of exemptions from meeting this standard for services operated by small 
operators that only have one or two stops in Leicestershire.   

187



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

29 
 

4. Delivery 
4.1 From our discussions with operators and informed by feedback from users, we have already developed a number of delivery 

themes, and schemes within those themes, which with the aid of Government National Bus Strategy funding we stand ready to 
begin delivering through our BSIP.  These are grouped together in the following tables under the five objectives identified in 
section 2.  On the public sector side, Leicestershire County Council will work with Government to ensure that sufficient funding is 
made available to deliver these themes and schemes.  

4.2 Delivery will be driven by the Enhanced Partnership of bus operators and the local authority, working in collaboration with other 
interested parties and stakeholders.  The Partnership will be supported in delivery by an EP Coordinator (with a support team), 
whose cost has been included in our financial ask from the National Bus Strategy funding pot.  Additional Council officers and 
external consultancy support will also be required to deliver specific schemes under the BSIP. 

188



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

30 
 

Single system 
No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S1 Timetabling and 
frequencies 

S1-1: Operators will work together to coordinate 
timetables on key corridors, as far as possible, to 
achieve regular headways.  This will apply where 
there is more than one operator serving a 
corridor, and will ensure that the timetable 
serves the needs of as many customers as 
possible and is easy to understand.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An initial review to establish where coordination of 
timings on specific corridors would be beneficial and 
possible (given other constraints) will be undertaken in 
the first half of Year 1 (2022-23) of the BSIP.  On 
Leicester-bound services, this review will be undertaken 
in coordination with Leicester City Council. Required 
timetable changes will be implemented in the second 
half of Year 1. All timetable coordination will be kept 
under review by the EP members throughout the BSIP 
duration. 
Under this scheme, all timetable changes will take place 
at six set dates in the year to aid user comprehension.  
These dates will be coordinated with neighbouring 
authorities in the East Midlands to ensure compatibility. 

189



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

31 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S1-2: Minimum service frequencies will be 
implemented on different types of bus route.  
This should help to grow patronage, but will 
require some initial revenue funding support. 

A review will be undertaken of the whole supported 
services network, in line with an updated version of our 
Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy that reflects 
the BSIP.  This will look service-by-service and 
determine whether / how the network should be re-
shaped.  Changes will be made as required after 
appropriate assessments and local consultation. Existing 
supported services will be maintained whilst this review 
is being undertaken. This scheme will also provide post-
Covid recovery funding support where needed services 
that would otherwise be at risk while patronage re-
grows to pre-Covid levels.  
Increased service frequencies will be introduced in Year 
1 on three selected routes in order to pilot the scheme 
for two years and ensure that it gives good value for 
money.  Other routes will be added gradually to the 
scheme in Years 3 to 5, assuming that the early pilot 
routes show promising growth in patronage levels. 

190



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

32 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S2 Integration with 
rail 

S2-1: Bus operators will work with rail operators 
to ensure that, as far as possible, bus services 
that serve railway stations are timed to connect 
with key rail services. 

An initial review to establish where coordination of 
timings with rail timings would be beneficial and 
possible (given other constraints and not at the expense 
of providing a worse service for a significant proportion 
of the bus customer base) will be undertaken in the first 
half of Year 1 (2022-23) of the BSIP, in coordination with 
the review in Scheme S1-1.  Any bus timetable changes 
identified as beneficial will be implemented in the 
second half of Year 1.  All timetable coordination will be 
kept under review by the EP members throughout the 
BSIP duration. 

S3 Consistent, high 
quality roadside 
infrastructure 

S3-1: LCC will work in collaboration with 
operators to ensure that all bus stops in the 
county have better, appropriate, consistently 
high-quality, roadside infrastructure.  

An audit of all bus stops and shelters will be undertaken 
in Year 1, against a defined list of features that different 
types of stop should have.  Accessibility and personal 
safety issues with bus stops will also be reviewed and 
measures identified to provide safe access for a wide 
range of users (including people with impaired 
mobility).  
Implementation of upgraded infrastructure will 
commence during the second half of Year 1, and will be 
rolled out during Years 2 and 3. This will include 
provision of better information, and, where suitable, 
seating and shelters to protect users from the elements 
in key locations.   

191



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

33 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S3-2: Improved maintenance and repair regime An upgraded approach to managing existing and new 
infrastructure sites will be developed in the first half of 
Year 1. A maintenance and repair regime will be 
implemented starting from the mid-point of Year 1 that 
has challenging targets for repair and replacement 
when infrastructure gets damaged. 

S4 Mobility hubs S4-1: LCC will work to implement significant 
mobility hubs at key points to achieve better 
integration with active travel modes and e-
mobility.  This will include facilities for safe and 
secure cycle parking, as well as hire points for e-
mobility and bicycles in some locations. It will 
also include other community facilities (e.g. 
parcel collection, cycle maintenance).  

A mobility hub feasibility study will be undertaken in 
Year 1.  This will look at possible locations, review 
potential features that could be included, and assess 
the business case (including costs and benefits) for 
implementing hubs at different locations.  Depending 
on the results of the feasibility study, it is envisaged that 
one hub will be implemented in Year 2, which will act as 
a pilot.  Three further hubs will be implemented in Years 
3, 4 and 5. 

S5 Branding and 
marketing 

S5-1: LCC will work in collaboration with 
operators to create a distinctive brand for the 
Leicestershire bus network.  This will seek to 
work alongside the individual operators’ 
branding.  Marketing of the Leicestershire bus 
network as a single entity will be undertaken 
jointly by LCC and bus operators. 

Using our experience in developing the Choose How 
You Move brand, we will develop a branding design 
and marketing plan in the first half of Year 1.    The aim 
will then be to roll it out across all infrastructure in 
parallel with the upgrading of infrastructure in the 
second half of Year 1 and Years 2 and 3.  The branding 
will be applied to roadside infrastructure and to 
publicity and information materials.  It will not be 
applied to vehicles because of potential clashes with 
existing operator vehicle branding and difficulties this 
would cause with cross-boundary services.   

192



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

34 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S6 DRT S6-1: Demand responsive transport (DRT) will be 
used to provide services in areas of dispersed 
population and/or where demand is 
insufficiently concentrated to make regular fixed 
route services viable.  These will connect into the 
main fixed route services as well as directly to 
local towns and centres.   
DRT will be delivered using booking apps and 
short-notice booking windows to appeal to 
people who are tech-savvy, as well as through 
more conventional telephone bookings.  This 
strategy will learn from and build on the 
experiences of the Rural Mobility Fund DRT 
service that will be implemented in the 
Leicester-Hinckley corridor from early 2022.  

In Year 1, Leicestershire’s RMF-funded DRT service 
focussed on the Narborough – Leicester corridor will be 
operational.  This will be an invaluable source of 
information on what works and what doesn’t. 
In parallel with the first year of RMF service operation, a 
feasibility study will be undertaken to look at the 
potential viability of other locations where DRT could be 
used to expand the bus offer for poorly served 
communities.   
Proposals will be brought forward for six further DRT 
services, subject to the performance of the Narborough 
DRT service.  These will provide broad coverage of 
currently under-served rural areas across the county 
and will be implemented in Years 2, 3 and 4 and 
operated continuously from that point.  It is anticipated 
that all DRT services will require some ongoing public 
funding support throughout the BSIP period, although 
we expect the level required to drop as people get used 
to using DRT and patronage builds. 

S6-2: Provision of evening services using DRT 
will be explored, piloted, and implemented in 
selected areas. 

The RMF-funded DRT service will be used as an initial 
pilot for operating evening services.  This expansion of 
time coverage will take place at the end of year 1.  Six 
additional evening DRT services will be implemented in 
Years 2, 3 and 4 to provide broad coverage across the 
county.  These are likely to be linked to the additional 
daytime DRT services (see S6-1) but may cover a wider 
area in the evenings.   

193



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

35 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

S7 Service quality 
standards 

S7-1: Minimum service quality standards will be 
agreed and implemented across all 
Leicestershire bus services.   

Minimum service standards will be agreed and 
implemented across Leicestershire.  These will include 
standards for cleanliness of vehicles and customer 
service training for drivers.   
 

S7-2: A Customer Charter will be adopted across 
Leicestershire bus services.   

A customer charter will be developed in collaboration 
between all operators and representatives of the user 
community, and will include remedies for bus users in 
the event of failure to meet those standards.  This will 
be in line with guidance published by Transport Focus 
on customer charters.  The aim is for this to be in place 
before the start of the BSIP period in April 2022. 

194



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

36 
 

Reliable 
No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

R1 Bus priority at key 
points 

R1-1: A programme of individual schemes and 
interventions will be developed and 
implemented to address delays to bus services 
and give buses priority. 
 

A list of pinchpoints on the Leicestershire network that 
lead to significant bus delays (making service journey 
times unreliable and impacting on operating costs) is 
being developed through collaboration between bus 
operators and Leicestershire County Council.  These will 
be sifted and prioritised.  Feasibility studies will be 
undertaken on at least three pinchpoints each year, and 
business cases will be developed to justify investment in 
bus priority interventions.  Bus priority interventions to 
the value of £2m per year will be implemented on the 
Leicestershire network in each year of the BSIP from 
Year 2 onwards.   
Possible measures may include bus priority at signals, 
bus lanes, bus gates, and/or restrictions on on-street 
parking or loading at peak times.  Where delays can be 
addressed sufficiently to reduce operating costs by 
reducing PVR, part of the financial benefit will be used 
to increase service frequency and/or reduce fares. 
Behavioural change campaigns (involving, for example, 
PTP and/or business engagement) will be undertaken 
alongside implementation of the bus priority measures.  
Experience across the UK has shown that these 
complementary activities help maximise the mode shift 
impact of new and improved sustainable transport 
infrastructure. 

195



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

37 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

R2 Traffic and 
parking 
management and 
enforcement 

R2-1: Improved traffic and parking management 
and enforcement. 

During Year 1, the partnership will identify particular 
areas where poor traffic and parking discipline causes 
problems and delays for buses.  LCC will then work with 
partners throughout the BSIP period to put in place new 
restrictions on on-street parking or loading at peak 
times, together with improving enforcement of existing 
restrictions.  Enforcement technology and systems will 
be implemented as required, and operated in 
cooperation with Leicestershire police. 

Affordable 
No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

A1 Consistent age 
level for 
discounted child 
and young 
people’s fares 

A1-1: Rationalisation of qualification ages for 
child / young people discounted fare products. 

We will seek to address the current inconsistency across 
Leicestershire operators in the age at which children / 
young people are able to access discounted fare 
products.  We will agree, through the EP, a consistent 
age of under 19, below which Leicestershire bus users 
can expect discounted fares.  This will address the 
current situation where different operators have 
different age criteria.  This will be done in order to come 
into operation during Year 1 of the BSIP. 

196



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

38 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

A2 Discounted fare 
scheme for young 
adults  

A2-1: A young adult discounted fare offer for all 
19-25 year-olds will be implemented. This is 
viewed as important at an age where most 
people are on low incomes, and when moving 
from bus to car use is often an attraction. As 
noted earlier, getting young people to use buses 
more is seen as a cornerstone of a future 
sustainable Leicestershire bus network. 
 

We will enhance the current fare offers (e.g. student 
ticket products) made to some young adults aged 19-
25 to ensure that all young people of that age group 
can access reduced fares.  It is envisaged that fare 
discounts of around 25-33% would be applicable. This 
may require purchase of a discount card (off-bus) for an 
affordable sum (e.g. £5) to act as proof of entitlement.  
Smarter ticketing solutions, such as ITSO cards, white 
label EMV cards, etc. may also be considered.  
Development of the offer (which is likely to involve a 
concessionary travel scheme) will be undertaken early in 
Year 1, with a view to implementation during Year 2 and 
operation throughout the BSIP duration.  
Implementation will take place in a pilot area first in 
Year 2, with subsequent rollout to the rest of the county 
in Year 3.  

197



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

39 
 

Easy to use 
No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

E1 Improved 
information 

E1-1: Improved information availability will be 
developed and provided across multiple 
channels to meet everyone’s needs.  This will 
include online information, printed leaflet 
information, and roadside service information.  
This will be based on user research on views of 
current information provision among different 
customer groups. 

A customer research exercise will be undertaken in Year 
1 of the BSIP.  This will explore the strengths and 
weaknesses of the information offer, in order to define 
what needs to be changed or improved.  The research 
will be undertaken both with regular bus users and with 
irregular or non bus users.  Including the latter group 
will help identify information barriers to bus usage. 
The results of the customer research exercise will be 
used to plan and implement the changes to information 
provision.  The aim will be to have those changes in 
place by the end of Year 2. 

E2 Real-time 
information  

E2-1 In order to provide a consistent standard 
across the whole Leicestershire network, all 
buses will be fitted with GPS positioning units 
which will feed into real-time information (RTI) 
provision to users.  Delivery mechanisms for RTI 
will include a Leicestershire-wide app that will 
cover all operators’ services, as well as RTI 
displays on selected corridors. 

The vast majority of buses in Leicestershire are already 
GPS-equipped. All currently non-equipped buses will be 
fitted with GPS positioning units as early as possible 
within Year 1.   
A review of current RTI will be undertaken in Year 1, 
including app-based provision and at-stop displays.  
The intention is to develop a Leicestershire-wide app 
that will cover all operators’ services to ‘fill in the gaps’ 
in the current operator provision during Years 2 and 3.  
We will also double the number of RTI displays in the 
county, adding extra displays on selected corridors to 
strengthen information provision to bus users.  Such 
additional signs will be procured and provided in Years 
2 and 3. 

198



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

40 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

E3 Multi-operator 
ticketing 

E3-1: The aim will be to move towards multi-
operator capped fares that work with debit, 
credit card, cash, and mobile payments across all 
Leicestershire operators.  This is likely to be a 
staged programme, with acceptance of each 
other’s ticket products on certain corridors 
initially, before broadening out into a full multi-
operator ticketing regime. 

During Year 1, mutual acceptance of each other’s tickets 
will take place on certain defined corridors where there 
is more than one operator offering services and where 
this will genuinely enhance the opportunities to travel 
by bus.  As appropriate, there will be a back-office 
reconciliation and revenue apportionment function.  
Following on from this, the Leicestershire EP will work 
with neighbouring EPs (Leicester City, Nottinghamshire 
etc) to maximise value-for-money from technological 
investments.  The aim will be to move into full tap-on / 
tap-off contactless multi-operator ticketing where users 
are guaranteed the best price for their travel patterns.  
This will be dependent on the results of pilots such as 
CORAL (in which several of the Leicestershire operators 
are participating) and other national initiatives, but is 
anticipated that this could be in place by Year 5 of the 
BSIP. 

E4 Mobility as a 
Service 

E4-1: As a longer-term goal, the Leicestershire 
EP will investigate the potential for broadening 
the payment offer to include Mobility as a 
Service (MaaS) concepts, where user accounts 
can be used to pay for other modes of transport 
(e.g. bike hire, e-scooter hire) as well as bus 
fares.  This may be particularly attractive once 
mobility hubs are in operation in Leicestershire. 

Throughout the BSIP period, some budget will be 
allocated for a future technology monitoring and 
horizon-scanning observatory function.  This will enable 
the EP to identify and assess trial or pilot opportunities 
in MaaS. 

199



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

41 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

E5 Autonomous 
vehicles 

E5-1: The potential for use of autonomous buses 
will be monitored throughout the BSIP period.  
These have some long-term potential for 
reducing bus operating costs. 

Throughout the BSIP period, some budget will be 
allocated for a future technology monitoring and 
horizon-scanning observatory function.  This will enable 
the EP to identify and assess trial or pilot opportunities 
(particularly within a rural or market town environment) 
in autonomous vehicles. 

Greener 
No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

G1 
 

Low Emission 
Vehicles (LEV) and 
Ultra-Low 
Emission Vehicles 
(ULEV) 
 

G1-1: Lower emission vehicles.  All vehicles used 
on the Leicestershire network will be Euro VI 
emission standard by March 2025 

All buses used in Leicestershire will be Euro VI emission 
standard by March 2025.  A grant fund will be 
established to assist some operators with the cost of 
upgrades or retrofits.  All services supported by LCC will 
be required to be operated by vehicles with Euro VI 
emission standard or equivalent by March 2025.  Some 
exemptions may be permitted by agreement (for 
example, services in neighbouring counties that have 
just one or two stops in Leicestershire). 

200



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

42 
 

No. Name  Scheme description Detail and timing 

G1-2: ULEV buses will be used on a pilot route to 
test their operation and economics in practice in 
a peri-urban or market town context.  We will 
work with neighbouring authorities such as 
Leicester City Council and Nottingham City 
Council to learn from their ULEV experiences. 

We plan to introduce electric or other ULEV vehicles on 
a selected pilot route in Leicestershire.  This will build 
on knowledge from the Leicester electric P&R bus 
operations that the County Council co-funds. The pilot 
route will be chosen based on suitability for ULEV 
operation and economic considerations.  It is planned 
that the pilot route will be implemented in Year 3, with 
feasibility work, preparatory planning (including 
charging infrastructure considerations), business case 
development, and procurement undertaken in Years 1 
and 2.  Available ULEV technologies will be kept under 
review throughout the BSIP so that, as range and 
capabilities develop, ULEV technologies will be rolled 
out to as many vehicles as possible.   

 

 

  

201



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

43 
 

4.3 Delivery of the Leicestershire BSIP is completely contingent on Leicestershire County Council being able to draw on additional 
funding from central Government.  This will complement the existing expenditure by both the council and local bus operators that 
deliver the current bus offer.  Table 4-1below provides a summary of the estimated additional funding requirement from central 
Government, over an initial 3-year period and over a 10-year period. 

Table 4-1: Summary of estimated additional funding required to deliver BSIP 

Delivery cost (additional funding required) for 
schemes under following BSIP objectives 

First 3 
years 

Next 7 years 10-year total 

FY 2022-24 FY 2025-
2031 

FY 2022-
2031 

Coordination of partnership £1,166,607 £3,160,238 £4,326,845 
Single integrated system £32,340,334 £38,679,576 £71,019,911 
Reliable £14,223,487 £52,034,662 £66,258,148 
Affordable £3,282,794 £20,396,159 £23,678,953 
Easy to use £1,627,988 £918,750 £2,546,738 
Greener £5,310,994   £5,310,994 
Total £57,952,205 £115,189,385 £173,141,589 

 

 

202



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

44 
 

5. Reporting 
5.1 Reporting of performance will take place every six months.  The aim will be to publish 

the results of performance indicator monitoring activities within six weeks of the end of 
each six-monthly period.  Presentation of the results will be in a clear, succinct, 
accessible format that members of the public, local and national politicians, and other 
interested parties can easily understand.   

5.2 The performance monitoring reports will be easily accessible for all parties.  They will 
be: 

• Published on the Leicestershire County Council website at www.leics.gov.uk/roads-
and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/passenger-transport. 

• Presented in poster form at major bus boarding points and transport interchanges 

• Presented in poster form at public libraries 

• Shared with DfT (and Transport Focus, if that is felt appropriate) 

5.3 We are happy to discuss and agree with DfT the best format for presentation of results. 

 

203

http://www.leics.gov.uk/


Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

45 
 

6. Overview Table 
 

Name of authority or 
authorities: 

Leicestershire County Council 

Franchising or Enhanced 
Partnership (or both): 

Enhanced Partnership 

Date of publication: 31st October 2021 

Date of next annual update: 31st October 2022 

URL of published report: To be added 204



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

46 
 

 

 
Targets 

 
2018/19 

 
2019/20 

 
Target for 
2024/25 

 
Description of how each will be measured (max 50 
words) 

Journey time Not available Not available 5% reduction in 
average 
journey time 
within 2 years 
on routes 
subject to bus 
priority 
measures under 
Schemes R1-1 
and/or R2-1 

Average journey times and journey time variability will 
be established and monitored for all routes across the 
county.  This will utilise data from GPS-based AVL 
systems that are fitted to most operators’ buses.   

Reliability (punctuality) 
 
NB 2 other measures of 
reliability (percentage of 
cancelled service runs; and 
difference between peak and 
interpeak services) will also 
be monitored – see section 3 

63.0%9 Not available 5% 
improvement 
over baseline 
measurement 

Percentage of services departing between 1 minute 
early and 5 minutes late 

 
9 From national bus statistic BUS 0902 (Non-frequent bus services on time) 

205



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

47 
 

Passenger numbers (annual 
passenger trips) 

13.81m 12.73m10 13.37m11 Passenger trip numbers will be reported by operators 
quarterly (and summed to give an annual figure over 
four quarters) using the exact same methodology as 
used to report numbers to DfT (as used in 
Government’s annual bus statistics Table BUS0109a).  
This will ensure values are comparable with past years. 

Average passenger 
satisfaction (overall)12 
 
NB Measures of satisfaction 
with specific aspects of bus 
services will also be 
monitored and reported – see 
section 3 

58.8% 58.0% 61.4% Satisfaction (very or fairly satisfied) with local bus 
services (overall) will be measured through the annual 
National Highway and Transportation Survey (NHT).  
Infill surveys will be undertaken for 6-monthly 
reporting.  NHT survey is with general public rather 
than just bus users, so includes non or prospective bus 
users as well – so gives significantly lower numbers 
than Transport Focus surveys with current bus users. 

 
  

 
10 Adjusted from actuals to take March 2020 numbers affected by COVID-19 lockdown 
11 Based on estimated baseline annual figure for 2021-22 of 12.73m passengers (which will be calculated at the end of the year as set out in Section 3).  Targets will be adjusted in line with 
baseline figure at that point. 
12 Based on NHT survey with sample of members of the public rather than just bus passengers. 

206



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

48 
 

 

 
Delivery - Does your BSIP detail policies to: 

 
Yes/No 

 
Explanation 
(max 50 words) 

Make improvements to bus services and planning 

More frequent and reliable services 

Review service frequency Yes • Scheme 1-1 will coordinate timetables and give regular 
headways on selected corridors. 

• Scheme 1-2 will provide increased service frequencies on 
selected routes. 

Increase bus priority measures Yes • Scheme R1-1 will deliver a £2m p.a. programme of capital 
investment in bus priority measures to address hotspots 
on the network where buses are delayed. 

• Scheme R2-1 will deliver a programme of traffic and 
parking management and enforcement measures to 
reduce bus delays from poor traffic and parking discipline. 

Increase demand responsive services Yes • Scheme S6-1 will build on the current DfT RMF-funded 
Leicestershire DRT pilot around Narborough to deliver six 
additional DRT services across the county. 

• Scheme S6-2 will expand DRT to provide evening services 
across seven areas that currently have none. 

Consideration of bus rapid transport networks No  • Not appropriate for the Leicestershire operating 
environment. 

Improvements to planning / integration with other modes 

207



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

49 
 

Integrate services with other transport modes Yes • Scheme S2-1 will involve bus and rail operators working 
together to identify and deliver opportunities to better 
connect these modes. 

• Scheme S4-1 will involve implementing four significant 
size mobility hubs at key locations to facilitate 
interchange between bus, cycling, walking, and e-mobility, 
as well as providing other community services. 

Simplify services Yes • Where this is any over-provision on a route, the EP 
members will look to resolve this.   

Review socially necessary services Yes • A review will be undertaken of the whole supported 
services network, in line with an updated version of our 
Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy that reflects the 
BSIP.  This will look service-by-service and determine 
whether / how the network should be re-shaped.  
Changes will be made as required after appropriate 
assessments and local consultation. Existing supported 
services will be maintained whilst this review is being 
undertaken. 

• Community transport services were reviewed recently, and 
a commitment has been made to continue providing 
financial support for these vital services. 

Invest in Superbus networks No • Not appropriate for the Leicestershire operating 
environment. 

Improvements to fares and ticketing 

Lower fares Yes • Scheme A2-1 will implement a discounted fare scheme for 
young adults age 19-25.  Capturing or retaining bus users 

208



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

50 
 

at this key life stage is seen as a cornerstone of a future 
sustainable bus network. 

Simplify fares Yes • Scheme A1-1 will introduce a consistent age of under 19 
for Leicestershire bus users to expect significantly 
discounted fares.  This will address the current situation 
where different operators have different age criteria. 

Integrate ticketing between operators and transport Yes • Scheme E3-1 will introduce mutual acceptance of other 
operators’ tickets in selected corridors, with back-office 
revenue apportionment.  Leicestershire will also work with 
neighbouring authorities to be ready to adopt full tap-on-
tap-off contactless multi-operator ticketing once the 
results of pilots such as project CORAL and other national 
initiatives come to fruition.   

Make improvements to bus passenger experience 

Higher spec buses 

Invest in improved bus specifications Yes • Scheme S7-1 will apply minimum service standards for 
vehicle cleanliness and customer service training for 
drivers. 

• Scheme G1-1 will move all vehicles to Euro VI emission 
standard or equivalent within three years, with a grant 
fund set up to assist operators where needed. 

Invest in accessible and inclusive bus services Yes • Scheme S3-1 will involve a full countywide review and 
upgrade of bus stop and shelter infrastructure to ensure 
that it is accessible to all, safe, modern, and provides a 
user environment in keeping with user expectations. 

Protect personal safety of bus passengers Yes 

209



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

51 
 

• Scheme S3-2 will provide an upgraded approach to 
managing and maintaining roadside infrastructure. 

Improve buses for tourists Yes • Tourists will benefit from many of the proposed schemes 
(e.g. information improvement) but the tourist sector is 
not a particular target. 

Invest in decarbonisation Yes • Scheme G 1-2 will involve implementing a ULEV pilot 
route in Leicestershire, building on the experience of the 
electric Leicester park & ride services that Leicestershire 
County Council co-funds and promotes. 

Improvements to passenger engagement 

Passenger charter Yes • Scheme S7-2 will develop and implement a customer 
charter for users of Leicestershire services, in collaboration 
with representatives of the user community. 

Strengthen network identity Yes • Scheme S5-1 will create a distinctive brand for 
Leicestershire bus services, which will be applied to all 
roadside infrastructure and marketing and information 
materials.  It will also involve joint marketing of 
Leicestershire bus services by LCC and bus operators. 

Improve bus information Yes • Scheme E1-1 will carry out an in-depth customer research 
exercise, which will be used to plan and implement 
improved information provision across the county. 

• Scheme E2-1 will involve fitting all remaining non-
equipped buses used in the county with GPS, developing 
a countywide app to provide multi-operator RTI, and 
installing 85 additional roadside RTI displays on selected 
corridors.     

210



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

52 
 

Other 

Other Yes • In Schemes E4-1 and E5-1, we will monitor technology 
developments in MaaS and autonomous vehicle 
technology to look for appropriate trials or pilot 
applications that could be hosted in Leicestershire. 

211



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

Annex 1: Bus delay hotspots 

  

Loughborough area
Loughborough Road A6/A6004 Roundabout, Volume of traffic, difficult for services to pull onto the roundabout with speeding traffic in both 
directions.
Loughborough – Leicester Road and Ashby Road towards the town centre.  Ashby Road towards Epinal Way in the morning peak.
Loughborough town centre pedestrianisation
Loughborough Train Station exit (plus route from Train Station to Town)
Bridge Street to the Rushes
Woodgate / Leicester Road / Pinfoldgate junction
Loughborough College / Epinal Way / Loughborough Uni
Loughborough High School area
M1 J22 & J23 – grind to a halt whenever there is disruption on the motorway, no way for buses to get quickly across the junctions when 
obstructed by diverting traffic.

Hinckley area
Hinckley – A47 queues down to Dodwells Island and impacted northbound by HGVs who think it acceptable to park on the bypass while 
waiting to get into Tesco/XPO Logistics.
Hinckley – A5 Dodwells Island to/from The Longshoot.
Hinckley – Regent Street / The Borough – uncoordinated traffic signals and opening up to cars when previously buses only.  Junction with 
Lower Bond Street particularly bad, as sequence of traffic light signals results in southbound buses getting held on a red light crossing 
Stockwell Head and northbound buses then being unable to turn right through the bus lane as the southbound bus is obstructing it.  

Ashby area
Ashby town centre – High Street congested, opportunity to include bus priority between Flagstaff Island and Nottingham Road missed in 
recent works.

Coalville area
Coalville – Ashby Road / Memorial Square.
Coalville, Belvoir Road/Central Road - parked cars hinder follow of traffic.

Market Harborough area
Market Harborough – High Street and The Square, one-way system isn’t big enough and traffic waiting to turn right onto Coventry Road or St 
Mary’s Road creates holdups.  Should be no right turn at either of these junctions.

Melton Mowbray area
Crossroads at the edge of Melton Town Centre near Nottingham Road often causes delays, especially on market days

Lutterworth area
Lutterworth – Leicester Road and High Street from Bill Crane Way down to Woodmarket.  Turning right into George Street and Woodmarket 
challenging due to oncoming traffic, which is only going to get worse when Aldi opens at the Whittle Island.

North Leicester urban fringe
Melton Road, Syston - heavy volume of traffic through the village with mini roundabouts causing issues, parked cars hindering progress. (NB – 
the remodelling of this junction has removed the opportunity to serve new developments off Barkby Road and into Quenniborough)
Thurmaston Asda roundabout A607/Melton Road - vehicles hindered coming off the roundabout onto Melton Road and coming onto the 
roundabout from Melton Road.

South Leicester urban fringe
Fosse Park – stops at M&S/Sainsbury’s aren’t ideal location, no additional bus stops provided as part of recent redevelopment or construction 
of Everards Meadows.  Fosse Park Avenue (service 104) is horrendous at weekends.
South Wigston – from Saffron Lane through to Launceston Road; volume of traffic and uncoordinated traffic signals.
A6 Oadby Glen Road/ Harborough Road - volume of traffic traffic, inbound particularly (40MPH), Right turn into Uplands Road is a give way to 
heavy traffic.
Oadby - pulling out of Stoughton Road onto the A6 towards the Parade 
Wigston, Aylestone Lane junction with Shackerdale Road and West Avenue 
Moat Street/Bull Head Street, Wigston Magna, Right turn from Horsewell lane onto Moat Street towards Bullhead Street. Traffic light 
configuration may also be an issue.
Hinckley Road A47 Leicester Forest East/Braunstone Crossroads, Volume of traffic, This one of the main access routes to Leicester Western 
Bypass/M1, delays in this area highly likely.

Other areas
A511 Bardon Road - volume of traffic in both directions aided by heavy articulated vehicles from Bardon Hill Industrial estate and Bardon Hill 
Quarry.
A6 Kibworth /Leicester Road - inbound towards Wistow Roundabout in particular, Turning Left & Right from Church Road, onto A6 Kibworth. 
Does not take a lot to cause delays in this area.
St John B4114/ Foxhunter Roundabout/B582 Blaby Road, Volume of traffic, Filtering to the right before roundabout made difficult towards 
Enderby, Blaby Road is the main access route to Warrens Business Park.
Castle Donington and Bus Station

212



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

Annex 2: General traffic delay maps for main 
Leicestershire towns 

213



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Ashby de la Zouch

2021-08-26 12:21:59

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

214



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Coalville

2021-08-26 12:22:21

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

215



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Earl Shilton

2021-08-26 12:22:28

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

216



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Hinckley

2021-08-26 12:22:45

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

217



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Loughborough

2021-08-26 12:23:01

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

218



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Lutterworth

2021-08-26 12:23:07

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

219



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Market Harborough

2021-08-26 12:23:17

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

220



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Melton Mowbray

2021-08-26 12:23:22

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

221



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Oadby

2021-08-26 12:23:33

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

222



Notes:

AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT
0 - 1.5

1.5 - 2.5

2.5 - 56 

Legend

Wigston

2021-08-26 12:23:54

NDI

Congestion Analysis 2019
AM PEAK v OVERNIGHT

LocationLocation

ReferenceReference

Drawing No.Drawing No.

NOTES
The highway records are not definitive, but are based on currently available supporting information and are given without warranty.
If roadside ditches are present, the legal presumption without evidence to the contrary is that these do not generally form part of the publicly 
maintainable highway.
This plan has been produced in response to the enquiry shown in the title address and should not be used for any other purpose, since its 
accuracy cannot be guaranteed. 
This plan is based on Ordnance Survey features and therefore only shows the general position of the boundaries: it does not show the exact line 
of boundaries. If a scale has been provided, measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements  between the same points on the ground.

Date ProducedDate Produced

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leicestershire County Council. LA100019271.
Published 2018.

Network Data & Intelligence | Environment & Transport
County Hall, Glenfield, LE3 8RJ

0116 3057648 | ndi@leics.gov.uk

223



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

Annex 3: Current real time information 
display locations in Leicestershire 

224



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

Sign ID Locality Name Summary Board Stops

260006018 Anstey Anstey-Leicester Rd -
260010904 Barwell The Square -
260010936 Barwell The Square -
260006503 Birstall Birstall G'gate Ln -
260006506 Birstall Birstall opp G'gate -
Birstall1 Birstall P&R site Birstall1 P & R -
Birstall2 Birstall P&R site Birstall2 P & R -
260003127 Blaby Forge Corner -
260013603 Castle Donington Bus Station -
260013650 Castle Donington Bus Station -
260014078 Coalville Memorial Square -
260013986 Coalville Memorial Square -
260014071 Coalville Memorial Square -
260014074 Coalville Marlborough Square -
260014063 Coalville Marlborough Square -
260013943 Coalville Memorial Square -
260014077 Coalville Memorial Square -
260003404 Countesthorpe C'thorpe Church St -
260003410 Countesthorpe C'thorpe Stn Rd -
260010508 Desford Desford-Manor Rd -
260010509 Desford Desford-Station Rd -
260010604 Earl Shilton Earl Shilton Wood S -
260010606 Earl Shilton Earl Shilton Wood S -
Enderby1 Enderby P&R site Enderby1 P & R -
Enderby2 Enderby P&R site Enderby2 P & R -
260003732 Fosse Park M&S -
260003807 Glen Parva Glen Parva-Glen Rd -
260003917 Glenfield Church Road -
260003901 Glenfield G'field Groby Rd -
260003905 Glenfield County Hall -
260003907 Glenfield Opp County Hall -
260003935 Glenfield Tesco -
260010716 Groby Groby-Laundon Way -
260010704 Groby Groby-Leicester Rd -
260010318 Hinckley Harrowbrook Rd -
260010322 Hinckley King George Way -
260010326 Hinckley Granville Road -
260010361 Hinckley Bus Station Stand CE -
260010362 Hinckley Bus Station Stand CD -
260010363 Hinckley Bus Station Stand CC -

225



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

Sign ID Locality Name Summary Board Stops

260010364 Hinckley Bus Station Stand CB -
260010377 Hinckley Bus Station Stand CA -
260010356 Hinckley Regent St Stand R1 -
260010357 Hinckley Regent St Stand R2 -
260010358 Hinckley Regent St Stand R3 -
260010388 Hinckley Regent St Stand R4 -
260004212 Kirby Muxloe Kirby Muxloe Stn Rd -
260004306 Leicester Forest East Kings Drive -
260007234 Loughborough Ashby Square Stand AA -
260007454 Loughborough Baxter Gate Stand BA -
260007455 Loughborough Baxter Gate Stand BB -
260007456 Loughborough Baxter Gate Stand BC -
260007457 Loughborough Baxter Gate Stand BD -
260007434 Loughborough Swan St Stand SA -
260007436 Loughborough Swan St Stand SB -
260007437 Loughborough Swan St Stand SC -
260007348 Loughborough Rail Station -
260007219 Loughborough High St Stand HA -
260007212 Loughborough High St Stand  HB -
260006542 Loughborough High St Stand HC -
260007333 Loughborough Lemyngton St Stand LA -
260007216 Loughborough Lemyngton St Stand  LB -
260007335 Loughborough Browns Lane -
260007479 Loughborough Fennel St -
260011000 Market Bosworth Mkt Bosworth-Mkt Pl -
260011800 MIRA MIRA -
260011311 Newbold Verdon N'bold-Verdon-Mn St -
260016711 Oadby East Street -
260016712 Oadby East Street -
260007916 Quorn Quorndon Fox -
260007911 Quorn Quorndon Fox -
260011605 Ratby Bulls Head -
260008205 Rothley Cross Green -
260008204 Rothley Rothley-Cross Green -
260008429 Shepshed Shepshed-Bull Ring -
260016108 South Wigston S Wigston-Blaby Rd -
260016109 South Wigston S Wigston-Blaby Rd -
260008809 Syston Brookside -
260016413 Wigston Magna Wigston M-Long St -
260016000 Wigston Magna Guthlaxton College -

226



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

227



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

Annex 4: Town Centre Off-Road Parking 
Provision in Leicestershire 

228



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

       Parking charges           Operator

Town (& District) Car park 2 hour 4 hours 8 hours
Council-
operated

Private 
operator Capacity

Loughborough Carillon Court £1.80 £3.50 £6.00 x 340
(Charnwood) Market Street £1.50 £2.50 £3.50 x 85

Granby Street £1.60 £3.20 £6.00 x 175
Sital House £1.60 £3.20 £6.00 x 42
Ashby Place £1.50 £2.50 N/A x 24
The Rushes £3.10 £6.10 £12.60 x 387
Beehive Lane £1.60 £3.20 £6.00 x 577
Regent Retail Park £1.80 £3.00 £5.00 x 250
Browns Lane £3.20 N/A N/A x 199
Loughborough Station (off-peak) £7.00 £7.00 £7.00 x 250
Capacity (council controlled) 951
Capacity (private) 1378
Capacity (total) 2329

Ashby de la Zouch North Street £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 144
(NW Leics) South Street £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 57

Hood Park £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 88
Capacity (council controlled) 289
Capacity (private) 0
Capacity (total) 289

Coalville Council Offices £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 150
(NW Leics) London Road £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 87

Belvoir Retail & Leisure £0.00 £2.50 £5.00 x 546
James Street £1.00 £2.00 £2.50 x 58
Margaret Street £1.00 £2.00 N/A x 44
Capacity (council controlled) 339
Capacity (private) 546
Capacity (total) 885

Hinckley Church Walk £1.20 N/A N/A x 89
(Hinckley & Bosworth) Britannia Centre £1.40 £3.00 £5.00 x 250

Mansion Street £1.20 £3.00 £6.00 x 17
Rear of Castle Street £1.20 £3.00 £6.00 x 23
Stockwell Head £1.20 £3.00 £6.00 x 42
St Mary's Road £1.20 N/A N/A x 79
Lower Bond Street £1.20 £2.00 £4.00 x 97
Trinity Vicarage Road £1.20 £2.00 £4.00 x 92
Hinckley Leisure Centre £1.20 £3.00 £6.00 x 109
Trinity Lane East £1.20 £3.00 £6.00 x 47
Castle £1.20 £2.00 £4.00 x 116
Trinity Lane West £1.20 £1.60 £2.50 x 42
Alma Road £1.20 £1.60 £2.50 x 40
Thornycroft Road £1.20 £1.60 £2.50 x 36
Sainsburys £1.20 £3.00 N/A x 550
Druid Street £1.20 £1.60 £2.50 x 28
New Street £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 14
Capacity (council controlled) 871
Capacity (private) 800
Capacity (total) 1671

229



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

       Parking charges           Operator

Town (& District) Car park 2 hour 4 hours 8 hours
Council-
operated

Private 
operator Capacity

Market Harborough The Commons £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 285
(Harborough) Market Hall £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 73

Mill Hill £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 93
St Mary's Road £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 29
Symington Way £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 84
King's Head Place £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 24
Symington's Recreation Ground car park N/A £2.50 £5.00 x 30
St Mary's Road East N/A £2.50 £5.00 x 49
Doddridge Road short stay £1.50 £3.00 £7.00 x 0
Doddridge Road long stay N/A £2.50 £5.00 x 98
Angel Street N/A £2.50 £5.00 x 88
Springfield Retail Park £1.50 £3.00 £7.50 x 600
Springfield Street £2.50 £2.50 £5.00 x 26
Capacity (council controlled) 1479
Capacity (private) 0
Capacity (total) 1479

Melton Mowbray Parkside £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 68
(Melton) Mill Street £1.50 £3.50 N/A x 45

Burton Street (Annex) £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 32
Burton Street £1.50 £3.50 N/A x 131
Mucky Lane £1.50 £3.50 N/A x 25
Chapel Street £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 99
Waterfield Leisure Pools £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 96
St Mary's Way £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 112
Wilton Park £1.50 £3.50 N/A x 42
56 Nottingham Street £1.50 £2.50 £3.50 x 66
Wilton Road £1.60 £3.00 N/A x 141
Scalford Road £1.50 £3.50 N/A x 199
Capacity (council controlled) 2427
Capacity (private) 108
Capacity (total) 2535

Oadby Ellis Park £0 N/A N/A x 39
(Oadby & Wigston) East Street £0 N/A N/A x 117

51 Sandhurst Street £0 £0 £3 x 191
Shady Lane Arboretum £0 £0 £0 x 17
Knighton Park £0 £0 £0 x 61
Evington Park £0 £0 £0 x 48
Queen Street £1.40 £2.80 £5.70 x 25
Victoria Park £1.00 £2.00 £0.60 x 246
Nelson Street £1.00 £3.00 £6.00 x 57
Lee Circle £3.50 x 1070
34 Dover Street £3.00 £4.00 £9.00 x 161
Phoenix Square £3.00 £4.00 £9.00 x 51
Newarke Street £3.00 £4.00 £9.00 x 470
Upper Brown Street £1.00 £3.00 £4.00 x 21
Mercure The Grand Hotel £3.00 £5.50 £10.00 x 124
Almond Road £2.00 £3.00 £6.00 x 106
Havelock Street £3.00 £6.00 £10.00 x 74
Rutland Centre £7.00 £14.00 £21.00 x 526
Capacity (council controlled) 1422
Capacity (private) 1982
Capacity (total) 3404

230



Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan – Draft v2-5 October 2021 

 
 

 

 

       Parking charges           Operator

Town (& District) Car park 2 hour 4 hours 8 hours
Council-
operated

Private 
operator Capacity

Wigston Station Street £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 28
(Oadby & Wigston) Countesthorpe Road £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 67

Kirkdale Road £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 40
Aylestone Lane £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 25
Frederick Street £0.00 N/A N/A x 52
Spring Lane £0.00 N/A N/A x 28
Junction Road £0.00 N/A N/A x 142
Enderby Road & John's £0.30 £1.50 £5.00 x 126
High Street £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 20
Capacity (council controlled) 528
Capacity (private) 0
Capacity (total) 528

Lutterworth Wycliffe Memorial Methodist Church £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 15
(Harborough) Church Close £1.50 £3.00 £5.00 x 18

Lutterworth Sports Centre £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 110
George Street £1.50 £3.00 £5.00 x 42
Chapel Street £1.50 £3.00 £5.00 x 43
Station Road £1.50 £3.00 £5.00 x 71
Football Club £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 20
Lutterworth Country Park £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 x 13
Capacity (council controlled) 332
Capacity (private) 0
Capacity (total) 332

Earl Shilton St Stephen's shopping centre £2.00 £3.00 £8.00 x 800
(Hinckley & Bosworth) 37 Spring Street £0.80 £1.90 £2.40 x 85

St Stephens square £0.80 £1.90 £2.40 x 258
Travelodge £1.50 £2.50 £3.00 x 27
Pryme Street £2.50 £3.50 x 110
Prospect Shopping Centre £2.00 £3.20 £10.00 x 188
The Royal Hotel £2.50 £4.00 £7.50 x 33
Albion Street £2.00 £3.60 £12.00 x 164
Fountain Street £4.00 £5.00 £6.00 x 300
Dock Street £2.00 £3.60 £7.20 x 42
Princes Quay Shopping £2.00 £3.00 £6.00 x 900
History Centre £2.00 £3.60 £12.00 x 58
Zebedee's Yard £2.00 N/A N/A x 71
Lowgate £2.00 £3.60 £12.00 x 61
Trippett Street £2.00 £3.60 £12.00 x 58
The Bowery £1.00 £1.50 £2.00 x 45
Capacity (council controlled) 341
Capacity (private) 2859
Capacity (total) 3200

231



 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 
Charles House 
148 Great Charles Street 
Birmingham 
B3 3HT  UK 
+44 (0)121 285 7301 
 
Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 
Build Studios 
203 Westminster Bridge Road 
London 
SE1 7FR  UK 
+44 (0)7498 563196 
 
Integrated Transport Planning Ltd 
1 Broadway 
Nottingham 
NG1 1PR  UK 
+44 (0)115 824 8250 
 
www.itpworld.net 

 

232



BSIP outline funding form

Resource Capital Resource Capital Resource Capital Resource Capital Resource Capital

DfT - £3bn -  129,729  906,400  133,620  5,834,950  137,629  6,009,999  1,086,214  47,432,928  1,487,192  60,184,276 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  136,615  56,650  140,713  291,748  144,935  300,500  1,143,874  2,371,646  1,566,136  3,020,544 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant  43,358  43,358  43,358  303,504  433,577  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  196,138  1,120,990  202,022  2,309,240  87,883  2,378,517  -00  -00  486,043  5,808,747 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant

 43,358  43,358  43,358  303,504 

 433,577  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  116,699  -00  120,200  -00  948,659  -00  1,185,558  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant

 43,358  43,358  43,358  303,504 

 433,577  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  96,342  339,900  99,233  2,100,582  102,210  2,163,599  649,425  4,141,310  947,209  8,745,391 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  89,082  113,300  33,405  472,631  34,407  306,510  71,942  -00  228,837  892,441 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  56,650  -00  641,845  -00  2,584,299  -00  20,396,159  -00  23,678,953  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  33,990  -00  35,010  -00  36,060  -00  338,089  -00  443,149  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private Operator investment in technology 

& operations  632,440  94,659  632,440  94,659  632,440  94,659 

 1,897,319  283,976 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  6,433,018  -00  4,201,470  -00  3,548,664  -00  5,391,095  -00  19,574,247  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

LTA BSOG and Supported Bus 

Services Grant (22-23 only)  624,209  422,963  422,963  2,960,741 

 4,430,876  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Public health funding

 63,206  63,206  63,206  442,442 

 632,060  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant

 2,692,597  2,692,597  2,692,597  18,848,176 

 26,925,965  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  243,029  -00  1,358,960  -00  2,361,328  -00  16,942,821  -00  20,906,138  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

Rural mobility fund

 377,000  352,000  301,000 

 1,030,000  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant

 43,358  43,358  43,358  303,504 

 433,577  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  700,194  -00  1,658,760  -00  9,701,902  -00  12,060,855  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  259,032  -00  33,405  116,699  64,457  -00  508,718  -00  865,613  116,699 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

Revenue Support Grant

 43,358  43,358  43,358  303,504 

 433,577  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  175,519  -00  111,250  -00  114,588  -00  904,366  -00  1,305,723  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private Operator marketing investment  190,600  -00  190,600  -00  190,600  -00  571,800  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  264,133  -00  272,057  -00  280,219  -00  2,211,579  -00  3,027,988  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  113,300  -00  116,699  -00  120,200  -00  948,659  -00  1,298,858  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private Operator customer service training  25,560  -00  25,560  -00  25,560  -00  76,680  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  453,200  -00  466,796  -00  480,800  -00  -00  -00  1,400,796 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private Operator investment in EuroVI 

vehicles  107,000  475,350  190,600  475,350  25,560  475,350 

 323,160  1,426,049 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  90,640  -00  93,359  -00  3,726,199  -00  -00  -00  3,910,198 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

DfT - £3bn -  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00  -00 

DfT other 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Other 

Government 

(please specify)

 -00  -00 

Private  -00  -00 

 -00  -00 

 -00  -00 

 13,155,976  3,651,089  12,983,335  12,256,013  15,966,552  15,936,132  85,012,379  53,945,884  127,118,242  85,789,118 

Q2. [optional] Please provide any additional notes to explain the other funding sources outside of the £3bn for buses (150 words maximum).

2023/24 (£ nominal) 2024/25 (£ nominal) Beyond 2025 (£ nominal) 
Total cost of project or proposal 

(£ nominal) ***

Bus priority infrastructure R1-1: Bus priority interventions N/A - see 

footnote below

R2-1: Improved traffic & parking management and 

enforcement

Title of scheme

Detail on aspiration [e.g. ‘additional bus 

priority on X corridor’, ‘flat fares of Y across 

operators’]*

Priority 

Ranking**
Source of Funding

2022/23 (£ nominal)

S6-2: Evening DRT services

N/A

TOTALS***

1. Interventions have not been priority ranked, as many are interdependent and will be appropriately packaged once DfT funding availability is known.

2. DfT funding ask for interventions shown as having zero cost (A1-1, E4-1, S1-1, S2-1, S7-1, S7-2, E5-1) is included within C1-1 (EP coordination and support). 

3. Rural Mobility Fund funding comes from the RMF funding awarded to LCC for a DRT pilot scheme.

4. Private sector funding represents estimated value of bus operator commitments up to 2025 

5. Revenue support grant covers estimated current staffing costs plus expenditure on passenger transport services (local buses, DRT & CT).  Assumed to continue at current level throughout EP period.

S3-1:Upgrading of roadside infrastructure

S3-2: Upgraded maintenance regime

S4-1: Mobility hubs

E2-1: Real-time information

A1-1: Rationalisation of child / young person qualification 

age

A2-1: Young adult discounted fare offer for all 19-25 year 

olds

E3-1: Multi-operator ticketing

E4-1: MaaS (Mobility as a Service)

S1-1: Coordinated timetables

S1-2: Supported network and increased service 

frequencies

S2-1: Better integration with rail

S6-1: DRT services

G1-1: Lower emission vehicles

G1-2: ULEV pilot

E5-1: Automated vehicles

E1-1: Improved information

S5-1: Branding and marketing

C1-1: EP Coordinator & support team

C1-2: Monitoring, evaluation and reporting

S7-1: Service quality standards

S7-2: Customer charter

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other infrastructure

Fares support

Ticketing reform

Bus service support

Marketing

EP/franchising delivery: LTA costs

Zero and low emission buses 

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

233



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021  
 

LEICESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE REDUCTION STRATEGY 

2022-24 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICE  
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval for the approach 

being taken to discharging the duties placed on the County Council under the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (DA Act), including the draft Leicestershire 
Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy 2021-24. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that; 

 
(a) The approach to developing the Leicestershire Domestic Abuse 

Reduction Strategy 2021-24 be approved. 
 

(b) The approach as outlined in the report for formal consultation on the 

draft Strategy be agreed.   

(c) The approach to the commissioning of DA Services be approved. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 

 

3. The Domestic Abuse Act 2021, places a number of statutory duties on the 
County Council and this report is the Council’s response to discharging those 
duties.   

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The draft DA Reduction Strategy will be presented to Scrutiny Commission on 

17 November 2021. 
 
5. A further report will be presented to Cabinet on 14 December 2021 presenting 

the ‘near’ final Strategy and seeking delegated authority for the Director to 
finalise it following the closure of the consultation and to publish it by required 
date of 5 January 2022.  

 

235 Agenda Item 7



Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

6. Leicestershire County Council has in place a DA Reduction Strategy (2018 – 
2021) which set out the partnership approach to tackling DA. 

 
7. The priorities that form the Strategy align with the following outcomes from the 

Leicestershire County Council's Strategic Plan 2018-22 which was approved 
by the County Council on 6 December 2017: 

 

Wellbeing and opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the 
opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and 
wellbeing. 
 

Keeping people safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 

harm. 

Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated 

places where people help and support each other and take pride in their area.  

 
Resource Implications 
 
8. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on the content of this report 
 

9. The services to be commissioned are therapeutic and advocacy support 
services as per the grant conditions and not for accommodation itself (which 
would create a longer-term funding risk). It is intended to fund these fully within 
the DLUHC £1.1m grant so no further funding is requested from LCC at this 
time other than internal resources to administer the grant and duties (which will 
be absorbed within existing staff resources). 

 
10. As this funding is time limited there is some financial risk of the Authority 

needing to provide additional future funding. However, the Government has 
advised the intention of future funding in the policy with reference to: 

 
“In the spirit of the New Burdens Doctrine, the duty will be funded in future 
years. The amount of funding from April 2022 will be a matter for the next 
Spending Review”.  

 
Legal Implications 
 
14 This report summarises the statutory requirements of the DA Act with 

particular reference to section 57 which places a duty on the County Council to 
prepare, give effect to and monitor a strategy based on an assessment of the 
need for accommodation-based support for victims of domestic abuse in the 
Council’s area. 
 

15 The DA Act also places a duty to create a Domestic Abuse Partnership Board 
to advise the Council about its functions under s57 plus the provision of other 

236



local authority support in its area. A further report will be presented to the 
Cabinet at a future date once the possible options to deliver this have been 
considered. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
16 A copy of this report will be circulated to all members. 
 
Officer(s) to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services  
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Gurjit Samra-Rai, Community Safety Manager  
Email: gurjit.samra-rai@leics.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

237

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:gurjit.samra-rai@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

Background 

17. The DA Act received royal assent in April 2021.   The Act places a duty on tier 
one local authorities (the County Council) to provide accommodation based 
support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in refuges and other safe 
accommodation and provides clarity over governance and accountability, 
requiring tier two councils (district councils), to co-operate with the lead local 
authority. 

18. A multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board must be appointed for 
Leicestershire. Options are currently being considered as to whether an existing 
Board can be utilised through extending the membership to comply with the new 
duty, or whether a new Board will need to be established. 

 

Needs Assessment 
 

19. A Strategic Needs Assessment must be undertaken to assess the need for 
accommodation-based domestic abuse support across Leicestershire for all 
victims.  This work has commenced. Data is currently being collated from 
numerous agencies and engagement with victims and survivors of DA has been 
ongoing to collate information about their experiences.   The national DA charity 
SafeLives is assisting with this Needs Assessment. 

 
20. The Needs Assessment will inform the development of a Strategy for the 

provision of support to cover Leicestershire and inform commissioning / de-
commissioning decisions. The first draft of the Need Assessment will be received 
by 17 October 2021.  

 
21. The Department of Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has 

stipulated that where authorities are aware of gaps in service provision for victims 
of DA, commissioning can begin and direct awards can be made before the 
Needs Assessment is published. A workshop was held with partners including 
district councils, Police and DA Service providers in August 2021 where the gaps 
in service provision were identified and the commissioning process to plug these 
gaps has commenced.  The Comprehensive Spending Review will inform 
whether further funding will be allocated. 

 
Funding 
 

22. Funding has been allocated by the DLUHC to support all of this work; The County 
Council has received £1,127,205 whilst each district council has received 
approximately £33,000. 

 
23. A Leicestershire DA Act and Funding Group has been convened, by the County 

Council, to support the response across Leicestershire. Membership includes all 
district council’s, County Council Departments (Children and Family Services, 
Adult Social Care and Public Health), Police and DA service providers. 

238



The Draft Strategy 
 

24. It is a requirement of the DA Act 2021 to produce a DA Reduction Strategy and to 
consult on this in order to retain the £1.1m. The draft Strategy must be published 
by 26 October 2021; a pre-draft will be published on the corporate website. The 
final Strategy must be published by 5 January 2022 and the funding must be 
spent or at least allocated by 31 March 2022. 

 
25. Timescales are tight. The draft Leicestershire DA Reduction Strategy 2021-24 will 

have five priorities: 
 

i. Early Intervention and Prevention 
ii. Targeted Support 
iii. Reachable Services 
iv. DA Act (Part 4) - Safe Accommodation 
v. Strong Partnerships  

 
26. Further detail is included in the Appendix to this report. These will be developed 

further over the coming weeks based on feedback received to date, the 
consultation outcomes and in light of the Needs Assessment.  

 
27. An implementation plan will be developed and led by the Community Safety 

Team to deliver the Strategy. Progress against the implementation plan will be 
monitored by the Director of Children and Family Services and the Children and 
Family Services DA Strategic Group, Chaired by the Assistant Director for 
Targeted Early Help and Social Care.  Progress information will also be shared 
with partners and key stakeholders to ensure alignment across the system.   

 
Consultation 
 

28. An 8-week public consultation is planned take place from 26 October to 21 
December 2021 seeking feedback on the draft Strategy. Feedback from the 
consultation will be incorporated into the final Strategy.  

 
29. The planned consultation, which is required by legislation, will involve the 

Scrutiny Commission, the DA Board, the district councils and other key 
stakeholders, as well as victims and survivors.   

 
30. The consultation will involve group and individual workshops with victims and 

survivors of DA, including children and young people; questionnaires, surveys 
and forums.  The consultation will be promoted through the the Council’s website, 
social media, traditional media outlets such as radio stations.    

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

31. As part of the development of the final Strategy a full Equality Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will be undertaken to identify equality and human 
rights issues that needed to be incorporated into the final Strategy. The EHRIA 
will be finalised following results of the consultation. The findings from the EHRIA 

239



will be embedded in the Strategy’s subsequent implementation plan and regularly 
reviewed as part of the performance monitoring arrangements.  

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

32. Domestic Abuse has far reaching impacts on individual health, families, and 
communities.  

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

33. One of the priorities in the draft Strategy focusses of Strong Partnerships 
outlining a partnership approach to tackling Domestic Abuse. The priorities 
identified within this strategy have been developed based on an understanding of 
needs in relation to Domestic Abuse.  

 

Background Papers 

 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021- https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted 

 

Appendix 

Outline of the Draft Leicestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 

240

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


Appendix 

The draft Leicestershire DA Reduction Strategy 2021-24 - Overview 
 
The draft Leicestershire DA Reduction Strategy 2021-24 will five priorities: 
 
1. Early Intervention and Prevention 

 Where are we now:  
  - GAPS in services and what’s working well 
 

 What do we want to achieve:  
  - Promote prevention from an early age  
  - upskilling of front line officers/staff 
 

 How will we get there: 
  - Raising Awareness & Education 
  - Multi Agency DA Training 
  - Healthy Schools Work (Public Health) 
  - DA Toolkit and Champions (Children and Family Service) 
  - Trauma Informed Services and Practice 
  - Corporate DA Support Policy for Staff 
  - Work with Perpetrators 
 
2. Targeted Support 
 

 Where are we now: 
 - Experiences related to Protected Characteristics and additional   
 vulnerabilities  
 

 What do we want to achieve:  
 - Support services for specific communities 
 

 How will we get there: 
- Commission Targeted Services eg BAME; substance misuse and 
mental health; young people; older victims; victims with disabilities  

 
3. Reachable Services 
 

 Where are we now: 
 - Impact of Covid, Communications, Rural County 
 

 What do we want to achieve:  
 - Victims able to access services when and where they need them 
 

 How will we get there: 
  - Co-ordinated Community Response including Community Champions 
  - Partnership Working 
  - Consideration of  Impact of Trauma 
  - Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 

241



- Engagement: Authentic Victim Voice  
- Communication Plan 

 
4. DA Act (Part 4) – Safe Accommodation 
 

 Where are we now: 
 - Current provision, gaps, what is the need 
 

 What do we want to achieve:  
 - Enable/support victims and families to remain in their home  
 - Accessible supported accommodation 
 - DA support, including therapeutic and peer support from within 
 

 How will we get there 
 - Safe Accommodation (accessible and appropriate) 
 - Domestic Abuse Housing Accreditation (DAHA) 
 - Leicestershire Housing Reciprocal 
 
5. Strong Partnerships 

 

 Where are we now: 
  -Current partnership landscape 
 

 What do we want to achieve:  
  - DA Partnership Board (Act),  
  - Strong Resilient Partnerships 

 - Multi agency response to Domestic Homicides / post separation 
abuse 

 

 How will we get there: 
  - Vulnerability Executive 
  - MARAC review recommendations  
  - Domestic Homicide Review Recommendations 
  - Response to DA (LLR meeting which LCC Chair)  
  - County DA Act Working Group 
  - CFS Strategic Group (Chaired by AD CFS)  

 
 

 

242



 

CABINET - 26 OCTOBER 2021  
 

0-19 HEALTHY CHILD PROGRAMME –  
PROCUREMENT OF NEW SERVICE MODEL 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report   
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of the 

consultation on the proposed new model for the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme 
and to seek approval of the final service model, appended to the report at 
Appendix A, so that procurement can commence. 

 
Recommendations  

 
2. It is recommended that; 

 
a) The comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, detailed in 

paragraphs 42-43 of the report, be noted; 
b) The outcome of the consultation on the proposed model for the 0-19 

Healthy Child Programme be noted;  
c) The Healthy Child Programme Service model as detailed in paragraphs 

41-47 of the report, and attached at Appendix A, be approved;  
d) The Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Director of Corporate 

Resources, be authorised to commence the procurement process in order 
that contracts can be awarded with effect from 1 September 2022.  

 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. The Healthy Child Programme (HCP) contains statutory functions that the 

Public Health grant has to commission or provide. This includes five universal 
health visiting checks for families and delivery of the National Child 
Measurement Programme (NCMP) in schools.  
 

4. The Government’s review - 1001 Critical Days – conducted in March 2021 
recommended best practice across the health system to ensure babies, 
children and their parents get the best possible start in life by adding two 
additional touch points (3-4 months contact and 3-3 ½ years review) for Health 
Visiting.  
 

5. The current contract is due to expire on 31 August 2022 and cannot be 
extended.  

243 Agenda Item 8



 
6. The proposed service model will enable improvements to integrate universal 

health services with early years and other education and social care services to 
improve the health and wellbeing of children and young people through health 
and development reviews, health improvement and parenting support. 
 

7. Covid-19 has exacerbated some of the issues with the current service offer and 
there is a need to review and improve the HCP preventative offer to address 
the increases in demand and ensure interventions are in place to ease demand 
on other services such as Emergency Departments and children’s mental 
health services.  
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)   
 

8. A formal eight-week public consultation exercise to seek views on the proposed 
new delivery model commenced on 22 July until 20 September 2021. Further 
consultation continued until the end of September with schools to ascertain the 
views of children and young people in school settings.  
 

9. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the proposals at its 
meeting on 1 September 2021.  The Chairman and Spokesmen of the Children 
and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee were also invited to that 
meeting. The Committee supported the proposed new model and its 
comments, along with those of other consultees, are set out in Part B of the 
report.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions   
 
10. In May 2016, the Cabinet authorised the Director of Public Health in 

consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources to award the contracts 
for the provision of a 0-19 Healthy Child Programme with effect from 1 April 
2017 until 31 March 2022. Following internal processes, approval was sought in 
January 2021 from the Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Legal 
Services, to extend the contract until 31 August 2022 to ensure a reasonable 
timeframe to explore options and re-procure services to avoid any gaps in 
provision.   
 

11. The proposed HCP priorities align with the County Council’s Strategic Plan 
2018-22 which aims to be ‘Working together for the benefit of everyone’ and in 
particular, the wellbeing and opportunity objective which states that people 
need to be enabled to take control of their own health and wellbeing throughout 
their lives, and for the Council to support the population to stay well through 
prevention and early intervention. The HCP Best Start in Life principles are key 
to embedding the vision of Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Communities 
Strategy to “improve health outcomes for the local population and manage 
future demand on service.”   

 
12. The service and wider children’s public health offer also contributes to the 

preventive health element of the Leicestershire Children and Young People’s 
Plan – Priority 5 – good physical and mental health.  

244



 

13. The Healthy Child Programme (HCP), (Department of Health (DH 2009), the 
Rapid Review (2015) and the NHS Long Term Plan (2019) provides a 
framework to support the delivery of cost effective early intervention and 
preventative public health services to improve outcomes for children and young 
people aged 0-19 years.  

 
14. There is new national commissioning guidance “Healthy Child Programme 0 to 

19: Health Visitor and School Nurse Commissioning” for those delivering 
maternal and children’s public health services from preconception onwards. 
The guidance has been refreshed and contains new evidence, policy and 
suggested additional material to support implementation. It focuses on the 
contribution of public health nursing services leading and co-ordinating the 
delivery of public health for children aged 0 to 19. The proposed service model 
reflects the changes to how services are commissioned and provided locally. 

 

15. The Cabinet agreed to consult on the proposed service model at its meeting on 
20 July 2021. The consultation exercise took place between 22 July and 20 
September, the findings of which are summarised in paragraphs 35 to 39 of the 
report.  

 
Resource Implications   
 
16. The current budget for the 0-19 Healthy Child programme is £8.5m from the 

Public Health Grant. The budget has been considered based on current spend. 
Further consideration has been given to how this will be apportioned across the 
age groups-based on population size, which are 0-11 and 11-19 up to age 25 
for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), identified 
need, outcomes of the consultation and the mandatory elements of the 0-11 
service. The budget will be apportioned on an 80-20 split for 0-11 and 11-19 
years.  
 

17. There are no cash savings identified for this contract, however, the new 
provider will be expected to manage predicted growth within the financial 
envelope.  The Council is looking to potentially provide upfront costs to support 
with mobilisation of the programme but this will be reviewed as part of the 
procurement process and working closely with finance business partners and 
the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) colleagues to formulate this as part of 
the contract. 

 
18. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 

  

245



Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure   
 

19. This report has been circulated to all members of the County Council.  
 
Officers to Contact    
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 4259 email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Kelly-Marie Evans, Consultant in Public Health 
Public Health Dept  
Tel: 0116 305 5384 email: kelly-marie.evans@leics.gov.uk   
 
Sham Mahmood, Strategic Commissioner, Children and Young People 
Public Health Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 1644 email: sham.mahmood@leics.gov.uk  
 
  

246

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:kelly-marie.evans@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sham.mahmood@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background   
 
20. The 0-19 HCP is the only universal health service provided to children of pre-

school age aimed at early intervention and prevention which focuses on a 
preventative service for children and families. It offers key opportunities to 
assess the home environment, relationships between family members, 
parenting skills and development needs of the individual child and provides an 
invaluable opportunity to identify families that need additional support and 
children who are at risk of poor outcomes. This early contact informs the 
support offered to the family by the Public Health nursing team and can shape 
the offer to the family from other health, education and social care 
professionals.It also provides families with a programme of health and 
development reviews, supplemented by advice around health, wellbeing and 
parenting.  

 
21. The HCP is a statutory responsibility of the local authority. This current 0-19 

HCP service has been commissioned from April 2017 to August 2022 and the 
current contract is held by the Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). 

 
22. Engagement with partners and a public consultation was undertaken to inform 

the proposed service model, areas for improvement and development were 
identified. These improvements have been taken into account in the redesign 
and development of the proposed service model, to ensure HCP services 
continue to improve outcomes for children, young people and their families or 
carers. 

 
Review of current service model 
 
23. The current service includes the delivery of the healthy child programme for 

children, young people and their families.  In addition to the provision for 0-19-
year-olds, young people aged 19-25 years with SEND are provided with a 
digital offer.  

  
24. Currently, the 0 to 5 years element of the HCP is led by health visiting services 

and the 5 to 19 years element is led by school nursing services. Together they 
provide place-based services and work in partnership with education and other 
providers where needed. The universal reach of the HCP provides an 
invaluable opportunity from early in a child’s life to identify families that may 
need additional support and support children who are at risk of poor outcomes 
to get the best start in life and build resilience.  

 
25. The current service is structured on an evidence-based model for both health 

visiting and school nursing (known as the 4-5-6 model), with additional 
emphasis on identified local needs. This is based on four levels of service, five 
contact points with children and young people, and six high impact areas.  

 
  

247



Four levels of service include:  
 

1. Community,  
2. Universal,  
3. Universal Plus  
4. Universal Partnership Plus. 

 
Five mandated checks/contact points 

 
1. Antenatal review 
2. New Birth Visit 
3. 6-8 week check 
4. 10-12 months check  
5. 2 and 2 ½ year review 

 
Six High Impact Areas for Maternity and Early Years 

1. Transition to parenthood 
2. Maternal mental health 
3. Breastfeeding 
4. Healthy weight 
5. Managing minor illness and accident prevention 
6. Healthy 2-year olds and school readiness. 

 
Six High Impact Areas for school aged children 

 
1. Supporting resilience and wellbeing 
2. Improving health behaviours and reducing risk taking  
3. Supporting healthy lifestyles 
4. Supporting vulnerable young people and improving health inequalities  
5. Supporting complex and additional health and wellbeing needs  
6. Promoting self-care and improving health literacy prevention 

 
26. Nationally the 4-5-6 model has been abandoned, as it has been recognised 

that health visitors do more than just the five mandated checks, and this has 
been reflected in the new proposed local service model. 

 
27. Reviewing the performance of this current contract was difficult due to the 

impact of COVID-19, so performance was reviewed using performance data 
from 2019 and 2020. Areas identified for improvement were breastfeeding, the 
12-month review and the 2 and half year checks. There was little performance 
data available for the 5-19 year elements of the service, so Health Needs 
Assessments and the public consultation has been used to inform areas of 
improvement.    

 

28. There will not be significant changes for the 0-11 service age group because 
many services in this area are statutory. Instead, the Council intends to look for 
ways to achieve more consistent practice and an improved offer to families and 
professionals. 

 

248



Health Needs Assessment  
 

29. A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), Best Start in Life (0-5) and 
Children and Young People’s Physical Health (5-19) were carried out in 2018 to 
determine health needs of young people in the County. The summary of these 
health needs assessments was updated as part of the recommissioning 
process and outlined the differing needs of children 0-11 and those of older 
school aged children and young people. The JSNA highlighted the following 
key issues: 

 
i. significant numbers of children living in poverty, particularly in areas of 

deprivation.  

ii. significant numbers of children at risk of homelessness. 

iii. significant number of children exposed to the impacts of domestic 

violence. 

iv. recommendations focusing on breastfeeding initiation, take up is low but 

improves relatively at 10 weeks.  

v. recommendation to develop an agreed trauma informed approach to 

supporting children and young people who have experienced Adverse 

Childhood Experiences to build their resilience. 

vi. significant improvement needed around perinatal mental health; on 

average teenage mothers are more at risk of developing postnatal 

depression.  

vii. maternal obesity; overweight and obese BMI at the time of their booking 

slightly above national average. 

viii. children in Leicestershire have better than average levels of obesity; 
although 11.6% of children aged 4-5 years and 30.6% of children aged 
10-11 years are overweight or obese (excess weight). (Public Health 
Outcomes Framework 2019). Children underweight is increasing and 
relatively worse than national average.   

 
30. Officers have also looked at what other Council areas are doing or have done, 

to innovate service and improve outcomes. A more detailed JSNA summary 
update is attached at Appendix B.  

 
Engagement with Partner Agencies, Schools and General Public 

 
31. Engagement was conducted with partner agencies prior to the formal 

consultation period through virtual workshops and focus groups looking at both 
the 0-11 and 11-19 service offers. This  highlighted areas for service 
improvement and confirmed the areas of need identified for the 11-19 years’ 
service as mental health and emotional wellbeing, namely body image and self-
esteem, physical health and nutrition, building healthy relationships and 
preventing substance misuse (namely alcohol) as clear priorities for children 
and young people aged 11-19. Partner agencies included the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Health providers and Children, Families and Wellbeing 
services, School Headteachers and pastoral care leads, Youth Justice and the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. Findings from the engagement 
exercise informed the proposed model and format of the consultation. 

249



 

 

The Consultation Process 
 

32. The formal consultation was conducted for eight weeks between 22 July and 20 
September 2021, extended from 16 September.  

 
33. The consultation was shared on the County Council’s website, promoted by 

email to schools, with local communities through social media including Twitter 
and Facebook. The consultation consisted of a variety of questionnaires and 
surveys determined by the demographics of the consultation groups, 
workshops with professionals, staff and Head teachers and one-to-one 
interviews with parents. The consultation was also shared with voluntary and 
community groups through the Council’s Communities teams and with 
Leicestershire Equalities Challenge group, chair of Leicestershire Parents 
SEND Hub and Leicestershire Adoption and Fostering group. 

 

34. Feedback received from parents and carers, professionals working with 
children and families in Social Care, Education and Youth Justice was positive 
and contributed to the development of the service model. Service users were 
surveyed about their experience of the current service model and where 
improvements could be made. 
 

35. Engagement events were held with partners such as Health (NHS) i.e. 
Maternity services, University Hospital Leicestershire (UHL) services, Clinical 
Commissioning group and via partnership working groups such as perinatal 
mental health; children’s design groups such as Children and young people’s 
mental health and emotional wellbeing group.  

 

36. Additional consultation with schools and children and young people to ensure 
their views were included ran until 30 September 2021 to better understand 
how services could be accessed and to identify priorities. Focus groups were 
also held with County Council staff who had experience of maternity services.  

 
Consultation Results 
 

37. There was a total of 117 survey responses to the public consultation, 242 
responses from schools and over 3200 responses from children and young 
people via the Health-related behaviour questionnaire. A summary report of the 
outcome of the consultation is attached at Appendix C. In summary, feedback 
showed that:   

 

i. The 0-11 Service would benefit from:  

 the resumption of health visiting contacts following the pandemic, 

 joined up working for early year reviews  

 support with referrals for children with additional needs or complex needs   

 a named Health Visitor 

250



 support for staff in schools who work with most vulnerable children 

 support for women postnatally  

   

ii. The 11+ service would benefit from: 
 

 fostering emotional wellbeing and resilience for older children 

 a named health lead with access to health records 

 a telephone/online support to seek advice 

 specialists to talk to for specific areas of concern such as mental health and 
emotional wellbeing 

 contributions from Health (NHS) to Education and Health Care plans (EHCP) 
 

38. To gain an understanding of the experience of children and young people using 
the service - a separate consultation for children and young people was 
conducted. This resulted in over 240 responses. A focus group was also held 
with children and young people involved with the youth justice service to 
understand their experiences from using the service. Key messages received 
were around access to the service and, that it was in an environment where 
young people felt comfortable, maintaining privacy and confidentiality e.g. a 
phone call could be heard by parents, so many teenagers prefer Apps or online 
for confidentiality purposes.  

 

39. In addition, the Health-Related Behaviour Questionnaires have been completed 
by primary and secondary school pupils across the County.  There have been 
over 3200 responses. The survey asked how they would like to access the 
service and the types of issues that concern them. This will inform future service 
specification and delivery. A summary of the findings is included at Appendix C. 
Key messages include;  

 

 25% of Year 6 pupils worried ‘quite a lot’ or ’a lot’ about ‘feeling sad or 
upset a lot of the time’; 31% of Year 8 pupils and 37% of Year 10 pupils 
reported the same 

 32% of Year 6 pupils worried ‘quite a lot’ or ‘a lot’ about ‘the way they 
look’; 36% of Year 8 pupils and 42% of Year 10 pupils reported the same. 

 17% of pupils responded that they do not do as much exercise or sport as 
they want because they are shy in front of others, 15% said they were 
uncomfortable about their looks. 

 When somebody wants them to do something they don’t want to do, 51% 
of pupils said they could ‘usually or always’ say ‘no’. 16% said they were 
‘rarely’ or ‘never’ able to say ‘no’. 

 2% of the Year 6 pupils reported having an alcoholic drink in the week 
before the survey. 12% of Year 8 pupils and 36% of Year 10 pupils said 
they had drunk alcohol in the week before the survey. 

 2% of Year 6 pupils, 10% of Year 8 pupils and 27% of Year 10 pupils 
reported that they had been offered drugs. 

 14% of pupils responded that they got less than 5 hours sleep the night 
before the survey. 28% of pupils worry about getting enough sleep. 

 

251



40. In the current situation of a global pandemic it has not been possible to carry 
out face-to-face meetings. Engagement and consultations were managed 
through a range of media, both internally and externally and through virtual 
meetings. This included newsletters, social media and emails as well as 
information being posted on the Council’s website with regular reminders to 
stakeholders encouraging them to comment.  

 

41. A Prior Information Notice (PIN) was issued in August to engage with potential 
providers to discuss services currently in the market and any options or 
considerations for the Council. There was a lot of interest suggesting there is a 
market for delivery of the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme. Providers included 
NHS Foundation Trusts, voluntary and community sector organisations and 
not-for-profit organisations. Consequently, it is considered in the public interest 
to go to the open market to demonstrate the Council’s best value duty for these 
services. 

 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Comments and Officer Response. 
 

42. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report at its 
meeting on 1 September 2021 as part of the consultation. The Committee 
welcomed the programme and raised concerns about the need for 
conversations to be held with headteachers in Leicestershire regarding the 
support that could be offered in relation to mental health and wellbeing in 
schools. They also sought reassurance that data confidentiality would be 
maintained by health visiting services and that tackling alcohol misuse in young 
people would also be included. Members were reassured that, in addition to the 
five universal checks, there were several other initiatives which addressed the 
welfare of children at an early age. The Committee was pleased that 
consideration would be given to the emotional impact of Covid-19 and that 
breastfeeding rates and childhood obesity was being addressed as a key 
priority across Leicestershire.  
 

43. The comments raised by the Committee are being addressed as part of 
development of the 0-19 programme. 

  
Proposed Service Model  
 
44. Following review of the existing service provision and consultation feedback 

received, the County Council has a revised service model covering 0-11 aged 
children and their families and 11-19 (up to 25 for children with SEND) aged 
children and young people on the pathway to ensure improved health and 
wellbeing. It was recognised these services need to work together for the best 
interest of the family and ensure smooth transition from primary to secondary 
school.  

 
45. The service model focuses on the statutory elements of the HCP and has 

targeted support to encompass a focus on a whole family approach to public 
health nursing. It was noted in the consultation and engagement feedback that 
a family’s needs do not stop at age 5 and support given needs to consider the 
whole family unit.  

252



 

46. Alongside the six high impact areas the priorities related to the 11-19 age group 
needed to be focused on areas that will prevent needs escalating to higher cost 
services and therefore reducing attendance at emergency departments. Further 
detail of the proposed service model is attached at Appendix A.  

 
47. The key elements of the proposed service model comprise of separating the 0-

11-year olds elements of the service as they are based on mandated checks 
and identified unmet need early. While the elements of the 11+ service still 
need to be preventative and working with the family, there are particular needs 
that have been identified that need to be focused on. The JSNA summary is the 
latest data available to officers and, along with the consultation findings, has 
identified the local priorities as: 

 

0-11 priorities 

 Emotional wellbeing; anxiety, low mood and self-esteem. 

 Healthy lifestyles: maintaining and achieving healthy weight as a family. 

 Delayed communication, i.e. speech and language development 

 Fine and gross motor skills 

 Oral Health 
 

11+ priorities 

 Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing: anxiety, body image, self-
esteem, and resilience  

 Healthy relationships (including consent, domestic violence, peer to peer 
violence norms)  

 Healthy Lifestyles: maintaining and achieving healthy weight 

 Substance Misuse: cannabis and alcohol abuse.  

 Sleep 
 

48. The new service model will allow services to better integrate with Council’s 
Children and Family Wellbeing services and with other relevant services, 
creating clearer pathways and effectively targeting and making services more 
accessible to meet the needs of children and young people.   

 

49. It is intended that the key elements of the service, including all the mandated 
universal contacts for Public Health nursing and the statutory provision of the 
National Childhood Measurement Programme will remain unchanged. 
However, service improvements will be built in with the additional contact points 
for the 0-11 service which are 3-4 months check which will be offered digitally 
and a 3 ½ year point check which will be offered face-to-face to pick up 
development delays in preparation for school.  

 

50. Services for secondary-aged children will be a universal prevention offer and 
will build on the County Council’s Healthy Schools Programme. Targeted 
support, in collaboration with the Children and Family Services Department 
such as Youth Justice, Children and Families Wellbeing Service, will ensure a 
service fit for purpose and will make a difference to the health and wellbeing of 
children and young people.   

253



 
 

Procurement Timescales and Contract Management:   
 
51. The current timescales for procurement are:  

 
i. End of October 2021 - invitation to tender documentation ready  
ii. End of November/Early December 2021 - tender opportunity published. 
iii. 1 September 2022 – contract awarded. 

 
52. The length of the contract will be three years with an option to extend for a 

further three years. 
 
53. A robust monitoring system is in place that provides evidence with regards to 

the scale of reach across Leicestershire and the impact that the 0-19 HCP is 
having on the lives of children and their families. An Assurance Board will 
oversee the performance of the new service and there will be monthly 
performance contract meetings with the provider.  

 
Conclusion 

 
54. The public consultation demonstrated the need to adapt the current service 

offer to best meet the needs of children and young people in the County. 
Priorities were identified and confirmed through the surveys with children, 
young people, families and professionals who work with them. Schools were 
keen to highlight the mental health and emotional impact of the current climate 
which exacerbated the low mood and anxiety felt by children and young people. 
The new service model, in particular the 11-19 service, will prioritise mental 
health and emotional wellbeing alongside achieving and maintaining a healthy 
weight, building healthy relationships and preventing substance misuse. 
Coupled with identified areas for improvement in the 0-11 Public Health Nursing 
Service, the proposed service model will contribute to ensuring that Children 
and Young People growing up in Leicestershire get the best start for life and 
reach their full potential. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   

 
55. The 0-19 Health Child Programme is a universal service and so will affect all 

children and young people growing up in Leicestershire.  In addition, the 
service is already available to young people up to the age of 25 who have 
SEND.  

 
56. An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening 

questionnaire was completed to ensure the model did not adversely affect any 
section of the community and that there would be a positive impact on 
individuals or community groups who identify with any of the ‘protected 
characteristics’. Additionally, the Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group was 
consulted to ensure that diverse communities across the County were reached. 

254



The Screening document showed that there were no adverse impacts and so a 
full EHRIA was not therefore required. 

 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

57. The Healthy Child Programme operates within a complex landscape for both 
commissioners and service providers. It is essential therefore that the 0 -19 
service is designed and delivered in close partnership with a wide range of 
organisations. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
58. The 0-19 Service aims to reduce a number of current risks identified within the 

wider health system, however, there remain some potential risks which could 
impact on the successful delivery of the HCP, for example recruitment and 
retention of health visitors is a national issue. Working closely with the 
universities to establish Specialist Community Public Health Nursing courses to 
help address local training programme. 

 
59. There are no cash savings identified for this contract, however, the 3-4 months 

is already offered digitally within the current funding, therefore, cost implications 
for additional check at 3½ years (between 2-2 ½ assessment and starting 
school) as recommended by the 1001 Critical Days review will need to be 
considered as a potential risk to the budget. Some monies have been set aside 
to support the mobilisation plan and could support embedding the programme 
at the start of the contract working closely with CSU colleagues and finance 
business partners to formulate this as part of the contract.  

 
60. A risk assessment has been undertaken as part of the transformation project 

and a risk log is kept and scrutinised by the 0-19 Public Health Transformation 
Delivery Group and the 0-19 Service Project Board. 

 
Background Papers   
 
Leicestershire’s 2018-2021 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
http://www.lsr-online.org/jsna.html 
 
Healthy Child Programme 0 to 19: Health Visitor and School Nurse Commissioning 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning 

 
Report to the Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – Development of the 0-19 Healthy Child 
Programme – Proposed Consultation 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=6445#AI68200 
  
Appendices 
 
Appendix A:  0-19 Heathy Child Programme Proposed Service Model  
Appendix B: JSNA Summary Update 
Appendix C:  Summary Engagement and Consultation Feedback   

255

http://www.lsr-online.org/jsna.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=6445#AI68200


 
 
 

256



Appendix A: HCP Proposed Service Model                                     

 

Supporting Children and Young People to be Healthy  

 

This document details the proposed approach to the future Leicestershire 0-19 Healthy Child 

Programme.  

The Healthy Child Programme (HCP) provides a universal service for children and families in 

Leicestershire and Rutland to improve their physical and mental health.  It is available to all children 

and young people aged 0-19 and young people up to age 25 who have SEND (special educational 

needs and disabilities) or who have left care at 18 years.  

The service is split into two areas, 0-11 years and 11+ age groups.  

0-11 years of age Public Health Nursing Service for Leicestershire 

Revised: From 0-10 to 11 years of age include transition into secondary school 

Core elements of the 0-11 Public Health Nursing Service include:  

 Five mandated checks: 
o Antenatal contact at 28 weeks 
o New birth visit at 10-14 days 
o 6-8 week check 
o 10-12 review 
o 2 – 2 and half year check   

 
 Additional two checks – 3-4 months & 3- 3 ½ year check 

 
 Delivery of National Childhood Measurement Programme (NCMP) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The service will focus in on the six high impact areas of need and put in place support to enable 
children and young people to achieve their full potential and be physically and emotionally healthy 
leading to a productive adulthood.  
 

 

Six High Impact Areas for Maternity and 

Early Years: 

1. Transition to parenthood 
2. Maternal mental health 
3. Breastfeeding 
4. Healthy weight 
5. Managing minor illness and 

accident prevention 
6. Healthy 2-year olds and school 

readiness. 
 

Six High impact Areas for school aged children 

1. Supporting resilience and wellbeing 
2. Improving health behaviours and reducing risk taking  
3. Supporting healthy lifestyles 
4. Supporting vulnerable young people and improving health 

inequalities  
5. Supporting complex and additional health and wellbeing 

needs  
6. Promoting self-care and improving health literacy prevention 

257



2 
 

 

 The service proposals have taken into account the key recommendations from the government’s 

national review; 1001 Critical Days. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-

for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days . 

The key recommendations are:  

Ensuring families have access to the services they need  

1. Seamless support for families: a coherent joined up Start for Life offer available to all 

families.  

2. A welcoming hub for families: Family Hubs as a place for families to access Start for Life 

services. 

3. The information families need when they need it: designing digital, virtual and telephone 

offers around the needs of the family. 

Ensuring the Start for Lifei system is working together to give families the support they need  

4. An empowered Start for Life workforce: developing a modern skilled workforce to meet the 

changing needs of families.  

5. Continually improving the Start for Life offer: improving data, evaluation, outcomes and 

proportionate inspection.  

6. Leadership for change: ensuring local and national accountability and building the economic 

case. 

Local Priorities include: 

Conception to birth 

 Transition to parenthood 

 Smoking cessation in early pregnancy 

 Maternal mental health and harmful drug and alcohol use 

 Intimate partner violence. 

 Maternal Healthy Weight 
 

Birth to 12 months 

 Low-birthweight infants 

 Breastfeeding uptake and continuation 

 Exposure to second-hand smoke 

 Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) 

 Safe sleeping 

 Attachment security 

 Early language development 

 Maternal/Perinatal mental health 

 Preventing unintentional injury 

 Reducing child abuse and neglect. 
 

Post 12 months 

 Achieving healthy maternal weight 

 Improving oral health  

 Achieving and maintaining healthy child weight 

 Emotional wellbeing; anxiety, low mood and self-esteem 

258

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


3 
 

 

Different ways of working with children, young people and families include:  

 Face to face support (at home, at clinics, at educational settings or other venues)  

 Telephone support  

 Text support  

 Signposting to online resources  

 Social media  

 Video conferencing  

 Apps  

 Automated messaging  

 Attendance at multi-agency meetings with the family  

 Alignment with partners who work with the same families (e.g. children and family centres)  
 
 

On the 0-11 Service for Leicestershire, consultation feedback suggested that the service would 

benefit from:  

 more face to face contact  

 support with referrals for children with additional needs or complex needs   

 a named Health Visitor 

 a named lead with access to Health records to work with schools 

 support for staff in schools who work with most vulnerable children 

 support for women postnatally  

 

There will not be significant changes for the 0-11 service age group because many services in this 

area are statutory. Instead, the council intends to look for ways to achieve more consistent practice 

and an improved offer to families and professionals. 

Table 1: 0-11 Service 

Element of the existing 0-11 

Service 

 The current level of 

service delivery  

Feedback from the 

engagement activity  

Proposals for adjusting the existing 

service delivery  

Five mandated checks Currently provided  

Not full-service offer 

Face to Face to continue 

Missed checks (impact of 

covid)  

Provided but with an additional 

check between age 3-4 months 

(digitally) and 2-2 ½ and school age 

as recommended in the national 

review. 

Six High Impact Areas - 

Parenthood and early weeks 

1. Maternal mental 

health; 

2. Breastfeeding; 

3. transition to 

parenthood; 

4. Healthy weight; 

5. Minor illnesses and 

Provided plus one on 

oral health as a local 

priority 

Additional support around 

speech, language and 

communication needs and 

those with special needs. 

 

Support for women with 

postnatal depression 

The 6 high impact areas were 

reviewed nationally and are now as 

follows: 

1. Supporting Maternal and 

Family mental health (New) 

2. Supporting the transition to 

parenthood (current) 

3. Supporting breastfeeding 

(Current) 

259



4 
 

accidents; 

6. Healthy 2 year old 

and getting ready for 

school. 

4. Supporting healthy weight 

and Nutrition (New) 

5. Improving health literacy; 

reducing accidents and 

minor illnesses (New) 

6. Supporting health, wellbeing 

and development: Ready to 

learn, narrowing the ‘word 

gap’ (New) 

Local priorities are Oral Health and 

Achieving and maintaining healthy 

weight 

Early prevention and 

intervention support (Early 

Help) 

Provided 

More engagement with: 

- Early years 

settings  

- Children’s & 

Families 

Wellbeing service 

0-2 pathway 

- Maternity 

Services 

Better joined up working with Early 

years settings and Children and 

Families Wellbeing services to 

deliver a holistic offer; to include 0-2 

pathway and 2 to school pathway 

Integrated reviews with Early Years 

Settings 

 

Safeguarding Provided 

Missed or delayed checks 

impact on most 

vulnerable as potential 

opportunities not picked 

up. 

To continue providing safeguarding 

Clarity around roles and 

responsibilities.   

Support to Leicestershire 

Families 

Not provided or 

limited provision 

Engagement and 

partnership working to 

improve offer to families. 

More joined up work with Children 

and Families Services, e.g. closer 

working between early years 

settings and Health Visitors. 

Joined Up Offer (prenatal) 

Provided through 

work with maternity 

and midwifery 

Better communication 

with Maternity services 

and Children and Families 

Wellbeing service 

Improved working as per 1001 

Critical Days recommendations 

Joined Up Offer (postnatal) 

Provided through 

work with Children’s 

Centres 

Mental health support – 

low level anxiety and 

breastfeeding support. 

Improved working with Children’s 

Centres and 0-2 Pathway 

1001 Critical Days review 

recommendations 

Digital offer 

Chat Health 

Health for Under 5s, 

health for kids; Health 

Face to Face to continue 

Additional 3-4 months 

check to be provided 

Improved digital communication for 

both children, parents and carers 

and support to school professionals 

260



5 
 

 
 

 

11 – 19 age group Service for Leicestershire (up to 25 for CYP with SEND) 

On the 11+ service for Leicestershire, participants suggested that the service would benefit from: 

 a named health lead with access to health records 

 a telephone/online support to seek advice 

 specialists to talk to for specific areas of concern such as mental health and emotional 

wellbeing and special needs and disabilities 

 contributions from Health to Education and Health Care plans (EHCP) 

Local Priorities 

As a result of the survey and wider engagement with schools and professionals, additional local 

priorities were identified as follows:   

 Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing: anxiety, body image, self-esteem, resilience and 
eating disorders 

 Healthy relationships (including building healthy relationships, challenging social norms 
especially around domestic violence, peer to peer violence and consent)  

 Healthy Lifestyles: maintaining and achieving healthy weight 

 Substance Misuse: cannabis and alcohol abuse.  

 Sleep 
 

Proposed Changes to Service Delivery  

The tables below give an indication of how the council proposes to use the suggestions from the 

engagement activity and the recommendations from the national review to develop proposals for 

the council’s 0-19 universal health provision. The table is intended to give an indication of the broad 

direction of travel, based on current feedback.  

The vision for this service is to create an accessible, universal and targeted service to improve and 
health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities within Leicestershire communities. 

The 11+ age group services will build on the universal provision offered through the Public Health 

delivery arm. The 11 plus service will be targeted to support children and young people transition 

into secondary school and ensure appropriate support is available focussing on the six high impact 

areas and defined local priorities as a result of the consultation. The aim is to look for ways to 

achieve more consistent approach to practice and an improved offer to families and professionals. 

Table 2: 11+ Service  

for Teens webpages digitally.  

NCMPii Provided  To continue 

Element of the existing 

11+ Service 

 The current level of 

service delivery  

Feedback from the 

engagement activity  

Potential proposals for adjusting 

the existing service delivery  

Transition into Transition into Ongoing support  Service continues at a universal 

261



6 
 

secondary school and 

appropriate adult 

services  

secondary schools 

and into adult 

services through 

health needs 

assessments 

Support with Education 

Health Care Plans 

level but with strengthened 

provision to investigate and then 

address gaps resulting from Covid 

Services have a universal reach for 

all children and young people. 

Services are targeted  to meet 

individual needs and the early 

identification of additional  needs.  

Work with 0-11 service to ensure a 

smooth transition into secondary 

school. 

Transition into appropriate adult 

service is smooth and seamless.  

Current Six High Impact 

Areas 

1. Resilience and 

wellbeing 

2. Keeping Safe 

3. Healthy 

Lifestyles 

4. Maximising 

learning & 

achievement  

5. Supporting 

complex and 

additional 

health & 

wellbeing needs 

6. Transitions 

Provided service, 

somewhat limited.  

 

Feedback included that  

local priorities should 

include: 

 Mental Health and 

Emotional Wellbeing 

(building resilience)  

body image/self -

esteem, 

 Healthy Relationships  

 Healthy Lifestyles 

(physical activity and 

Nutrition)  

 Substance 

misuse/Alcohol 

 Sleep 

 Peer on peer violence 

Eating disorders 

The 6 high impact areas were 

reviewed nationally and are now as 

follows: 

1. Supporting resilience and 
wellbeing (Current) 

2. Improving health 
behaviours and reducing 
risk taking (New) 

3. Supporting healthy 
lifestyles (Current) 

4. Supporting vulnerable 
young people and 
improving health 
inequalities (New) 

5. Supporting complex and 
additional health and 
wellbeing needs (Current) 

6. Promoting self-care and 
improving health literacy 
(New) 

 

We will also address the local 
priorities identified through the 
engagement 

Training of school staff 

Training provided 

online but limited to 

epilepsy and asthma 

Supervision for school 

pastoral support staff.  

Supporting needs of 

children with complex 

needs.  

A programme of training based on 

school health profiles which is 

specific to each school 

Provision to children Not provided or Health offer for children The same level of support will be 

262



7 
 

 

Transitions into school and adult services 

Supporting transition for school aged children is a key element of the Healthy child programme, for 

example there is a focus on children ready to learn at the age of two and ready for school at age 5. 

The services will work to ensure smooth transition into secondary school.  

and YP excluded from 

school or home 

schooled 

limited service  who are home educated or 

excluded from school.  

provided but in the place of 

learning  

Provision to Looked 

After Children 

Not provided - Health 

offer for children in 

care is the same 

universal offer.  

Understand the needs of 

children on EHCP and 

contribute to plans to 

ensure Health input.  

Ensure staff undertaking IHA and 

RHA know what the offer from 

Public Health is so that they can 

then signpost children and YP to 

appropriate services 

Digital offer 

ChatHealth and 

Health for Teens 

webpages. 

ChatHealth not widely 

used by children and 

young people would prefer 

fact to face or an app as 

current follow up is often a 

call that parents can listen 

to.  

Understand the varying 

needs of those most 

vulnerable and 

appropriate support in 

place. 

Promote Rise Above website (PHE) 

through vehicles YP access 

First Contact (MECC+ training) 

C&FWBs: Schools Telephone 

Support line which is now expanded 

to cover whole county 

Work with Healthy Schools Website 

– local services offer for CYP. Widen 

scope of Healthy schools current 

Website.  

Support to children and 

young people with 

Special Needs aged 19 

and over 

Currently digital offer 

only. 

Supporting needs of 

children with complex 

needs. 

 

Children and young people to 

receive the same public Health 

universal offer to reflect the place 

of learning 

Healthy child 

programme offer in 

Special Schools 

Limited service 

provided. 

Supporting needs of 

children with complex 

needs. 

Children and young people to 

receive the same public Health 

universal offer but to reflect the 

place of learning 

Roles providing support 

are dedicated to 11+ 

age group 

School nursing 

provided as part of 

overall contract for 0-

19 services 

 

Recruitment and retention 

concerns 

Named lead for schools 

Skill mix 

11+ children and YP will receive 

support from a range of 

professionals based on need.  Some 

of this will be universal and some 

through targeted specialists, e.g. 

low level mental health and 

emotional wellbeing counselling 

263



8 
 

It is expected the service provider will work with adult services to ensure smooth transition for more 

vulnerable children (that are in mainstream schools), those who are in care or have additional needs 

and require adult services.  

Commissioning clinical support for children with additional health needs or long-term conditions and 

disabilities, including clinical support for example incontinence or diabetes, lies with NHS England 

and clinical commissioning groups, to ensure co-ordinated support across the life course -therefore 

not included within this service model 

 

  

                                                           
i
 Start for Life or Start4Life is a government campaign to support a better start in life for infants from birth, by 
providing healthcare professionals with accessible, concise information about the recommendations on 
breastfeeding, appropriate introduction of solid foods and active play. 
ii
 The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) measures the height and weight of children in 

Reception class (aged 4 to 5) and year 6 (aged 10 to 11), to assess overweight and obesity levels in children 
within primary schools. This programme will continue in line with government guidance.  

264



 
Appendix B - JSNA Summary Update 

Summary of Health Needs Assessment for the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme for Leicestershire 

 
Leicestershire is the 136th most deprived in the country. The total population of Leicestershire was estimated 
706,155 in 20191, an increase of 2.3 percent since 2017. There were approximately 7,953 more females (357,054) 
than males (349,101); the male population is rising at a fractionally slower rate (2.2 percent) compared to females 
(2.4 percent) since 2017.  
 
Compared with England, the population of Leicestershire is older, with higher proportions of the population aged 40-

64 (28.3 percent in the county compared with 27.3 percent in England) and 65 and over (20.5 percent compared 

with 18.4 percent for England). There were 159,752 children under the age of 19 in Leicestershire in 2019 (22.6 

percent of the population). 

 

Areas of Deprivation 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
 ONS Mid-year population estimates https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2019Mid-

yearPopulationEstimates/PopulationEstimates  

LSOA Map of National decile of index of multiple deprivation 

265

https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2019Mid-yearPopulationEstimates/PopulationEstimates
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2019Mid-yearPopulationEstimates/PopulationEstimates


 
Children Population 
There were 6,678 live births in Leicestershire in 2019, a decrease of 2.9% from 2018 and the lowest number of live 
births for the last six years. 
 

Between the ages of 0 and 24, males outnumber females in all quinary age bands. However, from the 25-29 age 
band onwards, females outnumber males (apart from the 60-64 age band); see below table showing the under 19s 
population; In 2019 Charnwood has the largest population (185,851) of Leicestershire districts, followed by Hinckley 
and Bosworth (113,136). Melton has the smallest population (51,209); Oadby & Wigston has the highest proportions 
of under 19s (13,890) with 24.4% and Melton has the lowest proportion with just 21.6%. The children’s population in 
Leicestershire is predicted to grow by up to 1.38% over the next 5 years.   
 
Figure 1: ONS Mid-year population estimates 2020 
 

Area All age 

population 

0-10 

population 

11-19 

population 

0-19 

population 

% of population 

0-19 

Leicestershire 713,085 86,359 74,330 160,689 22.5% 

Rutland 40,476 4,179 4,362 8,541 21.1% 

Blaby 101,950 13,166 10,363 23,529 23.1% 

Charnwood 188,416 22,101 20,618 42,719 22.7% 

Harborough 95,537 11,342 10,087 21,429 22.4% 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 
113,666 13,801 10,923 24,724 21.8% 

Melton 51,394 5,974 4,988 10,962 21.3% 

NW Leicestershire 104,809 12,899 10,380 23,279 22.2% 

Oadby & Wigston 57,313 7,076 6,971 14,047 24.5% 

 
 
 

 
 

• The majority of the Leicestershire population (88.9 percent) belong to White: British ethnic group. 
• The next largest ethnic group in Leicestershire is Asian: Indian (4.4 percent),  
• Followed by White: Other White (2.0 percent) and Asian: Other Asian (0.7 percent);  

Figure 2: Ethnicity-Leicestershire- Census data 2011.  

266



 
• New census data will be made available early 2022.  

 
 
NCMP 
The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) measures the height and weight of children in Reception class 
(aged 4 to 5) and year 6 (aged 10 to 11), to assess overweight and obesity levels in children within primary schools.  
 
Reception  

 Underweight Healthy 
weight 

Overweight Obese & 
Severely 
obese 

Severely 
Obese 

Overweight 
& Obese 

Leicestershire 1.3% 79.8% 11.6% 7.4% 2.0% 19.0% 

England 0.9% 76.1% 13.1% 9.9% 2.5% 23.0% 

 
 
 
 

 The proportion of Reception children classified as underweight in  
Leicestershire (1.3%) was significantly worse than the England average (0.9%). 

 Compared to the national average, Leicestershire has a significantly better proportion of healthy weight 
(79.8% vs. 76.1%), obese & severely obese (7.4% vs. 9.9%), severely obese (2.0% vs. 2.5%) and overweight & 
obese (19.0% vs. 23.0%) Reception children. 

 The prevalence of overweight Reception children resident in Leicestershire (11.6%) was significantly below 
the England average (13.1%). 
 

Year 6 

 Underweight Healthy 
weight 

Overweight Obese & 
Severely 
obese 

Severely 
Obese 

Overweight 
& Obese 

Leicestershire 1.9% 67.4% 13.0% 17.6% 3.5% 30.6% 

England 1.4% 63.4% 14.1% 21.0% 4.7% 35.2% 

 
 The proportion of Year 6 children classified as underweight in Leicestershire (1.9%) was significantly worse 

than the England average (1.4%). 

 Compared to the national average, Leicestershire has a significantly better proportion of healthy weight 
(67.4% vs. 63.4%), obese & severely obese (17.6% vs. 21.0%), severely obese (3.5% vs. 4.7%) and overweight 
& obese (30.6% vs. 35.2%) Year 6 children. 

 The prevalence of overweight Year 6 children resident in Leicestershire (13.0%) was significantly below the 
England average (14.1%). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Significantly below England 

267



 
Breastfeeding 

Improving breastfeeding initiation and continuation rates remain a priority for Leicestershire. Breastfeeding is a key 

indicator of child health and wellbeing, which contributes to reducing infant mortality, health inequalities, obesity 

and cancer agendas. 

 
Figure 2: mode of feeding at 6-8 weeks across LLR, 2019/20 

 

 

In Leicestershire, bottle feeding is the most common mode of feeding at 6-8 weeks.  

The latest data for England is from 2018/19 which shows breastfeeding initiation rates of 74.5% and a 6-8 week 

breastfeeding prevalence of 46.2% (PHE fingertips). In the East Midlands, the initiation rate in 2018/19 was 64.7% 

and the continuation rate was 45.7%. 

 

 

Highlights of the JSNA review:  

- Early intervention in the first 1001 critical days between conception and age 2 to enhance outcomes. 
- significant numbers of children living in poverty, particularly in areas of deprivation  

- significant numbers of children at risk of homelessness 

- significant number of children exposed to the impacts of domestic violence. 

- some improvement required in uptake of free school meal. 

- recommendations focusing on breastfeeding initiation, take up is low but picks up at 10 weeks.  

- recommendation to develop an agreed trauma informed approach to supporting children and young people 

who have experienced ACEs to build their resilience. 

- Significant improvement needed around perinatal mental health, particularly teenage mothers are risk of 

developing postnatal depression than average  

- Maternal Obesity; overweight and obese BMI at the time of their booking slightly above national average 

 

 

 

 

268



 
School Readiness 

School readiness is a key measure of early years’ development across a wide range of developmental areas. Children 

from poorer backgrounds are at increased risk of poor development and the evidence shows that differences by 

social background emerge early in life. Children are defined as having reached a good level of development if they 

achieve at least the expected level in the early learning goals in the prime areas of learning (personal, social and 

emotional development; physical development; and communication and language) and the early learning goals in 

the specific areas of mathematics and literacy. In 2018/19 72.1% of children in Leicestershire achieved a good level 

of development at the end of reception class (the first year of school). This is similar to the England average (71.8 %). 

The percentage has significantly increased over the last five years from 58.0% in 2013/14.  

 

Schools 

 

 

 

District  Primary 
Academies 

Maintained 
Primaries 

Secondary 
Academies 

Maintain
ed 
Secondari
es 

Special 
School 
Academies 

Maintained 
Special 
Schools 

Other 
LA/Studio 
Schools 

TOTAL 

Blaby 20 7 3 0 0 0 1 31 

Charnwood 34 15 10 1 0 2 0 62 

Harborough 28 7 6 0 0 0 0 41 

Hinckley & 
Bosworth 17 16 9 0 1 0 1 44 

Melton 19 6 4 0 0 1 0 30 

North West 
Leicestershire 13 30 7 0 1 0 1 52 

Oadby & 
Wigston 12 2 6 0 1 0 1 22 

         

269



 
 There are 28 new schools (25 primary and 3 secondary) expected to be built as part of housing 

developments over the next ten years. 

 The majority of these schools are expected to be built by the Council although some may be 
constructed directly by developers, which may in turn reduce financial exposure/risk – at present 
only Castle Donington new primary is confirmed to be developer built (opening September 2023). 

 Delivery remains subject to housing development starting when expected, and occupation rates for 
new homes being consistent with advice where given by District Councils, hence the construction of 
schools which typically extend over a two year period may be subject to some movement if trigger 
points are not met as planned. 

 In addition to new schools to meet the demand from new housing, there will also be a need for 

additional school places arising from increased births, this is referred to as ‘basic need’ and is 

expected to be covered by grant settlements from the DfE. 

 

There are presently 282 state-funded schools and other educational establishments in Leicestershire of 
which 191 have converted to academy status. 

• 98% of Secondary Schools  

• 63% of Primary Schools  

• 50% of Special Schools  

• Includes 15 ‘Sponsored’ schools - 10 Primary/5 Secondary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

270



 
Key issues for children in Leicestershire. Figure 3: Early Years Profile 

 

 

 

 

 

- Completion of New Birth Visits within 14 days 
- Child Development (2/2.5 years):  

 % of children receiving a good level of development 
 % of children expected level of communication 
 % of children achieving good expected level of motor skills  
 % of children achieving expected level of fine motor skills 
 % of children achieving expected level of problem-solving skills 
 % of children expected level of personal-social skills 

 

271



 
Figure 4: Children’s Health Outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Issues: 

Teenage mothers 
Smoking status at time of delivery 
A&E attendances 0-4s and 10-15years of age 
Hospital admissions for mental health conditions 
Alcohol abuse under 15. 

272



 
Impact of Covid-19 pandemic 

The public health measures that have been introduced to help control the spread of the virus, whilst important, have 

disrupted services, livelihoods and social behaviours on a global scale. As a result, many health services across the 

UK have been affected during the pandemic. Many community services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

(LLR) have been stopped or reduced, with potential impact on population level health. It is likely that as services 

restart, there will be increased and altered demand on services, including an excess of some routine work. 

Around half of all lifetime mental health problems start by the mid-teens, and three-quarters by the mid-20s, 

although treatment typically does not start until a number of years later.2 The most recent survey of the mental 

health of children and young people in England found that 12.5% of 5 to 19 year olds had at least one mental 

disorder when assessed (2017), and 5% met the criteria for 2 or more mental disorders.3  

 

 

Serious Violence involving young people aged 19 and under 

The data below is based on the Violence Reduction Network’s definition of serious violence and covers the time 

period of April 1st 2018 – 31st March 2021.  

 

 

Please note, all of the data below is based on offences where a suspect/offender has been identified (i.e. the 

percentages calculated do not include victim reported crime without a recorded suspect/offender) so please take 

care when interpreting results.  

 

Offences involving those aged 19 and under 

Where the victim is aged 19 and under, 77% of offences involved a suspect/offender also aged under 19.  

                                                           
2
 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17551351/  

3
 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-mental-health-implementation-plan-2019-20-2023-24/  

273

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2017/2017
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2017/2017
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17551351/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-mental-health-implementation-plan-2019-20-2023-24/


 
When looking at offences where both the victim and suspect/offender are aged 19 and under the following genders 

are reported:  

 Victims: 74% male, 26% female 

 Suspects/offenders: 75% male, 25% female 

 

The data also shows that for these offences, 50.3% occurred in the County with the following CSP area breakdown:  

CSP area Proportion of offences in the County 
involving those aged 19 and under 

Charnwood 29.2% 

North West Leicestershire 19.2% 

Hinckley and Bosworth  15.3% 

Oadby and Wigston 10.3% 

Harborough 9.1% 

Blaby 6.9% 

Melton 6.2% 

Rutland 3.8% 

 

 

Offences involving those aged 11 – 19  

Where the victim is aged 11 – 19, 78% of offences involved a suspect/offender also aged 11 – 19.  

When looking at offences where both the victim and suspect/offender are aged 11 - 19 the following genders are 

reported:  

 Victims: 73% male, 27% female 

 Suspects/offenders: 75% male, 25% female 

 

The data also shows that for these offences, 50.1% occurred in the County with the following CSP area breakdown:  

CSP area Proportion of offences in the 
County involving those aged 

11 - 19 

Charnwood 28.7% 

North West Leicestershire 19.4% 

Hinckley and Bosworth  15.0% 

Oadby and Wigston 10.6% 

Harborough 9.2% 

Blaby 6.8% 

Melton 6.6% 

Rutland 3.6% 

(please note: due to rounding, these percentages do not add up to 100%) 

 

 

 

 

274



 

 

 

 

 

 

275



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Insights 

 

Risk and Protective Factors 

 Leicester is below the national average for school readiness and educational attainment 

 The main reason for temporary or permanent exclusions in LLR was severe behavioural problems. 

 Leicester has a higher rate of absenteeism in both primary and secondary schools with the highest 

rates being in secondary schools  

 Levels of NEET and unemployment are higher than the national average in Leicester  

 The proportion of children in the youth justice system and first-time entrants has been falling but 

the levels in Leicester are higher than the national average  

 There are pockets of deprivation across the counties with the highest levels in Leicester which are 

also significantly worse than the England average.  

276



 
 

 

 

 

 

277



This page is intentionally left blank



Consultation & 
Engagement Summary 
Feedback 

Collated 12/10/2021

279

AMPoole_2
Text Box
APPENDIX C



2

Local Healthy Child Programme

• The 0-19 Healthy Child Programme – Currently provided by LPT (Healthy Together)

• Universal provision and targeted support 

• 0-5 Mandated Health Visiting Checks

– Antenatal contact at 28 weeks

– New birth visit at 10-14 days

– 6-8 week check

– 10-12 review

– 2 – 2 and half year check 

• Digital Service; Chat Health, Health for Under 5’s, Health for Kids and Health for 

Teens websites and web-based resources

• Transitions

• Mandated NCMP

280



3

Local Picture

Population 2020 ONS Mid-year population estimates

Area All age 

population

0-10 population 11-19 

population

0-19 population % of population

Leicestershire 713,085 86,359 74,330 160,689 22.5%

Rutland 40,476 4,179 4,362 8,541 21%

Blaby 101,950 13,166 10,363 23,529 23%

Charnwood 188,416 22,101 20,618 42,719 22.6%

Harborough 95,537 11,342 10,087 21,429 22.4%

Hinckley & 

Bosworth

113,666 13,801 10,923 24,724 18.4%

Melton 51,394 5,974 4,988 10,962 21.3%

NW Leicestershire 104,809 12,899 10,380 23,279 22%

Oadby & Wigston 57,313 7,076 6,971 14,047 24.5%

281



• The majority of the Leicestershire population (88.9 percent) belong to White: British 
ethnic group.

• The next largest ethnic group in Leicestershire is Asian: Indian (4.4 percent), 
• Followed by White: Other White (2.0 percent) and Asian: Other Asian(0.7 percent); 

Leicestershire Ethnicity breakdown – last census data (2011) new 
census data due early next year.

Source-Census 2011

282



Public Consultation Feedback..
• 117 respondents 

• O&W 20%
• Blaby 13.5%
• Hinckley & Bosworth 13.5%
• NWL 10% 
• Charnwood 12% 
• Female – 98%
• Age: Majority of the responses were 25-34 age 

band
• 25-34= 38%  
• 35-44= 35%
• 45-54= 17%
• 55-64=10% 

• Disabilities
Yes: 12%  No 84%

• Low BME responses.
• White= 95.8%
• Asian/British Asian: 1.4%
• Mixed= 1.4%
• Other ethnic group= 1.4%

• Engagement with partners and agencies
• Workshops
• Focus Groups including Secondary 

Headteachers and Pastoral leads. Staff 
engagement 

• Health including maternity services 

• Voice of the child via HRBQ 

• Survey in secondary schools 201 responses 

• Vulnerable groups
Children In Care & Children with additional 
needs vis Parents forum (LAFs & SEND hub) 

283



Consultation Feedback on the proposed model
Mandated & Additional Contacts
• New checks are a really positive improvement for families

• More contacts with HV and a consistent named HV for each child or 
family

• After the 2-2.5 year check there is a massive gap, as some children 
will not be accessing nursery, or have the social interaction at home, 
causing the gap of children not being ready for school.

• The 3-4 month contact was valuable to pick up Postnatal Depression 
and the 3 year old often used to pick up difficulties with speech and 
behaviour which not apparent at the 2 year check

• Concern is about who is going to undertake these checks, what 
these checks entail and the time available to complete them along 
side the other 5 checks

• Capacity issues. 

• Restoration of face to face contacts 

• These are important times of development and transition, lots of 
health messages to share

• The pre school check could be done as a group contact, depending 
our ability to access appropriate venues

• Digital contacts have their place but don’t want to lose the face to 
contacts.

Service Improvement (0-11) 

• Children's centres postnatal offer needs improvement

• All services are working in collaboration

• Clarity in what services there are to support families in 0-2 

• The family hubs and children's centres are not easily 
accessible for everyone. 

• Children's centres and 2 year pathway really important in 
supporting families. 

• Two year check does not always take account of the 
information that Early years providers has about young 
children attending the provision, so not a holistic assessment

• Chat Health (parent-line) – don’t want to be signposted to a 
website but option to speak to people. 

• Breastfeeding support needs to be much easier to access

• Clear, outlined support for people on EHCPs

284



Key areas/themes
• Breastfeeding not enough support. 

• More Peer support needed.
• More information around weaning support needed

• Healthy Start promotions- it brings people into children and familie

• H/V contacts: Missed
• Current checks are not happening at all or well: 
• Checks are not being completed on time, late or missed. 

• Lack of staff and lack of service overall. 

• Visits are rushed or telephone contacts made. No alternatives offered. 

• 2 year checks to be more holistic: Include EY settings’ input into ASQ

• Early start programme to be embedded – no support available 

• F2F preferred over digital including H/v and breastfeeding support. Not online.

• Better joined up working with community midwives. 

• Tell it once approach needed

285



Consultation Feedback on proposed Model cont…
11+ Age Group

• Mental health support for this age group is led by specialised 
staff

• Joined up service with MHSTs and LAs to avoid duplication

• Low number of current staff to deliver school nursing - how 
will the additional improvements be resourced?

• Staffing level concerns to meet extra challenges. 

• Gap in service for young people who are home educated, 
and this has a significant impact on support that they can 
access in relation to their physical and emotional health.

• SN making referrals sped up diagnosis & treatment (around 
mobility) – a positive.

• SN are not trained for children with complex needs. (not 
specialist enough) 

• More support needed for EHCPs in schools for children with 
SEND, SN don’t do them. 

• Service has declined considerably – ‘not serious enough for 
help’. (matches what Sec. schools said around thresholds)

• Services for teens need to be available in buildings that they 
feel able to go into (focus on youth work) Covid has impacted 
upon their movement. 

Service Improvement 

• Better joined up working with services 
supporting Mental Health & Emotional 
wellbeing – demand has increased due to 
pandemic

• Joined up working for young people on EHCP

• Appropriate support before crisis is essential

• lack of youth-clubs and uniformed clubs for 
kids. Need to keep children safe. 

286



Public Consultation Feedback on proposed service 
model cont..

General feedback re priorities

• Obesity and Nutrition can be amalgamated 

• Maintaining and achieving healthy weight –
change language as everyone is different.

• Body image is related to weight and food.  

• Eating Disorders should be a priority

• Local priorities can sit under some of the national 
ones. 

• agree with the oral health priority as the state of 
oral health is so important as it influences our 
ability to perform such tasks with our mouths.

• Poor oral health causes impairment in other areas

• consideration of the scope, capacity and 
competencies of different workforce roles to 
complete these tasks.

• Healthy body image and self-esteem work to set 
up a foundation of healthy identity

Digital Offer

• Having digital access in retail shops as well as 
council building so the public are able to access 
services.

• All families have access to digital equipment.

• Digital poverty and lack of access to internet and 
computers.

• Health under 5s websites exist

• ChatHealth is used as parent lead advice service 
for families/parents of children aged 0-19. This is 
growing more popular. 

• Many teenagers use apps so this would be 
preferably as parents would not hear or know that 
they are contacting the school nurse that way so is 
a confidential service rather than a phone call if at 
home.

287



CYP SNAP-Survey Feedback…
Total number of response 261

What health issues are important to you? 

• Struggling controlling mood/ mood swings

• Violence issues

• mental disorder education is extremely limited in schools 

• Anxiety and Depression

• Eating Disorders

• Hidden disabilities 

• Physical Health and self-image issues

• Overall hygiene, practicing good hygiene in general and 
getting into the routine can positively effect most other 
health issues

• Sleep

• Asthma

Where would you go for support? 

288



Health-Related Behaviour Questionnaire (HRBQ)
Feedback…

Total Number of Responses: 3229

Background Secondary: 

• 56% of pupils described themselves as White 
British.

• 70% live with ‘mum and dad together’,

• 13% said ‘mainly or only with mum’, 

• 6% said they live with ‘mum and dad shared’.

Background Primary 

• 66% of pupils described 
themselves as White British. 

• 8% described themselves as 
Asian, 

• 4% as Mixed,

• 4% as other white and 

• 10% didn’t know.

• 72% live with both parents 
together, 11% live with just mum 
and 8% are shared between 
mum and dad.

289



290



HRBQ findings.. 
• The worry score for girls is increasing across the age range. These are percentages of pupils responding they 

worry ‘quite a lot’ or ‘a lot’ about more than five of the issues presented: 37% of Year 6 girls, 46% of Year 8 girls 
and 49% of Year 10 girls. Interestingly, the worry score for boys is much lower at 23% of Year 10 boys reporting 
they worried ‘quite a lot’ or ‘a lot’ about more than five of the issues presented.

• 25% of Year 6 pupils worried ‘quite a lot’ or ’a lot’ about ‘feeling sad or upset a lot of the time’; 31% of Year 8 
pupils and 37% of Year 10 pupils reported the same

• A clear gender difference is apparent with fewer girls recording ‘high’ levels of self-esteem compared with boys. 
There appears to be a downward trend for pupils recording a ‘high’ self-esteem score across the age range, which 
is more marked for girls

• 32% of Year 6 pupils worried ‘quite a lot’ or ‘a lot’ about ‘the way they look’; 36% of Year 8 pupils and 42% of 
Year 10 pupils reported the same.

• 17% of pupils responded that they do not do as much exercise or sport as they want because they are shy in 
front of others, 15% said they were uncomfortable about their looks.

• When somebody wants them to do something they don’t want to do, 51% of pupils said they could ‘usually or 
always’ say ‘no’. 16% said they were ‘rarely’ or ‘never’ able to say ‘no’.

• 2% of the Year 6 pupils reported having an alcoholic drink in the week before the survey. 12% of Year 8 pupils 
and 36% of Year 10 pupils said they had drunk alcohol in the week before the survey.

• 2% of Year 6 pupils, 10% of Year 8 pupils and 27% of Year 10 pupils reported that they had been offered drugs.

• 14% of pupils responded that they got less than 5 hours sleep the night before the survey. 28% of pupils worry 
about getting enough sleep.

291



Secondary Schools Workshop
• Don’t know who school nurse is, didn’t know we had one. 

• Made referrals to school nursing in the past and were declined - ‘don’t meet 
thresholds’

• Schools can’t manage and teach: significant numbers & needs too high

• Mental Health and Counselling services were considered important by all in the 
group

• High % of CYP experience low mood, anxiety, panic attacks and is affecting 
attendance. 

• Supervision would be valued, healthy staff can support more children.

• named nurse or advice one to run by concerns or any issues with.

• Need to speak to someone about health concerns; website or signposting isn’t 
always helpful. Someone on the end of a line to provide guidance. 

• Support from Health – mainly to access to Health records.

• Schools are happy on spend their budget on health- QA? How do we know what 
they’re buying in? 

292



School Heads response
• Support for staff wellbeing: 

• Tips on how to recognise and action when you are feeling over loaded without feeling as if 
you are letting people down in doing so

• A counselling service. A self-help guide for staff to refer to. More resource recommendations.

• accessing the right support for the right child.

• Accessing support through experts

• Ensuring materials and personnel are skilled at working with children and young 
people with learning difficulties or ASD

• Access to an advice and support line

• Access to a health professional/School nurse

• Feedback regarding referrals, prompt response to referrals, notification when 
responses to parents are made.

• More clubs in schools to get children active and learning about self care.

• More support for mental health and wellbeing e.g. self harm.

293



School Heads response: Request for additional 
help or support

294



LCC Workshops

Health Visiting

• Access to services not great for BME 
communities – Travellers and Young 
Carers in particular

• Notifications (NOPP): Not always clear or 
missing/not shared.

• Not receiving referrals from parents who 
would typical receive the early start 
support 

• Youth Prevention offer – no link with 
Youth Justice 

• Early start and 0-2 pathways – need 
better integration 

• 2 – 2.5 year review to be joined up. 

School Nursing

• Lack of school nurses. 

• Peer on peer violence on the increase. 

• Digital innovation – not all YP want text 
messaging (ChatHealth) 

• Supervision for Staff

• All online training – no direct 
training/support available

• Specialist support when needed. 

• Areas to consider focussing on: 
• Healthy Lifestyles & Nutrition
• Healthy Relationships (intimacy/violence)
• Substance Misuse/Alcohol
• Mental Health/Emotional wellbeing 

• incl. body image, self-esteem, resilience, low 
mood etc.  

295



Feedback from Focus groups..(Cycle, Parents 
SEND Hub, LAFs) 

Cycle Feedback

• Members agreed with the priorities and areas of 
impact.

• agree with universal and targeted services, 
the like the weight issue being raised but also 
are aware of this as it may cause emotional 
difficulties for some young people

• Supporting and reducing obesity will replicate 
obesity strategy 

• weight issue are a concern for young people 
as it may cause emotional difficulties for 
some young people (body image) 

• school meal to be healthy and nutritious.

• No advertising boards of junk food near to 
schools, introduction of CYCLE lanes, school 
engaging with cycling proficiency test, free 
swimming lessons for all school children

Voluntary and community sector; Parent SEND Hub; 
Leicestershire Adoption & Fostering; 1:1 interviews

• Agree with priorities and Impacts Areas overall. 

• Would like to see a public health offer for children with SEND 
in Special Schools as well.

• Care experienced young people should be targeted for 
additional support

• Include children with ‘special guardianship’ 

• Development of Trauma Disorders are increasing and Trauma 
Informed Practice isn’t clear – what is the LA doing about 
this? 

• LAFs & Parent Hub willing to help with recruitment of staff. 

• Support for isolated groups to be reflected. 

• Communities are more diverse so need to reflect culturally 
appropriate services. 

• Travellers communities supported with a targeted offer

• Leicestershire is rural isolated communities need better 
access to services. 

• Focus to be on healthy relationships and respect  for one 
another will lead to better rounded children. 

296



What priorities have been identified through 
engagement/consultation? 

• Professionals have said: 
• Healthy Lifestyles (physical activity and nutrition) 

• Healthy Relationships (intimacy/violence)

• Substance Misuse/Alcohol

• Mental Health/Emotional wellbeing 

• Body image, self-esteem, resilience, low mood and anxiety.

• Exploitation

• Sleep

• CYP have said:
• As above but additionally

• Eating Disorders

• Keeping safe – knife crime and bullying

Trauma 
informed 
approach 
across all 
services.

297



High Impact Areas & additional local priorities –
Review following consultation feedback

0-11
National Priorities: 

1. Supporting Maternal and Family mental health 
(New)

2. Supporting the transition to parenthood (Current)

3. Supporting breastfeeding (Current)

4. Supporting healthy weight and Nutrition (New)

5. Improving health literacy; reducing accidents and 
minor illnesses (New)

6. Supporting health, wellbeing and development: 
Ready to learn, narrowing the ‘word gap’(New)

Local priorities 

7. Supporting Oral Health (New local priority) - keep

8. Supporting reducing Obesity (New local priority)  
Change to - Achieve and Maintain healthy weight.  

see other priorities from consultation feedback

11+
National Priorities:

1. Supporting resilience and wellbeing (Current)

2. Improving health behaviours and reducing risk taking 
(New)

3. Supporting healthy lifestyles (Current)

4. Supporting vulnerable young people and improving 
health inequalities (New)

5. Supporting complex and additional health and wellbeing 
needs (Current)

6. Promoting self-care and improving health literacy (New)

Local Priorities:

7. Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing (building resilience) 
body image/self -esteem – Sits under priority 1 however 
focussed on Body image, self esteem, resilience and include 
anxiety and low mood. 

8. Healthy Relationships (New local priority) Fits with priority 2 
–Healthy Lifestyles Keep but with a focus on sexual health 
education and building positive relationships

9. (physical activity and Nutrition)  fits with priority 3 to take 
out and amalgamate

10. Substance misuse/Alcohol (New local priority) Keep

298



 
 

CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021  
 

EXCEPTION TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - URGENT ACTION 
TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN RELATION TO THE 
APPOINTMENT OF A SUPPLIER TO PROVIDE ENHANCED 

SUBSTANCE MISUSE SERVICES IN LINE WITH THE PUBLIC 
HEALTH ENGLAND UNIVERSAL AND INPATIENT DETOXIFICATION 

GRANTS  
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of urgent action taken by the 
Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
which enabled the direct appointment of Turning Point Ltd and Framework 
Housing (Edwin House) to deliver enhanced substance misuse activity in 
accordance with the Universal Grant and Inpatient Detoxification Grant made 
available by Public Health England. 
 

2. The award will enhance existing activity for the provision of substance misuse 
community treatment and inpatient detoxification services for up to 15 months.   
 

Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the urgent action taken by the Chief 

Executive to agree an exception to the Contract Procedure Rules to enable the 
appointment of Turning Point Ltd and Framework Housing (Edwin House) to 
provide services under the Public Health England Universal and Inpatient 
Detoxification Grants for up to 15 months. 
 

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4. The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)(ii)) provides that 

exceptions to the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where 
it is satisfied that an exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases 
the Chief Executive (after consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save 
where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made subject to it 
being reported to the Cabinet. 
 

299 Agenda Item 9



5. The direct award of contracts to Turning Point Ltd and Framework Housing 
(Edwin House) were required to enable the projects to progress in line with the 
grant conditions and for Leicestershire to benefit from the additional funding.  

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. The Chief Executive agreed the exception on 16 June 2021 in order for the 

necessary documentation to be submitted to Public Health England to secure the 
funding and implement both services. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The exception to the Contract Procedure Rules follows the Council’s Constitution 

(Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b) (ii)). 
 
Resource Implications 

 
8. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this 

report as both contracts are grant funded. There are set amounts of spending on 
the contracts with a set time period. Public Health England have awarded 
£327,000 for delivery of the provisions under the Universal Grant April, and 
£334,988 for delivery of the provisions under the Inpatient Detoxification Grant. 
 

9. The grant funding is being used to enhance existing provision. This means there 
are minimal set up and implementation costs.  
 

10. The value of each of the two contracts are below the relevant procurement 
threshold as they are classed as “Light Touch Regime” services under the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. 
 

11. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 
have been consulted on the content of this report.  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
12.  None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health,  
Tel: 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Joshna Mavji 
Consultant in Public Health 
Tel: 0116 305 0113 
Email: joshna.mavji@leics.gov.uk  

300

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:joshna.mavji@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
Background 
 
13. Public Health England announced the availability of grant funding for substance 

misuse related services. The funding was made available to all upper tier and 
unitary local authorities subject to successful bid submission.  
 

14. The availability of the Inpatient Detoxification Grant was announced in February 
2021. The grant focused on increasing capacity within medically managed 
inpatient detoxification services. For Leicestershire, this service is currently 
provided by Framework Housing (Edwin House).     

 
15. The availability of the Universal Grant was announced in March 2021. The grant 

focused on activity related to drug misuse treatment, crime reduction and harm 
reduction. For Leicestershire, this service is currently provided by Turning Point.  

 
16. Due to the tight deadlines to compile both bids and with the intention that the 

funding would add to existing service provision, it was necessary to request the 
Chief Executive to take urgent action to agree the exception to Contract 
Procedure Rules to make a direct award to Turning Point Ltd (for substance 
misuse community treatment services) and Framework Housing (Edwin House) 
(for substance misuse inpatient detoxification services) in order to secure the 
funding. Alternative procurement routes were deemed unviable given the 
timescales, and the detailed information required within the bids which included 
naming service providers that would deliver each element of provision.  
 

17. Public Health England confirmed the award of £327,000 in April 2021 for delivery 
of the provisions under the Universal Grant April, and £334,988 in June 2021 for 
the delivery of the provisions under the Inpatient Detoxification Grant with a view 
to service delivery commencing as soon as possible. 

 
18. The Universal Grant will enhance existing service provision by increasing support 

and improving care pathways for cohorts at most risk of harm from substance 
misuse. This will be achieved through greater provision of recovery workers, 
criminal justice engagement workers, needle exchange services, youth offending 
service workers and by strengthening community links. The grant will also be 
used to set up a drug and alcohol related deaths review panel that will work 
across the Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland area to explore causative factors 
and share lessons learned across the substance misuse partnership. 

 
19. The Inpatient Detoxification Grant will enable increased capacity within medically 

managed inpatient detoxification services. 
 

20. It is intended that Public Health England and the Council will oversee delivery of 
the services provided under the grant funding.   

 
  

301



Alternative Options 
 
21. Alternative procurement routes were deemed unviable given the timescales, and 

the detailed information required within the bids which included naming service 
providers that would deliver each element of provision.  
 

22. By not submitting bids and by not naming the service providers delivering each 
service, Leicestershire would not have benefitted from the additional funding.   

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
23. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 

Awarding both contracts allows for additional support for service users at most 
risk of harm from substance misuse.  

 
Background Papers 
 
None.  

302



 
 

CABINET – 26 OCTOBER 2021 
 

RESPONSE TO THE OADBY AND WIGSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
NEW LOCAL PLAN ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION  

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet on the content of Oadby and 

Wigston Borough Council’s New Local Plan Issues and Options document and 
to seek approval for comments to be submitted to the Borough Council as the 
views of the County Council. 
 

2. The detailed comments are set out in the Appendix to this report and key 
comments are highlighted in paragraphs 35 to 87 below. 

 

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that: 
 

a) The comments set out in the Appendix to this report be forwarded to Oadby 
and Wigston Borough Council (Oadby and Wigston BC) as the views of the 
County Council on the New Local Plan Issues and Options document; 
 

b) Oadby and Wigston BC be advised that the County Council considers that 
partnership working arrangement between the Borough Council, the County 
Council and other partners, need to be formalised early in the preparation of 
its new Local Plan.  

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 

4. The proposed response sets out key comments for consideration by Oadby and 
Wigston BC in preparing its new Local Plan. It seeks to ensure alignment with 
the strategic outcomes of the County Council’s Strategic Plan, the Leicester 
and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), and to influence the content of 
the Local Plan in the interests of local communities, including to ensure that the 
Local Plan provides as robust as possible policy framework for securing the 
provision of the infrastructure and services required to support its successful 
delivery.  
 

303 Agenda Item 10



5. The County Council wishes to formalise partnership working arrangements with 
Oadby and Wigston BC in recognition of the preparatory work required to be 
undertaken with other districts in the South of the County and with Leicester 
City Council. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

6. Consultation responses are required to be submitted to Oadby and Wigston 
BC by 29 October 2021. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

7. The Council’s Strategic Plan (2018 to 2022) “Working together for the benefit of 
everyone” was approved by the County Council in July 2020 (having been 
revised in light of the Council’s declaration on climate change). It has five 
strategic outcomes, with the delivery of ‘Affordable and Quality Homes’ and 
‘Strong Economy’ most directly affected by Oadby and Wigston BC’s emerging 
Local Plan. 

 
8. In 2018 the County Council, Leicester City Council, the seven district councils 

in Leicestershire, and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, 
approved the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) which 
provides the long-term vision for planned growth for the area up to 2050. 

 
9. For the southern parts of Leicestershire, which includes Oadby and Wigston 

Borough, the foci for growth set out in SGP are: 
 

 Leicester, our ‘Central City’; 

 The A46 Priority Growth Corridor;  

 The A5 Improvement Corridor; and  

 Managed growth for Lutterworth, Hinckley and Market Harborough.  
 
10. The essential infrastructure to support the delivery of growth shown on the SGP 

strategy diagram for the wider southern parts of Leicestershire are: 
 

 M1 Leicester Western Access and M1 North Leicestershire extra capacity;  

 a new Junction 20a on the M1;  

 A46 Priority Growth Corridor;  

 A5 Expressway; and  

 rail improvements.  
 
11. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities (LLTSTP) was 

approved by the Cabinet on 20 November 2020. This document was developed 
by the county and city councils alongside the SGP to ensure the long-term 
development needs and associated transportation requirements are co-
ordinated.  

 
12. In November 2020 Midlands Connect Published the A46 Phase 2 Study. Taking 

into account the SGP, the study showed a road of ‘Expressway’ standard is not 
needed around the South and East of Leicester to serve people making long 

304



distance trips but confirmed a lower standard of road is still required to support 
new housing and economic development delivered in accordance with the 
spatial distribution of housing set out in the SGP. 
 

13. On 22 June 2021 the Cabinet received a report regarding the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground Relating to Housing and 
Employment Land Needs (SoCG) and noted that the County Council was a 
signatory to the document as a factual statement, i.e. not necessarily 
supporting the content of the emerging Charnwood Local Plan but agreeing the 
needs, theoretical supply, scale of unmet need from Leicester City, and process 
by which unmet need would be addressed. This SoCG, prepared to accompany 
the Charnwood Local Plan process, also provides an up to date context for the 
current stage of the Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan process. A signed SoCG 
by all partners was required by Charnwood Borough Council ahead of taking its 
emerging Local Plan to its Council meeting on 10 June 2021. 
 

14. In September 2021 Leicester City Council consulted on the preparation of its 
Local Transport Plan (LTP4) and workplace parking levy. Connectivity of 
proposals in Oadby and Wigston Borough with the City’s LTP4 and the soon to 
be emerging Local Transport Plan for the County will be essential.   

 

Resource Implications 
 

15. The revised capital programme for 2021-25 as presented in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy report on this agenda now stands at £539m over the four 
year period. This latest position includes £166m currently unfunded from 
borrowing (hopefully contained to internal borrowing against cash balances but 
the risk of having to undertake borrowing externally is increasing). 

 
16. Within the programme, a significant list of schemes and activities linked to 

supporting both housing and economic growth are included. However, the 
proposals from the emerging and updated district council Local Plans will lead 
to a demand for further schemes to be delivered, and as such further 
substantial pressures on the County Council’s financial resources. 

 

17. Further schemes can only be accommodated when sufficient confidence can 
be obtained that developer funding will be forthcoming to repay the County 
Council’s investment. 

 
18. The scale of the infrastructure, and the need for much of it to be needed in 

advance of development, will put pressure on the County Council to cash flow it 
in advance of funding being received from developers. However, given the 
wider pressures on the County Council’s financial position, there is limited 
scope for this and there will inevitably be a need for prioritisation. 

 
19. It is of paramount importance that early engagement and close working is 

undertaken between the County Council and other partners in the delivery of 
infrastructure and related proposals to help to partially mitigate some of these 
risks.   
 

305



20. It is also crucial that there is flexibility wherever possible around timing of spend 
and what money is spent on as well as ensuring developer contributions to 
local infrastructure costs can be secured in a coordinated and equitable 
manner. 

 

21. The Government’s ambitions in the Planning White Paper (August 2020) will 
also need to be factored into the delivery of emerging Local Plans, 
necessitating adjustment and perhaps major changes to the mechanisms used 
to secure and deliver infrastructure. 
 

22. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 
have been consulted on the content of this report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
23. This report will be circulated to all Members.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell   
Assistant Chief Executive  
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Simon Lawrence 
Growth Service and Major Programmes Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Wiggins  
Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 8234   Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tim Smith 
Strategic Planning and Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Dept  
Tel. 0116 305 7219   Email: tim.smith@leics.gov.uk 

306

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background 
 
24. The preparation of Local Plans involves various stages of consultation. This 

consultation from Oadby and Wigston BC is known as a “Regulation 18” Issues 
and Options consultation and forms an early stage in local plan making. 
Comments received will inform the Borough Council’s policy recommendations 
ahead of a further Regulation 18 consultation on the Preferred Options, 
expected in May-June 2022. A Pre-Submission Consultation known as a 
“Regulation 19” will follow in May-June 2023. Once submitted to the Secretary 
of State and agreed by the Planning Inspectorate, the new Local Plan will 
replace the current adopted Local Plan 2019-2031. Adoption of the Local Plan 
is anticipated by December 2023.  
 

25. The Borough of Oadby and Wigston Local Plan 2011 to 2031 is the current 
adopted Local Plan for the Borough and was adopted on 16 April 2019. It 
provides relatively up to date planning policy steer until the emerging new Local 
Plan comes forward. 
 

26. The Government’s Planning White Paper, considered by the Cabinet on 18 
September 2020, proposes ‘end to end’ reform of the current planning system 
in England.  Local Plans are proposed for retention but with a greater role and 
tighter timeframe.  Once the consultation responses have been considered by 
Government legislative change and revision to national planning policy will take 
place and will impact on plan making processes. The timescale for these 
changes is not yet known, however, it is understood Government will make an 
announcement on planning reforms later in the autumn. 

 
27. In December 2020 the Government announced a new Standard Method for the 

calculation of local housing need, which included a 35% uplift for the 20 largest 
cities and urban areas in England, including Leicester. For the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) this gives an indicative housing 
need figure of 5,520 per year 2020-2036. Whilst the figures in the districts 
remain largely the same, the need in Leicester has increased by about 10,000 
homes (600 homes per year). 

 
Overview of content of Oadby and Wigston Borough Council’s New Local Plan 
Issues and Options document 
 
28. The consultation documents set out what Oadby and Wigston BC consider are 

the key challenges for the Borough during the period up to 2041 and offers a 
set of potential options that may be chosen to address these challenges.  
 

29. The documents highlight non-strategic (local) challenges as well as strategic 
challenges covering policy areas such as housing, employment, economy, 
environment and sustainability and (green) infrastructure. 

 
30. At this early stage it is mainly exploratory, with Oadby and Wigston BC seeking 

views from partners, other stakeholders, businesses and communities on 

307



various aspects of planning policy to inform the next stage which will be a 
further Regulation 18 consultation on the Preferred Options, expected in May- 
June 2022. This needs to be borne in mind in the breadth and broad nature of 
the responses given at this stage.  
 

Duty to Cooperate 
 

31. It is recognised that should a HMA authority identify, quantify and provide 
robust evidence to demonstrate an unmet need, it is incumbent upon the HMA 
authorities to jointly resolve any cross-boundary matters with HMA partners 
under the Duty to Co-operate. Whilst it is acknowledged that Government 
intends to reform the planning system and in summer 2020 consulted on a 
White Paper – Planning for the Future, there is yet no formal timetable for such 
reforms. The Duty to Cooperate is key to the ongoing success of the SGP. 
Without the SGP and without a clear aligned approach to delivery, 
Leicestershire faces high levels of speculative/indiscriminate development with 
the consequent high risk of inadequate highway and education infrastructure. 
To avoid this, ongoing commitment from all the local authorities to the SGP is 
therefore crucial, as is their support for a collaborative and coordinated 
approach to the defining and allocating of infrastructure funding requirements of 
Local Plans. 
 

32. All ten partners to the SGP also signed up to a Joint Position Statement relating 
to Leicester’s Housing and Employment Land Needs in September 2020. This 
set out how the local authorities and the LLEP will continue to work together to 
accommodate unmet need for housing and employment land identified in the 
draft City of Leicester Local Plan. 

 

33. In April 2021, the County Council became a signatory to a Statement of 
Common Ground (SoCG) prepared by the Leicester and Leicestershire local 
planning authorities and the County Council, guided by the Strategic Planning 
Group and Members’ Advisory Group to support the Charnwood Local Plan 
process. In becoming a signatory to the SoCG, the County Council was not 
necessarily giving support to the content of the emerging Charnwood Local 
Plan. The key strategic matters covered in the SoCG under the Duty to Co-
operate are; Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Employment Needs to 
2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of apportioning unmet need to 
2036. 

 

34. A future SoCG for Leicester and Leicestershire dealing with the apportionment 
of unmet need from the City to the district councils will be informed by strategic 
evidence work currently being undertaken by partners in Leicester and 
Leicestershire to inform future infrastructure and growth, and work the City 
Council is undertaking to maximise the growth it is able to accommodate 
without adversely affecting the environment and quality of place. It is expected 
this will be available in winter 2021/2022 and will be the subject of a report to 
the Cabinet. 

 
 
 

308



Response to the New Local Plan Issues and Options document 
 
35. The County Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on Oadby and 

Wigston BC’s Issues and Options consultation at this early stage of plan 
making.  
 

36. The close working Oadby and Wigston BC have with other partners in the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area is recognised, supported 
and commended. 

 
37. The comments of the County Council in response to the 179 questions posed in 

the consultation are set out in the Appendix to this report. The consultation 
covers an extensive range of issues on aspects of plan making and explores 
views on possible content of the emerging new plan. A summary of the key 
issues raised is set out below, covering:     

 
- Overarching response 
- Housing 
- Employment  
- Retail 
- Green Infrastructure  
- Flood Risk 
- Habitat and Biodiversity 
- Climate Change 
- Highways Capacity, Infrastructure Need and Sustainable Transport  
- Developer Contributions 
- Viability 
- High Quality Communications 
- Education 
- Local Green Spaces 
- Tourism 
- Electric vehicle car parking 
- Community facilities 
- Cemetery and Burial Space 
- Conservation Areas 
- Masterplanning 

 
Overarching response 
 
38. Given the geographical location of the Borough there are likely to be transport 

interactions between further growth in the Borough and neighbouring 
administrative areas and vice-versa (a key reason why the South East 
Leicester Transport Strategy Area (SELTSA) work was initiated in respect of 
the current Local Plan). This is particularly the case with Leicester City, where 
maintaining effective transport connectivity to the range of economic and social 
services and opportunities that it provides will continue to be important for 
current and future residents of the Borough. In that regard, there may be 
opportunities to build on measures being delivered by Leicester City Council as 
part of its Transforming Cities Fund projects. 

 

309



39. The proposed new end date of the Plan to 2041 enables the proposals of the 
Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) to be tested and taken on board in the new Local 
Plan.  This entails a shift in emphasis to provide an increased scale of housing 
and employment in the south and east of the County, including delivering 
growth in the Priority Growth Corridor to the south and east of the City. As 
such, it is anticipated that the emerging new Local Plan will refer to how the 
growth proposals in the Priority Growth Corridor are linked to future growth in 
Oadby and Wigston Borough, and it envisaged that the SGP will provide the 
mechanism for distributing future growth arising from this borough which it 
cannot accommodate in the future longer termdue to being geographically 
constrained. 
 

40. The new Local Plan will need to acknowledge the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic 
and current uncertainties over the long-term implications this will have on 
society, including on transport provision and travel behaviour (encompassing 
trends such as increased home working). The emerging evidence relating to 
these potential long-term implications will need to be reviewed and incorporated 
as necessary as the development of the plan progresses. 
 

41. The new Local Plan will need to embrace carbon reduction and link to the 
Transport Decarbonisation Plan where possible. 

 
42. With regards to spatial distribution which is influenced by the geographical 

realities of the Borough, the new Local Plan should seek to locate as much of 
the Borough’s future growth in sustainable locations, i.e. in areas that have 
close proximity to existing employment, shops, leisure, etc. Where it is 
necessary to allocate further greenfield sites, these should be in locations 
capable of being served by cycling and walking infrastructure and be viable and 
sustainable in financial terms going forward. 

 
43. Passenger transport services should reflect the ambitions of the National Bus 

Strategy ‘Bus Back Better’. A Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) is currently 
being prepared which will set out in more detail how, working in collaboration 
with local bus operators, it will be seeking to improve bus services across 
Leicestershire. 

 
44. There is a growing evidence base for the creation of places in which most of 

people's daily needs can be met within a short walk or cycle (‘twenty minute 
neighbourhood’) , allowing people to become more active, improve their mental 
and physical health; reduce traffic; improve air quality and benefit economically.  
This can also benefit local shops and businesses, allow people to see more of 
their neighbours and communities and strengthen community cohesion and 
social connectivity. The compact nature of the Borough provides a good 
opportunity to explore a more connected place to live. 

 

45. With regards to the scale of future growth the latest Standard Method needs to 
be the starting point. The Housing and Employment Needs Assessment 
(HENA) which is currently being undertaken across Leicester and 
Leicestershire is likely to provide significant evidence. Also evidence on 
whether the Borough’s highway and transport system would be capable of 

310

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf


accommodating need, which could be influenced by cumulative impacts of 
growth in neighbouring areas.  

 
46. If evidence suggests that the Borough is unable to meet its housing need and 

therefore has unmet need, the County Council would expect the Borough to 
work with partners in the Housing Market Area (HMA) to assess how best that 
unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, being mindful of the direction 
of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of new housing in the Strategic 
Growth Plan. 

 
47. In terms of the Borough contributing towards Leicester City’s unmet housing 

and employment need the findings of the HENA plus further up to date 
evidence work currently in preparation will inform whether this is appropriate. 
Given the geographical constraints and urban nature of the Borough there are 
likely to be limited opportunities in addition to accelerating the delivery of 
proposals already planned for in the adopted Local Plan.  

 
Housing 

 

48. Affordable housing provision should be guided by the most up to date 
assessment of need, if there is evidence of greater need in specific areas of the 
Borough these figures should inform provision. 

 
49. With regards Gypsy and Traveller Need, the criteria-based policy in the current 

plan is still deemed fit for purpose and should be applied to any private 
applications brought forward. Joint provision of transit sites across 
Leicestershire would alleviate some of the need and issues caused by 
unauthorised camping. A continued monitoring of the needs for Gypsy and 
Traveller families is supported. 

 
50. With regards to older persons housing, a commitment to ‘whole life’, ‘whole 

community’ and dementia friendly design is sought; and they transfer to other 
vulnerable adult populations. 

 

51. The County Council has assessed a need for 1500 units of Extra Care Housing 
across the County by 2037, a need of approximately 150 units in Oadby and 
Wigston Borough by 2037. Extra Care Housing and Supported Living would 
benefit from being located within close walking distance of facilities.  

 

52. The County Council would support the inclusion of specialist housing for 
working age adults living with vulnerabilities alongside younger adults 
transitioning from the County Council’s Children and Family Services to Adult 
Services. Community allotments which bring communities together, provide 
access to green space and horticulture are also supported.  

 
53. The cut off/trigger to require older people’s housing may seem counter intuitive 

given the high projected increase in this age group and relatively low housing 
numbers provided in the last 5-10 years? 

 

311



54. In addition, increasing the opportunity for people to stay in their own homes and 
maintain a level of independence, is strongly associated with increased 
wellbeing. An emphasis is sought on the need for more flexible housing which 
can be easily adapted when required.    

 
Employment  
 

55. The HENA will provide a consistent up to date evidence base for housing and 
employment needs in Leicester and Leicestershire. As with new housing the 
Borough’s highways and transport system needs to be capable of 
accommodating employment need, which could be influenced by cumulative 
impacts of growth in neighbouring areas.   

 
56. Employment land needs to be accessible, for our working age population to 

have access to ‘good work’. Accessibility considerations should focus around 
bus routes, opportunity to travel actively, type of business and shift patterns 
and the opportunity to embed the businesses within the local community.   

 
57. It is recommended that with the full impact of the pandemic as yet 

undetermined that a more up to date local employment land study is carried out 
after the end of the furlough scheme to gain insight into the impact for demand 
for business premises locally. 

 
58. Reference needs to be made to warehousing and logistics and the Leicester 

and Leicestershire joint evidence approach through Duty to Co-operate to 
ensure continued long term strategic and collaborate planning which benefits 
communities and businesses within the Borough.  

 
59. Given the limited access available to the Borough and current constraints within 

strategic infrastructure it is important to create and maintain as broad a mix of 
employment opportunities as possible. This should include the availability of 
modern well equipped start-up and progression units that will enable new 
businesses to be established and grow adding to the long term economic 
wellbeing of the area. 

 
60. Where possible existing employment areas should be protected subject to them 

remaining economically viable. 
 
Retail  

 

61. The move to online shopping and closure of bank/building societies is likely to 
impact the retail hierarchy specified in the Local Plan. The increase in the 
number of vacant units may provide an opportunity to re-use vacant floorspace 
for the Creative sector or small makers. 
 

62. In general, the County Council would wish to see new retail provision in existing 
centres, this approach should help to minimise trips. The town centres should 
adapt and become places where people go for experiences such as dining, 
drinks, small business collaboration units and events. Town centres are often 
the focus for tourism, but other than the Framework Knitters Museum there is 

312



little to attract visitors to the town centres.  The Racecourse at Oadby attracts a 
large number of visitors who arrive by car or coach and leave without visiting 
the town centres.    

 
Green Infrastructure  
 

63. The County Council would wish to see consideration around making green 
infrastructure accessible to all. Alongside maximising existing and developing 
new green infrastructure, there should be consideration of how those 
experiencing health inequality access country parks etc.  
 

64. Green wedges are a local policy tool in Leicester and Leicestershire and their 
longevity into the future is sought given the green corridor they provide into the 
City. It is recognised that change may need to be identified to Green Wedges in 
light of the need to maximise the use of land for growth within the City whilst 
minimising environmental harm, and given the extension of Green Wedges into 
urban areas in surrounding districts change may be required. Support is given 
to the use of the shared methodology for reviewing Green Wedges. 

 
Flood Risk  

 

65. The current Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was undertaken in 2014 and it is 
recommended this is updated as a number of changes have been made to 
national policy and guidance surrounding surface water management and flood 
risk. 
 

Habitat and Biodiversity  

 

66. The policy approach should be updated to tackle national and local biodiversity 
action plan species and habitats most in decline. The policy needs to take 
account of the approaching biodiversity net-gain arrangements which are 
expected to become a mandatory 10 per cent on most developments later this 
year. 
 

67. Oadby and Wigston BC is strongly recommended to work in partnership with 
other local planning authorities in Leicestershire setting out local policies 
towards Biodiversity Net Gain and Local Nature recovery. This will include land 
within the Borough for Biodiversity offsetting or offsite enhancements, but will 
also need to consider sites outside the constraints of the borough for 
investment in wider County/regional priorities for Local Nature Recovery. 

 
Climate Change  

 

68. Up to date national planning policy and guidance on climate change should be 
embraced. Consideration should be given to links with health inequality with 
climate change and associated changing exposure to extreme temperatures, 
increased exposure to UV and air pollution, pollen, flooding etc having a high 
risk of impacting on physical and mental health, particularly on the most 
vulnerable. 

 

313



Highways Capacity, Infrastructure Need and Sustainable Transport 
 
69. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) sets out that in 

order for the Housing Market Area (HMA) to accommodate the levels of growth 
that the area needs to/is required to take, strategic road and rail infrastructure 
investment is likely to be required. 
 

70. All areas of the HMA are facing highways and transport challenges to the 
delivery of future growth. The scale of investment required is beyond that within 
the gift of the LHA to deliver and/or will be able to fund its delivery. 
 

71. Rather, HMA partners as a whole need to continue to take a coordinated 
approach to developing the evidence-based case both to identify more 
particularly the infrastructure investments required, and to make the case for 
their delivery either through national delivery programmes and bids to 
Government. The new Local Plan needs to do more to set the context around 
the HMA growth pressures faced; the infrastructure challenges that this 
presents (which do give rise to some of the existing issues in the Borough, e.g. 
the relative lack of suitable orbital routes around the south and east of the City); 
and how HMA partners are working to tackle such problems, not just at the 
HMA level but at a more local level through the joint evidence work that the 
Borough is seeking to undertake with neighbouring districts. Subject to the 
outcomes of evidential work at the HMA level, traffic conditions in the Borough 
would likely benefit from such, for example through the delivery of any new 
road around the south and east of Leicester required to open up development 
in the SGP Priority Growth Corridor. 
 

72. Additionally, the LHA would expect the new Plan to provide a robust policy 
basis for seeking to secure developer contributions towards highways and 
transport measures required to support the area’s growth and, subject to 
evidence, towards the mitigation of cross-boundary impacts.  
 

73. Consideration must be given to sustainable travel modes and behaviour 
change techniques to encourage and embed mode shift to sustainable travel 
modes. 

 

Developer Contributions 
 
74. All schools in Oadby are on constrained sites to expand or would exceed 

County Council capacity limits. Some schools in Wigston may be on 
constrained sites with no chance of increasing in size. As such the County 
Council would look to either a new school site where cumulative numbers of 
dwellings warrant this or in the case of a single large development (700 
dwellings) a new primary school on the site. The County Council welcomes the 
opportunity to discuss specific school sites and their ability or inability to 
expand. 

 
  

314



Viability 
 

75. It is important a whole Plan Viability Assessment is developed to ensure 
policies are realistic and viable. 

 
76. To inform a whole Plan Viability Assessment it will be important to have a 

robust, evidence-based assessment of the highways and transport impacts of 
the new Plan’s development proposals and the mitigation measures required 
within the Borough and potentially beyond its boundaries too. 

 
High Quality Communications 

 
77. The County Council supports promoting high quality digital infrastructure to all 

new build developments, in order to reduce the need to travel, support higher 
levels of home working and inward investment and improve economic 
competitiveness.   

 
Education 
 
78. At present there are no issues in the borough at the time of first entry to 

schools.  Increases in the number of future dwellings in certain areas could lead 
to issues arising. Future proposed developments should take into account the 
County Council’s response to the call for sites consultation, which sets out 
where new extensions to existing schools and new schools would be required. 

 
Local Green Spaces 
 
79. The County Council in its role as Local Highways Authority notes that land 

within the Wigston railway triangle is designated at Local Green Space, and 
that Midlands Connect and Network Rail (to be subsumed as part of Great 
British Rail) are currently pursuing studies related to seeking to improve rail 
connectivity between Leicester (and beyond) and what additional rail capacity 
might be required in the Leicester area to facilitate new rail services and 
provide enhanced scope for more freight to be carried by rail. Any works 
required to track layouts in and around the Leicester area have yet to be 
confirmed, but it is potentially possible that works could be required at the 
South Wigston junction. 

 
Tourism 

 
80. Business tourism is the main tourism strength of the Borough, Leicester 

Conferences in Oadby is one of the largest business tourism 
venues/complexes and Leicester Racecourse also has a good business 
tourism offer with corporate entertainment and meeting venues. 

 
81. A new visitor offer is planned for Stoughton Grange, a retail complex and food 

and drink offer. There is scope to pull this and the existing attractions together 
to make an appealing cohesive visitor offer. 

 
  

315



Electric vehicle car parking 
 

82. To support the mass transition to EVs, charging points should become a 
standard feature of all new developments. 

 

Community facilities  
 

83. The loss of community facilities can have a substantial impact on people’s 
quality of life, health and wellbeing, including social connectivity and cohesion.  
A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) would allow a clear, impartial, evidenced-
based approach to considering the impact of development and whether 
mitigating factors to health risk could seek to justify contributions towards 
community facilities. 

 
84. Early learning facilities in the first instance should be placed on a primary 

school site, a developer can also build a community use building to be used by 
a pre-school or build a purpose-built nursery and lease this to a childcare 
provider. 

 
Cemetery and Burial Space 

 
85. Any specific proposals for a cemetery off Gartree Road would be subject to 

consideration by the Local Highway Authority; to create a safe site access for 
vehicles and pedestrians significant investment by the developer could be 
required to ensure safe access. 

 
Conservation Areas 
 
86. Existing policies 40 and 41 should be retained.  The policy context should take 

into account recent changes to the National Planning Policy Framework and 
make reference to the special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 

 
Masterplanning 
 
87. In providing for large scale change and place making the County Council 

supports the concept of masterplanning. When undertaken well it should enable 
the nature of the development to be articulated, help inform the assessment of 
the development’s highways and transport impacts, establish external 
connectivity needs, and ensure a strategy is in place for the site should external 
funding opportunities become available and action is required quickly to 
demonstrate need for funding. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

88. There are no equality and human rights implications arising from the 
recommendations in this report. Oadby and Wigston BC is working with the 
County Council and with other partners in the L&L HMA to provide for the 
homes and jobs required in the future. 

316



 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
89. The County Council will continue to work closely with Oadby and Wigston BC 

and other partners to minimise the impact of the planned growth on the 
environmental assets of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
90. The impact upon the environment is a key consideration in all planning 

decisions made within the context of an approved or emerging Local Plan, and 
the County Council will seek to ensure that opportunities are taken to enhance 
the environment through biodiversity net gain and sustainable forms of 
development. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

91. The County Council works closely with the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Planning Partnership, which includes Leicester City Council, the 
seven district councils in Leicestershire and the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership. A strengthening of partnership working is sought to deal 
with the transport challenges which require a strategy-led approach with 
multiple partners, both in Oadby and Wigston Borough and the wider area. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to Council on 6 December 2017: Strategic Plan and Single Outcomes 
Framework  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 November 2018: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan – Consideration of Revised Plan for Approval 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 
Minutes of the County Council meeting held on 15 May 2019 (10 (a) Climate 
Emergency) 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Transport Priorities 2020 to 2050 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 June 2021: Urgent action taken by the Chief Executive 
in relation to the Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground relating 
to housing and employment land needs (March 2021) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444   
 
Appendix 
 
Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments on Oadby and Wigston Borough 

Council’s New Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation   

317

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 
 
Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments on Oadby & Wigston Borough Council’s New Local Plan Issues and Options 

Consultation (October 2021) 

 

 Questions Comments 

 

1.  Overarching/general comments 

not related to any of the specific 

sections/questions set out below 

 

The comments contained in this response should be read in conjunction with the County Council’s response to the Borough 

Council’s ‘Call for Sites: Site Collation and Initial Assessment’ in July 2021.  

 

The spatial relationship of the borough with the City, Harborough District and Blaby District is unique in Leicestershire, a 

geographically small borough with strong functional relationships with the adjoining City and parts of Harborough District and 

Blaby District it occupies an enviable accessible location with significant green spaces, good mix of housing and employment, 

part of Leicester University, good schools and includes some countryside.  It’s uniqueness in terms of character and identity and 

as a desirable location needs to be retained and enhanced through careful future planned growth.     

 

The proposed new end date of the Plan to 2041 enables the proposals of the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) to be tested and taken 

on board in the new Local Plan.  This entails a shift in emphasis to provide an increased scale of housing and employment in the 

south and east of the County, including delivering growth in the Priority Growth Corridor to the south and east of the City. As 

such, it is anticipated that the emerging new Local Plan will refer to how the growth proposals in the Priority Growth Corridor 

are linked to future growth in Oadby and Wigston Borough, and it envisaged that the SGP will provide the mechanism for 

distributing future growth arising from this borough which it cannot accommodate in the future due to being geographically 

constrained. 

 

Other important linkages for the Borough include the City’s Transforming Cities programme and funding, improvements to 

cycleways and walkways with the City and neighbouring Blaby District and Harborough District and the Bus Service 

Improvement Plan and associated funding. With links needing to be made with the new Economic Growth Strategy for L&L, the 

emerging Local Transport Plan and workplace charging levy for the City and the emerging Local Transport Plan for the County.   

 

The Local Highway Authority is supportive of the development plan process; whilst providing for the future growth of Leicester 

and Leicestershire will be challenging in many regards (including in respect of highways and transport), a Plan-led approach 

offers the greatest opportunities to address those challenges as compared to seeking to deal with the impacts of ad-hoc, 

319



 Questions Comments 

 

‘unplanned’ growth. Thus, the Local Highway Authority recognises the importance of continuing to deliver growth in a ‘planned’ 

manner as opposed to ‘unplanned’, and therefore wishes to see the new Local Plan successfully adopted. 

 

The Local Highway Authority was closely involved in the Borough Council’s work to develop the evidence base under-pinning the 

content of the current Local Plan. It looks forward to having the opportunity to be likewise closely involved in the development 

of the new Oadby and Wigston Local Plan (new Plan). 

 

Given its geographical location, there are likely to be transport interaction between further growth in the Borough and 

neighbouring administrative areas and vice-versa (indeed, that was a key reason why the South East Leicester Transport 

Strategy Area (SELTSA) work was initiated in respect of the current Local Plan). This is particularly the case with Leicester City, 

where maintaining effective transport connectivity to the range of economic and social services and opportunities that it 

provides will continue to be important for current and future residents of the Borough. In that regard, there may be 

opportunities to build on measures being delivered by Leicester City Council as part of its Transforming Cities Fund projects. 

 

Also, given that the new Plan is proposed to have an end date of 2041, this brings its timeframe in scope with the shift in 

emphasis of housing distribution at the Housing Market Area level as set out in the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), including to 

deliver growth within a Priority Growth Corridor (PGC) around the south and east of Leicester. So, whilst the early reference to 

the SGP is welcomed in setting the general context in which the new Plan is being developed, the final version of the new Plan 

perhaps needs to say more about how growth proposals in the PGC might interact with further growth in the Borough. 

Transport evidence work being undertaken for the SPG might also demonstrate implications for the Brough’s highways and 

transport system. 

 

It is perhaps surprising that the Plan does not acknowledge the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and current uncertainties over the 

long-term implications this will have on society, including on transport provision and travel behaviour (encompassing trends 

such as increased home working). Will the emerging evidence relating to these potential long-term implications be reviewed 

and incorporated as necessary as the development of the plan progresses? 

 

The new Plan could do more to talk about carbon reduction and link to the Transport Decarbonisation Plan where possible. 

 

Neighbourhood Plans play an important and valuable role within the planning system.  This should be strengthened and 

supported by robust Neighbourhood Planning policies within the Local Plan.  Although Oadby & Wigston have yet to have any 

320

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan


 Questions Comments 

 

groups take up neighbourhood planning this does not mean that this will always be the case going forward.  We would welcome 

the inclusion and importance of NPs being reflected within the Local Plan.  Strong policies within neighbourhood plans could be 

encouraged through wording within the Local Plan to support wider priorities such as climate change.  It would be disappointing 

if this opportunity were to be missed. 

 

Minerals and waste safeguarding should form part of the methodology for site selection allocation. 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/10/3/SUB8-Oadby-Safeguarding-2015.pdf 

Part 01. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Introduction and Next Steps 

2.  Any general comments? 

 

It is positive to see reference to sustainable development and climate change being a golden thread running through the new 

Local Plan. 

 

Whilst the early reference to the SGP is welcomed in setting the general context in which the new Plan is being developed, the 

final version of the new Plan perhaps needs to say more about how growth proposals in the PGC might interact with further 

growth in the Borough. Transport evidence work being undertaken for the SPG might also demonstrate implications for the 

Borough’s highways and transport system. 

 

Part 02. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Overarching Policy Areas 

Plan Period and Cooperation 

3.  Is the suggested Local Plan time 

period of ‘date of adoption to the 

year 2041’ appropriate?  

Yes, to account for any delays in production of the plan, and aligns with time spans of a number of existing/emerging studies.  

The rationale as presented by the Council seems robust and allows for contingency to be built into the plan preparation time in 

respect to mitigating any slippage that might occur. 

 

Even with delays in the published local plan timetable the proposed end date of 2041 should provide the minimum 15 year plan 

period and is therefore supported subject to there being a sound body of evidence to support housing numbers and 

employment needs. The full period should also facilitate larger developments being built out rather than part allocations being 

held over into the next plan period. 

 

In the context of the Local Highway Authority’s overarching and general comments in respect of the SGP, this timeframe 

appears to be appropriate. It will be important to make sure that any traffic modelling work done as part of the evidence base 

to underpin the new Plan also reflects this date. 

321

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/10/3/SUB8-Oadby-Safeguarding-2015.pdf
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_01_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_introduction_and_next_steps/Part%2001.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Introduction%20and%20Next%20Steps.pdf
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_02_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_overarching_policy_areas/Part%2002.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Overarching%20policy%20areas.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

 

4.  Who should be the key 

stakeholders that the Council 

enters into Statements of 

Common Ground with? 

 

All the other authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire in respect of housing and employment needs and the delivery of 

strategic infrastructure required to support growth (SGP), National Highways (formerly Highways England), Homes England, 

health etc depending on the breadth of issues covered in the Statement of Common Ground. 

 

Where should development go? 

5.  Which of the proposed options 

illustrated should be used in 

determining the location of new 

development within the Borough 

area? 

The County Council advocates a balanced sustainable approach; a varied portfolio of future sites, where possible close to 

existing services and facilities providing for the communities within the Borough, ideally embracing the walkable 

neighbourhoods (20 minute neighbourhoods) concept and enabling the character and identity of the Borough to be enhanced 

and flourish. 

 

Recognising the geographic realities of the Borough, nevertheless the Local Highway Authority’s preference would be for the 

new Plan to seek to locate as much of the Borough’s future growth in sustainable locations, i.e. in areas that have close 

proximity to existing employment, shops, leisure, etc. Where it is necessary to allocate further greenfield sites, these should be 

in location capable of being served by cycling and walking infrastructure in accordance with the requirements of LTN1/20* and 

as appropriate viable, sustainable (in financial terms going forward) passenger transport services that reflect the ambitions of 

the National Bus Strategy ‘Bus Back Better’. (Note that the Local Highway Authority is currently preparing a Bus Service 

Improvement Plan (BSIP) which will set out more detail about how, working in collaboration with local bus operators, it will be 

seeking to improve bus services across Leicestershire. The BSIP will be published by no later than 31 October 2021.) * This is the 

Government’s national guide on cycle infrastructure design, which, inter-alia, sets out that in urban areas cyclists and 

pedestrians must be physically separated and should not share the same space. 

 

In line with a circular economy which is the Government’s ambition to achieve, concentrating development within existing 

urban areas would utilise resources already in use and maximise the value recovered from them increasing resource 

productivity. 

 

From a public health perspective, a mixture of locations would provide choice for house-buyers, those accessing affordable 

homes and tenants to make the best choice for their lifestyle and needs.  Whilst developing on too much green space reduces 

the amount that is accessible for residents and visitors and reduces the opportunity from the benefits to physical and mental 

wellbeing that this affords, well thought-through development allows the opportunity for increased access close to home for 

322

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

those with transport difficulties or mobility issues. 

 

From an education perspective, new development should be focused towards the greenfield areas of the Borough, for example 

many of which that have been put forward for consideration to the Council and are included in the ‘Call for Sites: Site Collation 

and Initial Assessment’. The County Council has already responded to the call for sites options on where schools can expand. 

Many schools in the borough are land locked or at capacity.   Sites need to be placed near to the schools which can be enlarged 

or new schools built. 

 

Minerals and waste safeguarding should form part of the methodology for site allocation, whether development is on greenfield 

land or otherwise. Information is available at https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/10/3/SUB8-

Oadby-Safeguarding-2015.pdf in map from and Leicestershire County Council should be consulted on development within 

safeguarding areas or in close proximity to permitted minerals and waste development sites. 

 

6.  Should all new development 

incorporate an element of 

housing, shops, leisure and 

employment, or should shops and 

employment remain in 

designated areas, for example 

town centres and identified 

employment areas? 

It appears unlikely given the general scale of greenfield areas probably available in the Borough for further development that 

they will be capable of supporting a sufficient and viable range of shopping, leisure, etc. provision to have any significant impact 

on the need to travel externally (i.e. developments will be of too small a scale to be truly self-contained 

communities/sustainable urban extensions). Thus, in line with its response to the previous question, the Local Highway 

Authority’s preference would be for the new Plan to seek to locate as much of the Borough’s future housing needs in areas that 

have close proximity to existing shops, leisure, etc. and to focus on ensuring that high quality provision for cycling and walking is 

provided between them to prompt travel other than by car. Where development is relatively more ‘remote’, the Local Highway 

Authority will expect the new Plan to provide a policy basis for developers still to contribute towards sustainable transport 

options including electric charging points alongside new build houses and cycling, walking and for passenger transport as 

appropriate. 

 

Designated areas can cause accessibility issues and impact on things such as air quality, financial wellbeing, physical activity and 

obesity levels (due to car use/lack of ability to use active modes of travel).  People can find it difficult to thrive without using a 

car.   

 

There is growing evidence based for the creation of places in which most of people's daily needs can be met within a short walk 

or cycle, allowing people to become more active, improve their mental and physical health; reduce traffic (and improve the 

aforementioned air quality) and benefit economically.  This can also benefit local shops and businesses and allow people to see 

323

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/10/3/SUB8-Oadby-Safeguarding-2015.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/10/3/SUB8-Oadby-Safeguarding-2015.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

more of their neighbours and communities, strengthening community cohesion and social connectivity.   See here for more 

details: https://www.tcpa.org.uk/the-20-minute-neighbourhood. 

 

The topography of Oadby and Wigston, with its compact nature, gives a good opportunity to explore a more connected place to 

live through strategic planning, even if areas are designated through focusing on transport and connectivity if carefully planned. 

 

Part 03. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Strategic Housing 

Housing Need 

7.  Is there any robust evidence to 

suggest that the Council should 

continue to use the current 

housing requirement of 148 new 

homes per year set out within the 

current Local Plan?  

The Housing and Employment Needs Assessment (HENA) which is currently being undertaken across Leicester and 

Leicestershire will provide a solid basis for informing the distribution of future housing requirements in the Borough.  This will 

be available to inform the next proposed stage of Local Plan work on preferred options which is scheduled to be consulted on in 

May/June 2022.     

 

The Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future housing numbers under-pinned by robust evidence; 

this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in respect of whether the area’s highways and transport system would be 

capable of accommodating the calculated need (which could be influenced by cumulative impacts of growth in neighbouring 

areas). In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was unable to meet its calculated need (i.e. it had an 

unmet need), the Local Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work with Housing Market Area (HMA) colleagues to 

assess how best that unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful of the direction of travel set out for the future 

spatial distribution of new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

The Council should use the Standard Method figure (plus a buffer of 10% as a minimum, to provide flexibility) plus any 

additional needs identified in the HENA including any unmet need from Leicester City identified within the SoCG. 

 

8.  Should the Council use the 

housing need figure of 180 new 

homes per year calculated by the 

Standard Method?  

As per the response to question 7, the Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future housing numbers 

under-pinned by robust evidence; this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in respect of whether the area’s highways 

and transport system would be capable of accommodating the calculated need (which could be influenced by cumulative 

impacts of growth in neighbouring areas). In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was unable to meet 

its calculated need (i.e. it had an unmet need), the Local Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work with Housing 

324

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/the-20-minute-neighbourhood
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_03_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_strategic_housing/Part%2003.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Strategic%20Housing.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

Market Area (HMA) colleagues to assess how best that unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful of the 

direction of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

The Council should use the Standard Method figure (plus a buffer of 10% as a minimum, to provide flexibility) plus any 

additional needs identified in the HENA including any unmet need from Leicester City identified within the SoCG. 

 

9.  What should the Council do if the 

HENA outcomes suggests that 

there should be a diversion from 

the Standard Method?  

There should be consideration of the HENA evidence and a work through of an option/s which sets out the variation.  This can 

then be considered by partners, other stakeholders, businesses and communities through the next stage of consultation. 

    

As per the response to question 7, the Local Highway Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future 

housing numbers under-pinned by robust evidence; this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in respect of whether the 

area’s highways and transport system would be capable of accommodating the calculated need (which could be influenced by 

cumulative impacts of growth in neighbouring areas). In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was 

unable to meet its calculated need (i.e. it had an unmet need), the Local Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work 

with Housing Market Area (HMA) colleagues to assess how best that unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful 

of the direction of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

The Council should use the Standard Method figure (plus a buffer of 10% as a minimum, to provide flexibility) plus any 

additional needs identified in the HENA including any unmet need from Leicester City identified within the SoCG. 

 

10.  What do you consider is the 

evidenced housing need for the 

Borough area?  

The latest Standard Method should be used as starting point with any deviation from this strongly evidenced.  The HENA when 

completed could provide the evidence to depart from it.   

 

As per the response to question 7, the Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future housing numbers 

under-pinned by robust evidence; this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in respect of whether the area’s highways 

and transport system would be capable of accommodating the calculated need (which could be influenced by cumulative 

impacts of growth in neighbouring areas). In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was unable to meet 

325



 Questions Comments 

 

its calculated need (i.e. it had an unmet need), the Local Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work with Housing 

Market Area (HMA) colleagues to assess how best that unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful of the 

direction of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

The Council should use the Standard Method figure (plus a buffer of 10% as a minimum, to provide flexibility) plus any 

additional needs identified in the HENA including any unmet need from Leicester City identified within the SoCG. 

 

11.  Should the Borough area be 

taking any of Leicester City’s 

declared unmet housing need? 

The findings of the HENA plus further up to date evidence work currently in preparation will inform the response to this 

question.  Given the geographical constraints and urban nature of the Borough there is likely to be limited opportunity in 

addition to accelerating the delivery of proposals already planned for in the adopted Local Plan. The implications of doing so 

need to be understood so unintended consequences do not arise.     

 

The Local Highway Authority would wish to see options for meeting Leicester City’s unmet housing need assessed as to their 

practical delivery, including in respect of highways and transport. This is not just to establish potential capacity issues and 

constraints, but to help to provide a robust, coordinated evidence base against which to identify potential solutions to 

addressing such constraints; ensure that there is a common understanding across the HMA as to what those solutions might be 

so as to inform, inter-alia and as appropriate, future Local Plan development; and to provide a basis for seeking to secure the 

delivery of those solutions, be that through national programmes; regional programmes; or locally funded, e.g. by developer 

contributions. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

The Council should use the Standard Method figure (plus a buffer of 10% as a minimum, to provide flexibility) plus any 

additional needs identified in the HENA including any unmet need from Leicester City identified within the SoCG. 

 

Housing Density 

12.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to housing density 

Given the geographical realities of the Borough, continuing to seek to maximise density would seem to be appropriate; this can 

also have benefits in terms of creating a ‘critical mass’ of residents that is more likely to support viable and sustainable (in 

financial terms going forward) improvements to passenger transport services that encourage travel other than by private car. 

326



 Questions Comments 

 

ensuring that it is up-to-date with 

national policy and guidance?  

Conversely, the significant step change in cycling and walking provision required under LTN1/20 (most notably a general 

presumption that separate facilities should be provided for cyclists and for pedestrians in urban areas) appears likely will have 

some impact on site density (i.e. cycling and walking infrastructure will likely take up more space on a site than hitherto). 

Additionally, if home working is to form a greater part of peoples’ lives in the future, there could be pressure for larger 

properties that have a dedicated ‘office’ and greater garden space, which will also impact on density levels. 

 

The literature on the impact of housing density on health outcomes is inconclusive. There is a large amount of heterogeneity 

between studies which makes it difficult to compare studies or investigate pooled effects. Results from studies are often 

contradictory – what works in one place doesn’t necessarily work in another. This suggests that the impacts of housing density 

are context specific and the design of higher density housing needs to be fit for purpose. 

 

Research is somewhat conflicting in the area of housing density and health with different areas and population groups 

experiencing different outcomes.  What is conclusive is that the quality of housing, particularly in areas of high density, is of 

utmost importance when looking to improve health outcomes.  Dense housing can increase feelings of safety and connectivity 

to be physically active, but design and quality needs to consider health harms associated with noise from proximity to others, 

lack of community space and proximity to infrastructure associated with air pollution, for example.   

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

There should be a general aspiration to set the density at a figure that ensures sites are attractive to the market (currently 35 -

38 with higher densities in urban areas / district centres) provide an economic return to both developer and landowner and 

therefore deliverable. That said each site needs to be assessed on the basis of known constraints and other overarching policies 

in setting a target density. 

 

13.  Should the Council be seeking to 

increase the minimum density 

targets in the new Local Plan?  

As per the response to question 12, given the geographical realities of the Borough, continuing to seek to maximise density 

would seem to be appropriate; this can also have benefits in terms of creating a ‘critical mass’ of residents that is more likely to 

support viable and sustainable (in financial terms going forward) improvements to passenger transport services that encourage 

travel other than by private car. Conversely, the significant step change in cycling and walking provision required under LTN1/20 

(most notably a general presumption that separate facilities should be provided for cyclists and for pedestrians in urban areas) 

appears likely will have some impact on site density (i.e. cycling and walking infrastructure will likely take up more space on a 

site than hitherto). Additionally, if home working is to form a greater part of peoples’ lives in the future, there could be pressure 

327



 Questions Comments 

 

for larger properties that have a dedicated ‘office’ and greater garden space, which will also impact on density levels. 

 

If homes are built more densely, thought needs to be taken around access to green space, light and noise impacts and privacy, 

which can have negative impacts on mental health.  Positives are design focus around creating a sense of belonging, inclusion 

and safety and also creation of ‘compact’ walkable neighbourhoods.    

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per response to question 12.  

 

14.  Should the Council be seeking to 

decrease the minimum density 

targets in the new Local Plan?  

As per the response to question 12, given the geographical realities of the Borough, continuing to seek to maximise density 

would seem to be appropriate; this can also have benefits in terms of creating a ‘critical mass’ of residents that is more likely to 

support viable and sustainable (in financial terms going forward) improvements to passenger transport services that encourage 

travel other than by private car. Conversely, the significant step change in cycling and walking provision required under LTN1/20 

(most notably a general presumption that separate facilities should be provided for cyclists and for pedestrians in urban areas) 

appears likely will have some impact on site density (i.e. cycling and walking infrastructure will likely take up more space on a 

site than hitherto). Additionally, if home working is to form a greater part of peoples’ lives in the future, there could be pressure 

for larger properties that have a dedicated ‘office’ and greater garden space, which will also impact on density levels. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per response to question 12.  

 

15.  Should the Council be applying a 

single density target across the 

Borough area? If so, what is the 

evidence to suggest this is the 

case?  

As per the response to question 12, given the geographical realities of the Borough, continuing to seek to maximise density 

would seem to be appropriate; this can also have benefits in terms of creating a ‘critical mass’ of residents that is more likely to 

support viable and sustainable (in financial terms going forward) improvements to passenger transport services that encourage 

travel other than by private car. Conversely, the significant step change in cycling and walking provision required under LTN1/20 

(most notably a general presumption that separate facilities should be provided for cyclists and for pedestrians in urban areas) 

appears likely will have some impact on site density (i.e. cycling and walking infrastructure will likely take up more space on a 

site than hitherto). Additionally, if home working is to form a greater part of peoples’ lives in the future, there could be pressure 

for larger properties that have a dedicated ‘office’ and greater garden space, which will also impact on density levels. 

328



 Questions Comments 

 

 

If density targets vary across the borough this increases the risk of those experiencing higher levels of deprivation and inequality 

being disproportionately affected by the negative aspects of housing density mentioned above, as lower cost housing is 

associated with less access to services to keep us healthy.  Different types of green space, easily accessible to everyone, no 

matter what their income, should be a priority in designing high-density residential areas. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per response to question 12.  

 

16.  Should the Council be applying 

maximum density targets? 

Given the geographical realities of the Borough, continuing to seek to maximise density would seem to be appropriate; this can 

also have benefits in terms of creating a ‘critical mass’ of residents that is more likely to support viable and sustainable (in 

financial terms going forward) improvements to passenger transport services that encourage travel other than by private car. 

 

Conversely, the significant step change in cycling and walking provision required under LTN1/20 (most notably a general 

presumption that separate facilities should be provided for cyclists and for pedestrians in urban areas) appears likely will have 

some impact on site density (i.e. cycling and walking infrastructure will likely take up more space on a site than hitherto). 

Additionally, if home working is to form a greater part of peoples’ lives in the future, there could be pressure for larger 

properties that have a dedicated ‘office’ and greater garden space, which will also impact on density levels. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per response to question 12.  

 

Affordable Housing 

17.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to affordable housing 

ensuring that it is up-to-date with 

national policy and guidance?  

Yes the current approach updated to reflect national policy and guidance is appropriate.  

Viability of affordable housing should include the cost for community facilities such as schools and childcare facilities. 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

The plan should be guided by the most up to date assessment of need. If evidence of greater need in specific areas of the 

Borough is available these figures should be applied to those localities. In all cases the proportion of affordable housing 

329



 Questions Comments 

 

delivered should be subject to the viability of the site not being negatively impacted to the extent that the site becomes 

undeliverable. 

 

18.  Should the Council be applying a 

single Borough wide percentage 

target and policy approach?  

The percentages, if aiming to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce inequality could be based on population need and 

access to services, not land value.   

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per the response to question 17. 

 

19.  Should the Council be seeking to 

increase the minimum affordable 

housing percentage targets in the 

new Local Plan?  

With the financial effects of the pandemic prevailing and the end of furlough approaching, the amount should be calculated 

based on local need.  

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per the response to question 17. 

 

20.  Should the Council be seeking to 

decrease the minimum affordable 

housing percentage targets in the 

new Local Plan?  

As per the response to question 19, with the financial effects of the pandemic prevailing and the end of furlough approaching, 

the amount should be calculated based on local need.  

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per the response to question 17. 

 

21.  Is the Council correct in amending 

the qualifying threshold to reflect 

the current definition of ‘major 

development’ as set out in the 

NPPF?  

The difference seems negligible but yes, it makes sense to align this.    

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per the response to question 17. 

 

22.  What do you consider to be the 

most appropriate affordable 

housing target(s) for the Borough 

This needs to be based on data and need within local records i.e. Housing Register and affordable home applications.  The aim 

should be that the need be met, or as close as possible?    

 

330



 Questions Comments 

 

area? Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per the response to question 17. 

 

Gypsy and Traveller Need 

23.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Gypsy and Traveller 

and Travelling Show People with 

minor wording amendments 

ensuring that it is up-to-date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

The criteria-based policy in the current plan is still fit for purpose with the necessary updates to the legal definitions. It should 

be noted that whilst there is no obvious need for the authority to build pitches for Gypsies and Travellers or Travelling 

Showman, the Criteria based policy should be applied to any private applications brought forward. 

 

The policy should retain the flexibility to support with necessary services for health and wellbeing and wider determinants if 

needed.  

 

 

24.  The most up-to-date assessment 

of gypsy, traveller and travelling 

showpeople in the Borough area 

is 0 (zero). Do you have any 

evidence to suggest that there is 

a housing need for gypsy, 

travellers and travelling 

showpeople within the Borough 

area? 

 

Whilst there is evidence of Gypsy and Traveller families living in Oadby and Wigston and they are nearly always living in 

conventional housing, there are a number of unauthorised encampments that pass through the borough during the year. Some 

of those encampments are due to families visiting relatives and consideration should be given to the provision of Transit sites. 

These do not necessarily need to be within the Borough but nearby and joint provision of transit sites across Leicestershire 

would alleviate some of the need and issues caused by unauthorised camping. 

 

The continued monitoring of need for Gypsy and Traveller families in the future is also supported.  

 

Older Persons Housing 

25.  Should the Council require 

applicants to provide older 

persons housing and / or 

accommodation, on all 

development sites regardless of 

size?  

Providing suitable housing for the ageing population is an increasing challenge nationally and locally and a variety of housing 

solutions are required to enable people to live with dignity as they progress into later life stages.   The HENA should provide an 

up to date insight into this issue for Leicester and Leicestershire. 

   

It is not known how many small developments (below 10) are approved in the area and how much difference the 10-dwelling 

cut off point of ‘large’ sites would make. If this is a sizeable number, then this cut off/trigger to require older people’s housing 

may seem counter intuitive as you have a high projected increase in this age group and relatively low housing provided in the 

331



 Questions Comments 

 

last 5-10 years? 

 

The Adults and Communities department would welcome as a commitment to ‘whole life’ and ‘whole community’ 
development. We would wish to see a stated commitment to the highest standards of dementia friendly town planning and 
property design particularly as there is transferability to other vulnerable adult populations.  
 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 
 
The provision of housing required to meet the needs of older people should be included within the wider breakdown of housing 
mix for both market and affordable housing in terms of dwelling type, accessibility and affordability and include provision for 
those requiring supported living. 
 

26.  Should the Council require 

applicants to provide older 

persons housing and / or 

accommodation, on only large 

development sites that meet the 

NPPF definition of major 

development?  

 

As per the response to question 25.  

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per the response to question 25.  

27.  Which option from the above set 

of potential options would be the 

most appropriate for the Borough 

area?  

Options that set requirements rather than encouragement afford much more certainty about how to plan to meet the need of 

the increasing population of older people.  To extend heathy life expectancy and reliance on support services, we need to 

require homes that can be flexible for people as they age, so from the populations mentioned within the NPPF as approaching 

retirement and those still active, through to the need for adaptations being able to be made (easily). This increases the 

opportunity for people to say in their own homes and maintain a level of independence, which is strongly associated with 

increased wellbeing. 

 

The Adults and Communities department would welcome as a commitment to ‘whole life’ and ‘whole community’ 
development. The document makes no reference, to being dementia friendly. We’d like to see a commitment to the highest 
standards of dementia friendly town planning and property design particularly as there is transferability to other vulnerable 
adult populations. The document highlights the growth in the older persons population over the timeline of the plan. At present 
there are no units of affordable Extra Care Housing units in O&W, this results in an over reliance on Registered Care Homes for 
those who are unable to be supported/cared for in their own homes. LCC has assessed the available data sources and concluded 

332



 Questions Comments 

 

a need for 1500 units of ECH across the county by 2037, there are approx. 330 units at this time. This would indicate a need of 
approx. 150 units of ECH in O&W by 2037. Extra Care Housing and Supported Living would benefit from being located within 
close walking distance of the facilities referred to in Section 7. Potential Community, Retail and/or Health Use. 
 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per the response to question 25.  

 

28.  Should the Council be considering 

the housing needs for younger 

persons as well as the housing 

needs for older persons? 

With the longer-term financial impacts of the pandemic uncertain, it would seem sensible to consider housing need for younger 

people too, who may need access to more flexible/affordable housing before their situation gets to crisis point.  Links to access 

to employment could also be key here for those trying to access first jobs/increased hours/multiple roles/flexible roles around 

education/apprenticeships/progression/a return to work after ill health. 

 

The Strategic Growth Plan mentions a priority around reducing the loss of skills when graduates leave the county after university 

ends, could consideration around the needs for housing for younger people contribute towards this priority? 

 

The Adults and Communities department would support the inclusion of a specific commitment to units of specialist housing 

offers for working age adults living with vulnerabilities i.e. Learning Disability, Physical Disability, Sensory Impairment and 

Mental Health problems alongside younger adults transitioning from LCC Children and Family Services to Adult Services i.e. 

bungalows inc wheelchair accessible developments, small developments of single person flats inc wheelchair accessibility which 

could be aimed at supported living. The Adults and Communities department will work with O&WDC on the volume and 

location of such developments. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

 

As per the response to question 25.  

 

Part 04. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Employment 

Employment Need 

29.  Should the Council use the 

outputs of the HENA to specify 

the employment need of the 

The findings of the HENA should be considered and a view taken as to whether this provides a sufficient basis on which to plan 

for the employment needs of the Borough. If not an up to date Employment Land and Premises Study should be considered, 

possibly in collaboration with neighbouring districts and linked to the City given the geographical connectivity of the Borough.   

333

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_04_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_employment/Part%2004.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Employment.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

Borough area or produce an up-

to-date Employment Land and 

Premises Study?  

    

The Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future employment land needs under-pinned by the most 

appropriate source of robust evidence; this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in respect of whether the area’s 

highways and transport system would be capable of accommodating the calculated land need (which could be influenced by 

cumulative impacts of growth in neighbouring areas). 

 

In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was unable to meet its calculated land need, the Local 

Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work with Housing Market Area (HMA) colleagues to assess how best that 

unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful of the direction of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of 

new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

If a more up to date Employment Land study is carried out, then this should take consideration of the impact of the pandemic 

and potential number of business deaths which will influence premises required. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

It would seem to be a sensible approach to base employment land needs on the most up to date evidence available. 

 

30.  Is there any other method for 

calculating the Borough’s 

employment need?  

As per the response to question 29, the Local Highway Authority would want to see any decision about future employment land 

needs under-pinned by the most appropriate source of robust evidence; this is not just in respect of calculated need, but in 

respect of whether the area’s highways and transport system would be capable of accommodating the calculated land need 

(which could be influenced by cumulative impacts of growth in neighbouring areas). 

 

In the event that there was evidence to suggest that the Borough was unable to meet its calculated land need, the Local 

Highway Authority would expect the Borough to work with Housing Market Area (HMA) colleagues to assess how best that 

unmet need should be met across the wider HMA, mindful of the direction of travel set out for the future spatial distribution of 

new housing set out in the Strategic Growth Plan. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per response to question 29.  

31.  Where should additional In general terms, where the impacts on the area’s highways and transport system can best be limited. This is both in respect of 

334



 Questions Comments 

 

employment land development 

be located if a need arises? 

seeking to limit the number of individual employee trips made by private car and on limiting the impacts of a site’s functioning, 

e.g. impacts of HGVs. See also Local Highway Authority response to question 30. 

 

The plan should focus on upgrading or re-using existing stock within existing sectors and if need is identified for more units then 

try and re-use brownfield sites first rather than new greenfield sites. With the impact of the pandemic being felt on the High 

Street with an increasing amount of vacant units there may be an opportunity to re-use vacant floorspace for the Creative 

sector or small makers which would in turn re-vitalise the town centres. 

 

From a Public Health perspective, employment land needs to be accessible, for our working age population to have access to 

‘good work’.  Accessibility considerations should focus around bus routes, opportunity to travel actively, type of business and 

shift patterns and the opportunity to embed the businesses within the local community.   

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

As per response to question 29. 

Identified Employment Areas (new and existing) 

32.  Which of the above potential 

options would be the most 

appropriate approach for 

managing the supply of 

employment land within the 

Borough area?  

The ‘Core’, ‘Base’ and ‘Release’ categories for the Identified Employment Areas are supported, as they reflects the importance 

these employment areas play in providing jobs for local communities, help to retain a good mix of uses, and recognises the 

changing nature of employment land.  Could consideration be given to broadening out employment uses, possibly considering 

work hubs (ICT trouble shooting, meeting/collaboration space etc) to support agile working and business start-ups and the 

needs of growing businesses. 

  

If there is no evidence to suggest the need for a difference of approach, the Local Highway Authority has no particular reason in 

principle to seek an alternative approach. Where through the planning system proposals come forward within the IEAs that 

would materially affect the way a particular site or business operated, the Local Highway Authority will continue to assess those 

under the prevailing requirements of the NPPF and any other relevant national or local policies, regulations, etc. That could 

mean, notwithstanding the Local Highway Authority’s in general principle position, that for particular site proposals it could still 

be in a position where it would be advising the Local Planning Authority to refuse the proposals on highways and transport 

grounds. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 

335



 Questions Comments 

 

 

Given the limited access available to the Borough and current constraints within strategic infrastructure it is important to create 

and maintain as broad a mix of employment opportunities as possible. This should include the availability of modern well 

equipped start-up and progression units that will enable new businesses to be established and grow adding to the long term 

economic wellbeing of the area. 

 

Where possible existing employment areas should be protected subject to them remaining economically viable. 

 

The employment (and related) policies will need to address Use Class E and how properties within that general use class are to 

be treated as part of an overall strategy. 

33.  If you consider that the most 

appropriate approach is to 

continue to designate Identified 

Employment Areas, but amend 

the policy criteria, what criteria 

do you consider should be used 

within a new policy approach?  

As per response to question 32. 

34.  If you consider that the most 

appropriate approach is to 

discontinue each of the Identified 

Employment Areas within the 

Borough and have no specific 

planning policy approach, how do 

you consider that the Council 

best protects employment land 

for B Class employment 

businesses to locate, evolve and 

grow? 

As per response to question 32.  

Part 05. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Economy 

Retail Hierarchy 

35.  Do you consider that the existing The existing list of centres is fine, but with the amount of new house building that has happened since the local plan was 

336

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_05_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_economy/Part%2005.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Economy.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

list of centres, set out within the 

current Local Plan, is up-to date 

and relevant?  

produced, coupled with the move to on-line shopping and the closure of many bank/building society branches in local centres 

(which was a main reason for visiting the local town centre) it could be argued that the shopper has become more mobile and 

research is needed into where/how people shop and access local services which could affect the hierarchy. 

 

36.  Do you consider that the existing 

list of centres needs amending to 

reflect changes that have 

occurred within the Borough 

area?  

As per response to question 35. 

 

37.  Do you consider that the existing 

policy wording set out within 

Local Plan Policy 23 Retail 

Hierarchy reflects current 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

 

No comment.  

38.  Do you consider that the 

apparent differences in the 

Borough’s three main centres of 

Wigston, Oadby and South 

Wigston are reflected 

appropriately, for example should 

both Oadby and South Wigston, 

be designated ‘District’ centres, 

or should the difference between 

them be better reflected? 

 

With the issues listed at question 35 above, it could be argued that Wigston is no longer the main settlement and is equal in 

status to South Wigston and Oadby. Wigston in terms of development sites with its numerous car parks, the largest of which are 

in the ownership of the Borough Council does represent the greatest opportunity to grow. This could be not just in terms of 

retail but in particular leisure/ restaurants to develop a night-time economy. The offer is currently dominated by takeaways. 

Retail Need 

39.  Which of the above potential 

options do you consider is / are 

the most appropriate for the 

In general, the Local Highway Authority would wish to see new retail provision made in locations that already offer a significant 

range of shopping facilities and other services, i.e. in existing centres; this approach should help to minimise trip levels both 

from existing and future developments. However, subject to the scale of any new housing development sites that might be 

337



 Questions Comments 

 

Borough area?  brought forward in the new Plan, it may be appropriate to include some ‘local’ retail provision on those sites in order to seek to 

minimise levels of external trip making. 

 

40.  Should the Council be allocating 

any further sites for retail 

provision, bearing in mind that 

the existing allocations have yet 

to be built out?  

 

As per response to question 39. 

 

41.  Should the Council be 

concentrating retail development 

within just one of the three main 

centres, rather than spread 

across all three?  

In addition to the response to question 39, given the need to adapt to Climate change and to encourage shopping through 

sustainable means i.e. cycling and walking, people should be encouraged to visit their nearest centre.  

 

A focus on 20-minute neighbourhoods and walkable communities may restrict access to products such as affordable healthy 

food for those less able to travel further. This could exacerbate inequality. 

 

42.  Should the Council be promoting 

a greater mix of uses within its 

main centres, rather than having 

a retail dominant approach, 

taking account of the changing 

shopping habits of its local 

communities? 

Subject to available evidence, this may be appropriate where it helps to sustain those centres as a point of focus thereby helping 

to minimise trip levels within the Borough. However, the Local Highway Authority would not wish to see diversification where a 

new use might lead to a centre becoming a significant generator/attract of new carborne trips, as in general terms the layout of 

the road networks in the centres are already constrained and so in such circumstances congestion levels would likely increase 

with potential health and environmental consequences. 

Further to the response to question 41, the role of the centres as dominated by retail is being eroded by the move to online 

sales. This has also affected the role of the centres as service hubs with the closure of banks and building societies with the 

move to online banking. The centres need to adapt and become places where people go for experiences such as dining , drinks, 

small business collaboration units and events – in both the street and artisan markets, which will need to be accompanied with 

an upgrade in the public realm and creation new multi-use green spaces. Town centres are often the focus for tourism, but 

other than the Framework Knitters Museum which is located slightly outside Wigston Town Centre there is little to attract 

visitors to the centres. The Racecourse at Oadby attracts a huge number of visitors who arrive by car or coach and leave without 

visiting any of the town centres. None of the 3 centres have a hotel (other than the Stage which is outside of Wigston Town 

centre) so again there is no footfall generated. 

 

A walkable neighbourhood would include good access to food retailers and supermarkets, education and health services, 

338



 Questions Comments 

 

financial services (i.e. post office or ban), employment opportunities, public open space and entertainment (such as leisure, 

culture and entertainment facilities).  Whether, due to the nature of the borough, this could be offered within main centres 

within a ’20 minute neighbourhood’ timescale would be down to local knowledge. Some of the above options would allow main 

centres to be a way to connect with others and socialise; another outcome of the pandemic is a risk to social connectivity, in 

addition to its impact on retail habits. 

 

Town and District centres and their boundaries 

43.  Should the Council continue with 

the current tightly drawn 

boundaries of its town and 

district centres?  

 

Yes. This will hopefully attract quality niche shops/eateries which will sustain the town centres and it unlikely that the amount of 

retail space that is currently available will be required in the future. 

44.  If the answer is no to the answer 

above, how do you consider that 

the Council should approach 

town and district centre 

boundaries?  

 

 Not applicable.  

45.  Do you consider that more high-

quality new housing should be 

provided within the Borough 

areas three main centres of 

Wigston, Oadby and South 

Wigston? 

As per the response to question 42, subject to available evidence, this may be appropriate where it helps to sustain the role of 

those centres, i.e. helps to support the continued existence of the ‘high street’ thereby helping to minimise trip levels within the 

Borough. However, the Local Highway Authority would not wish to see a circumstance where a new use might lead to a centre 

becoming a significant generator/attract of new carborne trips, as in general terms the layout of the road networks in the 

centres are already constrained and so in such circumstances congestion levels would likely increase with potential health and 

environmental consequences. 

 

Local Centres 

46.  Should the Council continue to 

define local centres and protect 

them (and enhance where 

possible) from inappropriate 

development?  

If there is no evidence to suggest the need for a difference of approach, the Local Highway Authority has no particular reason in 

principle to seek an alternative one. Where through the planning system proposals come forward within the LCs that would 

materially affect the way a particular site or business operated, the Local Highway Authority will continue to assess those under 

the prevailing requirements of the NPPF and any other relevant national or local policies, regulations, etc. That could mean, 

notwithstanding the Local Highway Authority’s in general principle position, that for particular site proposals it could still be in a 

339



 Questions Comments 

 

position where it would be advising the Local Planning Authority to refuse the proposals on highways and transport grounds. 

 

The recognition of local centres and their significance to local communities is welcomed.  The continuation of defining local 

centres and protecting them from inappropriate development is a positive as a means to reduce the amount of local traffic. If 

people can walk or cycle to these local centres this should be encouraged rather than going by car into the main Town Centres. 

 

As discussed earlier, access to services within the community you live is particularly beneficial to health and wellbeing as an 

important wider determinant of health. Public Health would welcome consideration around the hot food takeaway provision 

within these centres and also access to low cost healthier foods. 

 

47.  Should the Council remove the 

designation and not have policy 

considerations relating to local 

centres?  

 

As per the response to question 46 and from an economic growth perspective, it is not considered that the designation and 

policy considerations should be removed.  

 

48.  Are there any currently 

designated Local centres that 

should be removed?  

 

As per response to question 47. 

 

49.  Are there any areas within the 

Borough area that you consider 

should be designated as Local 

centres? 

 

In addition to the response as per question 47, from an economic growth perspective, as large new housing developments come 

forward, new centres may need to be designated. 

 

Part 06. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Green Infrastructure 

Green Infrastructure 

50.  Do you think that the Council 

should maintain the current Local 

Plan policy position relating to 

Green Infrastructure, in the new 

Local Plan, with minor wording 

Yes, given the Borough Council’s current approach a net gain in Green Infrastructure through the preservation and 

enhancement of open spaces and assets. 

 

The Local Highway Authority recognises the important role that green infrastructure, including green wedges, can play in terms 

of climate change and in respect of peoples’ health and wellbeing. In broad terms, it has no particular objection to this 

340

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_06_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_green_infrastructure/Part%2006.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Green%20infrastructure.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

amendments to ensure that it is 

up-to-date with current national 

planning policy and guidance? 

approach, subject to the new Plan ensuring that:  

- provision for essential transport infrastructure will still be an acceptable land use in a green wedge 

- for green infrastructure provision in new developments, appropriate management and maintenance regimes are put in 

place such that no liabilities for future maintenance fall to the Local Highway Authority. 

 

The only other consideration that would be welcomed, which may have been referred to but not explicitly within the current 

policy is the consideration around making green infrastructure accessible to all.  So alongside maximising existing and 

developing new Green Infrastructure, it’s important to look at how those experiencing health inequality would access these 

country parks, sports pitches and green wedges.  We can provide opportunities for people to increase their physical activity, but 

what do we do around those that aren’t current physically active? The percentage of physically active adults for Oadby and 

Wigston in 2019/20 is 52.9%. This is the lowest figure of all Leicestershire local authority areas and significantly lower than the 

England value of 61.4% (Sport England Active Lives Data). What barriers do they have?  And how can we mitigate these? 

 

Green Wedges 

51.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Green Wedges with 

minor wording amendments to 

ensure that it is up-to-date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

 

Green Wedges have been an effective policy tool in Leicester and Leicestershire for many years and it is recognised that the 

compact and urban nature of Oadby and Wigston Borough means that Green Wedges are very important locally.  Although the 

longevity of Green wedges is desired they need to be reviewed regularly to ensure that they still meet the criteria for Green 

Wedges and to explore whether a release of a selected part/s for future development could be undertaken without 

fundamentally adversely impacting on the form and function of the Green Wedge. 

 

As per the Local Highway Authority response to question 50. 

52.  Should the Council consider 

whether or not to undertake a 

Green Wedge Review in order to 

establish whether or not to 

retain, create new or amend the 

boundaries of the existing Green 

Wedges in order to take account 

of the new Local Plan proposed 

site allocations and any other 

As per response to question 51.  

 

341



 Questions Comments 

 

factual updates? 

Countryside 

53.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in current Local Plan Policy 43 

– Countryside, ensuring that it is 

up to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

 

The Local Highway Authority would wish to see any policy on this matter in the new Plan cover that development must not have 

an adverse highway impact. 

54.  Are any of the other options set 

out above appropriate?  

As per response to question 53. 

 

55.  What forms of development do 

you consider should be allowed in 

countryside locations of the 

Borough? 

In general terms, the Local Highway Authority would not wish to see forms of development that would become significant trip 

generators/attractors in the relatively more remote parts of the Borough, as this would likely result in increased levels of 

carborne trips. 

 

In addition to this general comment, even where the CHA recognises that in principle a certain form of development might be 

appropriate in countryside locations of the Borough, where through the planning system site specific proposals come forward 

the Local Highway Authority will continue to assess those under the prevailing requirements of the NPPF and any other relevant 

national or local policies, regulations, etc. This could mean, notwithstanding the Local Highway Authority’s in general principle 

position, that for particular site proposals it could still be in a position where it would be advising the Local Planning Authority to 

refuse the proposals on highways and transport grounds. 

 

Sustainable drainage and surface water 

56.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 39 – Sustainable 

Drainage and Surface Water, 

ensuring that it is up to date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance? 

Yes, with minor modifications to text (see bold italicised text): 

 

“The Council will require all proposals, including refurbishments (11 or more residential units or 1,000+ square metres of floor 

area) to incorporate appropriate Sustainable Drainage Systems in accordance with the latest National Standards for 

Sustainable Drainage Systems” - While this is ideal, there are a number of instances where SuDS could not reasonably be 

implemented. Paragraph 167 of NPPF advises that development “incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is 

clear evidence that this would be inappropriate”. Consideration should be made to amending the wording of this policy to be 

more in line with the requirements of NPPF. An example of SuDS being unreasonable would be a town centre building seeking a 

342



 Questions Comments 

 

change of use, where there are no changes proposed to external areas or where there is no space externally for SuDS. 

“…and in agreement with the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for Leicestershire” - Maybe reword to include compliance with 

any guidance (SPD or similar) the LLFA may have. 

“Where development proposals are received in areas known to be susceptible to surface water flooding issues, appropriate 

management and mitigation schemes will be required” - consider removing. An FRA should consider all potential risks of 

flooding, not just known risks. 

Flood Risk 

57.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 38 – Climate Change, 

Flood Risk and Renewable Low 

Carbon Energy, ensuring that it is 

up to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

 

Yes. 

58.  Remove the policy approach and 

only apply the policy principles 

and guidance set at a national 

level through the National 

Planning Policy Framework and 

the National Planning Practice 

Guidance?  

 

No. The policy goes slightly further than NPPF and as such the Lead Local Flood Authority would welcome the retention of this 

condition. 

59.  Do you consider that the Council 

should be undertaking a full 

review of the existing Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment or review 

and only up-date the existing 

study as and where necessary? 

The current SFRA is dated 2014 and serious consideration should be given to updating this. Since 2014 a number have changes 

have been made to national policy and guidance surrounding surface water management and flood risk. 

343



 Questions Comments 

 

 

Part 07. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Environment and Sustainability 

Habitats and Biodiversity 

60.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 37 – Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity, ensuring that it is 

up to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

This should be updated to reflect the need to tackle national and local biodiversity action plan species and habitats most in 

decline. Currently, semi-improved and natural grassland are not mentioned in policy 37 and perhaps should be because 

grassland is Leicestershire’s habitat most in decline. This would be better supported by higher standards of maintenance 

expected by Development Companies and new adopted green space as funded through S106 contributions.  

 

P111 of the current Local Plan mentions protection of trees that have TPO designations, LCC would support this but also ad that 

Ancient or Veteran/Mature trees that do not have TPOs should also be protected by good design in development. This would 

ensure that trees with the ability to sequester most carbon and provide habitat for biodiversity are conserved in the landscape. 

This supports the Leicestershire Tree Management Strategy and the Leicestershire & Rutland BAP and Policy 40 of the current 

Oadby Wigston Local Plan. 

 

The policy needs significant re-wording to take account of the approaching biodiversity net-gain arrangements – expected to 

become a mandatory 10% on most developments later this year. As a general point, mitigation is not the same as 

compensation.  

 

If the roll-forward option is pursued however, the following changes in wording are suggested (bold), but it may be better to 

start again. 

 

Policy 37 Biodiversity and Geodiversity.  

The Council will look to support require development to demonstrate measurable biodiversity net gain in accordance with 

NPPF policy and national legislation, and:  

- Conserve, protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity through minimising loss of valued features and priority UK and 

local BAP habitat in the landscape, such as species-rich grassland, hedgerows, woodland, trees, ponds and wetland, and sites 

that meet the local criteria for designation as a Local Wildlife Site. 

 - Conserve and protect irreplaceable woodland habitats, such as ancient woodland or veteran trees.  

– Apply the conservation hierarchy of Avoid-Mitigate-Compensate to all developments that impacts on biodiversity, seeking 

in the first place to avoid impacts and then to mitigate impacts on priority habitats and designated sites, and only resort to 

compensation for habitat loss when no other options are available 

344

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_07_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_environment_and_sustainability/Part%2007.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Environment%20and%20sustainability.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

  -Mitigate Compensate  for any loss of valuable assets through applying measures for reinstatement, replacement or on / off 

site compensatory work that will enhance or recreate those habitats in circumstances when loss of the original habitat is 

unavoidable through development, in accordance with legislation and  local biodiversity net-gain policy, and,  

- Explore opportunities to restore, enhance, create or connect with established natural habitats as an integral feature of the 

proposed scheme.  

Where development will have known detrimental impacts or cause lasting harm to the natural habitats in that location, the 

Council will compensate for that loss through effective conditions in the planning decision or by seeking developer 

contributions to contribute towards off-site mitigation measures. compensation for that loss will be required through 

application of BNG legislation, and in accordance with Local Nature Recovery Strategy and local policy on BNG   

Working in collaboration with developers, as well as local and national agencies with ecological and geological expertise, the 

Council will identify, conserve, protect and enhance natural assets, so that biodiversity net-gain arising from development will 

contribute towards local regional and national Local Nature Recovery, in accordance with the appropriate objectives of Local 

Nature Recovery Strategies habitats and species can thrive and help to create rich biodiversity within the Borough for future 

generations to enjoy.  

The Council will also protect trees with Tree Preservation Orders associated to them. All proposals must also take account of the 

guidance set out in the Council’s Tree Strategy. 

 

In the ‘What the Council says’ text on the consultation document, this text needs some revisions: ‘. . . the proposal will not be 

refused from the outset and discussion will take place between the applicant, the Council the County Council, the Woodland 

Trust, the Environment Agency and Natural England.’  The list is too prescriptive, and the inclusive of the Woodland Trust seems 

inappropriate among the list of statutory bodies and consultees.  If charitable and non-governmental organisation are included, 

then this needs to be a generic category, to ensure that other bodies such as Leics and Rutland Wildlife Trust are on a level 

footing with Woodland Trust - but it is questioned whether it is an appropriate category of organisation to include. 

 

61.  In what ways do you consider 

that the Council could ensure 

genuine and demonstrable 

biodiversity net gains on all new 

development sites?  

The LPA should be able to refer to supplementary documentation setting out local policies towards BNG and Local Nature 

recovery; this would identify strategic priorities for BNG and also set out the appropriate local processes for  developers to 

engage with – this will include the biodiversity unit cost and necessary legal mechanisms (likely to be S106, but it is proposed 

that a new mechanism – the Conservation Covenant – will be made by government).   

 

It is strongly recommended that the LPA works in partnership with other LPAs in Leicestershire so that this supplementary 

document is County-wide in scope to ensure consistency of approach, cost and prioritisation across the county and local 

345



 Questions Comments 

 

authority boundaries.   The LPA should identify suitable land within the Borough for BNG offsetting or offsite enhancements, but 

will also need to consider sites outside the constraints of the borough boundaries for investment in wider County/Regional 

priorities for Local Nature Recovery. The DEFRA BNG metric does incentivise on-site and local offsite/offset solutions to BNG, 

but this may not always be possible to achieve.  

 

62.  Should the Council be making use 

of Natural England’s Biodiversity 

Metric, or are there more 

appropriate ways of calculating 

biodiversity net gain? 

A wording correction - the current national metric is DEFRA v.3.0, not NE.   

 

The use of this metric is recommended, but it is understood that it is acceptable to use other standard metrics.  The only other 

standard metric the Council is aware of is Warwickshire’s, and it is appropriate to use this in our area, but others may be 

developed over time that are preferable to use than the current two options. Therefore it would be sensible to allow some 

flexibility here – e.g. “Use of DEFRA’s BNG metric in latest versions available, or (with prior agreement of the LPA) use of another 

national, regional or local standard metric .”  The risk of using different metric is that the BNG currency – the ‘biodiversity unit’ – 

may not carry the same value as DEFRA’s; this is something that would need to be investigated by the LPA if an alternative 

metric is used, to ensure consistency and fairness of approach and to maintain or improve standards set by DEFRA. 

 

The Council should set a target for Nature Recovery under new net gain policy that pushes planned development to achieve 

more than a minimum of 10% Net Gain.  Development can play a significant role in combatting the decline in biodiversity. On 

sites that are already poor in biological diversity net gain will be easily achieved. However, these sites could also contribute 

much more than a minimum but offer opportunities for exemplar case studies of green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain 

opportunity. Encouraging good design in development by providing information on case studies and design guidance around 

ensuring biodiverse developments may help the introduction of higher targets for net gain. 

 

Climate Change 

63.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 38 – Climate Change, 

Flood Risk and Renewable Low 

Carbon Energy, ensuring that it is 

up to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

The Plan should show a clear commitment in reflecting recent national and local climate emergency declarations and associated 

date policies and priorities.  

 

The new Plan should make specific reference to carbon reduction and link to the Transport Decarbonisation Plan where 

possible. Placing an emphasis on carbon reduction - particularly through the prioritisation of active travel, development of 

walkable communities and locally accessible facilities will be welcome to both combat climate change, but to also improve 

health & wellbeing outcomes for residents. 

 

346

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan


 Questions Comments 

 

Provision should be made for infrastructure and a range of facilities to support low and zero-carbon vehicle technologies (e.g. 

electric vehicle charging points). 

 

64.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address Climate Change 

and to take account of up to date 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

No comment. 

65.  Should the Council remove the 

Policy approach and only apply 

the Policy principles and guidance 

set at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance? 

A clear, focused local policy around this area would be beneficial to the health and wellbeing of the population.  Consideration 

and reference to its links to health inequality would also be welcomed, with climate change and associated changing exposure 

to extreme temperatures, increased exposure to UV and air pollution, pollen, flooding and water-borne diseases, (and 

additionally the impacts of extreme weather events such as storms and floods) have a high risk of impacting on physical and 

mental health.  Particularly on our most vulnerable. 

 

Climate change can also impact on individuals and their financial wellbeing and safety through impact on prices of food, water 

and energy and access to utilities with supply chains at risk from extreme weather conditions. 

 

Part 08. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Infrastructure 

Highways Capacity 

66.  Should the Council and the 

County Council (as the local 

highways authority) be seeking 

delivery of larger scale transport 

and highway interventions in an 

attempt to reduce the current 

levels of congestion within the 

Borough area?  

The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) sets out that in order for the Housing Market Area (HMA) to 

accommodate the levels of growth that the area needs to/is required to take, strategic road and rail infrastructure investment is 

likely to be required. 

 

All areas of the HMA are facing highways and transport challenges to the delivery of future growth. The scale of investment 

required is beyond that within the gift of the Local Highway Authority to deliver and/or will be able to fund its delivery. 

 

Rather, HMA partners as a whole need to continue to take a coordinated approach to developing the evidence-based case both 

to identify more particularly the infrastructure investments required and to make the case for their delivery either through 

national delivery programmes, such as the Road Investment Strategy and Rail Network Enhancement Pipeline processes or (as 

per present arrangements at least) bids to Government. In this respect, whilst early refence to the SGP in the Introduction 

section of this draft Plan is welcomed, the actual new Plan needs to do more to set the context around the HMA growth 

347

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_08_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_infrastructure/Part%2008.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Infrastructure.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

pressures faced; the infrastructure challenges that this presents (which do give rise to some of the existing issues in the 

Borough, e.g. the relative lack of suitable orbital routes around the south and east of the City); and how HMA partners are 

working to tackle such problems, not just at the HMA level but at a more local level through the joint evidence work that the 

Borough is seeking to undertake with neighbouring districts. Subject to the outcomes of evidential work at the HMA level, traffic 

conditions in the Borough would likely benefit from such, for example through the delivery of any new road around the south 

and east of Leicester required to open up development in the SGP Priority Growth Corridor. 

 

Additionally, the Local Highway Authority would expect the new Plan to provide a robust policy basis for seeking to secure 

developer contributions towards highways and transport measures required to support the area’s growth and, subject to 

evidence, towards the mitigation of cross-boundary impacts. (Where appropriate the Local Highway Authority is seeking to 

ensure that new Plans across the HMA include policies that provide for developer contributions towards the mitigation of cross-

boundary impacts.) 

 

Consideration must be given to sustainable travel methods. 

 

Highways infrastructure need 

67.  Should the Council and the 

County Council (as the local 

highways authority) be accepting 

that congestion will only ever 

increase over the Plan period as 

and when new development 

comes forward?  

 

Beyond a general comment that increased congestion can have damaging economic and social impacts, the Local Highway 

Authority is not in a position to offer a definitive view at this time. It looks forward to being involved in the Borough Council’s 

work to develop a transport evidence base to underpin its new Plan and to identify the potential highways and transport 

measures that are likely to be most effective/required to support the area’s future growth. Once the Local Highway Authority 

has consider the outcomes of this work, it will be able to express a view. 

68.  What transport and highway 

interventions do you think the 

Council and the County Council 

(as the local highways authority) 

should consider to improve 

congestion within the Borough 

area? 

As per the response to question 67, the Local Highway Authority looks forward to being involved in the Borough Council’s work 

to develop a transport evidence base to underpin its new Plan and to identify potential highways and transport measures that 

are likely to be most effective/required to support the area’s future growth. 

 

Consideration must be given to sustainable travel modes and behaviour change techniques to encourage and embed mode shift 

to sustainable travel modes. 

348



 Questions Comments 

 

69.  Should the Council require all 

development to provide 

contributions to support the 

delivery of local / strategic 

highway infrastructure solutions?  

In line with the Local Highway Authority response to question 66, subject to the outcomes of work to develop the new Plan’s 

transport evidence base and to the consideration of the impacts of a particular site, the Local Highway Authority’s in principle 

view is yes. It will also be important to ensure that the new Plan provides a robust policy basis for seeking contributions, as 

appropriate, towards revenue funded measures (such as to promote and encourage sustainable modes of travel), and the future 

maintenance of new infrastructure. 

 

70.  Should the Council encourage 

applicants to provide 

contributions to support the 

delivery of local / strategic 

highway infrastructure solutions?  

As per response to question 69.  

 

Sustainable Transport 

71.  What transport and 

infrastructure solutions do you 

consider are required so that 

growth can come forward in the 

future?  

As per the response to question 67, the Local Highway Authority looks forward to being involved in the Borough Council’s work 

to develop a transport evidence base to underpin its new Plan and to identify potential highways and transport measures that 

are likely to be most effective/required to support the area’s future growth. 

 

As well as appropriate infrastructure projects significant transport benefits can be derived from using the existing network and 

improving the existing network for sustainable forms of travel such as cycling and walking. There is also a significant role in 

‘behaviour change’ techniques to encourage and embed sustainable travel behaviours. 

 

With the right infrastructure and positioning of each primary school in a development, tailor made travel plans can be created 

to ensure environmentally friendly movement of pupils and parents. 

 

72.  Which option from the above set 

of potential options would be the 

most appropriate for the Borough 

area? 

 

See responses to questions 73 and 74. 

73.  Should the Council continue with 

existing policy approach (or 

similar) in the current Local Plan?  

Sustainable transport provision will continue to be an important element of enabling further growth in the Borough going 

forward (and more generally in respect of decarbonising transport to address climate change); the South East Leicester 

Transport Strategy Area (SELTSA) work that the Local Highway Authority is currently undertaking has a strong focus on that. 

349



 Questions Comments 

 

Thus, the Local Highway Authority would expect to see a policy relating to such in the new Plan, albeit with the exact nature of it 

potentially to be informed by the outcomes of the transport evidence and SELTSA work. Additionally, the Local Highway 

Authority would expect the new Plan to reflect as appropriate LTN1/20, its Cycling and Walking Strategy and soon to be 

published (at the time of preparing this response) Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan. 

 

74.  Should the Council develop a 

Local Policy requiring that all 

residential and / or large scale 

non-residential developments 

must provide on-site 

infrastructure or an off-site 

contribution to support the 

delivery of local / strategic 

sustainable transport solutions?  

 

In line with the Local Highway Authority response to question 66, subject to the outcomes of work to develop the new Plan’s 

transport evidence base and to the consideration of the impacts of a particular site, the Local Highway Authority’s in principle 

view is yes. 

75.  Should the Council develop a 

Local Policy that actively 

promotes and encourages 

sustainable transport and 

discourages the use of the private 

car?  

See also Local Highway Authority response to question 73. However, additionally it will be important not to disadvantage those 

for which private car is their only option. 

 

A policy like this would have the potential to create a number of health benefits, one prominent one being increasing physical 

activity opportunities, with the percentage of adults cycling for travel at least three days per week for Oadby and Wigston in 

2018/19 being 2.0%, compared to the England value of 3.1% (Oadby & Wigston District Health Profile, 2021).  The percentage of 

physically active adults for Oadby and Wigston in 2019/20 is 52.9%. The lowest figure of all Leicestershire local authority areas 

and significantly lower than the England value of 61.4% (Sport England Active Lives Data). 

 

There are also obvious links to air quality improvements across the sustainable transport options.  Although there are no 

AQMAs within the borough, Public Health are working with the local NHS Trusts around vulnerable group exposure (children 

and young people), as programmes of work have flagged that within this group there are a number of admissions due to viral 

wheeze and asthma, with rates higher than in other areas of the county.   

 

76.  Should the Council promote 

improved technology and traffic 

As per the Local Highway Authority’s response to question 67, it looks forward to being involved in the Borough Council’s work 

to develop a transport evidence base to underpin its new Plan and to identify potential highways and transport measures that 

350

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/cycling-and-walking
https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/oadby-wigston.pdf?v=1627562303


 Questions Comments 

 

management solutions to address 

congestion, delays and air quality 

issues in the Borough?  

 

are likely to be most effective/required to support the area’s future growth. 

77.  Should the Council allow for 

development and accept that 

junctions and links will continue 

to operate above capacity?  

All areas of the Housing Market Area (HMA) are facing highways and transport challenges to the delivery of future growth. 

 

As the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan sets out, investment in strategic infrastructure will be required to 

enable the HMA’s future growth. Subject to the outcomes of ongoing evidence work at an HMA level, if delivered some of those 

strategic infrastructure measures would likely benefit traffic conditions in the Borough. 

 

On a more local level the transport evidence base that the Local Highway Authority would expect the Borough Council to 

develop to underpin the new Plan should assess the highways and transport impacts of the growth proposals for the area and 

test mitigating measures. Until that evidence work has been completed, it is too early to draw any sweeping, generalised 

conclusions. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, in respect of a specific site proposal that comes forward through the development management 

process the Local Highway Authority will continue to assess those under the prevailing requirements of the NPPF and any other 

relevant national or local policies, regulations, etc. Where it would be in accordance with the NPPF, etc. to do so that could 

mean on occasions the Local Highway Authority advising the Local Planning Authority to refuse a proposal on highways and 

transport grounds due to impacts on the capacity of links and/or junctions. 

 

78.  Which option from the above set 

of potential options would be the 

most appropriate for the Borough 

area?  

 

See Local Highway Authority responses to questions 73 and 74. 

79.  Should the Council continue to 

safeguard the Potential Transport 

Route (former EDDR) in Oadby? If 

so, please provide justification / 

evidence of its need. 

Evidence work undertaken both in respect of the current Local Plan and in connection with SELSTA suggests that there remains 

merit in continuing to safeguard a Potential Transport Route. However, the Local Highway Authority would anticipate that this 

position should be reviewed in the light of outcome of the transport evidence work developed by the Borough Council to 

underpin its new Plan. 

351



 Questions Comments 

 

 

Developer Contributions 

80.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Infrastructure and 

Developer Contributions ensuring 

that it is up-to-date with national 

policy and guidance?  

Yes (see Local Highway Authority response to question 66 and other questions that are similar in nature to this one). It is 

important to continue to ensure that all new growth is accompanied by the necessary infrastructure whilst ensuring the policy 

remains up to date with national policy and guidance. 

 

From a Public Health perspective, although the thoughts around developer contributions to health facilities are welcomed and 

absolutely required, there is also a role around prevention facilities and programme investment (wider determinants) that help 

reduce the burden and strain on the health services of the future.   

 

From a waste management perspective the key requirement is to ensure that development has the appropriate and necessary 

infrastructure to support its impact in terms of additional population and increased waste arisings. 

 

81.  Should the Council seek to 

develop a new Policy approach to 

meeting its infrastructure and 

developer contribution needs?  

See Local Highway Authority response to question 66 and other questions that are similar in nature to this one. 

 

 

82.  Should the Council only allow 

development where there is 

demonstrable capacity or 

certainty of delivery of 

infrastructure such as schools / 

health services etc?  

Yes, to ensure needs can be met through sufficient infrastructure. And where its 5 year supply position would allow it to do this. 

 

The local plan should consider where school places can be delivered.  All Oadby schools are on constrained sites to expand or 

would exceed LCC capacity limits.  Some schools in Wigston may be on constrained sites with no chance of increasing in size.   In 

this case we would be looking either to new school sites where cumulative numbers of dwellings warrant this (with the cost of 

the new school and site being split between the developer’s contribution to it), or in cases of single large developments e.g. 700 

dwellings a new primary school on that site. The County Council would welcome the opportunity to discuss specific school sites 

and their ability / inability to expand. 

 

From a highways and transport perspective, the NPPF specifies those circumstances where development should be prevented or 

refused, i.e. “….if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 

network would be severe.” The Local Highway Authority will continue to provide advice on development proposals in the light 

of NPPF and any other relevant national or local policies, regulations, etc. 

 

352



 Questions Comments 

 

83.   What do you consider to be the 

most important service or facility 

and should all development 

contribute towards the service or 

facility regardless of its cost? 

An effective and safe transport system is key to enabling development sites to come forward (i.e. opening the land up for 

development); to providing access to those sites (from day-to-day needs through to emergency situations); and to providing 

sites with connectivity to the surrounding ‘world’. 

 

From the perspective of waste management, the most important service provision and facility is infrastructure to support the 

increased waste arisings produced from the additional population brought into the area as a direct result of the development. 

 

School provision, including primary, secondary and Special Educational Needs and disabilities (SEND), should always be funded 

where required. Schools have an unparallel importance to sustainable communities and are the social hub to the communities 

they serve. 

 

Viability 

84.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Infrastructure and 

Developer Contributions ensuring 

that it is up-to-date with national 

policy and guidance that takes 

into account the requirement to 

develop a whole Plan Viability 

Assessment?  

 

Yes. This appears to be a sensible approach, particularly to ensure that viability is taken account of at plan making stage rather 

than being put forwards by developers at planning application stage which often causes more problems. It is important that the 

policy remains up to date with national policy and guidance and that it also takes into account the requirement to develop a 

whole Plan Viability Assessment to ensure policies are realistic and viable. 

 

The Local Highway Authority has no particular reason to suggest that the current Local Plan policy should not be ‘roll forward’, 

and is particularly keen to ensure that there remains a robust policy basis for seeking, as appropriate, developer contributions to 

address cumulative impacts and/or cross-boundary impacts. 

 

85.  Should the Council seek to 

develop a new Policy approach to 

meeting its infrastructure and 

developer contribution needs 

that takes into account the 

requirement to develop a whole 

Plan Viability Assessment?  

The Local Highway Authority agrees that it is important to understand whether a Plan is viable as a whole; this minimises 

possible affordability issues arising at later stages of the development process, e.g. at the planning application stage. 

 

To inform any whole Plan viability assessment, it will be important to have a robust, evidence-based assessment of the highways 

and transport impacts of the new Plan’s development proposals and the mitigation measures required within the Borough and 

potentially beyond its boundaries, too. 

 

If a new policy approach is taken it should consider in what way it can improve on the current local plan policy, remain in line 

with national policy and planning guidance and accommodate requirements such as the whole plan viability assessment 

353



 Questions Comments 

 

ensuring policies and the Plan as a whole remain realistic and viable. 

 

It would make sense to look at development from a whole plan approach to see if it its deliverable and what consequences 

there will be on infrastructure. 

 

86.  Do you consider that there is a 

piece of infrastructure, service 

and / or facility that needs to be 

delivered regardless of the cost? 

The Local Highway Authority is not in a position to express a view at this time. It looks forward to being involved in the Borough 

Council’s work to develop a transport evidence base to underpin its new Plan and to identify the potential highways and 

transport measures that are likely to be most effective/required to support the area’s future growth. Once the Local Highway 

Authority has consider the outcomes of this work, it will be able to express a view. 

 

Regarding household waste and recycling sites, developments should mitigate the impacts of the additional waste that they 

would generate by (where appropriate) ensuring Developer Contributions are provided to ensure capacity can be maintained at 

Council sites to allow for the management of waste arising from these developments, as per the County Council’s Planning 

Obligations Policy document (10th July 2019). 

 

With regards school places, as hubs of communities, schools can help to transform markets, policy, education, and behaviour, 

increase community resilience, mitigate climate change, and prepare citizens to think and act in new and creative ways. 

 

All of the County’s infrastructure needs to be delivered as there will be a need for it whether it is delivered through planning 

obligations or not. If not delivered through S106 agreements, the cost of the delivery of the infrastructure falls to the County 

Council as opposed to the developer and the County cannot afford to fund this deficit in provision. 

 

High quality communications 

87.  Should the Council require all 

development proposals to 

provide the infrastructure for 5G 

phone service and / or high speed 

fibre broadband to every new 

home or unit?  

Full-fibre broadband is a critically important infrastructure now commonly referred to as the ‘fourth utility’ alongside electricity, 

gas and water supply. Leicestershire County Council is committed to working towards universal coverage of gigabit capable 

broadband infrastructure for all homes and businesses in Leicestershire, with the ‘Superfast Leicestershire’ focussed on areas 

not served by commercial operators. The County Council supports a principle policy objective of promoting high quality digital 

infrastructure to all new build developments, in order to reduce the need to travel, support higher levels of home working and 

inward investment and improve economic competitiveness.  

 

The County Council supports the expansion of electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile 

354



 Questions Comments 

 

technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Any proposed development will be required to work with all 

engaged network operators to further this aspiration, and to seek to leverage improved gigabit capable network deployment to 

surrounding areas within the new development geographical space. 

 

The County Council aspires to encourage innovation within the telecommunications asset space. This includes but is not limited 

to the deployment of multi-use infrastructure components. Examples may include electric vehicle charging points or community 

WIFI hotspots. 

 

88.  If the Council was to require all 

development proposals to 

provide the infrastructure for 5G 

phone service and / or high speed 

fibre broadband to every new 

home or unit, what evidence 

would the Council need to 

underpin / justify this 

requirement? 

There is still approximately 4% of Leicestershire without access to the acceptable levels of Broadband speeds, and rural areas 

across Leicestershire continue to be unserved without adequate broadband connectivity.  

 

The Government has set targets in terms of what it considers to be fast and reliable broadband, but it should be 

recognised that this is a fast-changing technology. Developers should provide digital connections to meet the  

latest Government targets that will support the reduction in the need to travel, support higher levels of home working and 

inward investment and improve economic competitiveness.   

 

The County Council are to undertake and compile Mapping and Data Intelligence to report gaps in areas of fibre connectivity. 

There would be a need to be a review of number of enquiries / complaints on lack of Broadband and log areas and locations. 

Education 

89.  Should the Council require all 

development proposals, 

regardless of size, to contribute 

towards delivery of educational 

infrastructure?  

 

No. The County Council currently ask for educational contributions from developments of 10 and above. All major applications 

in line with national policy should deliver education infrastructure in the district so that there are sufficient school places to 

meet the needs of all residents of new development. 

90.  Should the Council consider any 

of the other options set out 

above appropriate?  

There should be a prioritisation of infrastructure based on viability and identified need, to include all items in the Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan and relevant Policies, as appropriate.  

 

Developer Contributions mechanism should be fully up to date and take into account the Education Authority’s desired 

approach to delivering Education Infrastructure over the Plan period.  

 

355



 Questions Comments 

 

There should be a requirement for only large scale (above 10 dwellings) development to contribute towards education 

provision.  

 

There should be a continuation to work closely with all relevant stakeholders, throughout both the Local Plan process and 

planning application process. 

 

91.  Should the Council only apply the 

policy principles and guidance set 

at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance?  

No. There are local issues that may require different solutions. 

 

92.  Do you consider that there are 

current issues with education 

provision within the Borough 

area? 

At present there are no issues in the borough at the time of first entry to schools. Increases in the number of future dwellings in 

certain areas could lead to issues arising.  Any proposed developments should take into account the County Council’s response 

to the call for sites consultation.   This describes where new extensions to existing schools and where new schools would be 

required.  Vulnerable children and those with SEND require local schools to be funded. 

 

Walking and Cycling Infrastructure 

93.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 26 – Sustainable 

Transport and Initiatives, 

ensuring that it is up to date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

 

Sustainable transport provision will continue to be an important element of enabling further growth in the Borough going 

forward (and more generally in respect of decarbonising transport to address climate change and in improving peoples’ health 

and wellbeing); the South East Leicester Transport Strategy Area (SELTSA) work that the Local Highway Authority is currently 

undertaking has a strong focus on that. Thus, the Local Highway Authority would expect to see a policy relating to such in the 

new Plan, albeit with the exact nature of it potentially to be informed by the outcomes of the transport evidence and SELTSA 

work. Additionally, the Local Highway Authority would expect the new Plan to reflect as appropriate the national cycling 

infrastructure design guide LTN1/20 and its Cycling and Walking Strategy (July 2021). 

 

94.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address Walking and 

Cycling Infrastructure needs in 

the Borough, taking account of up 

In addition to the response provided at question 93, local evidence does need to be considered to ensure that any policy is 

based on evidence and need. This can make the local plan more relevant and of most benefit to local communities.   

 

This policy has the potential to create a number of health benefits, such as increasing physical activity, with the percentage of 

356

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/cycling-and-walking


 Questions Comments 

 

to date national planning policy 

and guidance, as well as local 

evidence? 

adults cycling for travel at least three days per week for Oadby and Wigston in 2018/19 being 2.0%, compared to the England 

value of 3.1% (Oadby & Wigston District Health Profile, 2021) and percentage of physically active adults for Oadby and Wigston 

in 2019/20 is 52.9% - the lowest figure of all Leicestershire local authority areas and significantly lower than the England value of 

61.4% (Sport England Active Lives Data). 

 

Public Transport 

95.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan (relevant parts 

of) Policy 26 – Sustainable 

Transport and Initiatives, 

ensuring that it is up to date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

 

As per the response to question 93. 

 

96.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address public transport 

infrastructure needs in the 

Borough, taking account of up to 

date national planning policy and 

guidance, as well as local 

evidence?  

Sustainable transport provision will continue to be an important element of enabling further growth in the Borough going 

forward (and more generally in respect of decarbonising transport to address climate change); the South East Leicester 

Transport Strategy Area (SELTSA) work that the Local Highway Authority is currently undertaking has a strong focus on that. 

Thus, the Local Highway Authority would expect to see a policy relating to such in the new Plan, albeit with the exact nature of it 

potentially to be informed by the outcomes of the transport evidence and SELTSA work. Additionally, the Local Highway 

Authority would expect the new Plan to reflect as appropriate the national bus strategy ‘Bus back Better’; its Passenger 

Transport Policy and Strategy.  

 

The County Council is currently drafting a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) for Leicestershire, in collaboration with the 

county’s bus operators. This stems from the government’s recently published National Bus Strategy (Bus Back Better), which 

requires all English local transport authorities to work with operators to come up with bold plans for improving their local bus 

services and encouraging more people to use them. 

 

The Government has pledged £3 billion in funding across the country to help deliver these plans, and Leicestershire is aiming to 

secure a fair share of that funding. Oadby & Wigston is relatively well served with passenger transport but improvements can 

bring significant benefits in terms of highways capacity. 

357

https://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/oadby-wigston.pdf?v=1627562303
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/passenger-transport
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/passenger-transport


 Questions Comments 

 

 

97.  Do you consider that the current 

public transport provision within 

the Borough area is adequate or 

does it need to be improved? 

 

This appears to be a question aimed more at residents of the Borough. The Local Highway Authority is currently developing (at 

the time of preparing this response) in partnership with local bus operators a Leicestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan to 

seek to deliver on the national bus strategy ambitions to achieve a step-change in public transport across England. 

 

Part 09. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Local Housing 

First Homes 

98.  Is there robust evidence to 

suggest that the level of discount 

should be increased within the 

Borough area?  

 

First homes should be included within the overall requirement for affordable housing and delivered as part of an evidence-

based housing mix. 

99.  Do you consider that ‘First 

Homes’ will be of genuine benefit 

to the local communities within 

the Borough area? 

 

As per the response to question 98.  

Technical Housing Standards  

100.  Should the Council continue with 

its current planning policy 

approach set out within Local 

Plan Policy 11 Housing Choices, 

that requires compliance with the 

Governments Technical Housing 

Standards on new homes 

provided through conversions, 

sub-divisions and / or changes of 

use?  

 

Should the council continue with its local plan policy 11, the policy should be strengthened in respect to ensuring adequate 

provision is mandated for the storage of waste containers for conversions, sub-divisions and or changes of use. With potential 

changes proposed by the government through the recent national waste consultations, homes may need to accommodate 

additional containers to separate their waste including containers for food waste collection. 

101.  Should the Council require that As per the response to question 100. 

358

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_09_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_local_housing/Part%2009.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Local%20Housing.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

all new homes provided within 

the Borough comply with the 

Governments Technical Housing 

Standards? 

 

Self and Custom Build 

102.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 14 – Self 

Build and Custom Build, ensuring 

that it is up to date with current 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

 

It is appropriate that a proportion of Self and Custom Build houses be included in the housing mix for larger sites (100+) in 

accordance with accepted policy subject to the proviso that, following appropriate advertising, in the event that there is no 

market take up within a period of say 1 year from the occupation of the first house on the site the plots will be built out as part 

of the wider development. 

103.  Are there any other options 

available to the Council that 

would be appropriate? 

 

As per response to question 103.  

 

Sustainable Homes 

104.  Which of the above potential 

options do you consider to be the 

most appropriate?  

Due to the length in time of the policy, a mixture of the two main options are considered most appropriate.  Over a 10-year 

period, it should start with a minimum of 1 option and build to include 4 options. 

 

105.  Are there any elements of 

sustainable home design that 

have been missed from the bullet 

list above, that you consider 

would be effective in helping 

battle climate change and 

reducing energy usage? 

Home design and any other infrastructure should incorporate the reuse of existing materials in line with a circular economic 

approach of keeping materials in use for as long as possible at their highest utility and the governments ambition for a circular 

economy. Using existing materials and resources reduces the need for primary materials to be utilised and to be brought to site 

reducing carbon emissions, maintains existing resources thereby benefiting from the value and energy that already resides 

within those resources and increases material productivity and efficiency. Homes can be designed with secondary life cycles in 

mind not just one life cycle so that materials can also be recovered and reused rather than disposed at the end of the first life 

cycle. As such design for deconstruction, modularisation, recovery and reuse should be prioritised. In light of the pandemic also 

and the increasing prices of materials and risks to the supply chain of being able to deliver materials, adopting an approach that 

favours life cycle design and multiple life cycles and looks to use and reuse existing and secondary materials will increase the 

359



 Questions Comments 

 

resilience in the delivery of new homes.        

 

The introduction of triple glazing should also be considered.  

 

Housing Choices 

106.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 11 – 

Housing Choices, ensuring that it 

is up to date with current 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

 

No comment. 

107.  Are any of the other options set 

out above appropriate? 

 

There is support for the inclusion of a specific commitment to units of specialist housing offers for working age adults living with 
vulnerabilities i.e. Learning Disability, Physical Disability, Sensory Impairment and Mental Health problems alongside younger 
adults transitioning from LCC Children and Family Services to Adult Services i.e. bungalows inc wheelchair accessible 
developments, small developments of single person flats inc wheelchair accessibility which could be aimed at supported living. 
The Adults and Communities department will work with O&WDC on the volume and location of such developments. 
 

Urban Infill 

108.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 15 – 

Urban Infill, ensuring that it is up 

to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

 

No comment.  

109.  Are there any areas within the 

Borough where the policy relating 

to Infill development and the 

splitting of plots should be 

stronger or should not apply? For 

No comment. 

360



 Questions Comments 

 

example, remove the ‘in 

principle’ support for infill 

development or splitting of plots.  

 

110.  Should ‘in principle’ support for 

infill development or splitting of 

plots be applied across the entire 

Borough area, regardless of what 

the proposal site is, or where it is 

located? 

 

No comment. 

Part 10. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Design and Character 

High Quality Design 

111.  What is good design to you?  This is a subjective question, and responses will be dependent on particular perspectives. From a Local Highway Authority 

perspective, good design should allow for the safe and efficient movement of people and goods; serve the transport 

connectivity, accessibility and servicing (including, for example waste collection and home delivery) needs of a particular 

development or area; is about the use of durable materials that are fit for purpose; and should not just look great at day one, 

but the quality of a development or area should be maintainable in the long term. 

 

More generally good design should be buildable, compliant with local and national design standards, meet the needs for all 

users and should take a holistic view of the proposals rather than focus on specific products or materials that are desired by the 

design team. Buildings should be cohesive to their local area, so residents or users feel part of a community, fit for purpose, 

economically viable and based upon local need. 

 

Any design should incorporate the reuse of existing materials in line with a circular economic approach of keeping materials in 

use for as long as possible at their highest utility and the governments ambition for a circular economy. Using existing materials 

and resources reduces the need for primary materials to be utilised and to be brought to site reducing carbon emissions, 

maintains existing resources thereby benefiting from the value and energy that already resides within those resources and 

increases material productivity and efficiency. Homes and any other infrastructure can be designed with secondary life cycles in 

mind not just one life cycle so that materials can also be recovered and reused rather than disposed at the end of the first life 

cycle. As such design for deconstruction, modularisation, recovery and reuse should be prioritised. In light of the pandemic also 

361

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_10_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_design_and_character/Part%2010.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Design%20and%20character.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

and the increasing prices of materials and risks to the supply chain of being able to deliver materials, adopting an approach that 

favours life cycle design and multiple life cycles and looks to use and reuse existing and secondary materials will increase the 

resilience in the delivery of new homes.        

 

112.  Should the Council be producing 

a criteria based policy, and if so, 

what criteria / design principles 

should be included?  

Yes. The Council should be producing a criteria-based policy. Within this policy, waste and recycling should be taken into 

account and developments should seek to mitigate the impacts of the additional waste that they would generate by:- 

 Being designed to allow householders to minimise the impact of their waste on the environment (such as through provision 

of home composting facilities). 

 That the residential developments are designed to allow the effective segregation of recyclables and waste to ensure such 

waste can be managed according to the waste hierarchy.  In particular it should be noted that, subject to the outcome of 

recent consultations, residential properties will need capacity to store separate containers for the following types of waste – 

green (garden); plastics; metals; glass; paper and card; food; and residual waste.  As such developments should be designed 

to allow residents to effectively sort and store such wastes separately prior to their collection.  

 Life cycle design principles to facilitate multiple life cycles of materials to enable them to circle providing value and utility for 

as long as possible. 

 

The Local Highway Authority would expect any policy to reflect the matters raised in its response to question 111. 

 

113.  Should the Council be producing 

locally specific design guides or 

rely on the National Design 

Guide? 

Yes, locally specific design guides should be produced. Specific, detailed and measurable criteria for good design are most 

appropriately set out at the local level. 

 

Locally specific design guides have the opportunity to drive new design principles and approaches such as life cycle design, 

design for deconstruction and modularisation. Such guides should look to build on national guidance but adopt new innovative 

approaches where possible to stimulate more sustainable approaches from the supply chain and let the market know that 

sustainable approaches are prioritised by the council. The council has an opportunity to drive best practice through such guides. 

 

The Local Highway Authority would expect any policy to reflect the matters raised in its response to question 111 and any 

policies, strategies and design guidance should comply with the County Council’s Highway Design Guidance. 

 

114.  How can the Council ensure that 

high quality design reflects the 

No comment. 

362



 Questions Comments 

 

character of an area and the 

needs of the local community? 

 

High Quality Construction and Use of Materials 

115.  Which one of the above potential 

options do you consider to be the 

most appropriate?  

It is noted that one of the options is to pursue an approach that requires all new development to make use of the highest quality 

methods of construction and use the highest quality materials and seek to refuse development proposals that do not provide 

this. 

 

The Local Highway Authority recognises the roll that high quality design can play in respect of providing safe, healthy and 

attractive environments and that reflect local distinctiveness. However, like very many other authorities across the country the 

Local Highway Authority has insufficient funding to maintain even its most important highway assets (such as it most heavily 

trafficked A roads) and accordingly does not have the funding to maintain non-standard materials; bespoke street furniture; 

trees in the highway; or other such elements that might be used to create high quality environments.  

 

From a maintenance perspective, this option would have merit if it resulted in transport infrastructure that is more durable and 

longer lasting and requiring fewer maintenance interventions. Notwithstanding this, where development proposals would result 

in unusual maintenance liabilities on the Local Highway Authority, the Local Highway Authority would require the payment of 

commuted sums in accordance with its prevailing guidance and polices or alternative appropriate maintenance arrangements 

put in place. 

 

Should the Borough Council choose to pursue the ‘highest quality’ option, the Local Highway Authority would expect to see the 

new Plan set out the policy position for ensuring that that quality exists not just ‘at day one’ but for the lifetime of the 

development. 

 

116.  If you consider that the new Local 

Plan should require the highest 

levels of construction and 

material use, how do you 

consider that the Council could 

best require, monitor and enforce 

this? 

Through incorporating sustainable design criteria through the planning and procurement approaches to influence and inform 

the market as to their preferred direction for sustainable development in line with a circular economy and the governments 

ambition. 

 

See also response to question 115. 

 

363



 Questions Comments 

 

 

Landscape Character 

117.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 44 – 

Landscape and Character, 

ensuring that it is up to date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

 

No comment. 

118.  Are there any other options 

available to the Council that 

would be appropriate? 

 

No comment. 

Local Green Spaces 

119.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 44 – 

Landscape and Character, 

ensuring that it is up to date with 

current national planning policy 

and guidance?  

The Local Highway Authority notes that land within the Wigston railway triangle is designated at Local Green Space. Midlands 

Connect and Network Rail (to be subsumed as part of Great British Rail) are currently pursing studies related to seeking to 

improve rail connectivity between Leicester (and beyond) and to what additional rail capacity might be required in the Leicester 

area to facilitate new rail services and provide enhanced scope for more freight to be carried by rail. Any works required to track 

layouts in and around the Leicester area have yet to be confirmed, but it is potentially possible that works could be required at 

the South Wigston junction. 

 

Similar to the responses within the green infrastructure section, consideration would be welcomed around accessibility and 

considering how would those experiencing health inequality would access the local green space?  We can provide opportunities 

for people to increase their physical activity, but what do we do around those that aren’t currently physically active? How 

prominent is the green space within new development?  Does it feel safe? Is there any room within this section to consider 

alternative uses of green space?  Creating and protecting food growing spaces in and around a locality can be beneficial for 

health and the environment both in rural and urban spaces, alongside the economy if commercial spaces are identified. This 

may seem aspirational, but some Local Authorities have explored this as https://www.brighton-

hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20Food%20PAN%202020.pdf and can be seen as timely with current concerns 

around climate change and carbon reduction considerations.   

364

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20Food%20PAN%202020.pdf
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20Food%20PAN%202020.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

 

120.  Do any of the currently 

designated sites need removing 

from the Local Green Space 

designation? 

As per the response to question 119, the Local Highway Authority notes that land within the Wigston railway triangle is 

designated at Local Green Space. Midlands Connect and Network Rail (to be subsumed as part of Great British Rail) are currently 

pursing studies related to seeking to improve rail connectivity between Leicester (and beyond) and to what additional rail 

capacity might be required in the Leicester area to facilitate new rail services and provide enhanced scope for more freight to be 

carried by rail. Any works required to track layouts in and around the Leicester area have yet to be confirmed, but it is 

potentially possible that works could be required at the South Wigston junction. 

 

121.  Are there any new areas that 

should be considered for Local 

Green Space designation? 

 

No comment.  

Design Codes 

122.  Which of the above potential 

options relating to local design 

codes do you consider to be the 

most appropriate for the Borough 

area? 

The Local Highway Authority has no particular view on the number and nature of codes.  

 

However, it would wish to see policies, strategies and design guidance that complies with the County Council’s Highway Design 

Guidance and be involved with their development. This is to ensure that the codes reflect the need to provide for safe and 

effective provision for all appropriate/relevant modes of travel and that from a maintenance perspective they ensure that 

quality exists not just ‘at day one’ but for the lifetime of the development, including were relevant payment of commuted sums 

to the Local Highway Authority or the putting in place of alternative maintenance regimes. 

 

NB: The Local Highway Authority is currently in the process of reviewing its highway design guide for new development. It is too 

early to say how this might impact on the design and adoption of new development roads in the future. 

 

As per earlier responses, design should be based on life cycle design so that materials can be recovered at the end of one life 

and be utilised in the life cycle of a second piece of infrastructure. Design for deconstruction, modularisation and reuse and 

recovery should therefore be prioritised.   

 

123.  Which areas / parts of the 

Borough do you consider would 

benefit from the production of 

As per the response to question 122.  

 

365



 Questions Comments 

 

local design codes? 

 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Production 

124.  Which of the above potential 

options do you consider to be the 

most appropriate?  

 

There is no particular view, albeit the Local Highway Authority recognises that reducing the carbon impact of new development 

is an important element of the wider agenda to tackle climate change. 

 

125.  Are there any elements of 

renewable and low carbon 

energy infrastructure that have 

not been mentioned, however 

should be a fundamental part of 

new development design and 

build? 

 

As per the response to question 124. 

Public Realm 

126.  Which of the above potential 

options do you consider is the 

most appropriate? 

A continuation with the more generic policy approach is preferred, however more detailed public realm principles should be set 

out within the Public Realm Strategy Supplementary Planning Document. 

 

The highway authority would want to see LPA policies, strategies and design guidance that complies with the County Council’s 

Highway Design Guidance. 

 

The County Council’s response to a previous consultation on the Oadby and Wigston Public Realm Strategy SPD should be 

considered for wider views on maintenance of public realm. 

 

127.  What do you consider to be the 

most important aspects of public 

realm? 

There should be a neutral, high quality palette of materials to withstand the test of time. Bell Street in Wigston was paved with 

bright red and yellow pavers that were very dated, but actually had nothing physically wrong with them.  

 

Areas of public realm should be safely negotiable by all appropriate road users, including those with visual impairments.  

 

It also important that appropriate maintenance regimes are put in place to ensure that such area do not just look great at day 

366



 Questions Comments 

 

one, but the quality of the area should be maintainable in the long term. Any scheme can look shabby if there are broken 

pavers, poor quality greenery and broken street furniture. 

 

Consideration should be given to appropriate and sufficient on-street recycling and waste facilities to prevent the occurrence of 

litter negatively impacting upon public amenity and wellbeing. 

 

Shop Fronts (including shutters) 

128.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 32 – Shop 

Fronts, ensuring that it is up to 

date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

 

Yes.  

 

Regarding shutters at night, they tend to create an atmosphere of everywhere being boarded up. What could help is to have 

shutters that have slots in them to allow light to percolate through. This means at night a better atmosphere in the street is 

created. 

129.  Should the Council remove the 

policy approach and only apply 

the policy principles and guidance 

set at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance? 

 

No.  

Part 11. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Economy Retail and Leisure 

Cafés, restaurants etc (night time economy and dwell time) 

130.  Empty A1 Retail use units are 

often the subject of Change of 

Use planning applications to A5 

Hot Food Takeaways. Should the 

Local Authority continue to 

protect empty A1 retail units until 

they can be filled?  

In order to attract visitors to the Town centres there needs to be a vibrant retail offer and the more independent shops that 

exist the better as this creates a niche offer that is different to other centres. Multiples may continue to close branches and 

especially if they are in large units these may remain unfilled for some time. Is it better to have no empty spaces and lots of 

takeaways or lots vacant space? Alternative uses need to be encouraged such as small makers which will then further encourage 

footfall or Community uses. The Council offices could be moved into the town centre, or the library, now that less space is 

required. 

 

367

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_11_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_economy_retail_and_leisure/Part%2011.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Economy%20retail%20and%20leisure.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

A change of use from retail to a hot food takeaway without the requirement for scrutiny would create the risk of increased 

access to unhealthy foods, which links to healthy weight and associated public health indicators.  Oadby and Wigston are 

currently better than the average for England on adult and childhood obesity indicators, significantly so in adults. Increasing the 

prevalence of hot food takeaways may impact upon this indicator.   

 

There is not an assumption that all hot food takeaways serve solely unhealthy food, and there also needs to be consideration 

around work with proprietors around their food offer, or is there the capacity to do so?  Local Plan policies could expand more 

upon the mention of Public Health impacts being considered.  Are there are programmes Environmental Health run (for 

example) around supporting businesses to offer healthy options? 

 

131.  Should the current Policy position 

set out within Local Plan Policy 

36, be broadened to 

appropriately manage the 

provision of hot food takeaways, 

and encourage greater provision 

restaurants, cafes and other 

relevant uses?  

Yes. 

 

Whilst it is acknowledged above that takeaways may serve healthy options, the Local Plan should continue to assess the 

cumulative effect of the potential undesirable outcomes from high concentrations of outlets selling unhealthy foods and drink, 

no matter what category the establishment sits within.   

 

The cumulative effects are identified within a number of areas of consideration, but Public Health impacts does not seem to be 

explicitly mentioned in this context. 

 

Consideration should be given to appropriate and sufficient on-street recycling and waste facilities to prevent the occurrence of 

litter negatively impacting upon public amenity and wellbeing. 

 

132.  How big of a role do you think the 

Council should play in relation to 

the provision of hot food 

takeaways and the potential 

negative impacts on local 

communities health and well-

being? 

If people choose to consume this food, they will do so regardless. However, it would be better to encourage restaurants and 

takeaways that offer alternative healthy food. There could be a consideration of limiting the number of takeaways as a 

percentage of total units.  

 

As per the response to question 131, this provision and access to potentially unhealthy foods risks a direct impact on the 

residents of Oadby and Wigston and their physical and mental health.   

 

The Leicestershire Healthy Weight Strategy (2021-26) states: “Obesity is a complex and multifaceted problem that requires 

coordinated, effective action to change the food, physical activity and social environments from ‘obesogenic’ to ones which 

368



 Questions Comments 

 

promote a healthy weight. If we are going to take effective action to reverse obesity at population level, we need to work 

together with partners in a ‘whole systems’ approach to create an environment that facilitates healthy choices and supports 

individuals to achieve and maintain a healthy weight.” 

 

This whole system approach is pivotal to improve and maintain the health of residents and their ownership over their health, 

reducing health inequality and reliance on support services. We all have a part to play in this. 

 

As per the response to question 131, consideration should be given to appropriate and sufficient on-street recycling and waste 

facilities to prevent the occurrence of litter negatively impacting upon public amenity and wellbeing. 

 

Delivering Retail 

133.  Should the Council be 

commissioning an up-to-date 

retail capacity study for each of 

its main centres?  

 

Yes. 

134.  Although Permitted Development 

Rights have been extended, the 

NPPF retains the statement that 

planning policies should support 

town centres and take a positive 

role in their growth, management 

and adaptation. With that in 

mind, should the Council 

continue to protect the Borough 

areas retail offering in the new 

Local Plan?  

 

Yes. 

135.  Is there any flexibility that could 

be woven into planning policy to 

reflect the potential economic 

Yes, although it is not easy to see how this could be achieved.  

369



 Questions Comments 

 

uncertainty ahead?  

 

136.  Should the Council be applying 

greater flexibility in relation to 

the proportion of retail 

units…should the Council be 

allowing greater proportions of 

cafes, bars and restaurants within 

its main centres? 

 

Yes, however there should still be a limit. 

Local Impact Thresholds 

137.  Should the Council be 

maintaining a locally set Local 

Impact Threshold for each of its 

main centres?  

 

Yes. 

138.  Is an update of the retail capacity 

study required to ensure the 

impact thresholds are still 

appropriate?  

 

Yes. 

139.  Has development outside the 

Borough increased the 

vulnerability of towns and local 

centres within the Borough, for 

instance the Fosse Park 

expansion in Blaby District? 

 

Yes.  

Fosse Park was primarily a retail destination not just for clothing but for white goods and furniture. With the new expansion it is 

now an attraction for food too, which could weaken the position of the towns within the borough. 

Primary and Secondary Frontages 

140.  Are Policies 27 ‘Primary Shopping 

Frontages’ and Policy 28 

Yes. The shrinkage of the secondary areas may be a method for concentrating the Town Centres and encouraging dwellings in 

preferred areas.  

370



 Questions Comments 

 

‘Secondary Shopping Frontages’ 

still fit for purpose and do they 

conform to national planning 

policy and guidance?  

 

 

Consideration should also be given to appropriate and sufficient on-street recycling and waste facilities to prevent the 

occurrence of litter negatively impacting upon public amenity and wellbeing. 

 

141.  Would a less strict approach to 

controlling the use types on our 

shopping frontages act as a 

potential buffer to the threat that 

the expansion of permitted 

development rights from E Class 

units to C3 dwellings poses?  

 

Yes. This approach could result in a free-for-all.  

142.  Although changes to permitted 

development rights affect town 

and district centres considerably, 

should the Council maintain a 

local policy approach, as during 

the lifetime of the new Local 

Plan, there may be further 

unexpected changes to the 

Planning System that will affect 

the national policies under 

consideration now?  

 

Yes. A Local policy approach should be maintained.  

143.  Should the Council be removing 

the policy approaches relating to 

the high levels of provision of 

retail uses within town centres? 

 

No. The policy should not be removed, instead it should be adjusted. 

Tourism 

371



 Questions Comments 

 

144.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address Tourism and the 

Visitor Economy in the Borough, 

taking account of up-to-date 

national planning policy and 

guidance, as well as local 

evidence?  

Yes.  

 

Although Oadby & Wigston is not dedicated as a Tourism Hub in the Leicester and Leicestershire Tourism Growth Plan as it does 

not have a significant cluster of attractions that would be defined as a “visitor hub” within the sub-region, the main strength is 

business tourism.  

 

Due to the close proximity to Leicester, the borough could attract linked trips. The Natural Asset of the Grand Union Canal runs 

through the borough and linked trips from Foxton trips or the City Centre could be vital.  

 

Leicester Conferences in Oadby is one of our largest business tourism venues/complexes.  Leicester Racecourse also has a good 

business tourism offer with corporate entertainment and meeting venues. It is a major attractor in the borough that could bring 

in spend in the local centres, if there was something to offer to people rather than people getting into their cars and leaving the 

area as soon as a meeting is finished. College Court is a lovely hotel with 123 bedrooms. They are available to the general public 

as well as business event guests. 

 

There is a new visitor offer planned for Stoughton Grange – a retail complex and food and drink offer. Attractions also include 

Leicester Airport (which does flying experiences), the Botanic Gardens, Shady Lane Arboretum.  There was also a pilgrimage 

walk and festival planned in partnership with Harborough DC.   

 

As a cross reference to the Heritage section there is interesting industrial history in Wigston (Framework Knitters). It would be 

worth pulling these assets together and finding a way to make them more appealing as a cohesive visitor offer. 

 

145.  Should the Council only apply the 

Policy principles and guidance set 

at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance? 

 

No, this would not be adequate.  

Part 12. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Health and Wellbeing 

Open space, sport and recreation facilities 

372

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_12_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_health_and_wellbeing/Part%2012.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Health%20and%20wellbeing.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

146.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in current Local Plan Policy 9 

– Open Space, Sport and 

Recreation Facilities, ensuring 

that it is up to date with current 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

The national reference to the increased focus on and importance of public open and green spaces around the pandemic is very 

important, although it must also be recognised that there were stark inequalities identified around access to this within our 

populations and quality of these spaces.  Inequality around access to green and open space was linked to deprivation and health 

inequality.   

 

Recognition within the local plan chapter around benefits to public health, wellbeing and quality of life are a positive within the 

existing local plan and to carry this over would be welcomed, particularly post pandemic.  

 

Policy 9 sets out several requirements for open space, sport and recreational facilities which are welcome, however these could 

be improved by requiring open space to be prominent within new development (i.e. at the centre or front of developments, not 

at the rear or other edges of development which could lessen the impact and use of such spaces), and should be designed to 

encourage and accommodate use/users across the life-course and those facing inequality around access and use– providing 

high quality multi-functional spaces. 

 

147.  Do you consider that there are 

more appropriate options 

relating to the delivery of open 

space, sport and recreation 

facilities in relation to new 

development? 

 

Depending on where sports facilities are required, it may be appropriate to place adjacent, or on school sites to ensure 

maximum use and benefit to the community. 

Built leisure facilities 

148.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address Built Leisure 

Facilities needs in the Borough, 

taking account of up to date 

national planning policy and 

guidance, as well as local 

evidence?  

 

Public Health would always advocate services and facility planning based on local evidence and need.  This gives the best chance 

of tacking local health inequality and improving health and wellbeing for residents. 

 

The policy includes reference to the Playing Pitch strategy supporting identification of need, but is a similar assessment for 

sports facilities present? Would this be helpful in ascertaining demand and need as an outcome of development?  Are health 

needs aligned with planning for built leisure facilities? 

149.  Should the Council only apply the No comment. 

373



 Questions Comments 

 

Policy principles and guidance set 

at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance?  

 

150.  Do you consider that the Borough 

area is deficient in a certain type 

of built leisure facility?  

 

No comment. 

151.  Do you consider that the Borough 

area has a surplus in a certain 

type of built leisure facility? 

 

No comment. 

Built health facilities 

152.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 46 – 

Infrastructure and Developer 

Contributions, ensuring that it 

and supporting evidence is up to 

date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

The commitment of ‘The Council is committed to maintaining and enhancing the health and wellbeing of its residents’ is 

particularly welcomed. The ongoing dialogue with the CCG will be particularly helpful for looking at system pinch-points and 

overload, but could the prevention element be expanded much more, if we are ever to solve demand outstripping supply? This 

goes further than takeaways and green space and covers air pollution exposure, sustainable food, financial wellbeing, cohesion 

safety and many other wider determinants. HIA could help with this (see response to question 157 & 158). 

 

Nationally there is some work around built health facilities being co-located with physical activity provision (such as leisure 

centres) to allow for greater connection between health and physical activity. It would be welcomed to see exploration of this in 

new developments and its viability within the borough, with its limited space to expand. This could simplify the opportunity to 

promote and deliver increasingly active lifestyles and impact on health outcomes. 

 

153.  Should the Council draft a new 

Policy to address Built Health 

Facility needs in the Borough, 

taking account of up to date 

national planning policy and 

Public Health would advocate the need for local evidence, through work with the CCG and Public Health, alongside patient 

representation. HIA could help with this (see also response to question 157 & 158). 

374



 Questions Comments 

 

guidance, as well as local 

evidence?  

 

154.  Should the Council only apply the 

Policy principles and guidance set 

at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance?  

 

No comment. 

155.  Do consider that the Borough 

area is deficient in built health 

facilities?  

 

No comment. 

156.  Do you consider that the Borough 

area has about the right amount 

of built health facilities? 

 

No comment. 

Health Impact Assessments 

157.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Health Impact 

Assessments (Policy 5) with 

wording amendments where 

necessary?  

Yes. The continuation of the current policy around HIA requirement would be much welcomed by Public Health.  As the NPPF 

states this is a useful tool to assess the health needs and potential development impacts on residents and therefore supports 

the Council’s commitment to the health and wellbeing of the residents of Oadby and Wigston.  It can demonstrate why things 

have been done and decisions have been made, in a clear transparent way for Members and communities to understand.   

 

Wording may need to be amended around the screening stage, as there is now a local interactive process available to support 

developers to do this, using the online ‘Healthy Place Making’ tool (development being led by Active Together 

www.healthyplacemaking.co.uk).   

 

A pilot programme is currently being delivered within the county, with the approval of the Strategic Planning Group and 

Planning Officers Forum around HIA at both a Local Plan and development level.  The Local Plan strategic HIA pilot is being led 

by Public Health in partnership with district Local Authorities and aims to develop and refine the HIA process to set strategic 

375

http://www.healthyplacemaking.co.uk/


 Questions Comments 

 

priorities for the whole area covered by a Local Plan.   The underpinning pilot work focuses on HIA on developments, with the 

assessment developed to accompany planning permission applications.  This pilot work is supported by the tool ortal identified 

above.  We have one developer currently piloting this process and providing feedback. 

 

158.  Should the Council remove the 

policy approach and only apply 

the policy principles and guidance 

set at a national level through the 

National Planning Policy 

Framework and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance? 

No.  

 

There are multiple reasons to use HIA to tackle health inequality and look more closely at the risks development can cause to 

health, identify possible mitigations to this and also identify positive impacts to maximise for the communities we serve.  To 

remove the policy could reduce the clarity over how Oadby and Wigston will measure its commitment to the health and 

wellbeing of its residents.   

 

Looking at Public Health data, there has been a reduction in healthy life expectancy for those within the least deprived decile.  

This is a key example of something that can be looked into in more detail within the HIA, and impacts from development 

assessed, mitigated and monitored; fingertips link 

 

Following general NPPF policy guidance may provide ‘high-level’ considerations, but not looking at the population profile in a 

deeper more targeted manner.  The HIA process at Local Plan and development levels also allows the possibility to monitor 

suggested harm mitigation and record positive impacts for sharing success more widely.   

 

Part 13. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Local Services 

Car parking / electric vehicle car parking 

159.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in current Local Plan Policy 34 

– Car Parking, ensuring that it is 

up to date with current national 

planning policy and guidance? 

 

Unless there is evidence to suggest the contrary, the Local Highway Authority would be happy for the current policy to be ‘rolled 

forward’. 

160.  Should the Council be requiring 

all new development to provide 

Electric Vehicle Charge points, so 

Yes. Given the vastly expanded EV charging provision that will be needed in most locations in future to support the mass 

transition to EVs, EV charging points should be a standard feature of all new developments (with any exceptions being very 

rare). 

376

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/7/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/401/are/E07000135/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ine-ao-0_ine-vo-0_ine-ct-71_ine-pt-0_ine-yo-3:2017:-1:-1
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_13_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_local_services/Part%2013.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Local%20services.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

that occupiers have the ability to 

utilise modern technologies?  

 

161.  Should the Council be requiring 

provision of Electric Vehicle 

Charge points in all new homes 

that are delivered?  

 

Yes, and where accessible to a driveway. Given the vastly expanded EV charging provision that will be needed in most locations 

in future to support the mass transition to EVs, EV charging points should be a standard feature of all new developments (with 

any exceptions being very rare). 

 

162.  Should the Council be requiring 

provision of enabling 

infrastructure for Electric Vehicle 

Charge points in all new homes 

that are delivered?  

 

Given the vastly expanded EV charging provision that will be needed in most locations in future to support the mass transition 

to EVs, from the Local Highway Authority’s perspective it would seem more appropriate that EV charging points should be a 

standard feature of all new homes (with any exceptions being very rare) and not just enabling infrastructure provided. 

163.  Are any of the other options set 

out above appropriate? 

 

No comment. See response to questions 159 to 162. 

Community Facilities 

164.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current policy approach set 

out in Local Plan Policy 7 – 

Community Facilities, ensuring 

that it is up to date with current 

national planning policy and 

guidance?  

 

It is agreed that the loss of community facilities can have a substantial impact on people’s quality of life, health and wellbeing, 

including social connectivity and cohesion.  OWBC continually monitoring and assessing the local community’s needs would be 

welcomed to support health and wellbeing needs, and HIA (mentioned above) is an ideal tool to help this, though assessing 

health need of residents and also the ‘monitoring’ impact and mitigation stage.   

 

We would support the recognition of the value that non retail community facilities such as Libraries, museums, and centres for 

community learning have on contributing to the mental wellbeing of communities - a counterpoint to the physical wellbeing 

that open spaces, parks and leisure centres have.  Such facilities draw people into town centres and can act as a compliment to 

retail offers. 

 

Opportunities to co-design or reimagine spaces that reflect the heritage of a local community and give people the chance to 

make use of community space to create and learn would be supported. 

 

377



 Questions Comments 

 

165.  Should the Council require all 

development proposals, 

regardless of size, to contribute 

towards delivery of community 

facilities?  

 

HIA would allow a clear, impartial, evidenced based approach to considering the impact of development and whether mitigating 

factors to health risk could be around contribution towards community facilities.  This would be best to be done at a strategic 

Local Plan level.   

166.  Are any of the other options set 

out above appropriate?  

 

No comment. See response to questions 164 & 165.  

167.  Which community facility is 

needed in your area to mitigate 

the impact of growth? 

The Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on the County Council for the provision of sufficient childcare places and early education.  

Leicestershire’s Planning Obligations Policy requests, where a need is shown, that developers pay for 8.5 places per 100 

dwellings on developments with 100 dwellings or above.  If a new school is required, additional land will also need to be made 

available free of charge. 

 

In the first instance new early learning facilities will be placed on a primary school site. A developer can also build a community 

use building which can be used by a pre-school or they can also build a purpose-built nursery and lease this to a childcare 

provider. 

 

All commitments to green space and leisure are welcomed as we know the benefits this has on physical and mental health. Of 
particular note would be the inclusion of community allotments which bring communities together, provides access to green 
space and horticulture is evidenced and celebrated for its benefits to health and wellbeing. 
 

Cemetery and Burial Space 

168.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to the Oadby Cemetery 

Allocation with wording 

amendments to ensure that it is 

up-to-date with current national 

planning policy and guidance?  

 

No strategic comments from the Local Highway Authority at this time. But, any specific proposals coming forward through the 

development management process for a cemetery of off Gartree Road would be subject to consideration by the Local Highway 

Authority in accordance with prevailing national and local policies, guidance, etc., including, for example, in respect of the 

creation of a safe site access for vehicles and pedestrians. Significant investment (by the ‘developer’) could be required to 

ensure safe access. 

169.  Should the Council remove the As per response to question 168. 

378



 Questions Comments 

 

current Local Plan policy relating 

to the Oadby Cemetery 

Allocation?  

 

 

170.  Do you consider that the Council 

should be allocating land for 

cemetery and / or burial space in 

the new Local Plan? 

 

No comment.  

Part 14. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Heritage 

Conservation Areas 

171.  Should the Council continue to 

protect conservation areas from 

unacceptable development, by 

maintaining local planning policy 

in the new Local Plan?  

Yes, however it is unclear based on the consultation documentation whether this covers both Policies 40 and 41.  While the 

former provides general and effective policy coverage for the wider historic environment, encompassing both designated and 

non-designated assets, Policy 41 particularly addresses the requirements of development within the Conservation Areas and 

effective management of the character.  Consequently, both should be retained. The policy context should however take into 

account recent changes to the NPPF, and might make reference to the special regard to the desirability of preserving the 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses afforded by Sections 16 and 

66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

172.  Are there any areas of the 

Borough that are not currently 

designated as conservation areas, 

however you believe they should 

be?  

 

No, however a programme of on-going reappraisal and assessment should be considered, to ensure consistent application of 

policy, awareness of on-going change/threat to the asset(s) and up-to-date appreciation of the Borough’s historic 

environment.    

173.  Are there any areas of the 

currently designated 

conservations areas that should 

be removed from the 

designation? 

 

As per the response to question 172 but in addition, reappraisal should also consider how the local listing of assets may 

contribute to the overall management and protection of the resources. 

 

379

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_14_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_heritage/Part%2014.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Heritage.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

Listed and locally listed buildings 

174.  Should the Council ‘roll forward’ 

the current Local Plan policy 

relating to Culture and Historic 

Environment Assets with wording 

amendments as and where 

necessary and a local evidence 

base update?  

 

Yes, the current consultation appears to define a relatively narrow definition around the extent and scope of designated and 

non-designated assets, with a strong focus on the built historic environment. The borough however possesses a rich and diverse 

resource comprising assets of diverse character assets and date, the scope of this is well covered in the full wording of Policy 40, 

further reinforced by the supporting preamble (10.4.1 – 10.4.6). It is recommended that the Policy and preamble are repeated 

in full.    

 

175.  Should the Council undertake a 

review of the Schedule of Locally 

Listed Buildings to establish 

whether or not to retain or 

amend the Schedule?  

 

Yes, active curation of the list should be considered, both to supplement and to remove buildings, structures or site that meet 

the local listing criteria. Reference should be made to on-going national pilot projects currently underway, sponsored by the 

former Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (now Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities). 

 

176.  Are there any buildings or 

structures within the Borough 

area that are of heritage 

significance that should be placed 

on the Schedule of Locally Listed 

Buildings? 

 

This is unknown at present.  The current local list is relatively extensive and has benefitted from wide consultation, reference 

however could be made to the Leicestershire & Rutland Historic Environment Record, as a source of complementary heritage 

data, and primary listing of the Borough’s archaeological heritage assets (both designated and non-designated).  

 

Part 15. New Local Plan Issues & Options - Masterplanning 

Large scale change and place making 

177.  Which of the approaches set out 

within the above potential 

options above do you consider to 

be the most appropriate in 

ensuring larger scale 

development contributes 

towards providing sustainable 

The preferred option is to ‘maintain the current policy approach set out at Local Plan Policy 3 – Regeneration Schemes and Large 

Scale Change, within the new Local Plan. Ensuring that it is up-to-date with current national planning policy and guidance’. 

 

Masterplans not only give indication of future land use options, they provide the necessary strategy should funding 

opportunities become available at short notice and assist in providing evidence of need. Some authorities are very good at 

producing shovel ready projects at a moment’s notice should funding become available. We need to become more adaptable at 

this as the Levelling Up Fund has demonstrated. 

 

380

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/part_15_new_local_plan_issues_and_options_masterplanning/Part%2015.%20New%20Local%20Plan%20Issues%20%26%20Options%20-%20Masterplanning.pdf


 Questions Comments 

 

development?  In general terms, the Local Highway Authority supports the concept of master planning; done well, it should enable coordinate 

and cohesive thinking that enables the ‘nature’ of the development (e.g. is it a simple housing development or a truly new 

community) to be articulated, which will help to inform the assessment of the development’s highways and transport impacts. 

Master-planning should also be about establishing external connectivity needs, influencing both points of a site’s access/egress 

and the on-site layout. 

 

Nationally and locally (e.g. through the Government’s LTN1/20 and the Local Highway Authority’s Cycling and Walking Strategy) 

there is ambition to provide much improved facilities for cyclists and pedestrians, most particular by segregating these modes of 

travel in urban areas. Thus, the Local Highway Authority would expect that in future, master planning exercises should have a 

far greater emphasis on the consideration of provision for those that cycle and walk. 

 

178.  What do you consider to be the 

key principles of place making? 

From an Local Highway Authority perspective, ensuring that places provide a safe environment for road users; that new ‘places’ 

are appropriately connected and integrated into surrounding highways and transport systems, in order to provide safe and 

effective accessibility to/from the ‘outside world’; and that appropriate maintenance regimes are put in place to ensure that a 

place does not just look great at day one, but that its quality is maintainable in the long term. 

 

Masterplans, development briefs and other large-scale plans should ensure that Biodiversity net-gains requirements have been 

accommodated.  This should include on-site measures to accord with the policies in NPPF requiring integration of biodiversity 

within development, as well as the location and broad principles for off-site and off-set net-gain arrangements, in accordance 

with legislation and national policy, demonstrating how these BNG measures will contribute towards objectives within Local 

Nature Recovery Strategies. 

 

 

New Local Plan SA Scoping Report 03.09.21 

179.  Any general comments? 
 

No comment. 

 

381

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/new_local_plan_sa_scoping_report_030921/New%20Local%20Plan%20SA%20Scoping%20Report%2003.09.21.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

383 Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2021.
	4 Strategic Plan 2022-26.
	APPENDIX Strategic Plan 2022-26

	5 Draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council Collaborating with our Communities - Our Communities Approach 2022-26
	APPENDIX Our Communities Approach 2022-26
	_Hlk2848391
	Foreword 
	Introduction 
	Key Achievements 2017-21
	Supporting VCSE infrastructure and community organisations -
	Embedding Asset Based Approaches 
	Website
	SHIRE Community Grants Fund
	Overseen by the Communities Board

	Covid-19 – Since March 2020
	March-June
	Communities Fund 
	June 20 and ongoing 
	Policy Developments 

	Our Communities Approach 2022-26
	Principles of the Strategy
	Prevention - (Priority 1 Helping people to help themselves and others.) 
	Engagement - (Priority 2 Work in collaboration & Priority 4 Be outward focused)
	Catalysts - (Priority 3 -no change but becomes a principle)
	Model 
	Asset Based action – working with  the skills, knowledge, connections and potential that exists within a community.
	Social Action 

	Implementation 


	6 National Bus Strategy.
	APPENDIX A - Engagement Survey Final Analysis Report
	APPENDIX B - Draft Leicestershire BSIP
	0. Introduction
	1. Overview
	LTA Responsible for the BSIP
	Area Covered by the BSIP
	Enhanced Partnership
	Duration
	Alignment with Local Transport Plan
	Alignment with Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy
	Our Vision
	Our Aim and Objectives

	2. Current Bus Offer to Passengers
	Analysis of Existing Bus Services
	Bus Network
	Bus Fleet
	Traffic congestion and traffic levels
	Fares and Ticketing
	Timetables and Information
	Responsibility for bus services
	Local Operators and the County Council
	Public Engagement
	Other Factors that Affect Use of Local Bus Services

	3. Headline Targets
	Baseline Position
	Performance Indicators
	Targets for Passenger Growth and Customer Satisfaction
	Targets for Journey Times and Reliability
	Target for Bus Emissions Standards

	4. Delivery
	Single system
	Reliable
	Affordable
	Easy to use
	Greener

	5. Reporting
	6. Overview Table
	Annex 1: Bus delay hotspots
	Annex 2: General traffic delay maps for main Leicestershire towns
	Annex 3: Current real time information display locations in Leicestershire
	Annex 4: Town Centre Off-Road Parking Provision in Leicestershire

	APPENDIX C Leics BSIP outline funding form

	7 Leicestershire Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy 2022-24.
	Appendix - Outline of Leicestershire Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy 2022-24

	8 0-19 Healthy Child Programme - Procurement of New Service Model.
	Appendix A - 0-19 Healthy Child Programme Proposed Service Model
	Appendix B - JSNA Summary Update
	Appendix C - 0-19 Consultation & Engagement Summary Feedback

	9 Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to Provide Enhanced Substance Misuse Services in line with the Public Health England Universal and Inpatient Detoxification Grants.
	10 Response to the Oadby and Wigston Borough Council New Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation.
	APPENDIX - County Council comments

	14 Commissioning and Procurement of Home Care Service Post-November 2021 - Proposed Interim Arrangements.



